
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

KENT HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 
 

Thursday, 25th April, 2024, at 2.00 pm Ask for: 
 

Georgina Little 

Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone 

Telephone 
 

03000 414 034 

 
 
Membership  
 
Mr D Watkins (Chairman), Dr B Bowes (Vice-Chairman), Mr V Badu, Mr P Bentley, 
Cllr M Blakemore, Mrs S Chandler, Dr A Ghosh, Mr R Goatham, Mr R W Gough, 
Mrs S Hammond, Cllr Mrs A Harrison, Cllr J Howes, Mr R Smith and Vacancy 
 
 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 

 

1 Chairman's Welcome 
 

2 Appointment of co-opted member(s)  
 

3 Election of Chair 
 

4 Election of Vice-Chair  
  

5 Apologies and Substitutes  
 

6 Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the agenda for 
this meeting  

 

7 Minutes of the Meeting held on 6 December 2023 (Pages 1 - 6) 
 

8 Director of Public Health Verbal Update  
  

 



9 Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy/Joint Local Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (Pages 7 - 60) 
  

10 Draft Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy /Joint Local 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy Delivery Plan (Pages 61 - 136) 
  

11 Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report April 
2022 - March 2023 (Pages 137 - 276) 
  

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

Benjamin Watts 
General Counsel 
03000 416814 
 
Wednesday, 17 April 2024 
 



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

KENT HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Kent Health and Wellbeing Board held in the Council 
Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Wednesday, 6 December 
2023. 
 
PRESENT: Mr D Watkins (Chairman), Dr B Bowes (Vice-Chairman), Mr V Badu, Cllr 
M Blakemore, Mrs S Chandler, Dr A Ghosh, Mr R Goatham, Cllr Mrs A Harrison and 
Mr R Smith 
 
IN ATTENDANCE:  Mr M Dentten (Democratic Services Officer) 
 
IN ATTENDANCE VIRTUALLY:  Cllr J Howes 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
26. Membership  
(Item 2) 
 
It was noted that Cllr Mike Blakemore, Cllr Joe Howes and Mr Dan Watkins had 
joined the Board. 
 
27. Election of Chair  
(Item 3) 
 

1. Mrs Chandler proposed and Cllr Harrison seconded that Mr Watkins be 
elected as Chairman of the Kent Health and Wellbeing Board. No other 
nominations were received. 

 
RESOLVED that Mr Dan Watkins be elected as Chairman of the Kent Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 
 
28. Apologies and Substitutes  
(Item 4) 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Mr Gough and Cllr Howes. 
 
29. Declarations of Interest  
(Item 5) 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
30. Minutes of the meeting held on 25 April 2023  
(Item 6) 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meetings held on 25 April 2023 were an accurate 
record and that they be signed by the Chairman. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 7



 

 

31. Director of Public Health Verbal Update  
(Item 7) 
 

1. Dr Ghosh provided a verbal update. He explained that Covid-19 and flu rates 
remained low, which had been supported by broad immunity and high 
vaccination rates. He addressed Public Health service transformation which 
was in progress and looked at service performance and optimising joint 
commissioning. Concerning Family Hubs and the Start for Life programme, he 
noted the focus on perinatal mental health and £4.5m funding for three sub 
programmes. Recent developments in national smoking policy and the 
anticipated generational impact was addressed.  
 

2. Following a question from Mrs Chandler, Dr Ghosh reassured the Board that 
though there had been outbreaks in London and surrounding areas, measles 
rates were low in Kent and continued to be monitored locally.  
 

3. In response to a question from Cllr Harrison, Dr Ghosh explained that the Start 
for Life programme focused on a child’s first 1001 days and included a family 
coaching model to support parenting skills. 
 

RESOLVED to note the update. 
 
32. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Exception Report  
(Item 8) 
 

Abraham George (Consultant in Public Health, KCC) was in attendance for this 
item.  
 
1. Dr Ghosh introduced the report which highlighted the health needs 

assessments, reports and analyses completed in 2023, as well as key 
population health figures. He reminded members that commissioning and 
approving the JSNA was a statutory responsibility of the Board. He explained 
that the JSNA allowed the Kent and Medway Integrated Care Partnership to 
be aware of the relevant issues and trends which needed to be addressed and 
reflected in the key priorities and outcomes of the Integrated Care Strategy 
and district local plans. He highlighted the completed West Kent HCP 
assessment and confirmed that further assessments were being progressed 
on a rolling basis. 
 

2. Mr George added that the Kent JSNA Steering Group was formed in January 
2023 to provide oversight of the development process and supported shared 
governance between health and local government over the JSNA 
development process which contributed to its embedding in the Integrated 
Care Partnership. He summarised HCPs profiles, which included health and 
care indicators. It was noted that there had been an overall reduction in 
smoking, improvement in cancer screening, though suicide rates, self-harm 
related hospital admissions, obesity and flu vaccination rates had worsened. 
He confirmed that a veteran and serving armed forces health needs 
assessment would be completed in 2024 and reported to the Board. 
Development of the local evidence base and research capability were 
addressed.    
 

Page 2



 

 

3. Following a question from Mrs Chandler, Mr George explained that existing 
service provision was sufficient to address substance abuse.  
 

4. Cllr Harrison commented that primary care needed to do more to highlight the 
health risks obesity posed to patients. Minimum primary care standards were 
also highlighted, with it noted that they would inform public expectations. Mr 
Badu explained that NHS Kent and Medway had worked with local partners to 
develop primary care plan for Kent and Medway, including recruitment and 
developing other primary care roles. He added that opportunities to provide 
other primary care services were being investigated. Dr Ghosh noted that 65% 
of adults in Kent were overweight and that the adult weight management 
programme was only able to support 6,000 residents per year. 
 

5. Mr Badu welcomed the focus on 20 plus 5 and highlighted the link between 
population health management and lowering health inequalities.  
 

6. Mr Graham welcomed the assessments and ways to engage the public and 
promote their findings more widely.  
 

7. The Vice Chair stressed the importance of the JSNA feeding into combined 
data sets to support clinical teams, with a particular focus on patient 
identifiable information.  
 

8. The Chair highlighted the value of data sharing and artificial intelligence 
innovations in enhancing prevention services. 

 
RESOLVED to endorse the following actions to: 
 
1. Address health inequity in all the commissioned health improvement services, 
for example a more targeted approach to stop smoking service delivery.  
 
2. Identify and apply for funding opportunities to invest in large-scale training for 
Making Every Contact Count (MECC) for the wider public as well as selected frontline 
health professional groups. 
 
3. Maximise the potential of social prescribing schemes linked to an up-to-date 
directory of local services and other provisions. 
 
4. Refresh Health Needs Assessments (HNAs) for other inclusion health groups, 
where needed, and develop local research capacity to identify solutions for 
improvement and tackle health inequalities. Undertake further health needs 
assessment of adults experiencing severe and multiple disadvantages (SMD) 
particularly homelessness, substance misuse, and criminal justice systems in Kent. 
 
5. Advocate for mandatory cultural competence and intersectionality as part of 
Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (DEI) training for healthcare providers, including those 
within the NHS Integrated Care Board (ICB) and Health Care Partnerships (HCP), to 
improve equitable care delivery to diverse patients. 
 
6. Complete Area-based Needs Assessments for the remaining HCP areas. 
 

Page 3



 

 

7. Kent and Medway Substance Misuse Services, Mental Health providers and 
Adult Social Care staff and managers to adopt the operational protocol to provide 
person centred, timely, joined up care and recovery support for all people.  
 
8. Develop the JSNA cohort model to include and simulate the effect of wider 
health determinants which will support better health policy analysis and decision 
making for investing in population health improvement. 
 
9. KCC to actively participate in population health management programmes with 
the NHS, this includes action on council data sharing integration with the ICB and 
NHS partners for analytics including research. For example, integration in the risk 
stratification work by Xantura with similar risk stratification activities by the NHS.  
 
10. KCC Public Health to utilise emerging links with districts and key partners to 
support and facilitate the delivery of the Violence Reduction Unit’s priorities. 
 
11. Promote vaccinations and tackle vaccine hesitancy particularly among 
marginalised communities and inclusion health groups. 
 
12. Focus on ensuring mental health crisis and recovery services are joined up 
between community, primary and urgent care – particularly prioritising East Kent 
(Thanet in particular) and Maidstone. 
 
33. Update on Integrated Care Strategy development  - To follow  
(Item 9) 
 

Jenny Dixon-Sherreard (Policy Adviser, KCC) was in virtual attendance for this 
item.  
 
1. Dr Ghosh introduced the report which updated the Board on the Integrated 

Care Strategy, in its role as Kent’s Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JLHWS). He noted that the Integrated Care Strategy was expected to be 
approved by partners in early 2024. The extensive consultation carried out and 
consensus amongst local leadership was acknowledged. He explained the 
strategy triangle of public value, the right authorising environment and capacity 
to deliver. He advised that the Strategy was note a short-term initiative and 
would take 4 to 5 years to bear fruit.  
 

2. Mrs Dixon-Sherreard explained that the Strategy focused on areas that 
required system response to make the best use of resources. It was noted that 
the wider determinants of health were weaved throughout and that 
development of the delivery plan was the current focus. She highlighted the 
provisional strategic indicators which would be used to provide assurance.  
 

3. Mr Badu noted the importance of enablers, including data, research and 
outcome measurement.  
 

4. The Chair noted the importance of partner support at the delivery plan stage.  
 

5. Cllr Blakemore welcomed the Strategy and commended the engagement with 
district councils.  
 

Page 4



 

 

6. Mr Goatham asked that public engagement continue throughout the delivery 
plan development stage.  
 

7. Mrs Chandler commended system collaboration during the development of the 
Strategy and noted the importance of prevention and personal responsibility in 
implementation.  
 

8. The Vice Chair asked that absolute rather than relative measures be used 
when developing the strategic indicators.  

 
RESOLVED to note and comment on the Integrated Care Strategy in its role as 
Kent’s Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
34. Update on Inequalities, Prevention and Population Health Management 
Sub Committees  
(Item 10) 
 

1. Dr Ghosh introduced the report which updated the Board on Kent and Medway 
ICB’s Inequalities, Prevention and Population Health Committee and its three 
Sub-Committees. He noted that the three Sub-Committees were chaired by 
himself, James Williams (Director of Public Health, Medway Council) and 
Vincent Badu (Chief Strategy Officer, NHS Kent and Medway). He 
acknowledged the interface and crossover between the three Sub-
Committees. Concerning the Inequalities Sub-Committee, its focus on wider 
determinants of health and core 20 plus 5 was noted. 
 

2. Concerning the Population Health Management Sub-Committee, Mr Badu 
explained its focus on the support and development of tools which give 
practitioners a better understanding of the population, improving interventions 
and prevention. He recognised the importance of the JSNA in population 
health management. On integration, he explained that it was also working to 
ensure that the Kent care record was joined up and that information could be 
effectively shared between partners, with training and development to support 
joint thinking at the delivery level. 
 

3. Dr Ghosh confirmed that the Health Inequalities Sub-Committee oversaw 
£5.95m funding from NHS England for addressing inequalities, taking account 
of core 20 plus 5, with 80% of the funding passported into health and care 
partnerships and 20% is for system level working. 

 
RESOLVED to note the report.  
 
35. Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report - To follow  
(Item 11) 
 
This agenda item was deferred to a future meeting. 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



From:  Dan Watkins Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health  
   Anjan Ghosh, Director of Public Health  
 
To:   Kent Health and Wellbeing Board, 25 April 2024 
    
Subject:  Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy/Joint Local Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy 
    
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
 

 
Summary:  
This report provides members of the Health and Wellbeing Board with the final 
version of the Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy for approval. 
 
It was agreed that the Integrated Care Strategy should be the Kent Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. Given that the Kent area covers most of the Integrated Care 
System’s footprint, having a single strategy for the health and wellbeing of the 
population of Kent will provide clarity and ensure that all partners are focused on 
delivering the shared outcomes that have been identified. 
 
Members will be familiar with the Strategy and the Board have had the opportunity to 
provide input. Since the last Health and Wellbeing Board meeting the strategy has 
been approved through all the statutory partner’s governance processes following on 
from the interim version being refreshed to reflect the views, priorities and needs of 
people across Kent and Medway and the partners across the system working to 
support them.  
 
Recommendation(s):   
 
The Health and Wellbeing board is asked to approve the Integrated Care Strategy in 
its role as Kent’s Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy, attached as appendix A. 
 

 
1. Introduction 

  
1.1 It has been agreed that the Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy should 

perform the role of the Kent Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy. Given 
that the Kent area covers most of the Integrated Care System’s footprint, having 
a single strategy for the health and wellbeing of the population of Kent will 
provide clarity and ensure that all partners are focused on delivering the shared 
outcomes that have been identified. 
 

1.2 It is a statutory requirement for ICPs to prepare an Integrated Care Strategy. 
Kent County Council is a lead partner in the Kent and Medway Integrated Care 
System (ICS), and a statutory member of the Kent and Medway Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP). The Integrated Care Strategy for Kent and Medway is 
attached for approval as the Kent Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
(appendix A). 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 9



1.3 In its Council Strategy, Framing Kent’s Future, KCC has committed to seize the 
opportunity of integrating planning, commissioning and decision making in 
adults’, children’s, and public health services through being a partner in the 
Kent and Medway Integrated Care System at place and system level. Through 
its statutory requirements and the commitments it has made, KCC has been a 
key partner in the development and implementation of the Integrated Care 
Strategy. 

 
2. The Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy/Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy 
 
2.1 Members will be familiar with the requirement to produce an ICS strategy based 

on the local ICS footprint. This represented a real opportunity in Kent to 
catalyse thinking and action with a focus on the need to tackle the wider 
determinants of health and to recognise and support the key role of wider 
system partners in tackling health and wellbeing challenges. Additionally, it 
helps focus NHS plans and activity on what they can do to tackle both 
upstream, wider health determinants and inequalities. 
 

2.2 There was a national requirement for all ICPs to publish their first Integrated Care 
Strategy by the end of 2022. Due to the short time allowed for development, with 
ICSs only becoming formalised in July 2022, an Interim Integrated Care Strategy 
for Kent and Medway was produced and approved by the ICP and statutory 
partners in December 2022. All partners committed to refreshing it by the end of 
2023 to allow time for consultation with stakeholders and the public, to deepen 
the Strategy and strengthen the focus on delivery. The Strategy was approved 
by KCC Cabinet on 4 January 2024, following consideration at the relevant 
Cabinet Committees. It was launched to the public and partners through joint 
communication messages on 4 April following the ICP meeting. With the Strategy 
in place, it is now time to focus on the delivery. The proposed approach to this 
and action to date is the subject of a separate paper. 

 
2.3 The purpose of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy/ Integrated Care 

Strategy is to set the strategic direction and priorities for the health and 
wellbeing of the population across Kent (and the wider ICS). The strategy 
presents an opportunity to do things differently, further integrating health and 
care services to better meet the needs of individuals and communities, support 
the sustainability of health and care services and go beyond ‘traditional’ NHS 
and social care services to enable action on the wider determinants of health 
with other partners. The wider determinants of health are critical because it is 
known that only about 20% of a person’s health is related to clinical care, with 
the other 80% being attributable to health behaviours, socio-economic factors 
including education, employment and family/social support, and the built 
environment1. The importance of tackling the full range of wider determinants 
has been previously considered by the Board. 

 
2.4  It has previously been proposed that the Integrated Care Strategy be adopted as 

the Kent Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. While there is some difference in 
the geographical footprint of the two strategies, with the former covering Medway, 
the majority of the population served and the action required focusses on the 

                                            
1 Robert Wood Johnson model, Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and University of Wisconsin 
Population Health Institute, US County health rankings model 2014  

Page 8

https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/sites/default/files/media/document/CHRR_2014_Key_Findings.pdf
https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/sites/default/files/media/document/CHRR_2014_Key_Findings.pdf


people of Kent. Having a single strategy minimises risks of duplication, 
differences and overlap and allows a single joined up and coordinated strategic 
approach.  Rallying around the centrally required IC Strategy helps optimise NHS 
alignment with agreed system endeavours. It further aligns the interest and 
actions of this Board and of the ICP. 

 
3. Monitoring Progress in Delivery of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 
3.1 The Board will want to consider how they wish to be assured of progress in 

delivering the JHWS. This is discussed again in the paper around delivery. 
 

3.2 The ICP has a role to monitor the impact that delivery of the shared outcomes in 
the strategy is having on improving the health and wellbeing of the population 
and highlight where this needs to go further. To support the ICP to do this, Public 
Health teams in KCC and Medway Council have worked with health colleagues 
to develop a set of strategic indicators using a ‘logical framework’ methodology. 
Some of these indicators have been included in the outcomes pages of the 
strategy to illustrate the impact that successful delivery would bring. The final set 
of indicators is still being finalised to reflect feedback from relevant officers across 
the lead organisations. A draft of the full set is provided with the paper on Delivery. 

 

3.3 The ICP will receive annual updates on the indicators. Where the indicators 
suggest more progress is needed, the Shared Delivery Plan will support the ICP 
to understand the strategies and activities around a particular issue. The ICP is 
refreshing its meeting structure to include in-depth themed discussions on 
different priorities within the strategy, which will reflect on the experiences of 
people drawing on care and support and people working across the System. 

 
4. Financial Implications 

 
4.1 No direct costs are associated with the approval of the Integrated Care Strategy. 

Costs for consultation activity and officer time in developing the strategy have 
been managed within existing budgets. 

 
4.2 The Integrated Care Strategy sets out the vision for further integration of our 

services to better meet health and care needs and make the best use of 
resources. Delivery of the strategy will be managed through more detailed 
delivery and commissioning plans across the system, where specific financial 
implications will be identified and managed. 
 

5.    Legal implications 
 

5.1 KCC is a partner local authority in the Kent and Medway Integrated Care 
System and a statutory member of the Kent and Medway Integrated Care 
Partnership. The Health and Care Act 2022 requires Integrated Care 
Partnerships to produce an Integrated Care Strategy to set out how the 
assessed health and care needs of the area can be met through the exercise of 
the functions of the Integrated Care Board, partner local authorities or NHS 
England. Integrated Care Systems must draw on the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategies and Joint Strategic Needs Assessments in producing their Integrated 
Care Strategies. Commissioners must have regard to the relevant Integrated 
Care Strategy when exercising any of their functions, so far as relevant. 

Page 9



 
6.    Equalities implications  

 
6.1 An Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Impact Assessment has been completed for 

the Integrated Care Strategy and is attached as appendix B. This has been led 
by colleagues at NHS Kent and Medway with input from KCC. 
 

6.2 The Integrated Care Strategy aims to improve health and wellbeing outcomes 
for all people in Kent and Medway, with a particular emphasis on addressing 
health inequalities and providing more support for those with the greatest need 
including needs associated with protected characteristics. Subsequently, the 
assessment identifies that there is potential for positive impact for all protected 
characteristic groups, to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, 
to advance equality of opportunity and to foster good relations between people 
who share a protected characteristic, and therefore meets the requirements of 
the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

 
7. Conclusions 
 
7.1 The Integrated Care Strategy is the underpinning document that sets out the 

ambitions that we have as partners. It has been developed collaboratively and 
will provide a useful focus and catalyst for an enhanced approach to tackling the 
wider determinants of health and offers our best opportunity in tackling key 
health and wellbeing challenges together. It is proposed that the Board adopt 
the Strategy as the Kent Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 

7.2 The accompanying paper, looking at the Shared Delivery Plan, considers how 
the Board may wish to be Assured of, and support Delivery of the Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 9.  Appendix A 
 
 Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy 
 
10. Contact details 
 
 Dr Anjan Ghosh 
 Director of Public Health 
 Anjan.ghosh@kent.gov.uk 
 03000 412633 

8. Recommendation(s):  
 

The Health and Wellbeing board is asked to approve  the Integrated Care 
Strategy in its role as Kent’s Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 
attached as appendix A . 
 

Page 10

mailto:Anjan.ghosh@kent.gov.uk


  INTEGRATED 
CARE STRATEGY P

age 11



 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

FOREWORD 
We will work together to make health 
and wellbeing better than any partner 
can do alone. 

‘We will work together to make health and wellbeing better than 
any partner can do alone.’ This is our vision for Kent and Medway 
Integrated Care System, which brings together all our system 
partners to make a signifcant difference, improving local services and 
supporting healthier living. 

We know the wider determinants of health, for example education, 
housing, environment, transport, employment and community 
safety, have the greatest impact on our health. Variation in people’s 
experiences of health, care and these wider determinants result in 
health inequalities, which are preventable, unfair and 
unjust differences.  

Our interim integrated care strategy was published last year and set 
out a shared purpose and common aspiration of partners to tackle the 
full range of health determinants, working in increasingly joined up 
ways to improve health and address inequalities. Since then, we have 
asked people, organisations and local partnerships to engage with us 
in shaping this fnal version. It has been refned through refecting local 
priorities and work planned across Kent and Medway organisations to 
agree key system priorities. This strategy, which is also the Joint Local 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Kent, sets our vision for our system 
and all partners will tailor its delivery to meet local need, making a 
difference to the lives of the people of Kent and Medway. 

Against a backdrop of increasing demand and challenging fnancial 
times, we must change how we approach improving health and 
wellbeing and, as leaders in Kent and Medway Integrated Care System, 
we remain committed to our pledge.  

2 

P
age 12



 

   

 

OUR 
PLEDGE 
Recognising citizens’ health, care and wellbeing are 
impacted by economic, social and environmental factors 
more than the health and care services they can access, we 
pledge to bring the full weight of our organisational and 
individual efforts to collaborate to enable the people of 
Kent and Medway to lead the most prosperous, healthy, 
independent and contented lives they can. 

Through this collaborative movement, we will work together 
to reduce economic and health inequalities, support 
social and economic development, improve public service 
outcomes and make sure services for citizens are excellent 
quality and good value for money. 

Together, we can. 

Cedi Frederick, Cllr Vince Maple, Cllr Roger Gough, 
NHS Kent and Medway Medway Council Kent County Council 

3 

P
age 13



  

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 
AND CONTEXT 
Kent and Medway is an attractive place for so 
many who choose to make their lives here. With 
close proximity to London and mainland Europe, 
and a plethora of green spaces, known as the 
garden of England, it is home to some of the most 
affuent areas of England. Nevertheless, it is also 
home to some of the most (bottom 10 per cent) 
socially deprived areas in England. This correlates 
with the health outcomes achieved. 
With the current cost of living crisis, these 
disparities will persist or worsen without our 
concerted, collective effort. 

Kent and Medway Integrated Care Partnership was 
formed in 2022 with a strong history of partnership 
working. As a result, we have started to see where 
this approach is making a difference. In the past 
year, we have spoken to people, organisations 
and partnerships to produce this integrated care 
strategy. It is underpinned by our joint strategic 
needs assessments, individual subject-specifc 
strategies and Medway’s Joint Local Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. It also constitutes Kent’s Joint 
Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

England’s chief medical offcer’s annual report 2021 
highlighted that coastal communities have some 
of the worst health outcomes in England, with 
low life expectancy and high rates of many major 
diseases. Coastal communities – of which there are 
many in Kent and Medway – often have multiple 
overlapping, but addressable, health problems.  

Here are some of the specifc challenges facing 
Kent and Medway. 

• Our population is growing faster than the 
national average – more than 20 per cent 
growth is predicted between 2011 and 2031. 

• Life expectancy is no longer increasing. In 
Medway, Swale and Thanet, it is below the 
average for England. 

• In all areas (apart from Thanet), the gap 
in life expectancy is wider for men than 
for women. 

• More than two thirds of adults are 
overweight or obese. 

• Physical activity levels for children and 

young people are not increasing. 

• Incidents of domestic abuse are increasing. 

• More people are experiencing depression or 
severe mental illness. 

• Kent and Medway lags behind the 
national average on some indicators of 
economic success, including productivity 
and skill levels. 

• Post-Covid, fewer children are school-ready 
and there has been a drop in expected 
levels in phonics screening for Year 1. 

• Around 170,000 adults (aged 16+) across 
Kent and Medway are unpaid carers. 

• Smoking prevalence in Swale is 21 per cent, 
compared with only 12 per cent in areas of 
west Kent. 

4 

P
age 14



4 5

Tunbridge Wells
Ashford

Maidstone

Tonbridge  
and Malling

Swale

Sevenoaks

Gravesham

Medway
Dartford

Canterbury

Dover

Folkestone and 
Hythe

Thanet

Isle of 
Sheppey

P
age 15



 
 

WHY WE NEED AN 
INTEGRATED CARE 
STRATEGY NOW 
✔	 Key measures of health and wellbeing are getting worse, or not 

improving as fast as the national average. We must take a different 
approach and all tackle the wider determinants of health (see 
fgure of Robert Wood Johnson model on page 7). 

✔	 We must seize the enormous opportunity that working as an 
integrated system presents to bring real improvements to the health 
and wellbeing of our population and put our services on a sustainable 
footing, within the context of the resource and demand pressures and 
constraints we all face. 

✔	 This strategy uses a consensus to agree and focus on the priorities 
we must deliver together as a system, so all partners can target 
our limited resources and assets where we can make the biggest 
improvements and deliver value for money together. 

✔	 This strategy should not provide the ‘how’. We recognise that local 
partners are best placed to understand local needs and the actions 
required to tackle them. The strategy will be supported by delivery plans 
which are organisation or subject matter specifc. 

✔	 The strategy will enable a balance between universal preventative 
services and bespoke additional support for those with greatest needs, 
also known as proportionate universalism. 

✔	 A logical framework (logframe) matrix is being used to develop system 
indicators so partners can track progress towards each outcome. 
Examples of these indictors are included for each outcome. 

6 

P
age 16



    

 
  

   

 There are a wide range of things that determine someone’s health and wellbeing, with clinical care only 
accounting for 20 per cent of the impact. We call the factors that affect health, the wider determinants of health. 

Alcohol Education Income Access Environmental Diet/ 
use to care qualityexercise 

Health 
behaviours 

Socio-economic Clinical 
factors Built 

environment care 

10% 

10% 

5% 10% 10% 10% 

10% 

10% 
5% 

5% 

5% 

5% 

5% 

40% 20%30% 10% 

Family/ 
sexual 
Poor 

social Quality BuiltCommunity 
EmploymentSmoking support of care environment safetyhealth 

Based on: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute, US County health rankings model 2014 
www.countyhealthrankings.org/sites/default/fles/media/document/CHRR_2014_Key_Findings.paf 

7 

P
age 17

www.countyhealthrankings.org/sites/default/files/media/document/CHRR_2014_Key_Findings.paf


 
 

  

DELIVERING 
TOGETHER AS AN 
INTEGRATED 
CARE SYSTEM 
Kent and Medway Integrated Care System is made up of many 
organisations, which play a role in supporting the health, care 
and wellbeing of people in our area. 

To improve health and wellbeing, we must tackle the wider 
determinants of health and address increasing health 
inequalities. We can only do this if we all play our role and 
work together to maximise our collective impact. We can all 
contribute using the assets and opportunities we already have 
to promote health and wellbeing and prevent ill-health. This 
includes acting as anchor institutions to support the social and 
economic development of our local communities, enabling 
individuals to achieve their potential, promoting health and 
wellbeing in every contact so people are able to make healthy 

choices and through initiatives, such as the daily 
mile to build physical activity into the school day. 

We also know that local communities, supported 
by the vital role of the local voluntary and 
community sector, are best placed to know their 
needs and to play a full role in improving health 
and wellbeing by involving and empowering them. 

8 

P
age 18



     

    
 

  

    

  

1.9 million people 

13 housing authorities 

684 schools and 1,713 
nurseries/early yars settings 

Seven NHS provider trusts and 
one integrated care board 

Two health watch 
organisations 

More than 74,000 
businesses and enterprises 

Four health and care 
partnerships 

642 care homes 

Approx 4,000 
registered charities 

90,000 staff working 
across health and care 

182 GP practices in 
42 primary care networks 

one medical school and 
three universities 

One police force and one fre 
and rescue service 

14 councils – one county, 
one unitary, 12 districts 

325 pharmacies 

321 parish and town councils 

9 

P
age 19



HOW WE LISTENED 
TO DEVELOP THE 
STRATEGY 

Work with system partners, 
such as district councils, 
Kent Association of Local 

Councils, voluntary sector, Kent 
Housing, Kent police and crime 

commissioner. 

Online 
platform 

‘Have your say in Kent 
and Medway’ – more 
than 350 responses. 

Nearly 
9,000 clicks 

on social 
media 
links. 

Newsletters, 
staff bulletins, residents’ 

news, social media promotion 
and paid advertising reached 

1.5 million people. 

32 events 
Family fun days, shopping 

centres, leisure centres, health 
bus, conferences. 

Focus groups led 
by community and 
voluntary sector 

organisations reaching 
more than 

300 people. 

More than 
1,000 responses 

in total. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 

 
  

 

 
 

 

10 

P
age 20



 
 

 
  

 

 

  
 

 

WHAT WE HEARD 
Local partners, people 
and communities are 
best placed to lead 

development, delivery 
and evaluation. 

More support 
for carers. 

Need to 
recognise the 

fnancial challenges 
and diffculties 
of partnership 

working. 

Digital 
services are good but 

not accessible for 
everyone, there should 

be alternatives.Communication 
between services 
needs to improve. 

Focus on the wider 
determinants of 

health and health 
inequalities strongly 

supported. 

Access to GPs, social 
care and mental 

health services needs 
to improve. 

The strategy 
needs to set a 

vision and enable 
local delivery. 

11 

P
age 21



 
 

OVERVIEW OF THE 
INTEGRATED CARE 
SYSTEM 

12 

P
age 22



 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

  
 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

Our vision 
We will work together to make health and wellbeing better than any partner can do alone. 

Together, we will… 

Support happy 
and healthy 
living for all 

Tackle the wider 
determinants to 
prevent ill health 

Improve health 
and care services 

Give children and 
young people the 
best start in life 

Empower 
patients and 

carers 

Support 
and grow our 

workforce 

What we need to achieve 

• Address the social, • Support people • Empower those with • Improve equity of 
economic and to adopt positive multiple or long- access to services. 
environmental 
determinants that 
enable people 
to choose to live 
mentally and 
physically 
healthy lives. 

• Address inequalities. 

mental and physical 
health. 

• Deliver personalised 
care and support 
centred on 
individuals providing 
them with choice and 
control. 

term conditions 
through multi-
disciplinary teams. 

• Provide high quality 
primary care. 

• Support carers. 

• Communicate 
better between 
our partners 
when changing 
care settings. 

• Tackle mental 
health issues with 
the same priority as 

• Support people to physical illness. 
live and age well, 
be resilient and 
independent. 

• Provide high-quality 
care to all. 

Enablers 
We will drive research, innovation and improvement across the system. 

• Grow our skills and 
workforce. 

• Build ‘one’ 
workforce. 

• Look after our 
people. 

• Champion inclusive 
teams. 

• Support families 
and communities so 
children thrive. 

• Strive for children 
and young people 
to be physically and 
emotionally healthy. 

• Help pre-school 
and school-age 
children and young 
people achieve their 
potential. 

We will provide system leadership and make the most of our collective resources, including our estate. 
We will engage our communities on our strategy and in co-designing services. 

13 

P
age 23



  

 
  

  
  

Shared outcome one 

GIVE CHILDREN 
AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
THE BEST START 
IN LIFE 
We will make sure the conditions and support are in place for all children and 
young people to be healthy, resilient and ambitious for their future. 

14 

P
age 24



  
 

  
 

 

  

  

  

 

 
 

 
 
 

  

What we heard 

•Improve support for those with special 
educational needs and disabilities 
(SEND) and their families. 

•Support families with all aspects of 
the wider determinants of health, 
including mental wellbeing, fnance 
and childcare. 

•Safeguarding, particularly the most at 
risk children. 

•Accessible evidence-based parenting 
support. 

• Make sure of local access to support 
families. 

Everyone plays a role in keeping children safe. 
Across the system, we bring together our 
collective information, skills and resources to 
strengthen our early help and safeguarding 
arrangements and work together to identify 
and tackle safeguarding priorities in 
our communities. 

15 

P
age 25



 

 

Shared outcome one 

Priorities to deliver this outcome: 
Together, we will… 

Support families and communities so 
children thrive 
We will take a whole-family approach, co-producing with children, 
young people and families, and looking at all elements families need so 
their children can thrive, with support in safe, strong communities that 
addresses poverty, housing, education, health and social care. We will 
use our family hub model, bringing together universal children’s services 
to include midwifery, health visiting, mental health, infant feeding, early 
help and safeguarding support for children and their families, including 
children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). We will 
transform how we help families access the right support, in the right 
place at the right time, and make sure the support they receive is joined 
up across organisations. We will improve the transition to adult services. 

Strive for children and young people to be 
physically and emotionally healthy 
We will set high aspirations for the health of children and young people 
and make this everyone’s responsibility. This will include a preventative 
approach to keep children physically healthy, promoting healthy eating, 
high levels of physical activity and improving air quality. We will address 
health inequalities, including smoking in pregnancy, breastfeeding, 
immunisation and childhood obesity. Children who are more likely to 
experience poorer outcomes, including children in care and care leavers, 

refugees and those who have offended, will receive more support. We 
will work together to help individuals, families, communities and schools 
build emotional resilience, tackle bullying and loneliness and provide 
opportunities for children, young people and families to form supportive 
networks and take part in social and leisure opportunities. Children and 
young people at most risk of signifcant and enduring mental health 
needs will receive timely and effective interventions. We will protect 
young people from criminal harm and exploitation, tackle the challenges 
caused by domestic abuse and support victims. 

Help pre-school and school-age children and young 
people achieve their potential 
We will support families so children are ready for school through co-
produced, evidence-based support, including parenting support and 
high-quality early years and childcare. With families, we will tackle low 
school attendance, provide equal access to educational opportunities 
and make sure young people are skilled and ready for adult life. We 
are committed to working with families on our collective responsibility 
to support children with SEND. We will strengthen the capability of 
mainstream early years and education settings and universal services to 
make sure children with SEND are included, their needs are met and they 
can thrive. Where specialist help is needed, this will be identifed early 
and seamlessly co-ordinated. 

16 

P
age 26



 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
 

 

 
 

  
 

 
 

I am happy and 
secure at school and 
at home. 

I am working hard to 
get the qualifcations 
I need to achieve my 
ambitions. 

Indicators for this outcome 
include: 

• By 2028/29, the proportion of mothers smoking at time of 
delivery will have reduced from 10.2 per cent to no more than 
six per cent. 

• By 2028, the percentage of children in Year 6 who are a healthy 
weight will be maintained at the current level of 63 per cent 
and severe obesity will have reduced from fve per cent. 

• By 2028, pupil absence rates will have fallen from 7.9 per cent 
to below fve per cent. 

• By 2028, pupils achieving a good level of development at the 
end of the early years foundation stage will have 
improved from 65.8 per cent to at least 70 per cent. 

• By 2028/29, the average attainment eight scores for 
both SEND and non-SEND pupils will have increased, 
and the gap between the two groups will 
be fve points lower than the 
national average. 

17 

P
age 27



  

 
  

  
  

Shared outcome two 

TACKLE THE WIDER 
DETERMINANTS 
TO PREVENT 
ILL HEALTH 
Address the wider determinants of health (social, economic and environmental), 
to improve the physical and mental health of all residents, tackle inequalities, 
and focus on those who are most vulnerable. 

18 

P
age 28



  
 

  

  

 

  

What we heard 

•Target prevention activities for each 
community group, making the most of 
VCSE expertise and community assets. 

•Longer duration for prevention 
programmes. 

•Support for cost of living – housing, 
transport, food. 

•Extend use of social prescribing. 

•Improve transport access to services, 
jobs and social opportunities. 

19 

P
age 29



 

 

 

Shared outcome two 

Priorities to deliver this outcome: 
Together, we will… 

Address the economic determinants that enable 
healthy lives including stable employment 
We will attract and support new businesses and encourage all large 
employers to develop as anchor organisations within their communities, 
including all public sector organisations, procuring and employing locally 
in a way that optimises social value. We will support people and small 
businesses with the cost of living crisis. We will help individuals fulfl their 
potential by achieving secure employment through education and skills 
development and by supporting businesses. 

Address the social determinants that enable 
healthy lives, including community networks 
and safety 
We will build communities where everyone belongs. We will work with 
communities, building on their assets to empower people to address 
key health and social issues, including loneliness, community safety 
and the economic burdens from misuse of drugs and alcohol. We will 
further develop social prescribing and local voluntary and community 
capacity to meet these challenges. The importance of active travel, 
access to services, work and leisure and best use of local libraries, 
community hubs, music, arts and heritage opportunities are recognised. 
In partnership, we will promote community safety, tackling crime and 
preventing and reducing serious violence, anti-social behaviour and 
discrimination that can make people feel unsafe or unwelcome. 

Address the environmental determinants that 
enable healthy lives including housing, transport 
and the natural and built environment 
We will plan, develop and regenerate in a way that improves quality 
of life for new and existing communities – across built and natural 
infrastructures, including housing, transport and the local environment. 
We will incorporate the impact of climate change in all planning. We will 
explore how we can help people adopt sustainable ways of living and 
working and make best use of all our resources. We will work to provide 
accessible homes for life and services for all, through planning and 
with housing providers. We will plan to improve safety, air quality and 
promote physical activity. 

Address inequalities 
We will make sure people who need them will have access to benefts, 
housing, services and support through identifcation, signposting and 
a directory of local support, as well as opportunities to access work 
through skills development and local transport. We will focus on 
prevention and help people, including those with mental health issues, 
learning disabilities and neurodiversity, to enter, re-enter and be retained 
in the workplace, to have secure homes, benefts and social networks 
and opportunities, maximising their independence. 

20 

P
age 30



Indicators for this outcome 
include:

• By 2028/29, the proportion of people who feel lonely often or 
always will have reduced from 7.3 per cent to no more than 
five per cent across Kent and Medway.

• By 2028/29, the percentage of the population who are in 
contact with secondary mental health services that are in paid 
employment (aged 18 to 69) will increase from eight per cent 
to above 10 per cent.

• All NHS organisations and councils will make progress towards 
their net-zero targets.

• By 2028/29, the percentage of the population in receipt of 
long-term support for a learning disability that are in paid 
employment (aged 18 to 64) is similar to, or better than, the 
national average.

There is lots to do 
around here and I  
feel safe.

I have been diagnosed 
with depression. My 
employer has been 
great working with 
services so I can still 
manage work.

20 21

P
age 31



 
  

  
  

Shared outcome three 

SUPPORTING HAPPY 
AND HEALTHY 
LIVING 
Help people to manage their own health and wellbeing and be proactive 
partners in their care so they can live happy, independent and fulflling lives; 
adding years to life and life to years. 

22 

P
age 32



  
 

  
  

  
  
 

 

 

What we heard 

•Improve the transition between 
services – communication, user 
experience, timeliness. 

•Engage with communities to tailor 
communications and support for 
each community. 

•Joined up services to support people 
who are at risk, including survivors 
of domestic abuse and people who 
are homeless. 

•Support veterans. 

•Focus on adult safeguarding. 

23 

P
age 33



 
 

 

Shared outcome three 

Priorities to deliver this outcome: 
Together, we will… 

Support people to adopt positive mental and 
physical health behaviours 
We will deliver evidenced-based support to individuals at an appropriate 
scale to enable them to choose healthy weight, healthy diet choices, 
physical activity, good sexual health and minimise alcohol and 
substance misuse and tobacco use to prevent ill health. We will work 
with communities to develop community-led approaches and local 
active and sustainable travel to support this. We will increase use of 
‘making every contact count’ and social prescribing to signpost and 
offer bespoke support where needed to help tackle inequalities using 
a proportionate universal approach. Additionally, by addressing socio-
economic determinants and aiding mental wellbeing, we will help people 
adopt healthy lifestyles. We will improve health through a system-wide 
approach to crime reduction with victim and offender support; tackling 
drugs, domestic abuse, exploitation and harm and violence against 
women and girls. 

Deliver personalised care and support centred on 
individuals, providing them with choice and control 
We will use data to identify those most at risk and make sure all care is 
focussed on the individual with seamless transition between services, 
good communication, timely care and understanding of user needs 
and experience so they remain in control of their health and wellbeing. 

People living with dementia will be supported to live as well and as 
independently as possible with high quality, compassionate care from 
diagnosis through to end of life. We will improve the support we offer 
for women’s health issues, such as menopause. We will develop joined 
up holistic support for at risk groups, including survivors of domestic 
abuse, people who are homeless, who misuse substances, who have 
mental health issues, who are veterans or who have offended. 

Support people to live and age well, be resilient 
and independent 
We will promote people’s wellbeing to prevent, reduce or delay the need 
for care, focussing on the strengths of people, their families, their carers 
and their communities, enabling people to live independently and safely 
within their local community, including by using technology. We will 
make sure accessible joined up multi-agency working between services 
across health, social care, housing, criminal justice, the voluntary sector 
and others. With clear pathways and continuing support for those with 
complex needs and overcoming barriers to data sharing. We will make 
sure people receive the care they need to preserve their dignity and 
wellbeing, to keep them independent for as long as possible and to be 
comfortable, dying in a place of their choosing. Further, we will as a 
system, work to make sure people, especially those who are most at risk 
are safe in their homes and communities. 

24 

P
age 34



 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 

 
 

Indicators for this outcome 
include: 

• By 2028, the percentage of adults in Kent and Medway who 
are physically inactive will have fallen from 22.3 per cent to 
20 per cent. 

• By 2028, the percentage of adults in Kent and Medway 
who are overweight or obese will have fallen from 64.1 
per cent to 62 per cent. 

• By 2028, hospital admissions in Kent and Medway due to 
alcohol will have fallen from 418.7 to 395 per 100,000. 

• By 2028, the rate of emergency admissions for those 
who are frail will be similar to 2024, despite signifcant 
population growth. 

• By 2028, diabetes complications such as stroke, heart 
attacks, amputations, etc., will be below the rate 
for 2024. 

• By 2028, we will increase the proportion of people who 
receive long-term support who live in their home or 
with family. 

I have care and support 
that enables me to live 
as I want to. 

I lost weight with 
peer support from a 
local group. I learned 
about this when I 
visited hospital for 
something else. 

25 

P
age 35



  

 
  

  
  

Shared outcome four 

EMPOWER PEOPLE 
TO BEST MANAGE 
THEIR HEALTH 
CONDITIONS 
Support people with multiple health conditions to be part of a team with health 
and social care professionals working compassionately to improve their health 
and wellbeing. 

26 

P
age 36



  

  
 

  

  

 
  

  

What we heard 

•Increase involvement of patients and 
carers in care plans. 

•Improve access to and consistency 
of primary care, including general 
practice, dentistry and 
pharmacy provision. 

•Increase offer of support and provide 
fexibility for carers. 

“We are not always 
superhuman. Someone 
to support us to support 
our child.” 

27 

P
age 37



 

 

Shared outcome four 

Priorities to deliver this outcome: 
Together, we will… 

Empower those with multiple or long-term 
conditions through multi-disciplinary teams 
We will support individuals to holistically understand and manage 
their conditions, such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, 
dementia, respiratory disease and frailty by using complex care teams 
and multi-disciplinary teams. This will help reduce or delay escalation of 
their needs. We will use a model of shared information and decision-
making to empower individuals to only tell their story once and make 
informed choices about how, when and where they receive care, which 
will support individuals to achieve their goals. We will use developing 
technologies, including telecare and telehealth, direct payments, personal 
health budgets, care packages and social prescribing, where appropriate, 
to support people to achieve their goals and live the life they want in a 
place called home. 

Provide high-quality primary care 
We will work towards a system focused on prevention, health protection 
and early intervention to reduce the need for hospitalisation through 
making sure people can readily access the services they need to manage 
their health. We will make sure all pharmacies are supporting people 
with healthcare, self-care, signposting and healthy living advice. We will 
improve and increase access to dentist and eye health services. We want 
general practice to offer a consistently high-quality service to everyone in 

Kent and Medway. This means improving timely access to a healthcare 
professional with the skills and expertise to provide the right support and 
guidance; this could be a physiotherapist, doctor, nurse, podiatrist or 
other primary care health and care professional. We will work across the 
system to support the provision of primary care, responding to the 
needs of new, and growing, communities and making the most of 
community assets. 

Support carers 
We will value the important role of 
informal carers, involve them in all 
decisions, care planning and provide 
support for their needs. We will make 
a difference every day by supporting 
and empowering carers with ready 
access to support and advice. We 
recognise the potential impact of 
their responsibilities on young carers 
and commit to reducing these 
challenges. 

28 

P
age 38



 

 

  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Indicators for this outcome 

• By 2028, the number of people describing their overall 
experience of making a GP appointment as ‘good’ will have 
increased from 49 per cent to at least 71 per cent. 

• There will be an increasing number of patients with high or 
very high needs being supported through integrated 
teams by 2028. 

• By 2027, we will have implemented our 
organisational carers’ strategies. 

• By 2028, the proportion of carers 
who report that they are very 
satisfed with social services will 
have improved from 32.3 per cent 
to at least 45 per cent. 

I know what my 
rights are as a carer 
and can get timely 
information. I can 
access carer training, 
education and advice 
on all the possible 

housing. 

I can access the 
healthcare I need and 
know what options 
are available to me. 

options for my health 
and wellbeing, support 
needs and fnance and 

29 

P
age 39



  

 
  

  

Shared outcome fve 

IMPROVE HEALTH 
AND CARE 
SERVICES 
Improve access for all to health and care services, providing services as locally 
as possible and creating centres of excellence for specialist care that improves 
quality, safety and sustainability. 

30 

P
age 40



  

  
  

  
 

  

What we heard 

•Broaden to incorporate all aspects of 
healthcare not just hospital services. 

•Timely access to all parts of 
healthcare, particularly primary 
care services. 

•Improve communication and 
transition between all parts of health 
and care services. 

•Increase the services offered in the 
community and by social care. 

31 

P
age 41



 

Shared outcome fve 

Priorities to deliver this outcome: 
Together, we will… 

Improve equity of access to health and care 
services 
We will seek to improve the accessibility of all our services. We will make 
sure the right care in the right place, providing care closer to home 
and services from a broader range of locations by making better use 
of our collective buildings and community assets. By taking services to 
individuals and continuing to offer digital help and advice, we hope to 
mitigate some of the social and economic reasons individuals do not 
seek, or attend, health and care services. These can include travel costs 
or time off work or out of education. 

Communicate better between our partners 
especially when individuals are transferring 
between health and care settings 
We will improve fow through the system by using end-to-end care 
and support planning and making sure discharges are safe by better 
supporting individuals leaving acute care settings when transferring to 
another location, make sure all partners, including individuals, carers 
and families, are aware of the care plan and by working as a team 
to minimise delays. We aim to make sure people are discharged to 
their home as a priority and linked to timely appropriate reablement, 
recovery and rehab services. Our ambition is system partners jointly 

plan, commission and deliver discharge services that maintain fow and 
are affordable pooling resources, where appropriate and responding to 
seasonal pressures. 

Tackle mental health issues with the same energy 
and priority as physical illness 

We will support people of all ages with their emotional and mental 
wellbeing. We will improve how we support those with mental health 
conditions with their overall health and wellbeing, providing the 
integrated support they need from the right partner, such as housing, 
fnancial, education, employment, clinical care and police, when they 
need it and in a way that is right for them. We will work with VCSE 
partners to creatively support those at risk of suicide. 

Provide high-quality care 

We will continually seek to provide high-quality care by working in a 
more integrated way; expanding the skills and training of our staff; 
reducing the time waiting to be seen and treated and supported; 
streamlining our ways of working; improving the outcomes achieved; 
safeguarding advocacy and enriching the overall experience of 
individuals, their carers and their families. 

32 

P
age 42



Indicators for this outcome 
include:

• By 2028, waits for diagnostics will meet national ambitions.

• By 2028/29, the percentage of people aged 65 and over who 
were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 
reablement services will have increased in Kent to at least  
85 per cent and in Medway to be in line with the  
national average.

• By 2025, we will meet national expectations for patients with 
length of stay of 21+ days who no longer meet with  
criteria to reside.

• Inappropriate out-of-area  
mental health placements  
will be at or close to zero. 

My family/carers and 
I knew when I was 
being discharged from 
hospital and what my 
care plan was. 

My appointment 
was by video call but 
there was an option 
to attend in person, if 
I needed to.

32 33

P
age 43



  

 
  

  
 

Shared outcome six 

SUPPORT AND 
GROW OUR 
WORKFORCE 
Make Kent and Medway a great place for our colleagues to 
live, learn and work. 

34 

P
age 44



  

 
  

 
 

What we heard 

•Improve volunteering opportunities 
for staff. 

• Benefts for staff: 

• fnancial support. 

• offers with local businesses. 

• health and wellbeing support for 
example leisure facility 
membership offers. 

• Strengthen links and opportunities 
with education – schools, colleges and 
universities. 

35 

P
age 45



 

 

 

Shared outcome six 

Priorities to deliver this outcome: 
Together, we will… 

Grow our skills and workforce 
We will work as a system to plan and put in place a workforce with 
the right skills, values and behaviours to keep our services sustainable. 
We will attract people to live, study and work in Kent and Medway, 
promoting all our area has to offer. We will work with education 
and training providers to develop and promote exciting and diverse 
career and training opportunities, provide talented and capable 
leadership and offer fexible and interesting careers to reduce long-term 
unemployment and support people to return in work. 

Build ‘one’ workforce 
We will implement a long-term workforce plan, which supports 
integration across health and care services, enabled by digital technology, 
fexible working and cross sector workforce mobility. We will work 
in true partnership with our vital and valued volunteer workforce by 
seeking its input to shape, improve and deliver services. 

Look after our people 
Champion inclusive teamsWe will be a great place to work and learn, with a positive shared culture 

where people feel things work well and they can make a real difference. We will foster an open, fair, positive, inclusive and supportive workplace 
We will make sure staff feel valued, supported and listened to. We will culture that promotes respect. We will grow and celebrate diversity 
support our workforce, including helping them, as their employer, to to be more representative of our communities, empower and develop 
proactively manage their health and wellbeing. colleagues from underrepresented groups. 

36 

P
age 46



 
 
 
 
  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

  

Indicators for this outcome 

Shared workforce indicators will be developed by partners 
working across the system and are likely to include measures 
around: 

• vacancies 
• staff wellbeing 
• sickness absence 
• VCSE workforce 
• supporting employment 

in under-represented 
groups. 

I feel valued by my 
team and believe 
my employer cares 
about my health and 
wellbeing. 

I hadn’t realised how 
many opportunities 
there were in health 
and social care, and 
I’ve been able to 
complete further 
qualifcations 
since joining. 

37 

P
age 47



 
 

 

ENABLERS AND 
APPROACH TO 
DELIVERING THE 
STRATEGY 

38 

P
age 48



  

  

Enablers 
We will drive research, innovation and 
improvement across the system 

We will empower our workforce to use research evidence 
and develop and test innovative approaches to its work, both 
to improve services and to develop new knowledge. We 
will establish better ways to collaborate between all partner 
organisations and with academia for service improvement, 
research and innovation. This will include safely sharing data and 
embracing digital innovation. 

We will provide system leadership and make 
the most of our collective resources 

We will embed sustainability in everything we do through our 
green plan by making sure our strategies and decision-making 
support social, economic and environmental prosperity now and 
for future generations. We will make the most of our collective 
resource, including our estate and play our role as anchor 
institutions. The principle of subsidiarity will make sure our places 
and neighbourhoods lead the development and implementation 
of delivery plans for this strategy. 

We will engage our communities on our 
strategy and in co-designing services 

In developing this strategy, we sought to engage with our 
residents and as partners and we will continue to do this as we 
implement plans to meet these aims and improve health 
and wellbeing. 

Delivering the strategy 
The priorities set out have been agreed by the partners in Kent and 
Medway’s Integrated Care System. We recognise each place and 
neighbourhood is different and delivery of the priorities will need to 
respond to specifc needs and circumstances. 

Local partners, including districts have developed local alliances and 
networks that will deliver actions to tackle their key local health 
issues and which increasingly both recognise the challenges the local 
system faces and the need to tackle the wider determinants of health. 
Medway’s Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy outlines a similar 
approach for Medway. 

This integrated care strategy will help align system objectives and 
actions to support these endeavours. 

Monitoring delivery of 
the strategy 
Each health and care partnership and the organisations that comprise 
these will monitor their progress in supporting delivery of the strategy. 
NHS Kent and Medway, Kent County Council and Medway Council will 
each monitor delivery of their actions to deliver this strategy. 

The integrated care partnership will receive quantitative updates on 
progress in achieving the outcomes through the logframe matrix. 
Themed meetings will also provide qualitative information on progress. 

39 

P
age 49



NHS Creative CS56370. Published March 2024 

P
age 50



 

 

 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Impact 
Assessment 

Stage 1  

Section 1: Policy, Function or Service Development Details 

This section requires the basic details of the policy, function or service to be 

reviewed, amended or introduced. 

Section 2: Assessing Impact 

This section asks the author to consider potential differential impacts the policy, function or 
service could have on each of protected groups. There is a separate section for each 
characteristic, and each should be considered individually. 

Authors should refer to relevant evidence to inform the assessment, and to 

understand the likely demographics of the patient population who will be impacted 

by the policy, function or service. For example, findings from the Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment (JSNA). It may be that no evidence is available locally. In this 

case, relevant national, regional or county-wide data should be referred to. 

Authors must consider what action they will take to mitigate any negative 

outcomes identified and what actions they will take to ensure positive impacts are 

realized. 

A link is provided to the legal definition for each of the protected characteristic 

groups.  

Section 3: Equality Act 2010 

This section asks the ICB’s equality, diversity and inclusion lead to consider 

compliance to the Equality Act (2010) having completed the impact assessment of 

each of the protected characteristics covered by the Act in section 2. Consideration 

should be given to whether the evidence included in the impact assessment 

demonstrates that the organisation has upheld its legal duty to eliminate 

discrimination and promote equalities and good community relations by having 

given due regard to equality, including all nine of the protected characteristics 

covered by the Act. 

Page 51



 

 

Section 4: Conclusions & Recommendations 

Now the impact has been assessed, the reviewing panel is asked to consider whether, based 
on the findings, they agree with the findings and any mitigating actions. 

Section 5: Planning Ahead 

This section outlines the requirements for any next steps. This should be completed by the 
ICB’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion lead and the author of this impact assessment to 
ensure that requirements are reasonable and deliverable within project/programme 
timeframes.

Page 52



 

 

Section 1: Policy, Function or Service Development Details (to be 
completed by the author) 

Directorate: Strategy 

Officer responsible for assessment: 

Date of assessment: On-going 

Is this a (please confirm): Updated assessment 

Defining what is being assessed:  

What is the title of the policy, function or service this impact assessment applies to? 

Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy 

Please briefly describe the purpose and objectives of this policy, function or service 

The Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) is required to write an integrated care strategy which 
sets out how commissioners in the ICB and local authorities will work with partners to 
deliver joined up and person-centred care across the Kent and Medway population. An 
interim strategy was developed and published in December 2022. Extensive engagement 
with both system partners and the public was completed during 2023, concluding by 
September, and the interim strategy has now been refreshed based on this feedback. 

The Integrated Care Strategy, through joint, integrated ways of working, looks to reflect 
evidence-based, system wide priorities which address and improve health and wellbeing as 
well as reduce disparities. The strategy will meet the needs of the local population of all 
ages and will relate to all physical and mental health as well as social care needs and address 
the wider determinants of health. 

Who is intended to benefit and in what way? 

The strategy looks to improve the health and wellbeing of the entire Kent and Medway 
population. It considers a ‘life course’ approach by incorporating conception through to end-
of-life care, considering different life phases and settings. There is a particular focus 
prevention and the need to promote and restore health and wellbeing as well as reduce 
disparities.  

What is the intended outcome of this policy, function or service? 
 

The strategy will be used to extend current work to further the needed transformative 
change to tackle challenges including reducing health disparities across health and social 
care, improving quality and performance, preventing mental and physical ill health, and 
promoting patient choice and flexibility in how care and support are delivered. The strategy 
will be used to agree the steps required to deliver system level, evidence-based priorities in 
the short, medium and long term. 

Who are the main stakeholders in this piece of work? 

Providers across adult and children’s social care, primary care, local authorities, community 
health services, secondary care, public health services, voluntary and independent sector 
and other partners that influence the wider determinants of health have been involved in 
the development and will be key to its implementation. 

Page 53



 

 

What factors may contribute to the outcomes of this policy, function or service? 

Ensuring the voice of the service user is used in the development of services. 

An extensive engagement programme was run to seek the views of people who live and 
work in Kent and Medway to inform the strategy refresh. This included an online survey, 
interactive platform with digital ideas boards, travelling roadshows to, for example, family 
fun days, shopping centres and leisure centres using the public health bus. Community 
organisations also led focus groups with people who need to be heard so we can address 
health inequalities. For example LGBTQ+ communities, people with low income, parents and 
carers of children with disabilities and additional support needs, people from ethnic 
minority groups. 

Funding and enhanced partnership working arrangements that will enable new ways of 
working/commissioning more support and services. 

Workforce challenges may impact timescales and deliverability of some of the proposals 
outlined in the strategy. 

Who is responsible for implementing this change to policy, function or service? (Please 
provide contact details).  

The Health and Care Act 2022 amends the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007 and requires integrated care partnerships to write an integrated care 
strategy to set out how the assessed needs (from the joint strategic needs assessments) can 
be met through the exercise of the functions of the integrated care board, partner local 
authorities or NHS England (NHSE). 

What factors may detract from the outcomes of this policy, function or service? 

Some of the ‘factors that contribute’ above could also be factors that detract e.g., funding, 
workforce shortages, need for enhanced partnership working. These factors continue to be 
considered as the ICP becomes established and the Integrated Care System matures. 

Section 2: Assessing Impact (to be completed by the author) 

When completing this section please give consideration to the fact that a differential impact 
may be positive or negative.  

Could there be a differential impact due to racial/ethnic groups? Yes 

The strategy will have a positive impact as it looks to reduce health inequalities across all 
services by considering the needs of the local populations to enable greater provision of 
care across both health and social care. The document outlines how Kent and Medway will 
proactively look to involve people who have lived experience, particularly those from 
underrepresented groups. The project governance includes endorsement from the Kent and 
Medway Inequalities, Prevention and Population Health Committee (IPPH) to ensure that 
the strategy sets a vision for how current programmes of work and future initiatives will 
help improve access, patient experience and patient outcomes for all racial/ethnic groups. 
Health prevention and living well are key areas within the strategy, for example community 
led approaches to support healthy weight, healthy diet choices, good sexual health and 
minimize alcohol and substance misuse and tobacco use. This work will include patient 
focused support services that understand and seek to address barriers that stop cohorts of 
patients engaging with health and wellbeing services. 

Page 54

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


 

 

In addition, the strategy champions an inclusive workforce with all organisations creating a 
culture that promotes diversity, respect, shared learning, development, and opportunity. 

Could there be a differential impact due to disability? Yes 

It is recognized that people with disabilities are more likely to require health and care 
services and so are more likely to be impacted by this strategy. It is felt that the strategy will 
have a positive impact as it looks to reduce health inequalities across all services by 
considering the needs of the local populations to enable greater provision of care across 
both health and social care. The strategy incorporates all aspects of health-related services, 
recognizing that not all services are health and/or social care. For example, the strategy 
includes a joined-up approach to the planning, commissioning, and delivery of housing 
arrangements to allow independent living for those who require additional support and 
housing arrangements. The strategy details how personalised care will allow for increased 
patient choice and flexibility and aims to allow greater independence for those living with a 
disability. Joined up working will allow people to access support that allows people with 
disabilities to work, again supporting the aim to allow people greater independence.  

In addition, there is a commitment to providing support for carers including young carers, 
acknowledging the huge benefits they provide to the people they look after as well as wider 
society but also recognizing the physical and emotional impact on them. 

Could there be a differential impact due to gender? Yes 

The strategy will have a positive impact as it looks to reduce health inequalities across all 
services by considering the needs of the local population to enable greater provision of care 
across both health and social care. For example, the strategy includes a commitment to 
address women’s health issues. 

Could there be a differential impact due to sexual orientation? 

There will be a positive impact as the strategy looks to reduce health inequalities across all 
services by considering the needs of the local population to enable greater provision of care 
across both health and social care. 

Could there be a differential impact due to religion or belief? Yes 

There will be a positive impact as the strategy looks to reduce health inequalities across all 
services by considering the needs of the local population to enable greater provision of care 
across both health and social care. 

Could there be a differential impact due to people’s age? Yes 

What evidence exists for this?  

The strategy will encompass the needs of the whole population, of all ages. The strategy will 
consider the needs and outcomes of babies, children, young adults and their families by 
working collaboratively with partners including children’s services. There is a commitment 
to giving children and young people the best start in life with a particular focus on 
prevention including improving awareness, education, and support to decrease the levels of 
smoking during pregnancy. Giving children the best start, ensuring that the conditions and 

Page 55

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


 

 

support are in place for all children and young people to be healthy, resilient and ambitious 
for their future, forms a key part of the overall strategy. This will be achieved through 
supporting families and adopting a whole family approach. The strategy identifies the need 
for a holistic and family approach that incorporates housing, communities, health, 
education, social care and the voluntary sector. A key area will be around key transitional 
points to ensure continuity of care as well as improve patient outcomes and patient 
experience. The strategy highlights the importance of increasing fitness, reducing childhood 
obesity, improving focus in schools and increasing the uptake of childhood vaccinations. 

The strategy includes how Kent and Medway will help people manage their own health and 
wellbeing including how to live well and age well, encompassing health initiatives that 
promote positive health benefits. Technology will be a key tool in enabling people to 
achieve this goal and in continuity of care for older people who are at a higher risk of 
multiple co-morbidities and deteriorating health. Extending social prescribing, allowing 
people to connect with their community also forms a core part of the strategy.  

Could there be a differential impact due to marital/civil partnership status? Yes 

The strategy will have a positive impact as it looks to reduce health inequalities across all 
services by considering the needs of the local population to enable greater provision of care 
across both health and social care. 

Could there be a differential impact due to a person being trans-gendered or 
transsexual? Yes 

The strategy will have a positive impact as it looks to reduce health inequalities across all 
services by considering the needs of the local population to enable greater provision of care 
across both health and social care. 

Could there be a differential impact due to a person being pregnant or having 
just had a baby? Yes 

There is a recognition that prevention of poor health starts before birth with good 
foundations leading to better health outcomes overall. The strategy outlines how a joined-
up network of support will be provided to support parents and parents to be, including 
awareness around smoking during pregnancy, breastfeeding and childhood obesity as well 
as support being available around housing and education in line with providing a holistic and 
family approach. 

Are there any other groups that may be impacted by this proposed policy, 
function or service (e.g. speakers of other languages; people with caring 
responsibilities or dependants; those with an offending past; or people living in 
rural areas, homeless or war veterans) but are not recognised as protected 
characteristics under the Equality Act 2010? Yes 

The strategy furthers work and the required transformative change that is needed to tackle 
health inequalities across Kent and Medway. In addition to tackling and reducing health 
inequalities, the strategy looks to improve quality and performance, prevent physical and 
mental ill health and improve independence by promoting personalised care, choice and 

Page 56

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


 

 

flexibility. This applies to the entire Kent and Medway population with partners aiming to 
deliver collaborative, joined up, person centered care throughout people’s lives. The 
strategy has a wide scope with focus on: 

 quality improvement 

 joint working 

 personalised care 

 disparities in health and social care 

 population health and prevention 

 health protection 

 babies, children, young people, their families and health ageing 

 workforce 

 research and innovation 

 health related services 

 data and information sharing  

The scope encompasses, and will impact all groups of people including speakers of other 
languages, carers etc. 

The FREDA principles (fairness, respect, equality, dignity and autonomy) are a 
way in which to understand Human Rights. What evidence exists to 
demonstrate that this initiative is in-keeping with these principles? 

The strategy is underpinned by the Core20PLUS5 model which aims to support the 
reduction of health inequalities at system level (as well as national). There are 5 focus 
clinical areas that require accelerated improvement: maternity, severe mental illness, 
chronic respiratory disease, early cancer diagnosis and hypertension case finding. These 
clinical areas align with the Kent and Medway approach to health population management 
that aims to ensure that population groups who experience poorer than average health 
access, experience and/or outcomes are able to access an inclusive and holistic care.  

There is a specific focus on health protection to ensure that vulnerable groups are being 
identified and their needs are addressed. These groups include refugees, asylum seekers, 
homeless people, Roma, Sinti, Travelers, and other groups.  

A report on the consultation and engagement work that was undertaken with system 
partners and the public to understand their priorities will be published alongside the 
refreshed strategy. 

Section 3: The Equality Act 2010 (to be completed by the ICB 
equality, diversity and inclusion Lead) 

Under The Equality Act 2010, the ICB is required to meet its Public Sector Equality Duty. 
Does this impact assessment demonstrate that this policy, function or service meets this 
duty as per the questions below? A ‘no’ response or lack of evidence will result in the 
assessment not being signed off.  

The need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation - Yes 

The content included in Section 2 of this report and the accompanying actions identified in 
Section 4 demonstrate that NHS Kent and Medway has given due regard to the local 

Page 57



 

 

communities that it serves in a way that meets obligations under the Public Sector Equality 
Duty. The strategy seeks to improve services and highlight and reduce inequalities.  

Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not - Yes 

The content included in Section 2 of this report and the accompanying actions identified in 
Section 4 demonstrate that NHS Kent and Medway has given due regard to the local 
communities that it serves in a way that meets obligations under the Public Sector Equality 
Duty. The strategy seeks to improve services and highlight and reduce inequalities.  

Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not - Yes  

The content included in Section 2 of this report and the accompanying actions identified in 
Section 5 demonstrate that NHS Kent and Medway has given due regard to the local 
communities that it serves in a way that meets obligations under the Public Sector Equality 
Duty. The strategy seeks to improve services and highlight and reduce inequalities.  
 

Note: Remember to reference the evidence (i.e. documents and data sources) used 

Section 4: Action Plan 

The below action plan should be started at the point of completing the Impact Assessment 
(as impacts are identified), however, it is an ongoing action plan that should support the 
project throughout its lifespan and therefore, needs to be updated on a regular basis. 

Potential Impact identified 

Which Protected Characteristic group will be impacted upon? 

All 

Action required to mitigate against impact  

Ensure that detailed equality analysis and mitigation is in place for specific service changes 
or projects that happen as a result of the strategy 

Deadline 

On-going 

Who is responsible for this action (Provider/ICB- please include job title where 
possible)?  

Service commissioner – this may be any partner in the Integrated Care System for example 
NHS Kent and Medway, Kent County Council or Medway Council. 

Page 58



 

 

Update on actions (to be provided throughout project) 

Rag rating 

Green 
 

Section 5 Conclusions (to be completed by the author) 

Could the differential impacts identified in questions 1-15 amount to there 
being the potential for adverse impact? 

The strategy seeks to improve services and highlight and reduce inequalities.  

Can the adverse impact be justified on the grounds of promoting equality of 
opportunity for one group, or another reason?  

The strategy seeks to improve services and highlight and reduce inequalities.  
 

Is there an opportunity to alter your proposal to meet the ICB duties? 

No 

Is there evidence of a disproportionate adverse or positive impact on any 
groups of protected characteristic? 

Yes 

Are there concerns that there may be an impact that cannot be easily mitigated 
or alleviated through the alterations? 

No 

Note: For any ‘Yes’ answers, please amend your equality impact assessment and resubmit it 
for further review. For any ‘No’ answers, the ICB must now make a decision as to whether it 
considers this proposal to be viable.  

Section 6: Sign Off (to be completed by author and ICB Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion Lead) 

Date of next review 

Areas to consider at next review (e.g. new census information, new legislation due) 

Is there another group (e.g. new communities) that is relevant and ought to be considered 
next time? 

Signed (Author) R Hewett  

Signed (ICB E,D&I Lead) LS Brailey 
 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



From:  Dan Watkins Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health  
    
                          Anjan Ghosh, Director of Public Health  
 
To:   Kent Health and Wellbeing Board,  25 April 2024 
    
Subject:  Draft Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy/Joint Local Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy Delivery Plan 
    
Classification: Unrestricted 
 

Summary:  
This report provides members of the Health and Wellbeing Board an update on the 
development of the Integrated Care Strategy Shared Delivery Plan which in turn 
encompasses the Delivery Plan for Kent’s Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(JLHWS).   
 
The Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy sets out shared outcomes for the 
health and wellbeing of our population that all partners in the Kent and Medway 
Integrated Care System will work together to deliver and as such also performs the 
role of the Kent Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy. Given that the Kent area 
covers most of the Integrated Care System’s footprint, having a single strategy for 
the health and wellbeing of the population of Kent will provide clarity and ensure that 
all partners are focused on delivering the shared outcomes that have been identified.  
 
In order to capture what action is in train, and is required, across the whole system to 
deliver the outcomes agreed, a system wide Shared Delivery Plan is being 
developed outlining the key actions and approaches that partners will take to land the 
improvements in health and wellbeing that we need to achieve. The document, while 
not comprehensive, will endeavour to capture key areas of action and delivery over 
the next two years. While much of the content is focussed on health gains in Kent, it 
does, in line with the Integrated Care System footprint, also include actions in 
Medway. 
 
This paper discusses the range of partners who have a key role in improving health 
and wellbeing, through tackling the full range of determinants, and describes the 
process being used to develop the plan, as well as how it might provide assurance to 
the Board alongside the measures in the associated log-frame matrix. Crucially, 
delivery and its ownership must sit with sovereign organisations and local systems 
with the Shared Delivery Plan being a composite of all actions owned by partners 
across the system. 
 
Recommendation(s):   
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to: 
1)     Note the progress and proposed work in developing a Shared Delivery Plan for 

the Integrated Care Strategy 
2)     Consider their role as partners in delivering the strategy and how this could be 

reflected in the delivery plan. 
3)     Support the continued development of the Shared Delivery Plan, alongside the 

log-frame matrix, to support assurance on delivery of the Integrated Care 
Strategy. 

Page 61

Agenda Item 10



 
1. Introduction 

  
1.1 Following partner agreement and commitment to the Integrated Care Strategy 

refresh, there is a need to capture and understand partner actions that will 
contribute to its delivery and will in turn drive improved health and wellbeing.   

 
1.2 A Shared Delivery Plan is therefore being developed to set out how partners will 

deliver the Integrated Care Strategy, recognising that it is also the Kent Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and additionally meets the requirements of the 
NHS Joint Forward Plan.  The draft plan is being developed in conjunction with 
the log-frame matrix which outlines the key health improvements we wish to 
see. The draft log-frame is attached as Appendix 1. 

 
1.3 The Draft Shared Delivery Plan is attached as Appendix 2.  It is still in 

development and this paper outlines the approach that will be taken to continue 
this development and agree a delivery plan for the Integrated Care 
Strategy/Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.   

 
2.  The Shared Delivery Plan 
 

2.1 The Draft Shared Delivery Plan spans two years (2024-26), after which it will be 
refreshed to take account of progress and any national or local changes. 

   
2.2 The plan follows the format of the agreed Integrated Care Strategy/Joint Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy.  For each outcome it highlights key areas of joint working 
and then signposts to existing or developing strategies and plans, and who is 
leading them, which will deliver the commitments made in the strategy.  This is 
not an exhaustive list but aims to include significant or appropriate areas of work.  

 
2.3 Ensuring delivery of these plans, and monitoring of progress towards this, will 

remain with the identified lead partners. Progress towards the measures in the 
log frame will allow partners to understand overall system success in landing our 
outcomes. 

 
2.4 The final section of the plan focuses on the conditions for successful delivery of 

the strategy, such as partnership working, commissioning infrastructure, 
governance and system led oversight, and states our ongoing commitment to 
financial sustainability. 

 
2.5 The plan builds on the key recognition that we need to address the full range of 

health determinants and with that the key role of wider partners including 
districts, parishes and communities as well as key stakeholders including the 
Kent Housing Group, the VCS Alliances and the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner. 

 
 
 
3. The Joint Forward Plan 
 
3.1 The NHS is required to develop a Joint Forward Plan 

 

Page 62



3.2 Updated NHS England guidance was published in December 2023 on the 
production of Joint Forward Plans (JFP).  The guidance encourages systems to 
“use the JFP to set out a shared delivery plan for the ICP integrated care 
strategy”. It is planned that the Shared Delivery Plan additionally fulfils the major 
requirements of the JFP. 

 
3.3 The guidance also lists a number of legislative duties the JFP must meet, which 

are either in the remit of the Shared Delivery Plan or readily addressed through 
the addition of a short appendix and links to supporting documentation such as 
the NHS Operational Plan.   

 
4. Development of the Plan 
 
4.1 The project group that coordinated the Integrated Care Strategy refresh has been 

re-purposed to focus on the Shared Delivery Plan. Following discussions with 
stakeholders the following areas have been highlighted for development: 

 

 Health and Care Partnership (HCP) input.  Health and Care Partnerships are 
developing plans which both deliver the Integrated Care Strategy and 
respond to their local population need.  Some of these plans have been 
included in the draft and more information will be added as it becomes 
available.  The role of the NHS in tackling the wider determinants of health 
in addition to clinical services is key. 
 

 District and borough health and wellbeing plans.  These are in development 
with a likely high level of progress by the end of May and will need to be 
reflected in the draft as soon as they are available.   

 

 Voluntary sector services.  Discussions will be had with voluntary sector 
representatives and HCPs, VCSE alliance leads on how their contribution to 
the delivery of the strategy will be reflected in the plan.   

 

 Kent County Council divisional business plans for 2024/25 are in 
development and significant relevant activity that will contribute to delivery 
will be reflected in the draft. 

 

 Further work is ongoing with the Police and Crime Commissioner, Kent 
Housing Group and the KALC to capture their plans that will help delivery of 
the Strategy.   

 

 Kent Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy reporting. Since the 
Integrated Care Strategy is also the Kent JLHWS the reporting routes for 
this will be reflected in the plan.   

 

 Medway Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy alignment.  Whilst there 
is clear alignment between the Medway JLHWS and the draft plan, as the 
plan for JLHWS develops it will need to be clearly referenced.     

 

 NHS Operational Plan links.  This is in development, with a May deadline.  
Information will be included as it becomes available.  

  

Page 63



4.2 Following reflections from the Integrated Care Partnership, the project team will 
also continue to share the draft with a wide range of stakeholders to seek input, 
feedback and support for the plan. The aim is to complete the plan by the end of 
May.   

 
5. Monitoring Delivery 
 
5.1 Members will wish to consider how best the HWB is kept sighted on and can 

contribute to delivery of this important plan. 
 
5.2 Guidance on ICPs state that they will create a forum in which partners should 

hold each other mutually to account for delivering the priorities set out in its 
integrated care strategy, including over the longer term.  

 
5.3 The Shared Delivery Plan will be a useful tool for the HWB to coordinate and 

provide oversight and assurance of delivery across the system.  However, in a 
large and complex system, there is a balance to be struck between providing 
information to demonstrate progress and having capacity to meaningfully 
discuss and add value to an area of the strategy delivery. Each organisation will 
wish to monitor the delivery of their contributing strategies / activities set out in 
the Shared Delivery Plan through their own established governance routes. 

 
5.4 A number of mechanisms are being set up to support the ICP in this role which 

will additionally provide the HWB assurance: 

 The ICP will receive updates on the strategic indicators developed through 
the log-frame matrix, this is likely to be annually.   
 

 From April, the ICP will receive regular updates from the Inequalities, 
Prevention and Population Health (IPPH) committee which will cover a 
significant amount of the activity across the system to deliver the shared 
outcomes. 

 

 Thematic discussions / deep dives on particular areas of interest within the 
shared outcomes are being proposed as part of the new approach for ICP 
meetings. 

 
6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 The Integrated Care Strategy Delivery Plan sets out the key actions underway 

and planned within the system to improve meet health and wellbeing.  
 

6.2 It is recognised that this work is taking place against a background of serious 
financial challenges and increasing need for services and support.  

 
6.3 Delivery of the strategy will be managed through more detailed delivery and 

commissioning plans across the system, where specific financial implications will 
be identified and managed. 
 
 

7. Legal implications 
 

Page 64



7.1 KCC, the local NHS and Medway Council are statutory members of the Kent and 
Medway Integrated Care Partnership. The Health and Care Act 2022 requires 
Integrated Care Partnerships to produce an Integrated Care Strategy. 
Commissioners must have regard to the relevant Integrated Care Strategy when 
exercising any of their functions, so far as relevant. 
 

8. Equalities implications  
 

8.1 An Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Impact Assessment has been completed for 
the Integrated Care Strategy and has been shared previously with the Board. 
This was led by colleagues at NHS Kent and Medway with input from KCC. 
 

8.2 The Integrated Care Strategy aims to improve health and wellbeing outcomes 
for all people in Kent and Medway, with a particular emphasis on addressing 
health inequalities and providing more support for those with the greatest need 
including needs associated with protected characteristics. Subsequently, the 
assessment identifies that there is potential for positive impact for all protected 
characteristic groups, to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, 
to advance equality of opportunity and to foster good relations between people 
who share a protected characteristic, and therefore meets the requirements of 
the Public Sector Equality Duty. These benefits will be reflected in the Shared 
Delivery Plan. 

 
8.3 The assessment additionally sets out an action to ensure that detailed equality 

analysis and mitigation is put in place for specific service changes or projects 
that happen as a result of the strategy. These will be undertaken by lead 
partners in delivering their contributions to the delivery plan. 

 
9. Conclusions 
 
9.1 As noted above the Draft Shared Delivery Plan aims to include significant and 

appropriate areas of joint working, rather than an exhaustive list of activities.  It is 
intended to provide assurance on progress alongside the log-frame matrix.  

  
9.2 The Board is asked to consider whether the Shared Delivery Plan meets the 

assurance requirements of a delivery plan for the Integrated Care Strategy  
 
9.3 Partners are also asked to consider the role they play in delivering the strategy 

and how this could be reflected in the developing plan.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10. Recommendation(s):  

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to: 
1)     Note the progress and proposed work in developing a Shared Delivery Plan for 

the Integrated Care Strategy 
2)     Consider their role as partners in delivering the strategy and how this could be 

reflected in the delivery plan. 
3)     Support the continued development of the Shared Delivery Plan, alongside the 

log-frame matrix, to support assurance on delivery of the Integrated Care 
Strategy. 

 
 

Page 65



11.  Appendices 
 
1: Draft Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy Log-frame Matrix 
2: Draft Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy Shared Delivery Plan 
 
12. Contact details 
 
Dr Anjan Ghosh 
Director of Public Health 
Anjan.ghosh@kent.gov.uk 
03000 412633 

Page 66

mailto:Anjan.ghosh@kent.gov.uk


 
 

 
 

Logframe Matrix for the Kent and Medway 

Integrated Care Strategy   
Indicators highlighted grey are still work in progress.  

Contents 
Goal .................................................................................................................................................................................. 2 

Purpose........................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Shared outcome 1: Give children and young people the best start in life ........................................................... 4 

Shared outcome 2: Tackle the wider determinants to prevent ill health .............................................................. 6 

Shared outcome 3: Supporting happy and healthy living ...................................................................................... 7 

Shared outcome 4: Empower people to best manage their health conditions ................................................... 9 

Shared outcome 5: Improve health and care services ......................................................................................... 10 

Shared outcome 6: Support and grow our workforce ........................................................................................... 11 

 

 

 

  

Page 67



 
 

 
 

Goal 

Narrative: To reduce economic and health inequalities in Kent and Medway 

No. Objectively verifiable 
indicators (OVIs) 

Means of verification 
(MOV) 

Notes 

G.1 By 2032, the Index of Multiple 
Deprivation rank of average score will 
have increased by 15 places so that 
both Kent and Medway become 
relatively less deprived.  

Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities and Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local 
Government. English indices of 
deprivation. 

Align more closely with best 
performing CIPFA nearest neighbours 
in 2019. Swindon (Medway) and 
Hampshire (Kent).  

 

G.2 By 2026-28, life expectancy at birth in 
Kent and Medway will increase by 1.5 
years for males and 1 year for females. 
Additionally, the slope index of 
inequality for life expectancy at birth 
will decrease by 2 years for males and 
0.5 years for females. 

Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities (OHID). Fingertips. Life 
expectancy at birth (indicator ID 
90366) and inequality in life 
expectancy at birth (indicator ID: 
92901). 

Align more closely with best 
performing CIPFA nearest neighbours 
in 2018-20. Swindon (Medway) and 
Hampshire (Kent).  

 

G.3 Health life expectancy  Explore adding healthy life expectancy indicator in the future.  
 
The ONS healthy life expectancy publication on 26 March 
doesn’t have data at Upper Tier Local Authority (UTLA) level. 
This is because of the robustness of data from the Annual 
Population Survey. ONS are working on improving the survey 
methodology and sample sizes and hope to reinstate UTLA 
level data at the end of the year. 
 

G.4 By 2031, the proportion of people from 
minority ethnic groups living in less 
deprived neighbourhoods will increase 
by 1 percentage point in Kent and 2 
percentage points in Medway to align 
more closely with the underlying 
minority ethnic group population 
distributions. 

Deprivation: Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities and 
Ministry of Housing, Communities & 
Local Government. English indices of 
deprivation. 

Ethnicity: Nomis. Office for National 
Statistics. Census. TS021 - Ethnic 
group.  

Match CIPFA nearest neighbours in 
2019. Swindon (Medway) and 
Hampshire (Kent).  

 

 

  

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-indices-of-deprivation
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-indices-of-deprivation


 
 

 
 

Purpose 

Narrative: To support social and economic development, improve public service outcomes, and ensure services for 

citizens are of excellent quality and good value for money 

No. Objectively verifiable 
indicators (OVIs) 

Means of verification 
(MOV) 

Notes 

P.1 By XXXX, the spend by public sector 
organisations in Kent and Medway that 
is in K&M will be a%, with b% of the 
total spend with local SMEs.  

OVI work in progress. Should be 
possible to develop an indicator 
around anchor institutions and the 
commitment to boost K&M SMEs 

Indicator to be changed to align with priorities in the Kent & 
Medway Economic Framework. 
 
The Kent & Medway Economic partnership has committed to 
5 high level ambitions with 21 action areas. The targets have 
not yet been agreed. Following approval at scrutiny 
committee recently, these will be turned into an 
implementation plan by June 2024. Indicator monitoring is 
being provided by the Kent Analytics team.  
 

P.2 By 2028, average income in Kent and 
Medway will be 5% higher than the 
national average, up from 2% higher in 
2022. 

Average weekly earnings - Annual 
Survey of Hours and Earnings 
($ASHE), Office for National Statistics. 
Public health profiles - OHID 
(phe.org.uk) 
 

Indicator to be changed to align with priorities in the Kent & 
Medway Economic Framework. 
 
See comment above.  

P.3 By 2028, the proportion of children 
living in relative poverty in Kent and 
Medway will be reduced from 18% in 
2022 to 17%.  

Children in Low Income Families: local 
area statistics, United Kingdom, 
financial years ending (FYE) 2015 to 
2022. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/coll
ections/children-in-low-income-
families-local-area-statistics  
Relative low income is defined as a 
family in low income before housing 
costs in the refence year. A family 
must have claimed Child Benefit and 
at least one other household benefit 
at any point in the year to be classed 
as low income in these statistics. 

 

 

  

Page 69

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-indices-of-deprivation
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-indices-of-deprivation
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/children-in-low-income-families-local-area-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/children-in-low-income-families-local-area-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/children-in-low-income-families-local-area-statistics


 
 

 
 

Shared outcome 1: Give children and young people the best start in life 

Narrative: We will ensure that the conditions and support are in place for all children and young people to be 

healthy, resilient and ambitious for their future. 

No. Objectively verifiable 
indicators (OVIs) 

Means of verification 
(MOV) 

Notes 

1.1 By 2028, pupils achieving a good level 
of development at the end of the Early 
Years Foundation Stage will have 
improved from 65.8% in 2021/22 to at 
least 70%. 

Included in strategy. 

Department for Education (DfE). 
Fingertips, Indicator ID: 90631 

In line with best performing CIPFA 
nearest neighbour in 2021/22 

 

1.2 By 2028, the proportion of children in 
Year 6 who are healthy weight will be 
maintained at the current level of 63% 
and severe obesity will have reduced 
from 5%. 

Included in strategy. 

OHID, using National Child 
Measurement Programme, NHS 
Digital. Fingertips Indicator ID: 90323 

A return to pre-pandemic levels. 

 

1.3 By 2028, the difference in rates of 
overweight and obesity in year 6 
children in the top and bottom local 
quintiles of deprivation in Kent and 
Medway will have reduced from 13.2% 
in 2021/22 to 10%. This will be achieved 
by a reduction among the most 
deprived groups.  

National Child Measurement 
Programme (NCMP) 

Return to gap in 2016/17 

Original wording updated to highlight a reduction is needed 
among the most deprived group. 

1.4 By 2028/29, the attainment gap (in 
terms of percentage of pupils who met 
the expected standard in RWM at Key 
Stage 2) between SEN and non-SEN 
pupils will be better than the national 
average.  

Department for Education (DfE) New indicator added following stakeholder feedback. 
Indicator wording and level of ambition still to be approved 
by all partners.  
 
In 2022/23, the K&M average gap was 50% (the same as 
England). 

1.5 By 2028/29, the average attainment 8 
scores for both SEN and non-SEN pupils 
will have increased, and the gap 
between the two groups will be 5 points 
lower than the national average. 

Included in strategy. 

Department for Education (DfE): 
Pupils’ attainment across eight 
government approved qualifications. 

In line with best performing CIPFA 
nearest neighbour in 2021/22 

 

1.6 By 2028/29, the attainment gap (in 
terms of percentage of pupils who met 
the expected standard in RWM at Key 
Stage 2) between SEN and non-SEN 
pupils will be better than the national 
average.  

Department for Education (DfE) New indicator added following stakeholder feedback. 
Indicator wording and level of ambition still to be approved 
by all partners. 
 
In 2022/23, the K&M average gap was 50% (the same as 
England). 

1.7 By 2028/29, the attainment gap (in 
terms of average attainment 8 scores) 
between the disadvantaged and non-
disadvantaged pupils will be similar to 
the national average.  

Department for Education (DfE) New indicator added following stakeholder feedback. 
Indicator wording and level of ambition still to be approved 
by all partners. 
 
In 2022/23, the K&M average gap was 14% compared to 11% 
across England. 

1.8 By 2028 pupil absence rates will have 
fallen from 7.9% in 2021/22 to below 
5%. 

Included in strategy. 

Department for Education (DfE). The 
overall absence rate in state funded 
primary, secondary and special 
schools. 

In line with national targets. 

 

1.9 Asthma - Address over reliance on 
reliever medications; and decrease the 
number of asthma attacks in children. 

TBC. 

Awaiting national agreement on 
CORE20PLUS5 indicators. 

Indicator wording to be confirmed. Awaiting national 
agreement on CORE20PLUS5 indicators. 

To be reviewed against national inequalities metrics.  
 
Also, consider switching to asthma admissions deprivation 
gap as a proxy. 

Page 70



 
 

 
 

No. Objectively verifiable 
indicators (OVIs) 

Means of verification 
(MOV) 

Notes 

1.10 Diabetes - Increase access to real-time 
continuous glucose monitors and 
insulin pumps for children across the 
most deprived quintiles and from ethnic 
minority backgrounds. 

TBC. 

Awaiting national agreement on 
CORE20PLUS5 indicators.  

Indicator wording to be confirmed. Awaiting national 
agreement on CORE20PLUS5 indicators. 

To be reviewed against national inequalities metrics.  

1.11 Increase proportion of children with 
Type 2 diabetes receiving 
recommended NICE care processes. 

TBC. 

Awaiting national agreement on 
CORE20PLUS5 indicators. 

Indicator wording to be confirmed. Awaiting national 
agreement on CORE20PLUS5 indicators. 

To be reviewed against national inequalities metrics.  
 

1.12 Epilepsy - Increase access to epilepsy 
specialist nurses and ensure access in 
the first year of care for children with a 
learning disability or autism. 

TBC. 

Awaiting national agreement on 
CORE20PLUS5 indicators. 

Indicator wording to be confirmed. Awaiting national 
agreement on CORE20PLUS5 indicators. 

To be reviewed against national inequalities metrics.  
 

1.13 Oral health - Tooth extractions due to 
decay for children admitted as 
inpatients in hospital, aged 10 years and 
under. 

TBC. 

Awaiting national agreement on 
CORE20PLUS5 indicators. 

Indicator wording to be confirmed. Awaiting national 
agreement on CORE20PLUS5 indicators. 

This is now part of the NHSE mandated health inequalities 
metrics: Reduce the gap for tooth extractions due to decay 
for children admitted as inpatients to hospital, aged 10 years 
and under caused by deprivation. 
 
There are likely to be significant data quality issues with this 
indicator as many extractions are performed in high street 
dentists on behalf of hospitals, but the data isn’t necessarily 
available in hospital data.  
 

1.14 Mental health - Improve access rates to 
children and young people’s mental 
health services for 0-17 year olds, for 
certain ethnic groups, age, gender and 
deprivation. 

TBC. 

Awaiting national agreement on 
CORE20PLUS5 indicators. 

Awaiting national agreement on CORE20PLUS5 indicators. 

Going to review against national inequalities metrics. 
 
Also, exploring creating an indicator related to children in 
care and mental health needs following stakeholder 
feedback.   

1.15 By 2028/29, the proportion of mothers 
smoking at time of delivery will have 
reduced from 10.2% in 2021/22 to no 
more than 6%.  

Included in strategy.  

Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities (OHID). Fingertips. 
Indicator ID: 93085. 

 

1.16 By 2028, the proportion of children who 
are up to date with the vaccinations in 
the NHS routine list meets the national 
benchmark (95%).   
 

  

1.17 By 2028, the proportion of children in 
care who are up to date with the 
vaccinations in the NHS routine list 
meets the national benchmark (95%).   
 

Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities (OHID). Fingertips. 
Indicator ID: 811. 

 

1.18 By 2028, 80% of initial health 
assessments completed within 28 
calendar days (20 working days) of a 
child or young person becoming looked 
after.  

Department for Education (DfE) New indicator added following stakeholder feedback.  
 
Indicator wording and level of ambition to be approved all 
partners.  

1.19 By 2028, the rate of children in need is 
similar to the national average (within 
5%). 
 

Department for Education (DfE) New indicator added following stakeholder feedback. 
Indicator wording and level of ambition to be approved all 
partners.  
Also suggested that this should be a goal level indicator.  

1.20 By 2028, the rate of children subject to 
a child protection plan is similar to 
national average (within 5%). 

Department for Education (DfE) New indicator added following stakeholder feedback. 
Indicator wording and level of ambition to be approved all 
partners.  
Also suggested that this should be a goal level indicator.  

1.21 By 2028, the rate of children in care is 
similar to the national average (within 
5%).  

Department for Education (DfE) New indicator added following stakeholder feedback. 
Indicator wording and level of ambition to be approved all 
partners.  
Also suggested that this should be a goal level indicator.  

 Page 71



 
 

 
 

Shared outcome 2: Tackle the wider determinants to prevent ill health 

Narrative: Address the wider determinants of health (social, economic and environmental), to improve the physical 

and mental health of all residents, tackle inequalities, and focus on those who are most vulnerable. 

No. Objectively verifiable 
indicators (OVIs) 

Means of verification 
(MOV) 

Notes 

2.1 By 2028/29, the proportion of people 
who feel lonely often or always will 
have reduced from 7.3% in 2020/21 to 
no more than 5% across Kent and 
Medway.  

Included in strategy. 

Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities (OHID). Fingertips. 
Indicator ID: 93758. 

 

2.2 By 2028/29, the percentage of the 
population who are in contact with 
secondary mental health services that 
are in paid employment (aged 18 to 69) 
will increase from 8% in 2020/21 to 
above 10% in Kent and Medway. 

Included in strategy. 

Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities (OHID). Fingertips. 
Indicator ID: 93886.  

NHS Digital. ASCOF indicator 1F. 

 

2.3 By 2028/29, the percentage of the 
population who are in receipt of long-
term support for a learning disability 
that are in paid employment (aged 18 
to 64) will increase and go from worse 
than the national average to similar or 
better than the national average. 

Included in strategy. 

Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities (OHID). Fingertips. 
Indicator ID: 93884.  

NHS Digital. ASCOF indicator 1E. 

 

2.4 By 2028, the proportion of closed 
safeguarding enquires where risk is 
reduced or removed is better than the 
national percentage. 

NHS Digital. Safeguarding adults. 
Section 42 and other enquiries.  

 

2.5 By 2028, smoking prevalence in adults 
in routine and manual occupations (18-
64) will have decreased by 9 percentage 
points from 28.1% in Kent and 20.1% in 
Medway in 2021.  

Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities (OHID). Fingertips. 
Indicator ID: 92445. 

Match best performing CIPFA nearest 
neighbours in 2020. Bury (Medway) 
and Hampshire (Kent). 

 

2.6 All NHS organisations and local 
authorities will make progress towards 
their net-zero targets. 
 
Included in strategy. 
 

 This indicator is being taken to the Kent and Medway 
Strategic Environment and Sustainability Steering Group to 
clarify if this indicator can be made SMART.  

2.7 By 2028, the rate of households owed a 
homelessness prevention or relief duty 
will have decreased in Medway from is 
15.8 per 1,000 households to 12.0 per 
1,000, and the rate in Kent rate will not 
exceed 12.0 per 1,000.  

OHID. Fingertips. Indicator ID: 93736. Looking to replace this indicator with something that is more 
outcome focused.  
To be discussed with the Kent Housing Group. 
 

2.8 By 2028, the rate of serious violence 
will be lower or similar compared to the 
national average.     

OHID. Fingertips.  Indicator ID: 11202.  Indicator amended to focus on serious violence following 
stakeholder feedback.  

2.9 Increase employment rates in Kent and 
Medway.  

 Indicator to be added to align with priorities in the Kent & 
Medway Economic Framework. 
See comment in P.1.  
Also suggested that this should be a purpose level indicator.  
 

2.10 Attract and support businesses in Kent 
and Medway, i.e. providing new 
employment opportunities 

 Indicator to be added to align with priorities in the Kent & 
Medway Economic Framework. 
See comment in P.1.  
Also suggested that this should be a purpose level indicator.  
 

Page 72

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/safeguarding-adults
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/housing#page/4/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000008/ati/502/are/E06000035/iid/93736/age/-1/sex/-1/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0


 
 

 
 

Shared outcome 3: Supporting happy and healthy living 

Narrative: Help people to manage their own health and wellbeing and be proactive partners in their care so they can 

live happy, independent and fulfilling lives; adding years to life and life to years. 

No. Objectively verifiable 
indicators (OVIs) 

Means of verification 
(MOV) 

Notes 

3.1 By 2028, the proportion of adults in 
Kent and Medway who are physically 
inactive will have fallen from 22.3% in 
2020/21 to 20%. 

Included in strategy. 

OHID (Active Lives Adult Survey Sport 
England) Fingertips, Indicator ID: 
93015.  The weighted number of 
respondents aged 19 and over, with 
valid responses to questions on 
physical activity, doing less than 30 
moderate intensity equivalent 
physical activity per week in bouts of 
10 minutes or more in the previous 
28 days. 

In line with best performing CIPFA 
nearest neighbour in 2020/21 

 

3.2 By 2028, the proportion of adults in 
Kent and Medway who are overweight 
or obese will have fallen from 64.1% in 
2020/21 to 62%. 

Included in strategy. 

OHID (based on the Active Lives Adult 
Survey, Sport England), Fingertips ID 
93088. the number of adults aged 
18+ with a BMI classified as 
overweight (including obesity). 

In line with best performing CIPFA 
nearest neighbour in 2020/21 

 

3.3 By 2028, the rates of overweight and 
obesity in adults in the top and bottom 
local quintiles of deprivation in Kent 
and Medway will have reduced to 2%, 
from 3.3% in 2021/22.  

Quality and Outcomes Framework 
(QOF), Fingertips, Indicator ID: 92588. 
The percentage of patients aged 18 or 
over with a BMI greater than or equal 
to 30 in the previous 12 months. 

Smallest combined gap in past 7 years 

 

3.4 By 2028, hospital admissions in Kent 
and Medway due to alcohol will have 
fallen from 418.7 in 2021/22 to 395 per 
100,000. 

Included in strategy. 

OHID, Fingertips indicators 91414 and 
93764. Admissions to hospital where 
the primary diagnosis is an alcohol-
attributable code, or a secondary 
diagnosis is an alcohol-attributable 
external cause code. 

In line with best performing CIPFA 
nearest neighbour in 2020/21 

 

3.5 By 2028, 75% of cancers will be 
diagnosed at stage 1 or stage 2 
(CORE20PLUS5).  

NHS Digital’s National Disease 
Registration Service. Fingertips, 
Indicator ID: 93671 

In line with national target 

 

3.6 By 2028, maintain the rate of 
emergency admissions for those with 
one or more long term condition to the 
level it was in 2024. 

OBH LTC3 Data source will need to change.  

3.7 By 2028, the rate of emergency 
admissions for those who are frail will 
have reduced by at least 1.5% to the 
rate it was in 2018 (4,556 per 100,000). 

Included in strategy. 

OBH FD33 Data source will need to change.  

3.8 By 2028, diabetes complications such as 
stroke, heart attacks, amputations, etc., 
will have reduced by at least 10% 
(baseline 2018-19: 177 per 100,000). 

Included in strategy. 

OBH DM49 Data source will need to change.  

Page 73



 
 

 
 

No. Objectively verifiable 
indicators (OVIs) 

Means of verification 
(MOV) 

Notes 

3.9 By 2028, the suicide rate for persons 
will be similar or better than the 
England average (England currently 10 
per 100,000). 
 

OBH MH69 Due to data quality issues for self-harm admissions, indicator 
switched to suicide. 

3.10 By 2028, we will increase the 
proportion of people who receive long-
term support who live in their home or 
with family. 
 
Included in strategy. 

  

3.11 By 2028, the mortality rate from drug 
misuse in Kent and Medway will remain 
at a similar level, which is similar to or 
better than the national average.  

OHID. Fingertips. Indicator ID: 92432.   

3.12 By 2028, the STI testing rate will 
increase, going from worse than the 
national average to similar or better. 
 

OHID. Fingertips. Indicator ID: 91307.   

3.13 By 2028, flu vaccination uptake for 
healthcare professionals will reach or 
exceed the WHO target of 75%.  

  

3.14 By 2028, flu vaccination uptake for at-
risk groups will reach or exceed the 
WHO target of 75%.  

  

3.15 By 2028, bowel cancer screening will 
meet or exceed the national acceptable 
performance level of 52%. 
Bowel cancer screening programme 
standards. 

OHID. Fingertips. Indicator ID: 91720.  
 

 

3.16 By 2028, cervical cancer screening will 
meet or exceed the national acceptable 
performance level of 80%. 
Cervical screening programme 
screening standards. 

OHID. Fingertips. Indicator ID: 93560 
& 93561. 

 

3.17 By 2028, breast cancer screening will 
meet or exceed the national acceptable 
performance level of 70%. 
Breast screening programme screening 
standards. 

OHID. Fingertips. Indicator ID: 22001.  

3.18 By 2028, at least 75% of people aged 14 
or over with a learning disability will 
have had an annual health check. 

NHS Digital. Learning Disabilities 
Health Check Scheme.  
 

New indicator added following stakeholder feedback. 
Indicator wording and level of ambition to be approved by 
partners.  
 
 

 

  

Page 74

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/bowel-cancer-screening-programme-standards/bowel-cancer-screening-programme-standards-valid-for-data-collected-from-1-april-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/bowel-cancer-screening-programme-standards/bowel-cancer-screening-programme-standards-valid-for-data-collected-from-1-april-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cervical-screening-programme-standards/cervical-screening-programme-standards-valid-for-data-collected-from-1-april-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cervical-screening-programme-standards/cervical-screening-programme-standards-valid-for-data-collected-from-1-april-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/breast-screening-consolidated-programme-standards/nhs-breast-screening-programme-screening-standards-valid-for-data-collected-from-1-april-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/breast-screening-consolidated-programme-standards/nhs-breast-screening-programme-screening-standards-valid-for-data-collected-from-1-april-2017
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/learning-disabilities-health-check-scheme
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/learning-disabilities-health-check-scheme


 
 

 
 

Shared outcome 4: Empower people to best manage their health 
conditions 

Narrative: Support people with multiple health conditions to be part of a team with health and social care 

professionals working compassionately to improve their health and wellbeing. 

No. Objectively verifiable 
indicators (OVIs) 

Means of verification 
(MOV) 

Notes 

4.1 By 2028, 67% of patients with long term 
conditions say they have had enough 
support from local services or 
organisations in the last 12 months. 

GP survey  

4.2 By 2028, the people describing their 
overall experience of making a GP 
appointment as good will have 
increased from 49% in 2022 to at least 
60%. 

Included in strategy. 

GP survey  

4.3 By 2028/29, the inequality in unplanned 
hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory 
care sensitive conditions will have 
reduced. The ratio of the rate between 
the most and least deprived 20% of the 
population will have fallen below 2.0, 
and will be similar to or lower than the 
national average.  

NHS Digital. Hospital Episode 
Statistics.   

Indicator wording amended to focus on reducing the 
deprivation gap, not just the rate.  

4.4 By 2028, the proportion of carers who 
report that they are very satisfied or 
extremely satisfied with social services 
will have improved from 32.3% in 
2020/21 to at least 45%. 

Included in strategy. 

Survey of Adult Carers in England 
(SACE) 

In line with best performing CIPFA 
nearest neighbour 

Wording amended slightly to reflect survey question. 

 

4.5 By 2028, reduce the rate of emergency 
admissions for those with learning 
disabilities from the 2024 baseline. 
 

  

4.6 Maintain the Talking Therapies recovery 
rate at the 2024 value 

 This is a suggested new indicator. Wording to be amended to 
also reflect the number of people in treatment.  
 

4.7 By 2025, the rising trend in the 
percentage of days disrupted by 
hospital care for those with long term 
conditions will have reversed since April 
2021. 

Included in strategy. 

 Due to data source changes, it has been suggested that this 
indicator is replaced with: 
 
There will be an increasing percentage of patients with high 
or very high needs being supported through INTs as 
evidenced by having active care plans. 
 
New indicator TBC. 
 

4.8 By 2028, the proportion of deaths in 
hospital across Kent and Medway will 
reduce from 41% to 36%.  

OHID, Fingertips indicator 93474. The 
annual percentage of registered 
deaths in each area for persons and 
where the place of death is recorded 
as hospital. 

In line with best performing CIPFA 
nearest neighbour in 2020/21 

 

4.9 By 2027 we will have implemented our 
organisational carers strategies. 
 
Included in strategy. 

  

  

Page 75

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-collections-and-data-sets/data-collections/social-care-user-surveys/social-care-carers-survey-2021-22
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-collections-and-data-sets/data-collections/social-care-user-surveys/social-care-carers-survey-2021-22


 
 

 
 

Shared outcome 5: Improve health and care services 

Narrative: Improve access for all to health and care services, providing services as locally as possible and creating 

centres of excellence for specialist care where that improves quality, safety and sustainability. 

No. Objectively verifiable 
indicators (OVIs) 

Means of verification 
(MOV) 

Notes 

5.1 By 2025 we will meet national 
expectations for patients with length of 
stay of 21+ days who no longer meet 
with criteria to reside. 

Included in strategy. 

SUS data 

 

 

5.2 By 2028, reduce readmissions for frail 
patients. 
 

  

5.3 By 2025, percentage of 2-hour urgent 
community response referrals that 
achieved the 2-hour standard will be at 
or above the national standard. 

UCR stats available from nationally at 
ICB level 

 

5.4 Inappropriate out of area mental health 
placements will be at or close to zero. 

Included in strategy. 

Available nationally  

5.5 By 2028, the percentage of patients 
spending more than 12 hours in an 
emergency department before 
admission matches best performing 
nearest neighbours. 

Available nationally  

5.6 By 2028, ambulance handover delays 
greater than 60 minutes matches best 
performing nearest neighbours. 

Available nationally UEC sitrep  

5.7 By 2028, waits for diagnostics will meet 
national ambitions. 

Included in strategy. 

Available nationally  

5.8 By 2028/29, the percentage of people 
aged 65 and over who were still at 
home 91 days after discharge from 
hospital into reablement services will 
have increased in Kent to at least 85% 
(2021/22: Kent 84.5%) and in Medway 
to be in line with the national average 
(2021/22: Medway lower at 61.7%). 

Included in strategy. 

Office for Health Improvement and 
Disparities (OHID). Fingertips. 
Indicator ID: 90584.  

NHS Digital. ASCOF indicator 2B(1). 

Wording amended slightly following stakeholder feedback:  
 
By 2028/29, the percentage of people aged 65 and over who 
were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 
reablement services will have increased in Kent to at least 
85% (2021/22: Kent 84.5%) and in Medway to be similar to, 
or higher than, our statistical neighbours (2021/22: Medway 
lower at 61.7%). 

 

 

  

Page 76



 
 

 
 

Shared outcome 6: Support and grow our workforce 

Narrative: Make Kent and Medway a great place for our colleagues to live, work and learn 

No. Objectively verifiable 
indicators (OVIs) 

Means of verification 
(MOV) 

Notes 

6.1 By XXXX, all organisations achieve a 
staff retention rate of at least X%. 

Individual organisation HR data Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.2 By XXXX, the staff vacancy rate of all 
organisations will have reduced by X%. 

Individual organisation HR data 

 

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.3 By XXXX, X% of employees report that 
their managers/organisation support 
their learning and development. 

Individual organisation staff surveys. 
Wording currently different.  
Look to align in time.  

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.4 By XXXX, X% of employees have 
completed their organisation’s 
mandatory leadership training. 

Individual organisation workforce 
development data. 

 

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.5 By XXXX, X% of employees would 
recommend their organisation as a 
place to work. 

Individual organisation staff surveys. 
Wording currently different.  
Look to align in time. 
 

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.6 By XXXX, all organisations will have 
made progress towards workforce 
mobility.  

TBC Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.7 By XXXX, all organisations will achieve a 
minimum staff survey participation rate 
of X%. 

Individual organisation staff surveys.  
 

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.8 By XXXX, X% of employees feel that 
their role makes a difference to patients 
/ service users / residents. 

Individual organisation staff surveys. 
Wording currently different.  
Look to align in time. 
 

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.9 By XXXX, X% of employees feel that 
their manager/organisation takes 
positive action on health and wellbeing. 

Individual organisation staff surveys. 
Wording currently different.  
Look to align in time. 
 

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.10 By XXXX, the staff sickness rate will 
have reduced by X%. 

Individual organisation HR data 

 

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.11 By XXXX, the staff survey diversity 
declaration rates will have increased by 
X%.  

Individual organisation staff surveys. 
Wording currently different.  
Look to align in time. 
 

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.12 By XXXX, each organisation’s workforce 
is representative compared to the 
general working age population by each 
protected characteristic (TBC).  

Individual organisation HR data.  

ONS/Census population data.  

 

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.13 By XXXX, X% of employees rate their 
inclusion and fair treatment in their 
organisation positively. 

Individual organisation staff surveys. 
Wording currently different.  
Look to align in time. 
 

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.14 By XXXX, X% of employees feel their 
organisation acts fairly regarding career 
progression/promotion, regardless of 
ethnic background, gender, religion, 
sexual orientation, disability or age. 

Individual organisation staff surveys. 
Wording currently different.  
Look to align in time. 
 

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.15 By XXXX, the proportion of staff who 
experienced internal harassment, 
bullying or abuse will have reduced by 
X%.  

Individual organisation staff surveys. 
Wording currently different.  
Look to align in time. 
 

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

6.16 By XXXX, the proportion of staff who 
experienced external harassment, 
bullying or abuse will have reduced by 
X%. 
 

Individual organisation staff surveys. 
Wording currently different.  
Look to align in time. 
 

Draft wording created during recent working groups. Final 
wording and level of ambition TBC.  

 Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT
DRAFT

Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy
Shared Delivery Plan 2024 - 2026
Draft Version 1.6
8 March 2024

P
age 79



DRAFT
DRAFTShared Delivery Plan Contents Page

1. Introduction

2. Health and Wellbeing Boards statements

3. Overview of Integrated Care Strategy

4. Outcome 1 – overview and approach to delivery

5. Outcome 2 – overview and approach to delivery

6. Outcome 3 – overview and approach to delivery

7. Outcome 4 – overview and approach to delivery

8. Outcome 5 – overview and approach to delivery

9. Outcome 6 – overview and approach to delivery

10. Strategy enablers
• Research, innovation and improvement 
• System leadership and making the most of our 

collective resources including our estate

• Engaging our communities co-designing 

11. Conditions for successful delivery
• Partnership working
• Commissioning infrastructure

12. Financial Sustainability 

13. Have your say

14. Appendices
a) Log frame matrix for each outcome
b) NHS Operating Plan 2024/24

P
age 80



DRAFT
DRAFT

DRAFT

Introduction and purpose
‘We will work together to make health and wellbeing better than any partner 
can do alone.’  This is our vision for the Kent and Medway Integrated Care 
System, which brings together all our system partners to make a significant 
difference, improving local services and supporting healthier living.  

Our refreshed Integrated Care Strategy, which is also the Joint Local Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy for Kent, sets the shared outcomes that we will work 
as a system to achieve to improve the health and wellbeing of the Kent and 
Medway population. The Strategy is owned by the Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP) which has a role to ensure that progress is being made 
against the shared outcomes. Successful delivery will require all partners in 
the system to play their part. 

This Shared Delivery Plan will support the ICP in its assurance role. It 
supports the principle of subsidiarity and provides a system-level view of 
some of the main strategies and activities in place that will make a significant 
impact in delivering the shared outcomes. Some of the strategies and 
activities are owned by individual partners and others are being delivered in 
partnership as we progress on our journey as an integrated system. Delivery 
of these strategies and activities remains the responsibility of the partner 
organisation or group that owns it, but bringing them together in this Shared 
Delivery Plan allows for greater understanding and visibility of key activity 
across the system. It will allow the ICP to be assured that activity is in 
progress against the commitments we have made in the Strategy and will 
signpost to where further information can be sought if needed for the shared 
outcomes.

Monitoring delivery through strategic indicators
The Integrated Care Strategy is supported by a set of strategic indicators 
which have been developed through a logical framework (logframe) matrix. 
The indicators will provide the ICP with information to know whether the 
desired impact of the shared outcomes is being realised for the population of 
Kent and Medway.

The Integrated Care Partnership will receive annual updates on the 
indicators. Where the indicators suggest that more progress is needed, the 
Shared Delivery Plan will support the ICP to understand the strategies and 
activities around a particular issue so it can receive more detailed assurance 
through themed or deep dive discussions.

This is the first time we have come together to jointly deliver a set of shared 
priorities at this scale. Effective partnership working, joint commissioning, 
governance and system-led oversight are all essential to the successful 
delivery of our strategy. This document describes our ambition for these 
areas and key steps to achieve this.

This document acts as the Joint Forward Plan which the NHS in Kent and 
Medway is required to produce, bringing together our delivery planning as a 
system.

The Shared Delivery Plan will be refreshed in two years to reflect the latest 
plans in place to deliver the strategy.

P
age 81



DRAFT
DRAFT

DRAFT

Delivering together
Kent and Medway is a large and diverse area, and the 
Integrated Care Strategy recognises that delivery of the 
shared outcomes will need to be tailored to local places 
and specific needs. This plan sets out only the main 
system-level strategies and activities that will drive work to 
deliver the outcomes.

Our Integrated Care System is made up of many other 
partners who also lead strategies and activities that will 
play an important role in improving the health and 
wellbeing of the Kent and Medway population. It would be 
impossible to capture all of these, and it is important that 
local areas and partners have the flexibility they need to 
meet the needs of the people they support. However, this 
activity is a vital part of the success of our system and the 
ICP will continue to develop its connections with partners 
across places and sectors.

The voluntary, community and social enterprise sector is 
an integral part of our system at every level and helps 
shape strategy and activity as well as providing vital 
support in our communities.  

There are four Health and Care Partnerships comprised of 
local government, NHS and VCSE representatives. They 
design and deliver services to meet the needs of everyone 
they serve based on their local population. They can focus 
services on areas of greatest need, helping to reduce 
health inequalities and improve life expectancy. 

Role of Health and Care Partnerships and District & Borough 
Councils
Health and Care Partnerships and District & Borough Councils have a key role in improving health and 
wellbeing through local action involving key local partners including the local VCS to deliver the priorities for 
their place supported by appropriate programmes of work and action plans. Together, these place-based 
plans will have significant impact on the overall delivery of our shared strategy. Place-based priorities and 
plans have been reflected in this shared delivery plan. 

P
age 82



DRAFT
DRAFTService user story / vignette

Drafting notes
• To support our communities to understand the outcomes in Kent and Medway’s Integrated Care Strategy and Shared Delivery Plan, and what it means to 

them and their everyday lives, we are developing ‘a family’ that will be used to bring ambitions in the six outcomes to life.
• The family will consist of a grandparent, two parents, a young child and a young person under 16. The idea is to demonstrate what could happen when 

actions in the strategy and delivery plan become reality, similar to the Dorothy/Esther model that was used some time ago.
• The interactions will support services available in a relevant local area and how accessed
• Scenarios the family would go through will feature in the communications we do to support understanding and support for what we are working to collectively 

achieve.
• The family will strongly feature in the second phase of the communications and engagement plan after the strategy and delivery plan have been launched in 

April, together with real-life case studies.

P
age 83



DRAFTStatements from Health and Wellbeing Boards
• Kent • Medway

P
age 84



Overview of the Integrated Care Strategy
Our vision:

We will work together to make health and wellbeing better than any partner can do alone 

Together we will…

Give children and 
young people the 
best start in life

Tackle the wider 
determinants to 
prevent ill health

Support happy and 
healthy living for all

Empower patients 
and carers

Improve health and 
care services

Support and grow 
our workforce

What we need to achieve
• Support families and 
communities so 
children thrive
• Strive for children and 
young people to be 
physically and 
emotionally healthy
• Help preschool and 
school-age children 
and young people 
achieve their potential

• Address the social, 
economic and 
environmental 
determinants that 
enable people to 
choose to live 
mentally and 
physically healthy 
lives

• Address inequalities

• Support people to 
adopt positive 
mental and physical 
health

• Deliver personalised 
care and support 
centred on 
individuals providing 
them with choice 
and control 

• Support people to 
live and age well, be 
resilient and 
independent

• Empower those with 
multiple or long-term 
conditions through 
multidisciplinary 
teams

• Provide high quality 
primary care

• Support carers

• Improve equity of 
access to services

• Communicate better 
between our 
partners when 
changing care 
settings

• Tackle mental health 
issues with the same 
priority as physical 
illness

• Provide high-quality 
care to all

• Grow our skills and 
workforce

• Build ‘one’ workforce
• Look after our 
people 

• Champion inclusive 
teams

Enablers:
We will drive research, innovation and improvement across the system

We will provide system leadership and make the most of our collective resources including our estate
We will engage our communities on our strategy and in co-designing services

P
age 85



Shared outcome 1: Give children and young people the best start in life
We will ensure that the conditions and support are in place for all children and young people to be healthy, resilient and ambitious for their future.

What we heard:
• Improve support for 

those with Special 
Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) and 
their families

• Support families with all 
aspects of the wider 
determinants of health 
including mental 
wellbeing, finance and 
childcare

• Safeguarding 
particularly the most at 
risk children

• Accessible Evidence 
Based Parenting 
support

• Ensure local access to 
support for families

Everyone plays a role in 
keeping children safe. Across 
the system we bring together 
our collective information, 
skills and resources to 
strengthen our early help and 
safeguarding arrangements 
and work together to identify 
and tackle safeguarding 
priorities in our communities.

Priorities to deliver this outcome:
Together we will…
Support families and communities so children thrive
We will take a whole-family approach, coproducing with children, young people and families, and looking at 
all elements that families need so their children can thrive, with support in safe, strong communities that 
addresses poverty, housing, education, health and social care. We will use our Family Hub model, bringing 
together universal children’s services to include midwifery, health visiting, mental health, infant feeding, 
early help and safeguarding support for children and their families, including children with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND). We will transform how we help families access the right 
support, in the right place at the right time, and ensure the support they receive is joined up across 
organisations. We will improve the transition to adult services. 
Strive for children and young people to be physically and emotionally healthy
We will set high aspirations for the health of children and young people and make this everyone’s 
responsibility. This will include a preventative approach to keep children physically healthy, promoting 
healthy eating, high levels of physical activity and improving air quality. We will address health inequalities 
including smoking in pregnancy, breastfeeding, immunisation and childhood obesity. Children who are more 
likely to experience poorer outcomes, including children in care and care leavers, refugees and those who 
have offended, will receive more support. We will work together to help individuals, families, communities 
and schools build emotional resilience, tackle bullying and loneliness and provide opportunities for children, 
young people and families to form supportive networks and take part in social and leisure opportunities. 
Children and young people at most risk of significant and enduring mental health needs will receive timely 
and effective interventions. We will protect young people from criminal harm and exploitation, tackle the 
challenges caused by domestic abuse and support victims. 
Help preschool and school-age children and young people achieve their potential
We will support families so that children are ready for school through co-produced, evidence-based 
support, including parenting support, and high-quality early years and childcare. With families we will tackle 
low school attendance, provide equal access to educational opportunities and ensure that young people are 
skilled and ready for adult life.  We are committed to working with families on our collective responsibility to 
support children with SEND. We will strengthen the capability of mainstream early years and education 
settings and universal services to ensure children with SEND are included, their needs are met and they 
can thrive. Where specialist help is required, this will be identified early and seamlessly coordinated.

Indicators for this outcome 
could include:
By 2028/29, the proportion of 
mothers smoking at time of delivery 
will have reduced from 10.2% to no 
more than 6%.
By 2028, the % of children in Year 6 
who are healthy weight will be 
maintained at the current level of 
63% and severe obesity will have 
reduced from 5%.
By 2028 pupil absence rates will 
have fallen from 7.9% to below 5%. 
By 2028, pupils achieving a good 
level of development at the end of 
the Early Years Foundation Stage 
will have improved from 65.8% to at 
least 70%. 
By 2028/29, the average attainment 
8 scores for both SEN and non-SEN 
pupils will have increased, and the 
gap between the two groups will be 
5 points lower than the national 
average.

I am happy and secure I am happy and secure 
at school and at homeat school and at home

I am working hard to get the I am working hard to get the 
qualifications I need to qualifications I need to 
achieve my ambitionsachieve my ambitions

P
age 86



Shared Outcome 1: Shared Delivery Examples 
Children and Young 
People Counselling 
Service

Children and Young 
People Vision 
Statement

Family Hubs  SEND Accelerated Progress 
Plan

Healthy weight

The Children and Young 
People Counselling Service is 
available to children aged 5 – 
18 (including those not in 
education) and is part of the 
wider Children & Young 
People’s Mental Health 
Services pathway. The 
service is delivered 
countywide by Kent 
Community Health NHS 
Foundation Trust (KCHFT) 
and consists of a workforce of 
qualified counsellors. The 
intervention includes up to six 
individual 1-1 counselling 
sessions and helps children 
and young people to maintain 
their resilience throughout 
recovery.

The Vision Statement has been 
co-produced with children and 
young people in Kent, including 
the Youth County Council. 
Engagement sessions took place 
in January 2024, and it is hoped 
that the draft statement and 
tagline will be circulated in April. 

The Statement is part of a wider 
refresh of the Strategic 
Framework for Children and 
Young People in Kent. NHS Kent 
and Medway have led the project 
in collaboration with Kent County 
Council. Medway Council have 
also been consulted to see if 
they would like to adopt the 
Vision Statement.

We are in the process of 
implementing a Family Hub 
model across Kent and Medway. 
Family hubs will bring services 
for families and CYP from age 0 
to 19 under one roof.
The proposal is to integrate 
children’s centre services, 
health visiting and community-
based midwifery care and youth 
services with other key 
community services. This will 
bring services and organisations 
together to provide a single 
point of access for families.

The programme is due to be 
launched in March 2024, with 
wider partnership integration 
and sustainability planning 
taking place later in the year.

We are undertaking various initiatives to 
improve Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND) services as part of 
the Accelerated Progress Plan (APP). 
For example, surgeries /workshops 
have been put in place to support the 
strengthening of health input in 
Education Health and Care Plans 
(EHCP), while a dedicated SEND 
Enquiries Hub has been set up to 
provide a consistent point of contact for 
parents, carers and families. 

Significant progress has also been 
made in specialist health services such 
as speech and language therapy and 
neurodevelopment pathways. Together 
with Parents is a co-produced service 
that offers support to parents and 
carers whose child has received / is 
awaiting a diagnosis for Neurodiversity. 
The service is jointly funded by Kent 
County Council and the NHS Kent and 
Medway Integrated Care Board. 

Dartford, Gravesham 
and Swanley HCP is 
prioritising Children & 
Young People. 
Together the Health 
and Care Partnership 
are working to address 
health inequalities and 
improve the health and 
wellbeing of children 
and young people in 
the area. Based on 
their population health 
data there is a 
particular focus on 
obesity.

Vision Statement co-produced, 
agreed and shared 
May 2024

Launch Family Hub programme 
March 2024

Delivery of Accelerated Progress Plan 
(APP)
March 2025

P
age 87



What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by / responsible

Support families and communities so children thrive

Whole family approach, co-producing with children, 
young people and families

The Children and Young People Programme Board 
will be developing joint areas of focus for 2024/25.  

K&M Children and Young People (CYP) Programme Board 

Reduce the % of children living in poverty Economic framework
Financial hardship programme – KCC
Framing Kent’s Future
Kent Association of Local Councils (KALC) cost of 
living initiatives

Kent County Council (KCC)

Local District Council/Vol sector Cost of Living work

Improve and join up access to local support for 
families through the Family Hub model

Family Hub Programme – Medway & KCC K&M Children and Young People Programme Board 
Codesign with partners in districts

Ensure access to benefits for families Financial Hardship Programme – KCC
Family Hub Programme – Medway & KCC

Kent Public Health Team
K&M Children and Young People Programme Board 

Improve transition to adult services Mental health transition
Long term condition focus

NHS Provider Trusts

Shared outcome 1: Give children and young people the best start in life

P
age 88



What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by / responsible 

Strive for children and young people to be physically and emotionally healthy

Address health inequalities Kent and Medway Learning Disability and Autism (LDA) Strategy
Smoking in pregnancy, breastfeeding, immunisation, obesity 
Reduce % children who are obese and overweight 
Reduce the proportion of women who smoke in pregnancy 
Deliver perinatal equity and equality action plan and commission for and 
monitor implementation of personalised care
Core20PLUS5 project 
• National Institute for Heath and Care Excellence (NICE) Guidance 
NG18: Diabetes in CYP:  Diagnosis & Management

• Implementation of Diabetes Technology Appraisal (Hybrid-closed 
systems)

• NHSE CYP Epilepsy National Bundle of Care
• NHSE CYP Asthma Bundle of Care
Libraries Business Plan
Developer Contributions Guide

Learning Disability and Autism Delivery 
Partnership
DGS HCP

Local Maternity and Neonatal Systems 
Board

K&M Children and Young People 
Programme Board 

KCC - Growth, Environment and Transport 
(GET)

Give more support to those more likely to 
experience poorer outcomes

Children in Care Strategy – KCC
Medway Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) Community Interest 
Company (CIC) chapter update
Looked After Children project area
Refugee resettlement programmes

Kent Public Health Team
Medway Public Health Team
ICB Asylum Accommodation Working Group
K&M Children and Young People 
Programme Board 

Improve Access to services to support young 
people with mental health issues to build 
emotional resilience and ensure timely and 
effective support for those with the highest 
mental health needs

CYP Mental Health transformation and procurement project
CYP Mental Health Long Term Plan and Local Transformation Plan 
workstreams
CYP Crisis and Complex Pathway project
WK HCP Children’s mental health programme

K&M Children and Young People 
Programme Board 

WK HCP

Protect young people from exploitation and 
criminal harm

Serious Youth Violence
Prevent Duty
Community Safety Plans
Kent Community Safety Agreement and Action Plan

Violence Reduction Unit
Safeguarding Boards
Kent Community Safety Partnership (CSP)

Shared outcome 1: Give children and young people the best start in life

P
age 89



Shared outcome 1: Give children and young people the best start in life
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by / responsible 

Strive for children and young people to be physically and emotionally healthy

Improve levels of physical activity in young 
people

Move Together~ Active Kent and Medway Strategy 
Country Parks Strategy
Playground National Portfolio Organisation
Developer Contributions Guide
Local Transport Plan 5

Kent Public Health Team
Medway Public Health Team
Active Kent – KCC GET
Medway Healthy Weight Network, Physical Activity 
Alliance and Food Partnership
KALC initiatives around physical activity

Reduce % children who are obese and 
overweight 

Inequalities, Prevention and Public Health Committee (IPPH) -  
Prevention Subcommittee Action Plan
Medway Whole System Obesity Plan
DGS HCP children and young people health improvement

Kent Public Health Team
Medway Public Health Team
Medway Healthy Weight Network, Physical Activity 
Alliance and Food Partnership
IPPH Prevention Subcommittee 
DGS HCP – Children and Young People Committee

Reduce the proportion of women who 
smoke in pregnancy

Local Maternity and Neonatal System Delivery Plan  Local Maternity and Neonatal System Board

Take a preventative approach to keeping 
children healthy including oral health and 
Immunisation

IPPH Prevention Subcommittee Action Plan
Medway Oral Health Strategy
Trading Standards & KSS Business Plan & Community Wardens

Kent Public Health Team
Medway Public Health Team
Medway Oral health Strategy Group
IPPH Prevention Subcommittee 

Safeguarding

Deliver Safeguarding priorities
Deliver the NHS Kent and Medway Safeguarding Strategy

Kent Children Safeguarding Multiagency Partnership 
(KSCMP) 
Medway’s Children’s Safeguarding Partnership 

P
age 90



What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Help preschool and school-age children and young people achieve their potential

Support families so that children are ready for school KCC Early Years and Childcare strategy in development 
Family Hubs

Kent Public Health Team
Medway Public Health Team

Support access to high quality nursery education KCC Early Years and Childcare strategy in development  Kent County Council

Improve proportion children achieving a good level of 
development at end Early Years Foundation Stage 
including through evidence- based parenting support to 
all who would likely benefit

KCC Early Years and Childcare strategy in development 
Family Hubs

Libraries Registrations and Archives Business Plan

Kent Public Health Team
Kent Children Young People and Education 
(CYPE)
Medway Public Health Team
Kent GET

Tackle low school attendance reducing pupil absence 
rates

School Improvement Plan - KCC Kent County Council

Provide equal access to educational opportunities School Improvement Plan - KCC Kent County Council

Ensure young people are skilled and ready for adult life
Improve pupil attainment measured through average 
attainment 8 scores

School Improvement Plan – KCC
Framing Kent’s Future
Libraries Registrations and Archives Business Plan

Kent County Council

Strengthen capability of mainstream settings and 
universal services to meet the needs of CYP with SEND

Kent and Medway LDA Strategy
Improve pupil attainment in SEN pupils measured through 
average attainment 8 scores
Home to school transport

Learning Disability and Autism Delivery 
Partnership
Kent SEND Improvement and Assurance Board, 
Medway SEND Partnership Board

Work with families with children & young people with 
SEND
Provide specialist SEND support with early identification 
and good coordination 

Kent and Medway LDA Strategy Learning Disability and Autism Delivery 
Partnership
Kent SEND Improvement and Assurance Board, 
Medway SEND Partnership Board

Shared outcome 1: Give children and young people the best start in life

P
age 91



Shared outcome 2: Tackle the wider determinants to prevent ill health
Address the wider determinants of health (social, economic and environmental), to improve the physical and mental health of all residents, tackle inequalities, and focus on 
those who are most vulnerable

What we heard:
• Target prevention 

activities for each 
community group, 
making the most of 
VCSE expertise and 
community assets

• Longer duration for 
prevention 
programmes

• Support for cost of 
living – housing, 
transport, food

• Extend use of social 
prescribing

• Improve transport 
access to services, 
jobs and social 
opportunities

I have been diagnosed 
with depression. My 

employer has been great 
working with services so I 
can still manage work

There is lots to do around 
here and I feel safe

Priorities to deliver this outcome: 
Together we will…

Indicators for this outcome 
include:

Address the economic determinants that enable healthy lives including stable employment 
We will attract and support new businesses and encourage all large employers to develop as anchor 
organisations within their communities including all public sector organisations, procuring and employing locally 
in a way that optimises social value. We will support people and small businesses with the cost-of-living crisis. 
We will help individuals fulfil their potential by achieving secure employment through education and skills 
development and by supporting businesses.
Address the social determinants that enable healthy lives including social networks and safety
We will build communities where everyone belongs. We will work with communities, building on their assets to 
empower people to address key health and social issues including loneliness, community safety and the 
economic burdens from misuse of drugs & alcohol. We will further develop social prescribing and local 
voluntary and community capacity to meet these challenges. The importance of  Active Travel, access to 
services, work and leisure, and best use of local Libraries, Community Hubs, music, arts and heritage 
opportunities are recognised. In partnership we will promote community safety, tackling crime and preventing 
and reducing serious violence, antisocial behaviour and discrimination that can make people feel unsafe or 
unwelcome.  
Address the environmental determinants that enable healthy lives including housing, transport and the 
natural and built environment
We will plan, develop and regenerate in a way that improves quality of life for new and existing communities – 
across built and natural infrastructures including housing, transport and the local environment. We will 
incorporate the impact of climate change in all planning. We will explore how we can help people adopt 
sustainable ways of living and working and make best use of all our resources. We will work to provide 
accessible homes for life and services for all, through planning and with housing providers. We will plan to 
improve safety, air quality and promote physical activity. 
Address inequalities
We will ensure people who need them will have access to benefits, housing, services and support through 
identification, signposting and a directory of local support as well as opportunities to access work through skills 
development and local transport. We will focus on prevention and help people, including those with mental 
health issues, learning disabilities and neurodiversity, to enter, re-enter and be retained in the workplace, to 
have secure homes, benefits and social networks and opportunities, maximising their independence.  

By 2028/29, the proportion of 
people who feel lonely often or 
always will have reduced from 
7.3% to no more than 5% across 
Kent and Medway.
By 2028/29, the percentage of the 
population who are in contact with 
secondary mental health services 
that are in paid employment (aged 
18 to 69) will increase from 8% to 
above 10% in Kent and Medway.
All NHS organisations and local 
authorities will make progress 
towards their net-zero targets.
By 2028/29, the percentage of the 
population who are in receipt of 
long-term support for a learning 
disability that are in paid 
employment (aged 18 to 64) is 
similar to, or better than, the 
national average.

P
age 92



Shared Outcome 2: Shared Delivery Examples 
Work and Health 
Strategy

‘Move Together’: 
Active Kent and 
Medway Strategy

Serious Violence Duty Environmental 
Sustainability

Population Health 
Management and 
Addressing 
Inequalities

Working in partnership with 
Kent and Medway Economy 
Partnership (KMEP) we will co-
develop a Work and Health 
Strategy during 2024/25, which 
will report to the ICP. As part of 
this, we will also form a Health 
and Economy Group. KMEP is 
made up of businesses 
and local authority 
leaders which drives forward 
and monitors an economic plan 
for Kent and Medway.  

Activities already include a joint 
bid across partners for the 
Work Well Vanguard, a pilot 
service which aims to better 
integrate local employment and 
health support for 
disabled people and people 
with health conditions to start, 
stay and succeed in work.

‘Move Together’ is Kent and 
Medway’s 2023 – 2027 strategy 
for sport and physical activity. 
The core vision is to get more 
people, more active, more 
often.

The strategy sets out how 
system partners are working 
together to support children and 
young people to exercise more 
regularly, while also tackling the 
inequalities that currently 
prevent some young people 
from being more active. For 
example, ‘The Daily Mile’ is a 
free activity available to all 
schools which sees children run 
or jog, at their own pace, for 15 
minutes a day to improve their 
physical, social, emotional and 
mental health. 

The Duty requires specified 
authorities to work together 
through an agreed partnership 
arrangement to prevent and 
reduce serious violence. 

Kent have received an 
allocation of £292k for 2023/24, 
with the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) working 
with partner 
organisations including the ICB 
to set out a strategy which will 
be agreed by the new Serious 
Violence Prevention Board. 
Community Safety Partnerships 
are then the local partnership 
model for discharging the duty.

Kent and Medway Strategic 
Environment and Sustainability 
Steering Group support the ICS 
towards our shared actions. 
They are currently reviewing 
the delivery of the Green Plan 
to cover four key areas of 
procurement supply chain, 
primary care, estates and 
medicines. 

The group are exploring options 
for developing joint proposals to 
commission and fit electric 
vehicle charging points across 
our estates to best serve our 
fleets and staff. Additionally, 
they will be creating a System 
Wide Adaptation Strategy to 
help partners understand the 
need to plan for the impacts of 
climate change. 

Each of the HCPs uses 
population health management to 
segment its population and target 
resources accordingly to help 
address health care inequalities. 
Each HCP has a series of funded 
projects that seek to address an 
aspect of health inequalities 
which include: social prescribing, 
condition specific projects, health 
and housing, and mental health.

During 24/25 working in 
partnership, we will refresh our 
population health management 
roadmap to enable us to continue 
to build our knowledge and 
capabilities to fully embed 
population health management 
across all levels and sectors of 
our system. 

Co-produced Work and Health 
Strategy 
March 2025

Deliver ‘Move Together’ action 
plan
March 2026

Serious Violence Prevention 
Board and Strategy established
March 2025

System Wide Adaptation 
Strategy agreed
March 2025

Deliver health inequalities funded 
projects and refresh population 
health roadmap
March 2025

P
age 93



Shared outcome 2: Tackle the wider determinants to prevent ill health
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Address the economic determinants that enable healthy lives including stable employment 

Attract and support new businesses K&M Economic Framework
Framing Kent’s Future-Priority 1 Levelling up
Libraries, Registration & Archives (LRA) Business and 
Intellectual Property Centres (BIPC)
Trading Standards Business Advice

K&M Economic Partnership (KMEP)
Locate in Kent (Inward Investment Agency)
Kent County Council Growth, Environment and Transport 
(GET)

Encourage all large employers to develop as 
anchor organisations

K&M Economic Framework KMEP via subgroups
Kent and Medway Employment Task Force
Kent County Council GET

Optimise our role as public sector anchors 
including around procurement and employment

People Strategy
Green Plan, Procurement policies, Social Value

NHS Kent and Medway
Kent County Council GET

Cost of living crisis support K&M Economic Framework
ICS Prevention Sub-Committee
KCC Financial Hardship Programme 
Framing Kent’s Future
Kent Association of Local Councils (KALC) cost of living 
initiatives
Libraries, Community Wardens
Energy and Low Emissions Strategy

Medway Council Benefits and Financial Welfare team
Inequalities Prevention and Population Health Committee 
KCC
Local district councils
Voluntary sector
Local Health Alliances

Education and skills development for 
employment

Increase percentage of the population who are 
in paid employment and are in contact with 
secondary mental health services or who have 
long term support for a learning disability

K&M Economic Framework

Local Skills Improvement Plan
Framing Kent’s Future-Priority 1 Levelling up

Employment Taskforce

Mental Health, Learning Disability and Autism (MHLDA) 
Provider Collaborative Operational Delivery Groups 

P
age 94



Shared outcome 2: Tackle the wider determinants to prevent ill health
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Address the social determinants that enable healthy lives including social networks and safety

Reduce loneliness Social Prescribing Strategy 
Research – HDRC
Priority Places (Dover, Gravesham, Swale)
KALC loneliness initiatives
Libraries , Community Wardens
Kent Karrier
Kent Cultural Strategy
Positive Wellbeing

Medway Public Health 
Medway Social Isolation and Loneliness Action Alliance
Kent County Council Adult Social Care
NHS Kent and Medway IPPH Committee Inequalities Subcommittee
Community Hubs ( Folkestone and Hythe DC)
KCC GET

Community safety including tackling crime, 
serious violence, anti-social behaviour and 
discrimination

Kent CSP Action Plan
Medway CSP Action Plan
Kent Community Safety Strategy
Violence Reduction Unit
Trading Standards Action
Kent Design Guide

Kent Community Safety Partnership (CSP)
Medway Community Safety Partnership
District CSPs
Trading Standards

Deliver on Serious Violence Duty Kent CSP Action Plan
Medway CSP Action Plan
Violence Reduction Unit

Kent Community Safety Partnership
Medway Community Safety Partnership

Reduce level of substance misuse Kent CSP Action Plan
Medway CSP Action Plan
Kent Drug and Alcohol Strategy

Kent Community Safety Partnership
Medway Community Safety Partnership
IPPH Prevention Subcommittee

Reduce level of alcohol misuse Inequalities Prevention and Population Health 
Committee (IPPH) Prevention Subcommittee Action 
Plan
Kent Drug and Alcohol Strategy
Trading Standards

Kent Public Health Team
Medway Public Health Team
IPPH Prevention Subcommittee
Kent Substance Misuse Alliance

P
age 95



Shared outcome 2: Tackle the wider determinants to prevent ill health

18

What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Address the social determinants that enable healthy lives including social networks and safety

Social prescribing IPPH Action Plan, Social Prescribing Strategy
Medway and Swale Social Prescribing 5 Year Plan
Community Wardens
Green Social Prescribing Network
Kent Cultural Strategy
Libraries
Positive Wellbeing

NHS Kent and Medway, KCC, Medway Council
Kent County Council Adult Social Care
IPPH and ICP
Medway and Swale Social Prescribing Strategy Group
HCPs
Kent County Council GET

Voluntary and community 
capacity

Build Resilient Communities
Micro-providers
Framing Kent’s Future- Priority 2 Infrastructure for Communities
Community Wardens
Heritage Conservation & Countryside Partnerships Volunteer programmes
Volunteering Opportunities
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy-Volunteer Flood Wardens
Community transport grant scheme
KALC and role parishes

Kent County Council Adult Social Care, Public Health and 
GET. 
KALC, VCS Alliances
Medway Voluntary Action (Medway Council commissions 
support capacity)

Active travel Framing Kent’s Future- Priority 2 Infrastructure for Communities
Medway Active Travel Group for strategies/plans in place
Local Transport Plan (LTP 5) (Kent Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan)
Carbon Net Zero 
Vision Zero’ Road Safety Strategy 
Rights of Way Improvement Plan
Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy
Kent Environment Plan (2024 onwards) 
Kent Design Guide, Neighbourhood Plans & Strategic Planning Applications

Kent County Council GET 
Medway Council Transport Service

Best use of music, arts and 
leisure 

Kent Cultural Strategy 
Heritage Strategy
Creative Estuary
Cultural Planning Toolkit
Priority Places
Creative Health and Wellbeing Working Group

Kent County Council GET
Essex/Kent Partnership, Arts Council England
Quarter House ( Folkestone and Hythe area)

P
age 96



Shared outcome 2: Tackle the wider determinants to prevent ill health
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Address the environmental determinants that enable healthy lives including housing, transport and the natural and built environment

Improve quality of life across built and natural 
infrastructures (including transport)

NHS K&M Estates & Infrastructure Interim Strategy
Kent Design Guide
Neighbourhood Plans
Local Plans – Medway & districts
Local Regeneration Plans
Framing Kent’s Future-Priority 3 Environmental Step Change
Kent County Council Local Transport Plan
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy
Developer Contributions Guide
Kent Waste Disposal Strategy

NHS Kent and Medway
Kent County Council GET
District Council Planning teams

Tackle climate change including sustainable ways of 
living and working and air quality

NHS K&M Green Plan
K&M energy and low emissions strategy
Medway Climate Change Action Plan 
Framing Kent’s Future-Priority 3 Environmental Step Change
Kent and Medway Low Emissions Strategy
Local Transport Plan 5
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy
Kent Waste Disposal Strategy

NHS Kent and Medway
Kent County Council GET
Medway Council

Accessible homes  NHS K&M Estates & Infrastructure Interim Strategy
Kent and Medway Housing Strategy 
Better Homes~ Kent County Council 
Developer Contributions Guide
Kent Design Guide
Infrastructure Mapping Platform

NHS Kent and Medway

Kent Housing Group
Kent County Council
District Council Planning teams

P
age 97



Shared outcome 2: Tackle the wider determinants to prevent ill health
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Address inequalities

Ensure access to services people need NHS Operational Plan
Health and Wellbeing Plans
Locality Operating Model in ASC
Framing Kent’s Future- Priority 4 New Models of Care and 
Support
Population Health Management Roadmap, Core20PLUS5
Mental Health Together Plus programme 
Adult Social Care Strategy
Community Wardens
Local Transport Plan 5
Libraries
Developer Contributions Guide

NHS K&M and provider trusts
District, Borough & Medway councils
Kent County Council Adult Social Care
Turning the Tide Oversight Board 
MHLDA Provider Collaborative
System Quality Group, HCPs
Health and Wellbeing Board, HCPs
HOSC / HASC
Medway Council Adult Social Care
Kent County Council GET

Maximise independence of those with mental 
health issues, learning difficulties and 
neurodiversity

MHLDA Provider Collaborative Work Plan
Good Day Programme
Health Checks
Local Transformation Plan for Children, Young People, and 
Young Adults’ Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health
Mental Health Together programme
Learning Disability and Autism work plan
Libraries
Move Together

MHLD Provider Collaborative

IPPH

Improve employment rates in people with mental 
health issues

Work and Health Strategy (to be developed)
Individual Placement and Support service
Live Well Kent and Medway
Employment Advisors in NHS Talking Therapies

KMEP/ICP
MHLDA Provider Collaborative

Improve employment rates in people with 
Learning difficulties

Kent and Medway LDA Strategy Mental Health, Learning Disability and Autism 
Provider Collaborative Operational Delivery Groups 

P
age 98



Shared outcome 3: Supporting happy and healthy living
Help people to manage their own health and wellbeing and be proactive partners in their care so they can live happy, independent and fulfilling lives; adding years to life 
and life to years. 

What we heard:
• Improve the 

transition 
between 
services – 
communication,
user 
experience, 
timeliness

• Engage with 
communities to 
tailor 
communication
s and support 
for each 
community

• Joined up 
services to 
support people 
who are at risk 
including 
survivors of 
domestic 
abuse and 
people who are 
homeless

• Support 
veterans

• Focus on adult 
safeguarding

Priorities to deliver this outcome: 
Together we will…
Support people to adopt positive mental and physical health behaviours
We will deliver evidenced based support to individuals at an appropriate scale to enable them to choose 
healthy weight, healthy diet choices, physical activity, good sexual health, and minimise alcohol and 
substance misuse and tobacco use to prevent ill health. We will work with communities to develop 
community led approaches and local active and sustainable travel to support this. We will increase the 
use of ‘making every contact count’ and social prescribing to signpost and offer bespoke support where 
needed to help tackle inequalities using a proportionate universal approach. Additionally, by addressing 
socioeconomic determinants and aiding mental wellbeing we will help people adopt healthy lifestyles. 
We will improve health through a system wide approach to crime reduction with victim and offender 
support; tackling drugs, domestic abuse, exploitation and harm and violence against women and girls.
Deliver personalised care and support centred on individuals providing them with choice and 
control 
We will use data to identify those most at risk and ensure all care is focussed on the individual with 
seamless transition between services, good communication, timely care and understanding of user 
needs and experience so they remain in control of their health and wellbeing. People living with 
dementia will be supported to live as well and as independently as possible with high quality, 
compassionate care from diagnosis through to end of life. We will improve the support we offer for 
women’s health issues such as menopause. We will develop joined up holistic support for at risk groups 
including survivors of domestic abuse, people who are homeless, who misuse substances, who have 
mental health issues, who are veterans or who have offended.
Support people to live and age well, be resilient and independent
We will promote people’s wellbeing to prevent, reduce or delay the need for care, focussing on the 
strengths of people, their families, their carers and their communities, enabling people to live 
independently and safely within their local community including by using technology. We will ensure 
accessible joined up multi agency working between services across health, social care, housing, 
criminal justice, the voluntary sector and others.   With clear pathways and ongoing support for those 
with complex needs and overcoming barriers to data sharing. We will ensure people receive the care 
they need to preserve their dignity and wellbeing, to keep them independent for as long as possible and 
to be comfortable, dying in a place of their choosing. Further we will as a system work to ensure 
people, especially those who are most at risk are safe in their homes and communities.

Indicators for this outcome include:

By 2028, the % of adults in Kent and 
Medway who are physically inactive will 
have fallen from 22.3% to 20%.
By 2028, the % of adults in Kent and 
Medway who are overweight or obese will 
have fallen from 64.1% to 62%. 
By 2028, hospital admissions in Kent and 
Medway due to alcohol will have fallen from 
418.7 to 395 per 100,000. 
By 2028, the rate of emergency admissions 
for those who are frail will be similar to 
2024, despite significant population growth. 
By 2028, diabetes complications such as 
stroke, heart attacks, amputations, etc., will 
be below the rate for 2024.  
By 2028, we will increase the proportion of 
people who receive long-term support who 
live in their home or with family.

I have care and support that 
enables me to live as I want to

I lost weight with peer support 
from a local group I learnt 
about when I visited the 

hospital for something else

P
age 99



Shared Outcome 3: Shared Delivery Examples 
Tackling Tobacco and 
Smoking

Healthy Weight  Dynamic Support 
Arrangements

Prevention of suicide 
and self- harm

Frailty and Ageing 
Well

We have a comprehensive 
strategy embracing both short and 
long-term initiatives to combat 
smoking prevalence. These 
actions involve collaborative 
efforts with partners to increase 
referrals from demographic groups 
with high smoking rates, including 
routine and manual workers and 
specific ethnicities by 2025. In 
addition, the strategy aims to 
increase GP referrals by 10% 
while establishing clear 
communication channels for 
schools, parents/carers, and 
young individuals. Targeted 
campaigns addressing vaping and 
its ramifications on youth will be 
launched, alongside the 
implementation of measurable 
metrics such as reach, 
impressions, and conversions to 
evaluate the efficacy of these 
actions.

Whole Systems Approach to 
Obesity programmes are 
operational across Kent and 
Medway.  A Whole Systems 
Approach to Obesity 
Coordinator is assigned to 
each of the Health and Care 
Partnership geographical 
footprints to support 
implementation of the whole 
systems approach tailored to 
Place. A range of activities is 
underway in each Place 
related to food and healthy 
eating, infant feeding and 
physical activity.  

The Kent and Medway Dynamic 
Support Arrangements are for 
children and young people with 
learning disabilities and/or 
autism who exhibit behaviours 
of distress and challenge that 
leave them at risk of current 
placement breakdown, 
admission to specialist hospital 
and detention or prosecution. 

Arrangements so far for Tier 4 
hospitalisation and length of 
stay has been dramatic, with 
there now being only one or two 
young people occupying Tier 4 
beds for a few months, 
compared to 2020 where over 
20 young people were typically 
in Tier 4 beds at any given time, 
sometimes for many years.

There is a Kent and Medway 
suicide and self-harm 
prevention strategy 2021-2025.  
Kent and Medway ICS is an 
official signatory to national 
Prevention Concordat for Better 
Mental Health.

The Kent and Medway Suicide 
prevention team (3x team 
members based in KCC Public 
Health) work with the Kent and 
Medway Suicide Prevention 
Strategic Oversight Board who 
oversee the programme, set 
direction and make financial 
decisions. There is also 3x 
quarterly Network meetings 
(Adults, CYP and Better Mental 
Health).

Frailty and supporting 
individuals to age well is a focus 
for each of the Health and Care 
Partnerships.

Ageing and dying well is a key 
priority for Dartford, Gravesham 
and Swanley HCP working 
closely with Elleanor Hospice to 
develop local pathways and 
service improvements to 
strengthen the support offered 
to individuals as they age.

Medway & Swale HCP are 
focusing on community frailty.

West Kent HCP are focusing on 
frailty and complex care.

Increase GP referrals by 10%
Launch of targeted campaigns 
e.g. vaping
March 2025

Begin to work with the Criminal 
Justice System 2024/25

Deliver Kent and Medway 
suicide and self-harm 
prevention plan  
March 2025

Deliver HCP led frailty and 
ageing well programmes 
March 2025

P
age 100



Shared outcome 3: Supporting happy and healthy living
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Support people to adopt positive mental and physical health behaviours

Evidenced based support to help 
people choose healthy lifestyles 
including through bespoke support 
including:-
Healthy weight
Diet choices
Physical activity
Sexual health
Drug misuse
Alcohol misuse
Tobacco and Smoking

Health and Wellbeing Plans
Medway Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JLHWS)
IPPH Prevention Subcommittee Action Plan
Drug and Alcohol Strategy
Social Prescribing Strategy, 
Population Health Management Roadmap
NHS Long Term Plan (LTP) Tobacco Dependence Treatment Service Programme 
Stop smoking services
A Better Medway
Kent Association of Local Councils (KALC) Physical Activity initiatives
KALC weight loss initiatives
Move Together
Trading Standards Activity
Explore Kent
Public Rights of Way
Country Parks & Countryside Partnerships
Safer Active Journeys (part of Road Safety & Active Travel)

District, Borough & Medway councils
Kent Public Health Team
Medway Public Health Team
Inequalities, Prevention and Population 
Health Committee (IPPH) Prevention 
Subcommittee 
IPPH Inequalities Subcommittee
Medway Healthy Weight Network, Medway 
Physical Activity Alliance, Medway Infant 
Feeding Strategy Group and Medway Food 
Partnership
Kent County Council – Growth, Environment 
and Transport (GET)

Increase use of Making Every Contact 
count

NHS Providers
Libraries, Positive Wellbeing, Community Wardens

Kent Public Health Team
Medway Public Health Team

Increase physical activity, strength 
and balance in older people

NHS K&M Ageing Well Strategy
One You Kent
A Better Medway
Move Together
KALC Physical Activity initiatives

Active Kent
Kent County Council Public Health Team
Medway Public Health Team

Victim and offender support.  Tackle 
domestic abuse, exploitation and 
violence against women and girls

Kent CSP Action Plan
Medway CSP Action Plan
K&M Domestic Abuse Strategy 
Police and Crime Safety Strategy and Outcomes
Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy

Kent Community Safety Partnership (CSP)
District CSPs
Medway Community Safety Partnership
Domestic Abuse Partnership Board

P
age 101



Shared outcome 3: Supporting happy and healthy living
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Deliver personalised care and support centred on individuals providing them with choice and control 

Work together to ensure all care is focused on the 
individual including sharing data, seamless transition 
between services, good communication, 
understanding user needs

Kent County Council Adult Social Care 
Commissioning Strategy and Delivery Plan
KMCR
Data sharing agreements
Integrated Neighbourhood teams
Personal Health Budgets (PHB’s)
Engagement
Medway Adult Social Care strategy and Peoples 
Strategy
Community Wardens

Kent County Council Adult Social Care
All HCPs

Medway Adult Social Care

Kent County Council GET

People with dementia are supported to live as well 
and independently as possible

Dementia friendly
Dementia Friendly Communities
local dementia café work
Community Wardens, Libraries
KALC dementia and carer initiatives

Mental Health, Learning Disability and Autism (MHLDA) 
Provider Collaborative
Kent County Council Adult Social Care

Improve support for Women’s health issues Response to national strategy – consultation phase 
in progress

NHS Kent and Medway

Holistic support for at risk groups (Homeless/ Gypsy, 
Roma, Traveller communities/ 
veterans/offenders/substance misuse etc.)

Military Covenants (Medway health fair)
Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Service

Medway & KCC Public Health
Gypsy, Roma and Traveller Service-KCC GET

Adult safeguarding Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board 
Strategic Plan 2022-25
NHS Kent and Medway Safeguarding Strategy
District Safeguarding Policies

Safeguarding Adults Board
Kent County Council Adult Social Care
Medway Council Adult Social Care 
KENT (Designated Safeguarding Lead) DSLs Group

P
age 102



Shared outcome 3: Supporting happy and healthy living
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Support people to live and age well, be resilient and independent

Promote wellbeing to prevent, reduce 
or delay need for care

Kent County Council Adult Social Care Strategy and Actions
IPPH Prevention Subcommittee action plans
Social Prescribing and Community Navigation Strategy 
Medway Adult Social Care strategy and Peoples Strategy
Move Together - Active Kent and Medway Strategy 
Kent Cultural Strategy
Positive Wellbeing
Community Wardens
Libraries – Reading well collections
Explore Kent
Country Parks & Countryside Partnerships
Safer Active Journeys 
Kent Karrier

Kent County Council Adult Social Care
Kent Public Health
IPPH Prevention Subcommittee 
NHS Kent and Medway IPPH Committee
Inequalities Subcommittee
Medway Council Adult Social Care
Kent County Council GET

Enable people to live safely in their 
community including through 
technology

Locally based Commissioning Model
Kent County Council ASC Commissioning Strategy and Delivery Plan
Dementia Friendly communities
Technology enabled care
Digital pathways and digital front door
Ageing Well
Health and Wellbeing Plans
Medway Adult Social Care strategy and Peoples Strategy
Supporting Better Broadband
Community Wardens
Libraries
Developer Contributions Guide
KALC dementia initiative

NHS K&M and providers
District, Borough & Medway councils
Kent County Council Adult Social Care

Medway Council Adult Social Care

Kent County Council GET

P
age 103



Shared outcome 3: Supporting happy and healthy living
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Support people to live and age well, be resilient and independent

Multi agency working with clear 
pathways and ongoing support for 
those with complex needs 

NHS Operational Plan
Health and Wellbeing Plans
Integrated Commissioning
Care and Support Pathways
Kent and Medway Care Record (KMCR)
Medway Adult Social Care strategy and Peoples Strategy
Frailty pathway redesign

NHS K&M and providers
District, Borough & Medway councils
Kent County Council Adult Social Care

Medway Council Adult Social Care

HCPs

Ageing and dying well with reduced 
deaths in hospital and death in a place 
of choice

Ageing Well Strategy  NHS K&M and providers

Reduce self-harm and suicide K&M Suicide Prevention Strategy
Mental Wellbeing Concordat
Mental Health Together
Kent and Medway suicide and self-harm prevention strategy 2021-2025. 
Suicide Prevention Strategy - Kent County Council

Kent and Medway Suicide Prevention Strategic 
Oversight Board

Deliver prevention with a focus on 
multi-morbidity in line with major 
conditions strategy/CMO report.  

NHS Operating Plan 2024/25 NHS Kent and Medway Improving Outcomes Board 
Subcommittee and NHS providers

P
age 104

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kent.gov.uk%2Fabout-the-council%2Fstrategies-and-policies%2Fservice-specific-policies%2Fhealth-policies%2Fsuicide-prevention-strategy&data=05%7C02%7Canna.jones70%40nhs.net%7C068987e9553d4b6ed35908dc20ce77c4%7C37c354b285b047f5b22207b48d774ee3%7C0%7C1%7C638421318429491371%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C40000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=9N3304gjh%2FjwAQkmrqXaAO4SHqtROz%2FN4FpoT%2Be3hqE%3D&reserved=0


Shared outcome 4: Empower people to best manage their health conditions
Support people with multiple health conditions to be part of a team with health and social care professionals working compassionately to improve their health and wellbeing. 

What we heard:
• Increase involvement 

of patients and carers 
in care plans

• Improve access to and 
consistency of primary 
care including general 
practice, dentistry and 
pharmacy provision.

• Increase offer of 
support and provide 
flexibility for carers

“We are not always 
superhuman. Someone to 
support us to support our 
child.”

Priorities to deliver this outcome: 
Together we will…

Empower those with multiple or long-term conditions through multidisciplinary teams
We will support individuals to holistically understand and manage their conditions (such as 
cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, dementia, respiratory disease and frailty) by using 
Complex Care Teams and Multi-Disciplinary Teams. This will help reduce or delay escalation of 
their needs.  We will use a model of shared information and decision-making to empower 
individuals to only have to tell their story once and make informed choices about how, when and 
where they receive care, which will support individuals to achieve their goals. We will utilise 
developing technologies including telecare and telehealth, direct payments, personal health 
budgets, care packages and social prescribing where appropriate to support people to achieve 
their goals and live the life they want in a place called home.
Provide high quality primary care
We will work towards a system focused on prevention, health protection and early intervention to 
reduce the need for hospitalisation through ensuring people can readily access the services they 
need to manage their health. We will ensure all pharmacies are supporting people with health 
care, self-care, signposting and healthy living advice. We will improve and increase access to 
dentist and eye health services. We want general practice to offer a consistently high-quality 
service to everyone in Kent and Medway. This means improving timely access to a health care 
professional with the skills and expertise to provide the right support and guidance, this could be 
a physiotherapist, doctor, nurse, podiatrist or other primary care health and care professional. We 
will work across the system to support the provision of primary care, responding to the needs of 
new, and growing, communities and making the most of community assets.
Support carers
We will value the important role of informal carers, involve them in all decisions, care planning 
and provide support for their needs. We will make a difference every day by supporting and 
empowering carers with ready access to support and advice.  We recognise the potential impact 
of their responsibilities on young carers and commit to reducing these challenges. 

Indicators for this outcome 
include:

By 2028, the people describing their 
overall experience of making a GP 
appointment as good will have 
increased from 49% to at least 71%.
There will be an increasing number of 
patients with high or very high needs 
being supported through integrated 
teams by 2028.  
By 2027 we will have implemented our 
organisational carers strategies
By 2028, the proportion of carers who 
report that they are very satisfied with 
social services will have improved 
from 32.3% to at least 45%.

I know what my rights as a carer are 
and can get timely information that is 
accurate, carer training and education 
and advice on all the possible options 
for my health and wellbeing, support 
needs and finance and housing

I can access the healthcare I 
need and know what options are 

available to me

P
age 105



Shared Outcome 4: Shared Delivery Examples 
Multidisciplinary Teams Technology 

Enhanced Lives
Social Prescribing and 
Care Navigation 

Carers’ Short Break 
Services

Primary Care and 
Long-Term 
Condition 
Management

The Fuller Stocktake sets out a 
detailed vision for Integrated 
Neighbourhood Teams which should 
include NHS community services, 
VCSE partners, urgent care providers 
and primary care services.  

In order to implement this approach we 
aim to work at multiple levels: 
individual practices, Primary Care 
Networks and across Health and Care 
Partnerships. The transition to a new 
care model and approach will take time 
to fully implement and deliver the 
desired outcomes.   

However, it will enable integrated 
urgent care and care for complex 
needs or long terms conditions. It is 
key to improving population health and 
wellbeing outcomes and mitigating 
health inequalities and funding has 
been secured to link the development 
of these teams across Health and Care 
Partnerships.  

In November 2023, Kent 
County Council introduced its 
Technology Enhanced Lives 
service – a single, countywide 
service which supports hospital 
patients to be discharged to 
their own home through access 
to and use of a range of 
assistive and digital technology. 
Moving forward, Kent County 
Council will work with partners 
across the system to maximise 
integration opportunities.

With funding provided by NHS 
England, we are also piloting a 
programme to drive digital 
across the adult social sector to 
improve quality, safety and 
personalisation of care. 
Working with five facilitators 
across Kent, we will offer the 
right package of care that 
supports people in a more 
flexible and efficient way. 

Social Prescribing and Care 
Navigation supports people to connect 
with community groups and services in 
their local area to support mental and 
physical health.  This helps to improve 
outcomes, supporting people to stay 
well, independent and resilient and 
reduce social isolation.  

Following a rapid increase in the 
profile and investment in these areas 
in recent years we developed the Kent 
and Medway Social Prescribing and 
Community Navigation Strategy which 
identifies a number of actions to 
improve the provision and quality of 
these services. This includes 
addressing inequality in access, 
training and competencies for staff 
making the referrals, and improving 
evaluation, with the ambition to deliver 
over 31,000 referrals per year by 
2023/24. Implementation will be led by 
the four HCPs, working with the 
established VCSE alliances, to ensure 
there is a local focus.  

The Carers’ Short Breaks Service is 
currently delivered by Crossroads 
Care Kent and is jointly funded by 
Kent County Council and the NHS 
Kent & Medway Integrated Care 
Board. The service provides 
replacement / respite care for carers 
so that they can take a break from 
their caring responsibilities. 

This service sits alongside several 
other commissioned services with 
the purpose of preventing people’s 
needs from escalating and 
promoting people’s well-being and 
independence. To improve 
integration across these services, 
work is already underway to align 
the Carers’ Short Break Service with 
the Community Navigation Service 
as part of a revised model. It is 
expected that the new model will be 
launched next year.

DGS HCP is prioritising 
primary and community care 
improvement and integration, 
with Integrated 
Neighbourhood Teams a key 
component of this for 
2024/25.

Medway & Swale HCP is 
prioritising end to end 
pathway improvement across 
ambulatory care services as 
well as self-harm, frailty, 
INTs, cancer and dentistry.

WKHCP is prioritising Long-
Term Condition management 
over the next five years 

Each of the HCPs will support 
the implementation of the 
Primary Care Strategy

Integrated Neighbourhood Teams 
programme board and plan 
established
September 2024

Complete pilot programme – 
digital in adult social care
March 2025

Implementation of the Social 
Prescribing and Care Navigation 
Strategy
March 2025

Launch new model of Carers’ Short 
Break Service aligned with the 
Community Navigation Service 
April 2025

Delivery of HCP programmes 
and Primary Care Strategy
March 2025

P
age 106



Shared outcome 4: Empower people to best manage their health conditions
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Empower those with multiple or long-term conditions through multidisciplinary teams

Use Complex Care Teams and Multi- Disciplinary 
Teams to support people to manage their conditions

Integrated commissioning 
Locality Based commissioning model
Integrated Neighbourhood Teams (INT)

Kent County Council Adult Social Care
NHS Kent and Medway
NHS Kent and Medway and HCPs

Shared decision making to support individuals to 
achieve their goals

Self Directed Support
Community Wardens
Positive Wellbeing

Kent County Council Adult Social Care
Kent County Council – Growth, Environment and 
Transport (GET)

Utilise developing technologies, personal health 
budgets, direct payments and social prescribing to 
support people to achieve their goals

Digital Pathways, Digital front door, Technology Enabled 
Care
Libraries
Developer Contributions Guide

Kent County Council Adult Social Care
Kent County Council GET

Provide high quality primary care

Access to preventative, early intervention services to 
prevent admission to hospitals

Primary Care Strategy
Mental Health Together
Long term condition management
Community Wardens
Positive Wellbeing

NHS K&M Primary Care Strategic Oversight Group and 
HCPs
HCPs
Kent County Council GET

Ensure pharmacies support people with self-care, 
healthy living advice etc.

Primary Care Strategy NHS K&M Primary Care Strategic Oversight Group and 
HCPs

Improve and increase access to dentist and eye 
health services

Primary Care Strategy NHS K&M Primary Care Strategic Oversight Group and 
HCPs

P
age 107



What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Provide high quality primary care

Consistent high quality primary care service including 
access to the right professional

Primary Care Strategy NHS K&M Primary Care Strategic Oversight Group and 
HCPs

Support the provision of primary care to meet 
community needs

Primary Care Strategy
DGS HCP priority

NHS K&M Primary Care Strategic Oversight Group and 
HCPs
DGS HCP

Support carers

Support carers, involve them and provide for their 
needs

Triangle of Care action plans
Kent Adult Carers’ Strategy
Medway Joint Carers Strategy
Libraries, Community Wardens
Kent Association of Local Councils (KALC) dementia 
and carer initiatives

NHS provider organisations
Kent County Council Adult Social Care
Medway Council Adult Social Care
Kent County Council GET

Focused support for young carers Triangle of Care action plans NHS provider organisations

Shared outcome 4: Empower people to best manage their health conditions

P
age 108



Shared outcome 5: Improve health and care services
Improve access for all to health and care services, providing services as locally as possible and creating centres of excellence for specialist care where that improves quality, 
safety and sustainability

What we heard:
• Broaden to incorporate 

all aspects of health 
care not just hospital 
services

• Timely access to all 
parts of health care 
particularly primary 
care services

• Improve 
communication and 
transition between all 
parts of health and 
care services

• Increase the services 
offered in the 
community and by 
social care 

Priorities to deliver this outcome: 
Together we will…

Improve equity of access to health and care services
We will seek to improve the accessibility of all our services. We will ensure the right care in the right 
place providing care closer to home and services from a broader range of locations by making 
better use of our collective buildings and community assets. By taking services to individuals and 
continuing to offer digital help and advice, we hope to mitigate some of the social and economic 
reasons (such as travel costs, time off work and time out of education) why individuals do not seek 
(or attend) health and care services. 
Communicate better between our partners especially when individuals are transferring 
between health and care settings
We will improve flow through the system by utilising end to end care and support planning, 
minimising hand offs and ensuring safe discharges by better supporting individuals leaving acute 
care settings when transferring to another location, sure that all partners (including individuals, 
carers and families) are aware of the care plan and by working as a team to minimise delays. We 
aim to ensure people are discharged to their home as a priority and linked to timely appropriate 
reablement, recovery and rehab services. Our ambition is that system partners jointly plan, 
commission, and deliver discharge services that maintain flow and are affordable pooling resources 
where appropriate and responding to seasonal pressures.
Tackle mental health issues with the same energy and priority as physical illness
We will support people of all ages with their emotional and mental wellbeing. We will improve how 
we support those with mental health conditions with their overall health and wellbeing, providing the 
integrated support they need from the right partner (such as housing, financial, education, 
employment, clinical care and police) when they need it and in a way that is right for them. We will 
work with VCSE partners to creatively support those at risk of suicide.
Provide high-quality care
We will continually seek to provide high quality of care by working in a more integrated way; 
expanding the skills and training of our staff; reducing the time waiting to be seen and treated and 
supported; streamlining our ways of working; improving the outcomes achieved; ensuring advocacy 
and enriching the overall experience of individuals, their carers and their families. 

Indicators for this outcome could 
include:

By 2028, waits for diagnostics will 
meet national ambitions.
By 2028/29, the percentage of 
people aged 65 and over who were 
still at home 91 days after discharge 
from hospital into reablement 
services will have increased in Kent 
to at least 85% and in Medway to be 
in line with the national average.
By 2025 we will meet national 
expectations for patients with length 
of stay of 21+ days who no longer 
meet with criteria to reside.
Inappropriate out of area mental 
health placements will be at or close 
to zero. 

My family/carers and I knew 
when I was being discharged 
from hospital and what my care 

plan was 

My appointment was by video 
call but there was an option to 
attend in person if I needed to

P
age 109



Shared Outcome 5: Shared Delivery Examples 
Hospital Discharge 
Pathways

Community 
Equipment 
Service 

Better Care Fund Mental Health Support Transforming flow and 
discharge; transforming 
community services

Partners continue to  work across 
the System to find ways to manage 
demand on our services. For 
example, two new wards – offering 
up to 30 rehabilitation and 
reablement beds – were opened in 
East Kent last winter, thanks to a 
partnership between Kent 
Community Health NHS Foundation 
Trust (KCHFT), Kent County 
Council and East Kent Hospitals 
University NHS Foundation Trust, 
as part of East Kent’s provider 
collaborative.

The first 15-bedded ward opened in 
December at Westbrook House in 
Margate and was followed by an 
additional 15 beds in West View in 
Tenterden in January. The beds will 
be open until April while a more 
integrated model of rehabilitation, 
recovery and reablement care is 
implemented.

Kent County Council, in 
collaboration with the NHS 
Kent and Medway 
Integrated Care Board, 
has recently commissioned 
a revised Community 
Equipment Service. The 
contract was awarded in 
October 2023 and will 
become operational in 
April. The contract covers 
the purchase, delivery and 
repairs/servicing of 
equipment into people’s 
homes. The service 
enables people to live 
more independently for 
longer and supports timely 
discharge from hospital.

Money from the Better Care 
Fund (BCF) has been used 
to develop ‘Transfer of Care 
Hubs’ across the county to 
improve joint working across 
the acute, community health, 
social care and voluntary and 
community sectors in relation 
to discharge planning. 
Weekend multi-disciplinary 
discharge teams have also 
been created to help ease 
flow through the system. The 
BCF has also been used to 
set up a ‘Physio / 
Occupational Therapy (OT) 
in-reach and Drop and Stop 
Service’. This service has 
helped speed up discharges 
and has enabled an 
increased number of Physio / 
OT assessments to be 
undertaken in the patient's 
own home.

Live Well Kent will continue to be 
jointly funded by Kent County 
Council, the Kent & Medway 
Integrated Care Board and 
Medway Council. The service 
forms a key part of an integrated 
pathway across the voluntary 
sector and primary care mental 
health services, providing support 
for specific conditions such as 
depression and anxiety, as well as 
support with financial pressure 
and relationship stress. There is 
also a 24-7 telephone and online 
support service known as the 
Release the Pressure helpline. 

The Kent and Medway Suicide 
Prevention Programme also funds 
services and projects with the aim 
of reducing the risk of suicide and 
self-harm, including free suicide 
prevention training for anyone 
living or working in Kent and 
Medway.

Transforming flow and discharge 
is a priority for each of the HCPs. 
They are focusing on improving 
access to the right service at the 
right time, including urgent and 
emergency care.

Improvements to urgent and 
emergency care aim to support 
people to access the right care at 
the right place (including through 
Integrated Neighbourhood Temas 
(INTs)). This work includes same 
day emergency care, urgent 
treatment centre use, urgent 
community response team model, 
UEC navigation and winter 
planning. 

Community services 
transformation is a shared priority 
for the HCPs. This also supports 
flow.

Integrated model of rehabilitation, 
recovery and reablement care 
developed
March 2025

Revised Community 
Equipment Service 
launched
May 2024 

Continue to seek 
opportunities to develop joint 
commissioning
March 2025

Deliver Live Well Kent 
programmes
March 2025

Deliver Community transformation 
programme 
March 2025

P
age 110



Shared outcome 5: Improve health and care services
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Improve equity of access to health and care services

Improve access to services Locality Operating Model
Care and Support pathways
Community Diagnostic Centres
Medway Council Adult Social Care strategy and Peoples 
Strategy
Community Transport Grant
Developer Contributions Guide

Kent County Council Adult Social Care, 

Medway Council Adult Social Care

Kent County Council – Growth, Environment and 
Transport (GET)

Making best use of community assets to provide 
more local care

Build Resilient Communities
Micro-providers
Social Prescribing Strategy
Self directed support
Medway Council Adult Social Care strategy and Peoples 
Strategy
Transforming community services programme
Green Social Prescribing
Libraries
Community Wardens
Developer Contributions Guide
Community Centres

Kent County Council Adult Social Care, Public Health 
and GET. Kent Association of Local Councils (KALC), 
VCS Alliances

Medway Council Adult Social Care
Local sports providers
ICB and HCPs
Kent County Council GET

Digital health and advice Digital Pathways
Digital Front Door
Medway Council Adult Social Care strategy and Peoples 
Strategy
Libraries E resources

Kent County Council Adult Social Care

Medway Council Adult Social Care

Kent County Council GET

Increase early cancer diagnosis in line with Core 
20plus5

Inequalities, Prevention and Population Health Committee 
(IPPH) Prevention Subcommittee  action plan

IPPH Prevention Subcommittee 

Identify and address any inequalities in access to 
elective care

NHS Operational Plan 2024/25 NHS Provider trusts

P
age 111



Shared outcome 5: Improve health and care services
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Communicate better between our partners especially when individuals are transferring between health and care settings

Improve flow through health and care system NHS Operational Plan
Joint Commissioning
Urgent and Emergency Care programmes

NHS K&M and providers, Health & Care Partnerships, 
Provider Collaboratives
HCPs

Well-coordinated discharge and care planning NHS Operational Plan NHS K&M and providers, Health & Care Partnerships, 
Provider Collaboratives

Discharge to their home with relevant reablement, 
recovery and rehab services 

NHS Operational Plan NHS K&M and providers, Health & Care Partnerships, 
Provider Collaboratives

System winter planning, making use of collective 
resource

NHS Operational Plan
Better Care Fund?
Resilience and preparedness

NHS K&M and providers, Health & Care Partnerships, 
Provider Collaboratives
Kent County Council GET

Tackle mental health issues with the same energy and priority as physical illness

Support CYP and adults with emotional health and 
wellbeing

Mental Health Together
Kent and Medway Local Transformation Plan for 
Children and Young People
WK HCP Adult Mental Health programme

K&M Children and Young People’s Programme Board
Mental Health, Learning Disability and Autism (MHLDA) 
Provider Collaborative and K&M CYP Programme Board
WK HCP

Support those with mental health conditions with their 
health and wellbeing through integrated support

Mental Health Together
Mental Health delivery plan
Mental Health Concordat
Kent and Medway Local Transformation Plan for 
Children and Young People

IPPH
Medway Public Health
K&M Children and Young People’s Programme Board
NHS K&M and providers Medway public health
Trust Boards and ICB Board Quality Committees
KCC public health
MHLDA Provider Collaborative 

Support those at risk of suicide K&M Suicide Prevention Strategy
Kent and Medway Local Transformation Plan for 
Children and Young People

Kent and Medway multi-agency suicide prevention steering 
group
K&M Children and Young People’s Programme Board

P
age 112



Shared outcome 5: Improve health and care services
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Provide high quality care

Work in a more integrated way Locality Based Commissioning Model
Integrated Commissioning
KMCR
Medway Council Adult Social Care strategy and Peoples 
Strategy

Provider Collaboratives
Health and Care Partnerships
Kent County Council Adult Social Care, 
Medway Council Adult Social Care

Expand skills and training of our staff NHS People Strategy NHS K&M

Reduce waiting time to be seen and treated NHS Operational Plan
Deliver transformation programmes across the following 
areas to meet national recovery and policy requirements and 
ensure a strong future for services in Kent and Medway: 
Primary care, Urgent and Emergency Care, Mental Health, 
Learning Disability and Autism, Elective services, Cancer, 
Diagnostics and Pathology, Patient Pathways, Children, 
Local Maternity and Neonatal Services (LMNS), Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND), Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS).  
In delivering the above programmes, particularly recovery of 
elective waiting lists, ensure a collaborative approach to 
offering treatment as quickly as possible in the available 
capacity, recognising this may not always be the closest 
location
Establish Community Diagnostic Centres

NHS K&M

Improve outcomes and experience NHS Operational Plan
Quality improvement plans
Person’s Voice Plan

NHS K&M and providers
NHS K&M and providers
Kent County Council Adult Social Care, 

P
age 113



Shared outcome 6: Support and grow our workforce
Make Kent and Medway a great place for our colleagues to live, work and learn

What we heard:
• Improve volunteering 

opportunities for staff
• Benefits for staff:

• financial support
• offers with local 
businesses

• health and 
wellbeing support 
for example leisure 
facility membership 
offers

• Strengthen links and 
opportunities with 
education – schools, 
colleges and 
universities

Priorities to deliver this outcome: 
Together we will…

Grow our skills and workforce
We will work as a system to plan and put in place a workforce with the right skills, 
values and behaviours to keep our services sustainable. We will attract people to live, 
study and work in Kent and Medway, promoting all that our area has to offer. We will 
work with education and training providers to develop and promote exciting and 
diverse career and training opportunities, provide talented and capable leadership 
and offer flexible and interesting careers to reduce long-term unemployment and 
support people to return in work. 
Build ‘one’ workforce
We will implement a long-term workforce plan which supports integration across 
health and care services, enabled by digital technology, flexible working and cross 
sector workforce mobility. We will work in true partnership with our vital and valued 
volunteer workforce by seeking their input to shape, improve and deliver services.
Look after our people 
We will be a great place to work and learn, with a positive shared culture where 
people feel things work well and they can make a real difference. We will ensure staff 
feel valued, supported and listened to. We will support our workforce, including 
helping them as their employer, to proactively manage their health and wellbeing. 
Champion inclusive teams
We will foster an open, fair, positive, inclusive and supportive workplace culture that 
promotes respect. We will grow and celebrate diversity to be more representative of 
our communities, empower and develop colleagues from underrepresented groups.

Indicators for this outcome:

Shared workforce indicators will be 
developed by partners working across the 
system and are likely to include measures 
around:
• Vacancies
• Staff wellbeing
• Sickness absence 
• VCSE workforce
• Supporting employment in under-
represented groups

I feel valued by my 
team and believe my 
employer cares about 

my health and 
wellbeing

I hadn’t realised how many 
opportunities there were in 
health and social care, and 
I’ve been able to complete 
further qualifications since 

joining

P
age 114



Shared Outcome 6: Shared Delivery Examples 
Health and Care 
Academy

Workforce Sharing 
Agreement 

Financial Wellbeing Reducing Staff 
Harassment

Workforce planning

We have launched the Health 
and Care Academy website in 
February 2024, with a 
partnership of organisations 
dedicated to making Kent and 
Medway a great place to live, 
learn and work. In 2024/25 we 
will develop the Academy as a 
Community Interest Company 
(CIC), leveraging resources 
such as the apprenticeship levy 
and wider funding channels. 
Additionally, we will create 
partnerships with colleges to 
ensure a better transition for 
students pursuing health and 
care T-Levels into relevant job 
opportunities. We are also 
collaborating closely with 
schools to create enthusiasm 
among students for future roles 
in health and care, as well as 
broader positions within the 
system. 

We will create a partner 
Workforce Sharing Agreement 
that will support working as one 
in various system initiatives, 
such as the establishment of 
Home First Teams in East Kent. 
Further initiatives are coming 
that will need a unified 'one 
workforce' approach, which 
include the introduction of 
Family Hubs and Family First in 
children's services. 

In promoting professional 
growth, partners are committed 
to supporting rotational roles, 
facilitated by tools like the NHS 
Digital Staff Passport. We are 
embracing development 
sprints, enabling staff to 
collaboratively enhance their 
skills and progress in their 
career development across 
health and care roles. 

We will create a shared space 
about how our organisations 
are supporting staff and 
volunteers. Building on from the 
Health and Wellbeing Website, 
we will help colleagues who 
find themselves under financial 
strain with the advice and 
support they need. 

Partners will help to promote 
the website and any new 
material to their staff. We will 
explore the possibility of a 
Financial Wellbeing week, 
giving people the chance to 
have more open conversations 
about their money and get 
expert advice.

Partner organisations will work 
together to create an 
environment that reduces the 
conditions in which staff 
experience harassment. Using 
good practice from other 
systems, we will develop a 
system wide understanding of 
the impact on the health and 
wellbeing of our colleagues and 
will ensure a collaborative 
approach to preventing 
violence and abuse.

We will encourage staff to 
report all incidents, making sure 
their cases are effectively 
managed and reviewed with 
clear support plans in place. 
Reporting is vital to the 
understanding of the issues 
faced by the members of our 
workforce. 

Planning for the workforce for 
tomorrow is a priority for each 
of the Health and Care 
Partnerships over the coming 
year. Whilst the skills gap may 
differ across the county, each 
HCP is facing a workforce 
challenge.

Workforce is one of the 
foundations of the EKHCP 
strategy as the HCP with the 
largest coastline which is 
evidenced to impact on 
workforce availability.

Each of the HCPs recognise 
workforce as a key enabler to 
achieving their priorities.

Develop the Health and Care 
Academy as a Community 
Interest Company 
March 2025

Create a partner Workforce 
Sharing Agreement 
March 2025

Develop the Health and 
Wellbeing website offer and 
promotion to staff
March 2025

Use good practice examples to 
improve the reporting and 
response to staff harassment
March 2025

Deliver HCP workforce plans
March 2025

P
age 115



Shared outcome 6: Support and grow our workforce
What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Grow our skills and workforce KCC People Strategy 
Medway Council Workforce Strategy 
K&M ICS People Strategy 

Access to the strategies of each organisation 
can be found via the following links:
Kent County Council People Strategy 2022 – 
2027
Medway Council Workforce Equality, Diversity 
& Inclusion Strategy 2023 – 2028
Kent and Medway ICS People Strategy 2023 – 
2028

KCC Human Resources & Organisation Development
Medway Council HR
NHS Kent and Medway People Directorate

Build ‘one’ workforce

Look after our people

Champion inclusive teams

Workforce planning at HCP level HCP specific plans HCPs

P
age 116

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/141785/The-People-Stratgey-2022-2027.pdf#:~:text=The%20foundation%20of%20this%20strategy,and%20the%20way%20we%20work.
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/141785/The-People-Stratgey-2022-2027.pdf#:~:text=The%20foundation%20of%20this%20strategy,and%20the%20way%20we%20work.
https://democracy.medway.gov.uk/mgconvert2pdf.aspx?id=70223#:~:text=We%20are%20committed%20to%20developing,%2C%20and%20work%2Dlife%20balance.
https://democracy.medway.gov.uk/mgconvert2pdf.aspx?id=70223#:~:text=We%20are%20committed%20to%20developing,%2C%20and%20work%2Dlife%20balance.
https://www.kentandmedway.icb.nhs.uk/application/files/3716/9883/0234/Kent_and_Medway_People_Strategy_2023_-_2028.pdf
https://www.kentandmedway.icb.nhs.uk/application/files/3716/9883/0234/Kent_and_Medway_People_Strategy_2023_-_2028.pdf


Enabler: We will drive research, innovation and improvement across the system
We will empower our workforce to use research evidence and develop and test innovative approaches to their work, both to improve services and to develop new 
knowledge. We will establish better ways to collaborate between all partner organisations and with academia for service improvement, research and innovation. This will 
include safely sharing data and embracing digital innovation. 

What we have committed to Ways we may deliver this Led by

Empower our workforce to use research evidence

Develop Research and Innovation Hubs Kent Research Innovation and Improvement, KCC

Create new integrated research roles that traverse different sectors Kent Research Innovation and Improvement, KCC

Develop new Research Innovation & Improvement Unit Kent Research Innovation and Improvement, KCC

Continuous improvement approach led by our workforce NHS K&M, ICB Improving Outcomes and Experience Committee

Develop Kent Research Network for Education and Learning (KERNEL) NHS K&M, ICB Information and Technology Board

Develop an ICB research strategy to guide system partners to focus on 
research that addresses key needs in Kent and Medway

Kent and Medway ICB

Develop a culture of conducting research and using the results of research to 
inform policy development and ways of delivering services

NIHR Health Determinants Research Collaboration (HDRC) 
Medway, Medway Council

Establish better ways to collaborate

Develop a common operating model for data sharing and linkage for analytics, 
including research

Develop a common operating model by Information Governance leads

Bring research communities together to work in partnerships Kent and Medway Joint Research & Innovation Collaborative

Continue to build share care records and care plans with the contribution of 
multi-disciplinary teams and patients

NHS Kent and Medway ICB Digital and Data Board

Electronic Patient Record Optimisation to ensure that all organisations across 
Kent and Medway ICS have an EPR in line with National Standards 

NHS Kent and Medway ICB Digital and Data Board

P
age 117



Enabler: We will provide system leadership and make the most of our collective resources
We will embed sustainability in everything we do through our green plan by ensuring our strategies and decision-making support social, economic and environmental 
prosperity now and for future generations.  We will make the most of our collective resource including our estate and play our role as ‘anchor institutions’.  The principle of 
subsidiarity will ensure our places and neighbourhoods lead the development and implementation of delivery plans for this strategy (see Chapter 11, Conditions for 
Successful Delivery for further information).  

What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to deliver Led by

Environmental sustainability

Net zero carbon emissions by 2030 NHS Green Plan
KCC Net Zero Action Plan
Climate Change Action Plan (Medway 
Council)

NHS K&M
KCC
Medway Council Environmental Services

Best use of our estate

Act as anchor institutions by using our assets and resources 
to benefit our communities e.g. through procurement, 
employment/training opportunities, how we use our estate, 
environmental sustainability, retain wealth in the region.

NHS K&M Estates and Infrastructure 
Interim Strategy
Procurement plans (KCC, Medway Council, 
NHS K&M)
NHS Green plan / Climate Change Action 
Plan (Medway Council) / Net Zero Action 
Plan (KCC)

NHS K&M
Medway Council
Kent County Council

Make best use of our collective and high-quality estate by 
adopting a “one public estate” approach to flexibly use our 
estate and optimise opportunity for co-location of services to 
drive greater integration

NHS K&M Estates and Infrastructure 
Interim Strategy
Kent County Council Asset Management 
Strategy

NHS K&M and each of the four HCPs

Kent County Council

Dispose of estate that is no longer suitable or does not 
represent value for money

NHS K&M Estates and Infrastructure 
Interim Strategy, linked to Joint Capital 
Plan
Kent County Council Asset Management 
Strategy

NHS K&M

Kent County Council

Develop locality-based, system-wide estates plans through 
our health and care Partnerships

NHS K&M Estates and Infrastructure 
Interim Strategy

NHS K&M

P
age 118



Enabler: We will engage our communities on our strategy and in co-designing services

In developing the Integrated Care Strategy we sought to engage with our residents and as partners and we will continue to do this as we implement plans to meet these 
aims and improve health and wellbeing.

What we have committed to Strategies / plans in place to 
deliver

Led by

Involve people from all walks of life and through multiple channels

Continue to listen to the voice of those with lived 
experience of our services to inform the 
development of plans and service redesign

ICS Communications and 
Engagement Group Action Plan

Communications and Engagement Oversight Group 

Drafting note: may replace table with narrative regarding commitment and approaches
To be updated following Comms plan to SOG

P
age 119



DRAFT
DRAFT

Conditions for successful delivery
Introduction to this section to then have 
more detail on these topics:

• Partnership working 
• Commissioning infrastructure 
• Governance
• System led oversight

P
age 120



DRAFT
Partnership working – Integrated Care Partnership (ICP)
The two upper-tier local authorities (Kent County Council and 
Medway Council) along with NHS organisations within an 
Integrated Care System (ICS), collaborate through a formal joint 
committee known as an Integrated Care Partnership (ICP). This 
partnership is involved in advancing the ICS’s four key aims:

• Improving outcomes in population health and health care
• Tackling inequalities in outcomes, experiences and access 
• Enhancing productivity and value for money
• Helping the NHS to support broader and social and economic 

development 

A key function of the ICP is to develop the Integrated Care 
Strategy with system partners and stakeholders, with the ICP 
choosing to take a particular emphasis on addressing wider 
determinants of health and promoting preventive measures.

Once the strategy is established, the ICP assumes a pivotal role 
in overseeing its delivery and facilitate collaborative partnerships 
to ensure its successful delivery. Meetings are a place that 
supports a shared culture of collaborative working, information 
exchange and shared accountability. 

Committee Membership
• Leader of Kent County Council 
• Leader of Medway of Council 
• Chair of the NHS Kent and Medway ICB
• Two elected executive members from KCC
• Two elected executive members from Medway Council 
• ICB non-executive director 
• ICB Member, Primary Care Perspective 
• Chairs of the four HCPs
• Four Elected District Council representatives from each HCP geographies 
Click here to see full list including non-voting participants.

The Inequalities, Prevention and Population Health Committee (IPPH)
The IPPH was established in accordance with the NHS Kent and Medway 
Integrated Care Board Constitution. The remit of the Committee is to provide 
oversight and direction to deliver a shared vision for improving population 
health, preventing ill health, reducing health inequality, and promoting 
physical and mental health across Kent and Medway. 

The Committee has established three subcommittees that support in 
discharging its responsibilities. It has been agreed that the IPPH and each 
subcommittee will now report and assist the ICP in its role in delivering the 
Integrated Care Strategy. 

P
age 121

https://www.kmhealthandcare.uk/about-us/partners/integrated-care-partnership


DRAFTPartnership working – Health and Care Partnerships
Health and care partnerships facilitate closer collaboration between healthcare providers and local 
councils, spanning social care, public health, education, planning, housing, environmental health, 
and leisure services.

HCPs also unite all health provider organisations in a specific area to work as one. While each 
organisation maintains its budget, they collaborate to allocate resources for the community's 
benefit. These partnerships tailor services to address local population needs, focusing on areas of 
high demand to reduce health inequalities and improve life expectancy.

In Kent and Medway, there are four health and care partnerships: Dartford, Gravesham, and 
Swanley; East Kent; Medway and Swale; and West Kent. They collectively cover populations 
ranging from 260,000 to 700,000. For more information about your HCP, visit our website.

Each of the HCPs have set their priorities for the next year, many have developed longer term 
priorities too, set out in a 3-5 year strategy. These HCP priorities support the delivery of the 
Integrated Care Strategy and have therefore been reflected in the shared outcome delivery 
activities above. In addition, the ICB agrees priorities with the HCPs on an annual basis, again 
these reflect the Integrated Care Strategy as well as the NHS Operational Planning guidance and 
NHS mandate. 

HCPs provide progress updates on the delivery of their priorities to their Programme Boards, and 
therefore the ICB, within their agreed oversight timeframes. Feeding into their Programme Boards 
are sub-committees that meet regularly, each has a focus on at least one of the HCP priorities.

The HCPs health inequalities and population health management activities are reported to the 
Inequalities Prevention and Population Health sub-committee of the Integrated Care Partnership.

Map of the Health and Care Partnerships and Primary 
Care Networks in Kent and Medway

Drafting note – HCP annual plans still to be fully reflected

P
age 122

https://www.kmhealthandcare.uk/about-us/our-system/health-and-care-partnerships


DRAFT
Partnership working – NHS Provider Collaboratives
Many providers across Kent and Medway 
work together, formally or informally to deliver 
more joined up care.  

An NHS-led provider collaborative is a group 
of providers who have agreed to work together 
at scale to improve the care pathway for their 
local population.  This is a significant shift in 
the way healthcare is organised, moving from 
an emphasis on organisational autonomy and 
competition to collaboration and partnership 
working.  It enables providers to combine 
resources to address the challenges they are 
facing and therefore ensure more sustainable 
services.  

The providers and ICB have an agreed set of 
working principles that established the 
provider collaboratives in October 2022 and 
the Provider Collaborative Board reports to the 
individual organisational boards.   Add image

The provider collaborative structure in Kent and Medway

P
age 123



DRAFT
DRAFTPartnership Working- District Alliances

The key importance of local action, informed by local knowledge and led by local partners 
means that local systems are critical to improving health and wellbeing.
District councils, over time, have developed strong local partnerships led by local district level 
interests and including a range of voluntary and community sector leaders as well as local 
police, health and social care leads. These groups will meet as local Alliances or Action Teams 
and agree key priorities and actions to tackle health challenges and improve health. The 
importance of these endeavours in improving health are recognised by the increasing 
involvement of Kent Public health officers in supporting this work

P
age 124



DRAFT
DRAFTPartnership Working – Voluntary and Community Sector

There is a huge VCS capacity across Kent and Medway with thousands of organisations and 
tens of thousands of volunteers playing a crucial role in improving health and wellbeing. The 
importance of the VCS in terms of understanding and addressing specific local needs and the 
acceptability and accessibility of VCS services is recognised, as is the current challenges to the 
sector in attracting and retaining resources.

The VCS across Kent and Medway is supported through local VCS Alliances that allow local 
VCS groups to meet and engage. 
At district level, VCS partners are key members of local Alliances.

To be completed following VCSE Health alliance discussion

P
age 125



DRAFT
DRAFT

Commissioning in Collaboration
Collaboration is not new, and many examples of joint working exist including 
services delivered through the Better Care Fund and other shared funding 
arrangements. There are several joint posts across the System and a joint 
commissioning plan in development. Commissioners work together through the 
Joint Commissioning Group for Adults in Kent and through the Joint 
Commissioning Management Group in Medway, the Kent and Medway  
Children’s Programme Board and the Kent and Medway Learning Disability and 
Autism Delivery Partnership.

We will continue to seek out ways to work together, including creating joint 
appointments and aligning our care pathways and services so that they make 
sense to people who draw on our services. 

It is a vital part of any commissioning process that people with lived experience, 
communities, providers and professionals can be actively engaged in designing 
services which reflect local needs and opportunities, and we will ensure that 
services continued to be co–designed.

It is also important that services reflect the needs of local people and 
communities so as the System matures new models of care and ways of 
working will emerge, including development of Provider Collaboratives,  
organisations working together in new ways to deliver services locally, and 
delegating more commissioning to local Health and Care Partnerships.

The Kent and Medway Learning Disability and Autism Delivery 
Partnership 
Established in January 2022. the partnership was formalised in September 
2023 when NHS Kent and Medway and Kent County Council entered into 
a new partnership agreement (Section 75) in relation to joint working 
arrangements for the planning and commissioning of services for 
neurodivergent citizens.  
The development of a system wide strategy for learning disability and 
autism is one of the key priorities for 2023/24. The views of people with 
lived experience, their families and carers has informed the development 
of the draft Strategy and further co design will be carried out in early 2024 
with community and support groups so that we obtain the views and input 
of people with lived experience from as diverse backgrounds as possible  
and from across Kent and Medway. Engagement with the wider public will 
be undertaken in Spring 2024, when the draft strategy is published. 

P
age 126



DRAFT
DRAFTDelivering Services Together 

Supporting integrated approaches is one of the core purposes of an Integrated 
Care Partnership. Integration is joining up care for people, places and 
populations to improve patient experience, quality and efficiency, and reduce 
health inequalities. It will do this by reducing fragmentation within and across 
services and supporting more care out of hospital.

The ICP will continue to support the development of the key enablers of 
integration across the System. The key enablers to integration include joint 
commissioning, workforce, adoption of digital technology, data sharing,  
financial pooling and alignment to further join up services around people and 
populations

Joint Commissioning is the process by which health and care services are 
planned, purchased and monitored by Kent County Council,  Medway Council 
and Kent and Medway NHS working together. Our aim is to continue to join up 
the planning, commissioning and delivery of services to ensure that service 
models are well co-ordinated and provide continuity of support.

P
age 127



DRAFT
DRAFT

Summary of the Health & Care Partnership Priorities for 
2024/25 and beyond
The table below summarises the HCP priorities, these have been agreed within the HCP as fixed priorities for the next 3-5 years.
The priorities have been mapped to the Shared Outcomes of this strategy indicated by (SO) and a number. These priorities have been 
included above in the relevant shared outcomes page too.

All HCPs priorities for 
2024/25

Dartford, Gravesham & 
Swanley HCP

East Kent HCP Medway & Swale HCP West Kent HCP

• Flow and discharge 
(SO 5)

• Health inequalities 
(SO 2)

• Integrated 
Neighbourhood 
Teams (SO 4)

• Transforming 
community services 
(SO 5)

• Frailty (SO 3)

• Children and Young 
People – inequalities, 
improvement in 
health, particularly 
obesity (SO 1)

• Ageing and dying 
well (SO 3)

• Primary and 
community care 
improvement and 
integration (SO 4)

• Integrated 
Neighbourhood 
teams (SO 4)

• Urgent and 
Emergency Care 
(SO 5)

• Population health 
management (SO 2)

• Transforming flow 
and discharge (SO 5)

• Community frailty 
(SO 3)

• Health inequalities 
(SO 2)

• Financial control 
incorporating 
population health 
management, 
ambulatory care 
services, self-harm, 
cancer, INTs & 
dentistry (SO 2, 4,5)

• Frailty & complex 
care (SO 3, 5)

• Adult and Children’s 
mental health (SO 5, 
1)

• Integrated 
Neighbourhood 
Teams (SO 4)

• Health Inequalities 
(SO 2)

• Discharge & Flow 
(SO 5)

P
age 128



DRAFT
DRAFT

Summary of District & Borough Health and Wellbeing Plans

District Priorities for 2024 to 2026

Ashford • Housing (SO 2)
• Young people (SO 1)
• Substance misuse (SO 3)

Canterbury • .
• .
• .

Dartford • .
• .
• .

Dover • .
• .
• .

Folkestone & Hythe • Ageing Well (SO 3)
• Prevention (SO 1,2,3,4)
• Building Community Capacity (SO 1,2,3,4)

Gravesham • Homelessness and Vulnerable groups (SO 
1,2)

• Youth health (SO 1)
• Low income and ethnic minority families 

(SO 1,2)

District Priorities for 2024 to 2026

Maidstone • .
• .
• .

Sevenoaks • Addressing the wider determinants of health 
(SO 2)

• Promoting healthy behaviours (SO 3)
• Leveraging the power of communities and 

Places (SO 1,2,3,4)

Swale • Community (SO 2)
• Economy (SO 2)
• Environment (SO 2)
• Health & Housing (SO 2)

Thanet • .
• .
• .

Tonbridge & Malling • .
• .
• .

Tunbridge Wells • .
• .
• .

P
age 129



DRAFT
DRAFTKent Association of Local Councils (KALC) priorities for action

Priority

Cost of Living

Loneliness

People with dementia and their carers

Physical Activity

Weight Loss

P
age 130



DRAFT

7

Good growth and development is fundamental to children's health and well-being 
and can positively impact children's opportunities and life course. GET services 
such as Trading Standards, Libraries and Creative and Cultural Economy ensure 
access to safe, nutritious food, additional educational opportunities and enrichment 
activities that are crucial for supporting physical, cognitive, and emotional 
development and building social capital.

Similarly, the environment in which children grow up significantly impacts their 
health, safety, and overall development. GET services such as Energy & Climate 
Change, Strategic Planning & Infrastructure and Countryside Development support 
children's health outcomes by providing a safe environment that includes access to 
clean air, water, and green spaces, as well as safe and stable housing. They work to 
improve the physical, environmental and social conditions by reducing pollution, 
investing in infrastructure for safe housing and communities, promoting social 
inclusion and equity. Additionally, GET’s Community Safety services, like the 
Community Wardens, create nurturing and supportive social environments, free from 
violence and discrimination that is essential for children to develop and thrive. 

Furthermore, access to safe and reliable transport is essential for children and 
families to access healthcare services, education facilities, and leisure activities. 
Highways and Transportation provide affordable and safe routes to schools and 
hospitals and pedestrian-friendly infrastructure both promotes physical activity and 
reduces the risk of accidents. Good, multi-modal transport infrastructure not only 
benefits children and families socially by connecting them to their communities, but it 
also contributes to increased physical activity, reduced traffic congestion, air 
pollution and the risk of food deserts, thus creating a more sustainable, healthier 
environment for children.

GET plays an integral role in supporting happy and healthy living for all by addressing 
the fundamental aspects of well-being, promoting social and environmental equity and 
accessibility, and creating environments that support good physical, mental, and social 
well-being. By investing in these areas, GETs services create a sustainable 
environment in which people and communities can lead long, healthy and fulfilling lives.

GET services align with place-based and population health approaches to ensure the 
provision and sustainability of social connection, resilient communities, heritage, 
libraries, accessible green spaces, leisure & culture which all interact to promote a good 
sense of place that in turn contribute to a sense of wellbeing. 

GET services not only promote wellbeing to prevent, reduce or delay the onset of 
preventable disease and need for care services, but it also creates health promoting 
environments (upstream) and delivers frontline services (downstream) that support this 
outcome. 

Many services in GET, like Country Parks, Community Safety, Libraries and Strategic 
Development and Place are key partners of multi-agency partnerships that promote and 
support safe and resilient communities where people can live happy and socially-
connected lives.

Outcome 2 is on the next slide. 

GET and the ICS Outcomes

Outcome 1
Give children and young people the best start in life

Outcome 3 
Support happy and healthy living for all

P
age 131



GET and the ICS Outcomes

Outcome 2
Tackle the wider determinants to prevent ill health

All services in GET play a crucial role in preventing illness and promoting overall health and well-
being by addressing the social, economic, and environmental factors that influence health. GET 
services work systemically to create conditions that support people to grow, work, live and age well, 
and reduce the burden of preventable diseases and health disparities.

Socioeconomic factors like income, employment, education, and social networks have a profound 
impact on health outcomes. The Economy team supports a strong economy with opportunities for 
business investment, stable employment and adequate income to reduce preventable disparities in 
health. Libraries address social and economic inequality by providing warm, free, accessible hubs 
equipped with information to support and signpost residents to an array of services, promoting 
equitable access to resources and positive health opportunities, thus preventing illness by 
addressing the root cause of health inequity. 

Environmental services in GET tackle climate change which is now the context in which we need to 
protect health from environmental hazards and infectious diseases and will determine future risks to 
health. Whilst everyone will be at some risk from adverse health impacts from climate change, the 
impacts will vary at individual level and the most disadvantaged will be disproportionately affected.

The Community Safety team and the Community Wardens provide a social safety net through their 
work on the ground within their local community. They identify and assist disadvantaged individuals 
and groups by providing relevant educational resources and assistance with navigating community 
services. This sustainable approach equips communities with the skills they need to flourish and be 
resilient, thus avoiding the inequitable conditions that disadvantages health in the first place.

Highways and Transportation services offer essential, safe and reliable transport links to health, 
employment, education and social services and support the improvement of transport infrastructure. 
This includes public transport, walking and cycling facilities, enhancing mobility and reducing 
barriers to accessing essential services. Additionally, work to improve road safety, reduce traffic 
congestion and promote active travel contributes to the reduction of injuries and promotion of 
physical activity, therefore improving overall health outcomes.

P
age 132



7

Services in GET, such as Community Safety, Positive 
Wellbeing, Libraries and Active Kent, provide a high  
quality and preventative approach to care, support 
and signposting services that enable and empower 
people to take responsibility for and manage their 
own health outcomes and make improvements to 
their overall well-being.

Investing in preventative self-care services, health 
education and literacy programs can empower  
patients and carers to make informed decisions about 
their health and care plans by providing them with the 
skills and knowledge they need to make these 
informed decisions. 

Further to this, building strong, resilient communities 
with ample health-promoting infrastructure like free 
and accessible green spaces, recreational facilities, 
good transport infrastructure and social support 
networks enables and empowers people to look after 
their own mental and emotional well-being, reducing 
the strain on health and wellbeing services.

The Community Warden Service plays an important role in 
ensuring that residents are receiving the correct package of 
care and provide essential signposting and support 
services directly in the homes of people who need it. They 
act as care navigators, ensuring people are aware of and 
can access the care and support services they are entitled 
to in order to improve their health outcomes. Community 
Wardens also take referrals from Adult Social Care and 
often provide non-clinical support for patients when 
discharged from hospital, potentially reducing the burden 
on other public health services. 

Libraries also support this outcome by working in 
partnership with a range of health and care services to 
support and deliver public health campaigns and initiatives 
such as Talking Therapies - Improved Access to 
Psychological Therapies, NHS Cancer Campaigns and 
Population Health Management.  Libraries help to raise 
community awareness and offer access to services such as 
Hearing aid clinics and One You Smokefree specialist 
support sessions in non-clinical, open settings.

Strategic Planning and Infrastructure play an important role 
in securing developer contributions to ensure there are 
sufficient local health and care services in communities. 

GET plays an important role in the outcome to grow 
our skills and workforce. GET provides and 
commissions services such as Visit Kent and Locate 
in Kent that attract people to live, study and work in 
Kent and promote all that our area has to offer. 

GET also provides many work experience 
opportunities, apprenticeships, long-term placements 
& traineeships for people to gain skills and 
experience, develop their career or get back into 
work. The Kent & Medway Economic Plan sets out 
our commitment to building a workforce that has the 
right skills and values that supports positive public 
health outcomes. 

GET services support people to develop their social 
and human capital and gain the skills and 
experiences they need to get into meaningful 
employment.

GET and the ICS Outcomes

Outcome 4
Empower patients and carers

Outcome 5
Improve health and care services

Outcome 6
Support and grow our workforce

P
age 133



DRAFT
DRAFT

Financial sustainability
We need to manage the challenge of significant spending demands and cost 
increases within the funding available, which mainly comes from Council Tax 
(for local government services) and the government (for NHS and local 
government services). This requires taking tough spending decisions that 
are evidenced based and ensuring that we can continue to meet our 
statutory duties.

We are committed to achieving financial sustainability but also recognise 
that this may be over a longer period than one financial year. By coming 
together to deliver our Integrated Care Strategy we are committing to jointly 
funding our priorities. By understanding each other better we can reduce 
duplication and make the most of our collective resources, pooling resources 
where appropriate, and removing obstacles to operational teams working 
together.

We will continue to work hard to provide value for money. Each organisation 
has annual efficiency savings targets with a comprehensive programme 
management approach to monitor and oversee delivery and impact of the 
initiatives on the quality of care we provide. 

? Insert infographics – 24/25 budget info

P
age 134



DRAFT
DRAFTHave your say

We need everyone to help us do things differently; it’s time to make 
positive, long-term change to the way we plan and deliver services so 
that we can make meaningful changes to the health and wellbeing of 
Kent and Medway residents.  
We want to prevent ill-health wherever possible. This Shared Delivery 
Plan outlines some of the work we are planning – we want to know what 
you think and your ideas.  
There are lots of ways for you to have your say to help us plan for the 
future. 
Your views will be listened to and will help shape our plans and strategies 
for the future.

You can share your thoughts on our Integrated Care Strategy and our 
Shared Delivery Plan or on wider issues relating to health and 
wellbeing by registering for our online platform:
Have Your Say in Kent and Medway
https://www.haveyoursayinkentandmedway.co.uk/
Here you will also find out more about some of the exciting projects 
underway and examples of how we are demonstrating our new future.

Alternatively, you can write to us at:
Kmicb.engage@nhs.net or
The Engagement Team
Kent and Medway ICS
Kent House
81 Station Road
Ashford
TN23 1PP

Drafting note: To be updated following Comms plan to SOG

P
age 135

https://www.haveyoursayinkentandmedway.co.uk/
mailto:Kmicb.engage@nhs.net


DRAFT
DRAFT

DRAFT

Appendices
1. Logframe matrix
2. NHS Operating Plan 2024/25 which includes (or will be added separately if it doesn’t): 

– delegated commissioning plans, 
– capital plan links, 
– continuous improvement approach
– system quality priorities
– digital inclusion
– further reference to choice and personalised care

3. Kent and Medway NHS Strategy development?

P
age 136



From: Dan Walkins, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and 
Public Health 

 
 Richard Smith, Corporate Director Adult Social Care and 

Health 
 
To: Kent Health and Wellbeing Board – 25 April 2024 
 
Subject: Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board Annual 

Report April 2022 – March 2023 
 
Classification: Unrestricted  
 
Past Pathway of report: Approved by KMSAB Executive Members 20 November 

2023 
 
Future Pathway of report:  
 

Electoral Division: All 
 

Summary:  
This report introduces the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board’s (KMSAB) 
Annual Report for April 2022–March 2023.  The Annual Report sets out the 
responsibilities and structure of the Board and details how the multi-agency 
partnership delivered against its strategic priorities for the year.  The report also 
provides information pertaining to Safeguarding Adults Reviews and safeguarding 
activity.  
 
Recommendation(s):  The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to CONSIDER and 
ENDORSE the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report, 2022 – 
2023, attached as appendix A 
 

 
1. Introduction 

  
1.1 The Care Act 2014 made it a requirement for each local authority to establish a 

Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB).  Kent County Council’s duty is met through a 
joint Board with Medway Council; the Kent and Medway Adults Board (KMSAB). 

 
1.2 The KMSAB does not provide frontline services, it has a strategic role which is 

“greater than the sum of the operational duties of the core partners”1.  The 
KMSAB sets the strategic direction for adult safeguarding in Kent and Medway 
and seeks assurance and provides challenge to ensure that adult safeguarding 
arrangements in Kent and Medway are in place, are effective and are person 
centred and outcome focused.  The KMSAB membership works collaboratively 
to raise awareness of adult safeguarding and prevent abuse and neglect. 

 

                                            
1 Care and Support Statutory Guidance. Care and Support Statutory Guidance (14.134) 

 

Page 137

Agenda Item 11

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance#safeguarding-1


1.3 Under the Care Act 2014, the KMSAB has three core duties, it must: 
 

 Publish a strategic plan to set out how it will meet its main objectives and 

what members will do to achieve this.  The Board’s 2022- 2025 strategic 

plan is available on the link below: 

https://kmsab.org.uk/p/about-kmsab-1/annual-report-and-strategic-plan 
 

 Publish an Annual Report to detail what the Board has done during the 

year to achieve its main objectives and implement its Strategic Plan, and 

what each member has done to implement the strategy, as well as 

detailing the findings of any Safeguarding Adults Reviews and 

subsequent actions. 

 

 Conduct any Safeguarding Adults Review in accordance with Section 44 

of the Care Act. 

1.4 The Care Act 2014 states that, once the Annual Report is published, it must be 
submitted to: 

 the Chief Executive (where one is in situ) and Leader of the Council; 

 the local Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable; 

 the local Healthwatch; and 

 the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board.   

1.5 The supporting statutory guidance states that “it is expected that those 
organisations will fully consider the contents of the report and how they can 
improve their contributions to both safeguarding throughout their own 
organisation and to the joint work of the Board”. As such, this report presents 
the 2022 - 2023 Annual Report to the Kent Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 
2.    KMSAB Annual Report 2022 - 2023 

 
2.1 The Annual Report details how the Board delivered against the following 

strategic priorities in 2022-2023: 
 

 Promote Person Centred Safeguarding 

 Strengthen System Assurance 

 Embed Improvement and Shape Future Practice.  
 

2.2 Some of the key achievements during the reporting period include: 
 

 The Board’s ‘Adult abuse and what to do about it’ leaflet was translated 
into Ukrainian. The document was made available on the KMSAB 
website and hard copies were shared at events and with agencies who 
requested them. The leaflet was used and adapted by other Boards and 
partnerships such as Oldham Safeguarding Adults Board and Shropshire 
Safeguarding Community Partnership.  

 

Page 138

https://kmsab.org.uk/p/about-kmsab-1/annual-report-and-strategic-plan
https://kmsab.org.uk/p/about-kmsab-1/safeguarding-adult-reviews


 Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board members supported 
National Safeguarding Adults’ Awareness Week, established by the Ann 
Craft Trust.  The purpose of the week was to share messages with the 
public on how to recognise and report abuse and neglect, and to highlight 
the support and services available for those at risk or experiencing 
abuse. The campaign led to a significant increase in visits to KMSAB 
webpages, with a total of 3524 visits during the week. This included 1147 
clicks to the “worried about and adult?’ pages for the public, 191 views to 
the ‘report abuse’ page and 956 visits to the ‘useful resources for the 
public’ page. 

 

 As part of Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week, the Board hosted an 
open session on Predatory Marriage, led by Daphne Franks, who has 
lived experience of the issue. Attendance included representatives from 
the Kent and Medway registrar services. The Manager of the KCC 
Registrar service advised that learning from the session has been shared 
with the Kent registrars and is now embedded within their training. 

 

 Members of KMSAB and the Business Unit hosted a stand at the Kent 
Police Open Day on 3 July, where 10,000 members of the public were in 
attendance. The aim was to speak to members of the public, share 
safeguarding resources and raise awareness of how to recognise and 
respond to adult safeguarding concerns. Approximately 1000 people 
visited the stand and engaged with the facilitators.  Highlights of the 
website data, following the event, included a 241% increase in views to 
the KMSAB website during July. The report abuse page for the public 
saw a 249% increase (412 visits from 118). 

 

 Practitioners advised that members of the public would benefit from a 
credit card sized concertina leaflet, setting out how to respond to adult 
safeguarding concerns. In response to this, the communications and 
engagement working group members agreed the content for the leaflet. 
The Board business unit sought funding, from the KCC Community 
Safety Unit, for the design and printing of 2000 copies.  

 

 The Board continued to implement their quality assurance framework. 
This included a thematic Self-Assessment Framework (SAF), a series of 
questions to measure progress against key quality standards.  The 
purpose of the SAF is to enable agencies to evaluate the effectiveness of 
their internal safeguarding arrangements and identify and prioritise areas 
needing further development. The thematic SAF focused on measuring 
how agencies are embedding the learning from safeguarding adults 
reviews.  

 

 The Board’s safeguarding adults review (SAR) policy was completely re-
drafted to incorporate different methodologies for undertaking reviews. 
The revised document followed the format of the Board’s main policy 
document, with sections for policy, protocols and guidance, it was also 
cross referenced against the national SAR quality markers. The updated 

Page 139



policy has been well received by all agencies and adds greater 
consistency and rigor to all stages of the SAR process.  

 

 The Board continued to deliver a multi-agency training programme.  
Between April 2022 – March 2023, 57 workshops were held, with 703 
delegates participating. Analysis of feedback presented a positive picture 
in relation to people’s experiences of the course and the reported 
increase in their knowledge and skills. 

 

 Members of the Practice, Policies and Procedures Working Group 
reviewed and significantly updated the Board’s main policy document, 
“Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults Policy, Protocols and Practitioner 
Guidance for Kent and Medway”, which all Board members and relevant 
partners are required to work to. 

 

 The Board, in collaboration with the training provider DCCi, delivered 4 
workshops to share the learning from safeguarding adults reviews. 

 
2.3 Fourteen safeguarding adults reviews (SARs) have been published since the 

last annual report.  Further details of the reviews, learning from these, and 
actions taken by the Board, are set out in section four of the annual report. In 
summary, recommendations relate to: 

 

 Multiagency working and information sharing - how agencies work 
together to support adults at risk.   

 Identifying and responding to self-neglect and hoarding.  

 Safe discharge from hospitals 

 Carers, including raising awareness of carers rights to a formal carer’s 
assessment.  

 Legal literacy – in particular the application of the Mental Capacity Act 
and Mental Capacity Assessments for individuals who may have 
fluctuating capacity.  

 Working with individuals who are dependent on alcohol or substances. 

 Barriers to engagement - how to work with individuals at risk of harm who 
decline services. 

 Quality of referrals and referral mechanisms - the different ways in which 
concerns are reported to the local authority and the consequences of 
this. 

 Defensible decision making.  
 
 
3. Financial Implications 

 
3.1 The KMSAB Annual Report is funded by the KMSAB. There are no direct 

financial implications for the Kent Health and Wellbeing Board arising from this 
report. 
 
 

4. Conclusions 
 

Page 140



4.1 During 2022-2023, KMSAB and its partner agencies have built on the good 
work from the previous year.  The Board has continued with its scrutiny and 
challenge role and continues to share vital messaging on how to recognise and 
respond to adult safeguarding concerns. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6. Background Documents 

 
6.1 Appendix A. Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2022 

– 2023, which includes the following appendices: 

 Appendix 1 - Annual Report 2022-2023 Data 

 Appendix 2 - Annual Report Partner Highlights 
 
7. Report Author 
 
 Name:   Victoria Widden 
 Job Title:  Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board Manager 

Telephone Number: 03000 416839 
 E-mail address: Victoria.widden@kent.gov.uk 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Recommendation(s): select relevant wording from below: 
 

5.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to CONSIDER and ENDORSE the 
Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report, 2022 – 2023, 
attached as appendix A 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board  

 

 

Annual Report  

 

 

April 2022 – March 2023  

Page 143



2 
 

Table of Contents 
Section 1.  Role of the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board (KMSAB) ...................... 3 

About us ................................................................................................................................. 3 

Our three core duties ..................................................................................................... 3 

Our responsibilities ........................................................................................................ 3 

Board membership ........................................................................................................ 4 

Board structure .............................................................................................................. 5 

Section 2 – 2022 -2025 Strategic Plan .................................................................................... 6 

Development of the strategic plan ................................................................................ 6 

Public Consultation ........................................................................................................ 6 

The Final KMSAB Strategic Plan 2022 – 2025 ................................................................ 8 

Section 3. Priorities and Achievements ............................................................................... 10 

Promote Person Centred Safeguarding ....................................................................... 11 

Strengthen System Assurance ..................................................................................... 15 

Embed Improvement and Shape Future Practice ........................................................ 22 

Section 4. Safeguarding Adults Reviews .................................................................................. 26 

4.1.  Criteria for Conducting a Safeguarding Adults Review ........................................ 26 

4.2.  Purpose of a Safeguarding Adults Review ........................................................... 26 

4.3.  Safeguarding Adults Review Activity ................................................................... 27 

4.4.  Completed Safeguarding Adults Reviews ............................................................ 31 

Glossary of terms ..................................................................................................................... 63 

 

 

  

Page 144



3 
 

Section 1.  Role of the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board (KMSAB) 

About us 
The Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board (KMSAB) is a statutory multi-agency 
partnership which assures adult safeguarding arrangements in Kent and Medway are in 
place and are effective.  We do not provide frontline services but oversee how agencies, 
who have a responsibility for adult safeguarding, coordinate services and work together to 
help keep adults who are, or may be, at risk, safe from harm.  We promote wellbeing, work 
to prevent abuse, neglect and exploitation, and help to protect the rights of the residents of 
Kent and Medway.  Our work also includes the development of multi-agency adult 
safeguarding policies and procedures, providing consistency and setting high safeguarding 
standards, which all our partner agencies sign up to.  

For the purposes of this report the terms ‘Board’ and ‘KMSAB’ will be used interchangeably 
to refer to the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board. 

Our three core duties 
 

The Care Act 2014 requires that the Board: 

• Develop and publish a Strategic Plan to set out our priorities and how these will be 
achieved. 

• Undertake Safeguarding Adults Reviews, where the criteria is met, to establish what 
happened and what we can learn. 

• Produce an Annual Report to detail how we achieved the priorities set out in our 
Strategic Plan. 

Our responsibilities  
In addition to our core duties, our other responsibilities include: 

• Identifying the role, responsibility, authority and accountability with regard to the 
action each agency and professional group should take to ensure the protection of 
adults. 

• Assuring safeguarding practice continuously improves, to bring about better 
outcomes for those experiencing, or at risk of, abuse, ensuring that we make 
safeguarding person centred and outcome focused. 

• Promoting multi-agency training, considering any specialist training that may be 
required, and identifying mechanisms for monitoring and reviewing the 
implementation and impact of training. 

• Holding partners to account to gain assurance that effective safeguarding 
arrangements are in place. 

• Producing multi-agency policies, procedures and strategies for protecting adults and 
monitoring their impact. 

• Working collaboratively, and with effective governance, to promote wellbeing and 
prevent abuse and neglect. 

• Establishing ways to analyse and interrogate data on safeguarding notifications to 
increase our understanding of prevalence of abuse and neglect. 

Page 145



4 
 

• Identifying circumstances that give grounds for concern and deciding when they 
should be considered as an enquiry to the local authority. 

• Developing strategies to deal with the impact of issues of race, ethnicity, religion, 
gender and gender orientation, sexual orientation, age, disadvantage and disability 
on abuse and neglect. 

• Formulating guidance about the arrangements for managing adult safeguarding, and 
dealing with complaints, grievances and professional and administrative malpractice 
in relation to safeguarding adults. 

• Evidencing how KMSAB members have challenged one another and held other 
boards to account. 

• Balancing the requirements of confidentiality with the consideration that, to protect 
adults, it may be necessary to share information on a ‘need-to-know basis’. 

• Determining arrangements for peer review and self-audit. 
 

Board membership 

Independent Chair:  Andrew Rabey 

Statutory Partners:  Kent County Council 
Medway Council 
Kent and Medway Integrated Care System 
Kent Police 

 
Other partner agencies:  Advocacy People  

Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust 
Department of Work and Pensions 
12 District and Borough Councils across Kent 
East Kent Hospitals University NHS Foundation Trust 
HM Prison Service 
Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care Partnership Trust 
Kent and Medway Healthwatch 
Kent Community Health NHS Foundation Trust 
Kent Fire & Rescue Service 
Kent Integrated Care Alliance 
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 
Medway Community Healthcare 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust 
Probation Service 
NHS England 
Rapport Housing and Care (now Town and Country Housing) 
South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
HCRG Care Group (formerly Virgin Health Care) 

Engagement is not limited to the agencies listed above.  We are committed to inviting 
contributions from other organisations and groups across Kent and Medway, such as faith 
groups and groups for people with lived experience. 

Page 146



5 
 

Board structure  
 

Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board – Executive Group 
 
Delivers the responsibilities as set out on page 3 and 4. 

 

Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board – Business Group  
 
Responsibilities: 
• Hold the Working Groups to account for the delivery of the strategic plan and their 

annual work plans, by scrutinising update reports, monitoring progress and identifying 
and addressing gaps or risks. 

• Accountable for decision making to implement the Strategic Plan and work plans. 
• Receive update reports from other partners and other Boards to share learning and 

identify development areas. 
• Make recommendations to the Board where decisions require higher level scrutiny and 

or agreement, or if there are likely to be budget implications. 
 

Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board – Working Groups (WG) 
 
Communications 
and Engagement 
(CEWG) 

Develops and updates the Board’s communication strategy, for 
partner organisations to implement. The purpose is to raise 
awareness of the work of the Board, and wider adult safeguarding 
issues, both within organisations and with the residents of Kent and 
Medway, to incite change, improve practice and prevent abuse. 

Learning and 
Development 
(LDWG) 

Co-ordinates the commissioning, delivery and evaluation of the 
Board’s multi-agency safeguarding adults training programme.  

Practice, Policy 
and Procedures 
(PPPWG) 
 

Develops, reviews, and updates the Board’s policies and procedures, 
in line with changes in legislation, guidance and good practice 
identified through safeguarding adult reviews, research, audit, 
practice, performance monitoring and feedback from practitioners or 
those with lived experience. 

Quality Assurance 
(QAWG) 

Designs and co-ordinates quality assurance activity to evaluate the 
effectiveness of the work of all KMSAB’s partner agencies, to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of adults at risk of abuse or 
neglect.  

Joint Exploitation 
(JEG) 

This is a joint group with Kent’s and Medway’s Safeguarding Children 
Multi-Agency Partnerships.  It oversees activity around; sexual 
exploitation, gangs/county lines, human trafficking/modern slavery, 
online safeguarding and radicalisation/extremism, to understand 
current trends and to protect and safeguard the welfare of children 
and adults at risk. 

Safeguarding 
Adults Review 
(SARWG) 

Delivers the Board’s statutory responsibility to conduct Safeguarding 
Adults Reviews and holds agencies to account for improvement in 
practice.   

Page 147



6 
 

The terms of reference and membership for each group are reviewed annually, and can be 
found on the KMSAB Website.  

We work closely with other strategic groups and partnerships, such as local Safeguarding 
Children Partnerships, Community Safety Partnerships and Health and Wellbeing Boards, to 
ensure key priorities are shared, to promote efficiency, encourage joint working and reduce 
duplication.  
 

Our Board is supported by the KMSAB Business Unit 

 

Section 2 – 2022 -2025 Strategic Plan 
 

Development of the strategic plan 
In accordance with the Care Act 2014, Safeguarding Adults Board’s must produce a Strategic 
Plan which sets out how the Board and partner agencies will prevent adults with care and 
support needs from the risk of abuse, or neglect and support and promote their wellbeing.  

 
During 2022 Members of the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board drafted the 
Strategic Plan 2022 - 2025, having used evidence and intelligence to identify the key 
priorities.  The Board then sought to consult on the Strategic Plan to ensure that it fulfilled 
the statutory duty, met the needs and expectations of Kent and Medway residents, and 
promoted a partnership approach to the delivery of the Plan. 
 

Public Consultation 
Prior to the consultation starting, the Board’s communication and engagement working 
group was consulted, and the Board Business Unit worked closely with the KCC consultation 
team, to identify and develop appropriate tools to support the consultation. 
 

The key stakeholders identified were: 
All residents of Kent and Medway, in particular: 

• people with a lived experience of adult safeguarding 
• Carers groups and organisations 
• Voluntary and community sector 
• Faith groups 
• Groups supporting people with physical and mental health disabilities. 
• Board partner agencies  

 
The following tools were developed to support the consultation: 
 

Resource Detail 
Strategic Plan 2022 – 2025 
Consultation document  

The KMSAB Strategic Plan for 2022 – 2025 and 
supporting documentation were made available online 
and as a Word document. 

Page 148

https://kmsab.org.uk/p/about-kmsab-1/kent-and-medway-safeguarding-adults-board


7 
 

Easy read KMSAB Strategic Plan 
2022 – 2025  

An easy read version of the plan and supporting 
questionnaire were developed by a specialist 
organisation, this included testing of the document by 
user groups. 

Large print  All consultation material was made available in large 
print versions. 

Social media content plan and 
graphics  

A social media content plan and assisting graphics were 
developed to raise awareness of the consultation on 
agencies’ social media channels. 

Guided discussion document  The guided discussion tool was developed for partner 
organisations to use in meetings, public engagement 
events, advisory groups and user forums, to facilitate a 
discussion and gather feedback on the Strategic Plan. 
Board members were asked to add the KMSAB strategic 
plan to the agenda of relevant meetings taking place 
during the consultation period and utilise the tool to 
collate feedback.  

Posters Posters promoting the consultation were designed for 
partner organisations to print and display in public facing 
spaces, in accordance with their agencies’ policies on 
this, such as infection control.  

Introductory video by the 
Independent Chair of the KMSAB 

The Independent Chair of the Board, Andy Rabey, 
produced a brief video message to introduce the 
Strategic Plan and encourage people to complete the 
consultation questionnaire.  

 
The consultation was live for a period of eight weeks, taking place between 26 April to 20 
June 2022. All consultation material was shared with partner agencies for onward 
dissemination. Regular reminders were circulated by email as well as at Board and working 
group meetings. Additionally, details of the consultation were included in the Board’s 
newsletter, which has a distribution list of approximately 350 individuals.  The newsletter is 
also further disseminated by those receiving it. Other promotional activity included: 

• An invite to engage with the consultation was sent to individuals registered with the 
engagement platform, who expressed an interest in Adult Social Care, Community 
Safety, Public Health and Wellbeing and General interest (6,309 individuals) 

• A press release 
• A promotional banner on kent.gov and Let’s talk Kent homepage. 

 
It was identified that the subject matter could be difficult and emotionally triggering for 
some people to talk about and that some individuals may not be able to access documents 
online. To help counter this, partner agencies were asked to identify and facilitate 
discussions with individuals/groups that they work with, and/or their staff groups. A guided 
discussion document was developed to support these conversations and to provide 
consistency. 

 

Page 149



8 
 

There were 973 total visits to the consultation webpage with 747 of these being unique 
visitors to the webpage. There were 409 document downloads from the consultation 
webpage in total. The table below highlights the number of downloads of each resource 
from Let’s talk Kent.  

 
Table 1. Downloads of each resource  
 Engagement Tool Visitors Downloads/views 
Strategic Plan Document 260 364 
Consultation Questionnaire - Word version 15 21 
Equality Impact Assessment 9 9 
Equality Impact Assessment Supporting information 6 8 
KMSAB draft Strategic Plan - Easy Read 3 3 
Equality Impact Assessment Supporting information - 
Large Print 

2 4 

Andy Rabey introducing the KMSAB Strategic Plan 
Consultation 

48 48 

Total 343 457 
 

A total of 67 consultation responses were received. In addition, four completed guided 
discussion documents were submitted, with a total number of 60 individuals consulted by 
this method. Bringing the total number of respondents to 127.  The full consultation report 
is available on this link.  For comparison, the consultation on the 2019-2021 Strategic plan 
elicited 28 responses.  
 

The Final KMSAB Strategic Plan 2022 – 2025 
The final strategic plan, and easy read version are available here.  The plan includes: 

The operating environment 

This section sets out the national and local context which influences and impacts on the 
work of the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board and its partner agencies. These 
include, legal, regulatory, policy and financial factors.  

Our vision 

The agreed vision is to “Protect and prevent adults with care and support needs from the 
risk of abuse, or neglect; supporting and promoting their wellbeing, with all partners 
working together effectively, ensuring that the safeguarding system is always improving 
through learning”. 

The Board at a glance. 

This section sets out the Board arrangements, including the purpose, membership and 
working groups. 

Approach to partnership working 

Page 150

https://letstalk.kent.gov.uk/safeguarding-adults-board-plan
https://kmsab.org.uk/p/about-kmsab-1/annual-report-and-strategic-plan


9 
 

This section sets out the ‘three lines of defence model’ which the Board works to. It places 
an emphasis on the organisational operational management responsibilities, as distinct from 
the strategic multi-agency safeguarding accountabilities. 

• Tier 1 – Operational – The operational delivery of safeguarding activity sits with each 
organisation, as the 1st tier. That is, the expectation that each organisation will meet 
the various requirements placed on them by relevant laws, regulations, guidance, 
and professional standards connected with the exercise of their own responsibilities 
and accountabilities, alongside their own assurance arrangements. 
 

• Tier 2 – Board/System - The effectiveness of the overall safeguarding system in 
protecting adults at risk of abuse or neglect, is the collective responsibility of all 
partners through the Board, informed by the principle of collaborative working. 
 

• Tier 3 – Independent Assurance –scrutiny from relevant independent regulatory or 
statutory bodies (such as the Care Quality Commission, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate 
of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services’ (HMICFRS), Office for Standard in 
Education (OFSTED), Healthwatch, NHS England NHS Improvement). 

 

Top three priorities 

1. Promoting Person Centred Safeguarding – putting adults at the centre of our work 
2. Strengthening system assurance – checking that organisations are working well 

together to support adults 
3. Embedding improvements and shaping future practice – helping the organisations 

we work with to keep getting better  
 

Objectives 

The strategic plan lists 14 objectives which detail how the Board plans to deliver the three 
priorities between 2022-2025.  

Promoting 
Person Centred 
Safeguarding 

1. Raise awareness of adult safeguarding to ensure that people 
understand what abuse is, how to recognise the signs and how to 
seek help. 

2. Enable residents of Kent and Medway to voice their opinions on the 
work of the Board.  

3. Ensure the voice of the person (or their representative) who has been 
involved with our safeguarding system is heard in respect of their 
safeguarding experience.  

4. Seek assurance that each partner agency’s workforce demonstrates 
‘professional curiosity and has processes in place to allow them to 
reflect on their practice and receive appropriate supervision. 

Strengthening 
system 
assurance 

5. Establish a mechanism to identify system issues and risks to provide 
assurance to Kent and Medway residents that effective safeguarding 
arrangements are in place. 

6. Improving public understanding of the roles and responsibilities of 
partners. 

Page 151



10 
 

7. Improving interagency understanding of the roles and responsibilities 
of other partner organisations. 

8. Agencies discharging their respective responsibilities to safeguard 
people. 

9. Ensure effective Board to Board/Partnership arrangements. 
10. Ensure an effective functioning Board with appropriate support 

structures. 
Embedding 
improvements 
and shaping 
future practice 

11. The voice of the person is listened to, and there is evidence their 
wishes are respected. 

12. Learn from experience and have a workforce that is knowledgeable 
and confident in the application of their safeguarding adults roles and 
responsibilities.  

13. Develop the right balance between support and challenge, aimed at 
system improvement. 

14. Partners will be able to contribute to safeguarding at regional and 
national level. 

 

Included in the strategic plan is a list of the actions that will be taken, over the coming years, 
to meet the objectives and key indicators of success and impact.   

The final section sets out the Board’s communication and engagement principles. 

Section 3. Priorities and Achievements  
This section details how we delivered against our new strategic priorities for 2022 – 2023.  It 
is recognised that activity can cut across more than one priority. 

  

Page 152



11 
 

Promote Person Centred Safeguarding – What we achieved:  

National 
Safeguarding 
Adults 
Awareness Week 

• Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board members supported National Safeguarding Adults’ Awareness Week, 
established by the Ann Craft Trust.  The purpose of the week was to share messages with the public on how to recognise 
and report abuse and neglect, and to highlight the support and services available for those at risk or experiencing abuse.  

• The safeguarding issues highlighted through the week were: 
o Exploitation and county lines 
o Self-neglect 
o Creating safer organisational cultures 
o Elder abuse 
o Domestic abuse in a ‘tech-society’ 
o Safeguarding in everyday life 

More information on these themes is available here. 
 

• To support agencies in promoting the week, the Board’s communication and engagement working group developed a 
social media package and a toolkit of awareness raising materials.  

• KMSAB partner agencies participated in the week by sharing the social media messaging and hosting events within their 
agencies. 

• The Kent Community Safety team hosted an online seminar exploring the theme of harmful practices and cultural 
competency, over 160 people attended with 96% of respondents rating it as excellent, very good or good. 

• Public facing events included attendance at coffee mornings, one stop shops, community centres and information stands 
at supermarkets and shopping centres. 

• There were 3524 visits to the KMSAB webpages during the week, with 1147 clicks to the “worried about and adult?’ pages for the 
public. This included 191 views to the ‘report abuse’ page and 956 visits to the ‘useful resources for the public’ page. 896 views 
were received on Tuesday 22 November, the theme of this day was ‘self-neglect’. This was the highest number of views per day, of 
the week. 

KMSAB Open 
Session on 
Predatory 
Marriage  

• As part of Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week, the KMSAB hosted an open session on Predatory Marriage, led by Daphne Franks, 
who has lived experience of the issue. Attendance included representatives from the Kent and Medway registrar services.  

• Feedback included: “I just wanted to say how interesting and thought provoking the event for Predatory Marriage was 
yesterday evening.  The work that Daphne Franks has undertaken is inspirational and I would like to promote further 
within KCC to continue to raise awareness.” “Just a quick email to say thanks to you and the Board for the event last night 

P
age 153

https://www.anncrafttrust.org/
https://www.anncrafttrust.org/safeguarding-adults-week-2022-responding-to-contemporary-safeguarding-challenges/
https://www.predatorymarriage.uk/


12 
 

regarding “Predatory Marriage”. The lived experience of Daphne and her family was heart-breaking to hear, and I am glad to know 
that the law has moved on a little in the last 10 years and the knowledge around complex capacity questions is spoken about more 
often.  I will be looking to produce a small information precis of the event for internal circulation.”  

• Following the event, the Board shared a 7 minute briefing on the subject, and added the information to the newsletter, 
to support agencies in disseminating the message. 

• The Manager of the KCC Registrar service advised that Daphne’s presentation has been shared with the Kent registrars 
and is now embedded within their training.  

Response to 
Homes for 
Ukraine Scheme 

• We commissioned a translation of our ‘Adult abuse and what to do about it’ leaflet into Ukrainian. This was completed 
and made available on the KMSAB website in April 2022. In addition, hard copies of the leaflet were printed so that these 
could be shared at events and with agencies who requested them. Activity to promote the leaflet was listed in the 
KMSAB Annual report for 2021/2022. 

• Additionally, the leaflet was used and adapted by other Boards and partnerships such as Oldham SAB and Shropshire 
Safeguarding Community Partnership. 

• The Communication and Engagement working group developed a social media content plan to share messaging, in 
Ukrainian, on how to recognise and report abuse. An example post: 
 

 
 

• The KMSAB Business Unit attended an information event, hosted by the charity 'Medway Help for Ukrainians', where 
the Ukrainian KMSAB leaflet was shared to provide information on how to recognise and report abuse to Ukrainian 
nationals and their hosts. 
 

P
age 154

https://kmsab.org.uk/p/worried-about-an-adult/useful-resources-for-the-public


13 
 

Translated 
leaflets 

• The KMSAB is committed to having its information leaflet, on how to recognise and respond to abuse, available in all the 
languages which are most commonly spoken in Kent and Medway.  

• During 2022-2023, agencies were consulted and advised that the following languages were required: 
o Dari, Pashto, Lithuanian, Arabic, Tamil, Albanian and Kurdish   

• Translations were commissioned and the leaflets were shared with partners, made available on the KMSAB website and 
promoted through the newsletter and at events.   

• The leaflet is currently available in English, Easy Read, British Sign Language Accessible and 26 other languages.  
Engagement 
with local 
communities 

• During 2022/2023, a brief article, titled “Are you concerned about an adult?”, continued to be included in every edition 
of Medway Matters, a community magazine delivered to 120,000 homes across Medway.  

• Members of KMSAB and the Business Unit hosted a stand at the Kent Police Open Day on 3 July, where 10,000 members 
of the public were in attendance. The aim was to speak to members of the public, share safeguarding resources and 
raise awareness of how to recognise and respond to adult safeguarding concerns. Approximately 1000 people visited the 
stand and engaged with the facilitators.  Highlights of the website data, following the event, include: 

o 241% increase in views to the KMSAB website during July 
o All pages received an increase in visits 
o 175% increase in visits to the ‘useful resources for the public page’ (435 from 158) 
o Report abuse for public saw 249% increase for the rest of July (412 from 118) 

• As part of their work, the Independent Chair of the Board, Board Manager and the Board’s Business Development and 
Engagement Officer, continued to hold introductory sessions with charities, voluntary sector and other community 
leads. This also includes meetings with advocacy leads, faith leaders, homeless services, the prison service and 
organisations representing people with lived experience.  

• The Independent Chair of the Board volunteers as a member of the diocese safeguarding advisory panel, their role is to 
support and advise the diocese of Rochester on safeguarding for their congregation and wider membership. 

• Safety in Action Day - The Medway Task Force held a Safety in Action Day on Sunday 24th July at the Chatham Dockyard 
in Medway. The event was aimed at members of the public to share the work that agencies are doing to protect the 
community. The Kent Fraud Protect and Prevent team attended a stall to share advice on how to protect themselves 
from fraud, along with information on how to recognise the signs of abuse and how to report concerns. 

• Members of the KMSAB Communications and Engagement Working Group and the Business Unit occupied a stand at the 
Ashford College Freshers Fayre, to speak to young adults about the signs of abuse and how they can report it. During this 
time, information was shared with trainee nurses, social workers and people from Ukraine who are now living in Kent 

P
age 155

https://kmsab.org.uk/p/worried-about-an-adult/useful-resources-for-the-public


14 
 

Meetings with 
Healthwatch 

• In addition to attending Board meetings, Healthwatch leads met with the Independent Chair of the Board and the Board 
Manager regularly throughout the year.  These meetings provide the opportunity for Healthwatch to provide insights into 
information that they have received on key areas of safeguarding.  

• It was agreed that Healthwatch would analyse feedback in relation to specific themes identified in SARs, and emerging 
issues.  The first thematic analysis was in relation to people’s experiences of NHS hospital discharge from 1 December 2021 
to 30 November 2022.  

Promotion of 
Communication 
and Engagement 
Toolkit 

• To support Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week, and to enable agencies to raise awareness of adult safeguarding 
throughout the year, the Communications and Engagement Working Group continued to update and promote their 
Communications toolkit.  This included posters, social media graphics, signature banners and video files (short graphics used 
on social media to catch attention). The toolkit was added to the KMSAB website to enable all agencies and stakeholders to 
access the content.   

Support for 
Carers Week 

• As support for carers and carers stress was identified as a theme in Safeguarding Adults Reviews and Domestic Homicide 
Reviews, the Communication and Engagement Working Group produced materials to support the ‘national carers week’ 
campaign. These were shared by KMSAB partner agencies. Following the campaign, there was an increase in visits to the 
KMSAB webpages: 

Carers Week 2022 (6-12 June 2022) 
o The ‘support for young carers’ page saw a 109% increase from May-June 
o The ‘support for carers’ page saw a 54% increase from May – June 
o The ‘useful links and resources for carers’ page saw a decrease of 70% in views from May-June but a 55% increase from 

June to July.  
o Although there was a decrease to the ‘useful links and resources for carers’ page from May-June, there was a 2206% 

increase to the Carers Week 2022 information during the same time frame, with a total of 1314 views. 
Consultation on 
the Board’s 
Strategic Plan  

• As detailed in section 2 of this report, the KMSAB ran a 6 week consultation, seeking feedback on the Board’s Strategic Plan 
to ensure that it fulfilled the statutory duty, met the needs and expectations of Kent and Medway residents, and promoted a 
partnership approach to the delivery of the Plan. 

Family 
Involvement in 
Safeguarding 
Adults Reviews 

• The KMSAB is committed to involving individuals, their representatives, family members and friends when undertaking 
safeguarding adults reviews, to gain an understanding of their experiences and views of safeguarding. At each terms of 
reference meeting, SAR panel members will determine who should be contacted to be involved in the review, how to 
facilitate this contact, and what support may be required to enable them to contribute.  It is only in exceptional 
circumstances, for example, where there are no next of kin details, where no contact is attempted.  Of the SARs published 

P
age 156

https://kmsab.org.uk/p/professionals/awareness-raising-resources


15 
 

since the last annual report, detailed in section 4, 50% included the views of the individual or those close to them. It is 
important to recognise that whilst every effort is made to approach the subject sensitively and supportively, some 
individuals indicate that they do not want to be involved, and their wishes are respected. 

• The SAR information leaflet for individuals, families, friends and carers, which details the review process, was updated 
during 2022, to incorporate different SAR methodologies. 

Tricky friends 
Animation 

• The KMSAB adapted Norfolk’s Tricky Friends animation which was designed to help people to understand what good 
friendships are, when they might be harmful, and what action they can take if they have concerns.  The animation is also 
available in British sign Language. 

Advocacy People 
– development 
of a citizens 
panel 

• The Advocacy People launched a campaign to find people with lived experience of adult safeguarding, to share their stories, 
and contribute to creating a new approach to safeguarding. The aim of the project was to draw on individual’s experiences 
and use this to inform the work of the Board.   Unfortunately, despite much promotion, no individuals offered to take part in 
the panel.  Subsequently, the KMSAB members agreed to continue to make use of existing forums to seek the views of 
people with lived experience of safeguarding. 

Culturally 
Competent 
Practice  
 

• Members of the KMSAB raised awareness of culturally competent practice. This was supported by the training provider, who 
ensured that this was reflected in training modules. 

• The update of the KMSAB’s main policy document included a new section on culturally competent practice, which 
referenced supporting resources. 

Small Concertina 
Awareness 
Raising Leaflets  

• Practitioners advised that they would benefit from a credit card sized concertina leaflet setting out how to respond to adult 
safeguarding concerns, which they could share with members of the public. The communications and engagement working 
group members agreed the content for the leaflet. The Board business unit sought funding, from the KCC Community Safety 
Unit, for the design and printing of 2000 copies. 

 
  
Strengthen System Assurance 

What we achieved: 

Quality assurance 
framework 

• During 2022-2023, Quality Assurance Working Group (QAWG) members continued to implement the quality assurance 
framework, which sets out the methods and tools used to measure effectiveness of partners’ safeguarding activity.   
 

P
age 157

https://kmsab.org.uk/p/worried-about-an-adult/useful-resources-for-the-public


16 
 

Self-Assessment 
Framework 

• One of the quality assurance tools is the ‘self-assessment framework’ (SAF). All agencies represented on the Board are 
asked to complete an annual SAF, a series of questions to measure progress against key quality standards.  The purpose is 
to enable them to evaluate the effectiveness of their internal safeguarding arrangements and identify and prioritise areas 
needing further development. 

• To allow agencies time to undertake any improvement activity to meet any standards rated red or amber, it was agreed 
that the ‘full SAF’, which was last issued in 2021, would be completed every two years. A shorter, thematic SAF would be 
completed in the intervening years, with a focus on measuring the impact of learning from safeguarding adult reviews and 
other priorities identified by the Board. 

• The 2022 thematic SAF focused on the following priority standards: 
o Legal literacy 

 The agency/organisation ensures that staff are aware of their legal responsibilities and powers to safeguard 
adults. 

 Relevant staff working with adults at risk are aware of the legal powers of intervention (as referenced in the 
KMSAB self-neglect policy) and how and when to apply them. This includes Inherent Jurisdiction. 

 Consent is sought from the individual (where it is safe to do so) before a referral is made to adult 
safeguarding. Decisions on consent are well documented. 

 Relevant staff working with adults at risk are aware of the Mental Capacity Act and how and when to apply 
it. Decision making is recorded appropriately. 

 Decision making in relation to adult safeguarding is clearly recorded, justified and proportionate. 
o Self-Neglect  

 The agency / organisation raises awareness of the ’Kent and Medway Multi Agency Policy and Procedures to 
Support People that Self-Neglect or Demonstrate Hoarding Behaviour’, to relevant staff. 

 Employees/Staff /Volunteers within the agency/ organisation are implementing the ‘Kent and Medway Multi 
Agency Policy and Procedures to Support People that Self-Neglect or Demonstrate Hoarding Behaviour’ 
appropriately, effectively and in a timely manner. 

 The organisation provides clear information to those at risk of self-neglect and/or hoarding regarding the 
support that can be provided. 

 The communication needs of individuals are taken into account when engaging with them. 
o Person centred Practice 

 Making Safeguarding Personal is understood and applied within safeguarding practice. The individual or 

P
age 158



17 
 

their advocate is involved throughout. If this has not been possible, the reasons are clearly documented. 
 The 'think family' approach is applied when working with individuals. Think Family is an approach to help 

practitioners consider the parent, the child and the family as a whole when assessing the needs of 
individuals and when planning care packages and or/support. 

o Embedding learning from safeguarding adults reviews 
 Learning from relevant reviews is shared with staff and there is a mechanism in place to measure the impact 

of this on practice/increase in knowledge. 
 For agencies involved in hospital discharge arrangements. Discharge pathways (including discharge to 

assess) ensure the safe transition between inpatient hospital settings and community or care home settings 
for adults with social care needs. Due consideration is given to adult safeguarding within this. There are 
means of assessing whether the plan is being delivered or whether a review is required. 

 Staff are aware of the legal basis for sharing information and are confident in applying this to safeguarding 
adults. 

• To support the launch of the SAF, the Board manager hosted a briefing session for agencies.  The session covered how to 
complete the SAF, the rationale for the standards, and provided an opportunity for questions and peer support. 

• Agencies were required to assess how well their organisation was achieving each standard/requirement, using a red, 
amber, green (RAG) rating.  They were also required to provide supporting evidence and complete an action plan for any 
requirements graded red or amber, detailing how compliance would be achieved. Outstanding actions were monitored by 
the QAWG, with regular reporting to the Business Group. 

• To help mitigate against different interpretation of requirements, to instil more rigor in the process and to ensure greater 
consistency, agency leads were required to present their completed SAF analyses and evidence to a panel of ‘peer’ 
reviewers. 

• Of the 406 standards (291 agencies x 14 standards) initial returns indicated a 76% achievement rating (green), with 23% 
rated amber and 1% red. Following the peer-review, there was a 73% achievement rating (green), with 27% rated amber 
and .2% rated red.   

• The difference between agency’s gradings and peer review ratings can mostly be attributed to; differing thresholds, the 
peer review panel requiring more evidence, or agencies considering a standard was not applicable, which the panel felt was 
applicable. 

 
1 Although 30 agencies were asked to complete the SAF, one submission was delayed and therefore is not included in these figures. 

P
age 159



18 
 

• By June 20232 there was an 87% completion rate, with 13% (54) requirements remaining amber. Members of the QAWG 
will continue to receive updates until the standards are met. If the standards are not met after 18 months, the Independent 
Chair of the Board will escalate with the relevant agency leads.   

Roles and 
responsibilities 

• A referral is the gateway into a service that a professional or the individual has identified that they need. A referral without 
the right information can result in time wasted, health and/or social care needs deterioration, reactive escalation and most 
importantly the right support not being offered. In response to learning from SAR referrals and reviews, members of the 
Safeguarding Adults Review Working Group developed a guide for practitioners, setting out  what makes a good 
referral and the key points that need to be considered when completing a referral for a service.  

• The KMSAB partnered with the training provider, DCC-I, to create an introductory e-learning module. The module provided 
a basic introduction to topics such as the Care Act 2014, safeguarding principles, the well-being principle, and the Mental 
Capacity Act. The training was publicised and made available on the KMSAB website. 

• The KMSAB promoted and raised awareness of the “Safeguarding Adults, roles and responsibilities in health and care 
services” guide. The guide was created by the Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS), the Local Government Association, 
NHS England, the Care Quality Commission and the Association of Chief Police Officers.  The document provides clarity on 
the roles and responsibilities of the key agencies involved in adult safeguarding. The aim is to ensure that the right things 
are done by the right people at the right time, by working within their own agency and with partners.  

• The need for robust record keeping, to evidence defensible decision making, is a feature of many safeguarding adults 
reviews, without this it can be hard for those involved in the review to evidence what actions were taken and the rationale 
for these. The KMSAB continued to raise awareness of the significance of good record keeping, including sharing this 
document produced by the social care institute of excellence. As detailed in the section above, defensible decision making 
formed part of the 2022 SAF, to measure how agencies were embedding this learning.  

• During 2022, Kent County Council ended their consultation process for adult safeguarding, which offered partner agencies 
the opportunity to discuss safeguarding concerns and issues with the local authority to assist them in making the decision 
on whether to submit a safeguarding concern form. Instead, agencies were encouraged to consult with their safeguarding 
leads, as was the established process in Medway.  To support the change, the KMSAB promoted the national guidance on 
“Understanding what constitutes a safeguarding concern”. The aims of this framework are to support a whole range of 
sectors and organisations in making appropriate referrals of concerns to adult social care, by promoting a consistent and 
shared understanding of what constitutes a safeguarding adults concern. Legal literacy was measured in the 2022 SAF. 

 
2 All 30 agencies had completed their SAF by this time.  

P
age 160

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/why_the_content_of_any_referral_is_so_important.pdf
https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/why_the_content_of_any_referral_is_so_important.pdf
https://www.kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/KMSAB_Elearning_Principles_Module_FINAL_(2)/res/index.html
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/safeguarding-adults-roles-3e9.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/safeguarding-adults-roles-3e9.pdf
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.scie.org.uk%2Fcare-providers%2Frecording%23top-tips&data=05%7C01%7CNiamh.Sheridan%40kent.gov.uk%7C8f53488d074440317c8c08dace3b218c%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C638049050612625645%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Jgg3U%2FF0Map4OgJWxNHtZXAq3MF5V5vWSBGIIHBt5Hg%3D&reserved=0
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/understanding-what-constitutes-safeguarding-concern-and-how-support-effective-outcomes


19 
 

• Analysis of the 2021 self-assessment framework responses identified that not all agencies were clear on the different types 
of statutory advocacy services available to support individuals across Kent and Medway. In response to this, the Advocacy 
People developed a flowchart setting out the process for statutory advocacy for Independent Mental Capacity Advocates 
(IMCA), Independent Care Act Advocates (ICAA) and Independent Mental Health Advocates (IMHA). An open session was 
also arranged by the Board business unit, offering an introduction to the advocacy offer and the opportunity to ask 
questions. Subsequently, there was an increase in the number of agencies that were able to demonstrate that they had 
achieved a green rating for this standard. 

Agency Audits • As part of the Board’s Quality Assurance Framework, agencies are asked to present relevant audit activity and findings to 
the quality assurance working group, to provide assurance and inform future KMSAB activity. During 2022-2023 the 
following audits were presented: 

o Medway Community Healthcare – Mental Capacity Assessment Audit 
o Medway Foundation Trust –LeDeR audit 

Joint SARs and 
DHRs 

• Within Kent and Medway, the responsibility for undertaking Domestic Homicide reviews, where the criteria is met, sits with 
the community safety partnership (CSP). Where it is expected that a referral may meet the criteria for both a SAR and a 
DHR, the KMSAB business unit and the CSP team liaise closely with each other. If the criteria is met for both reviews then a 
joint SAR/DHR is commissioned. To date, 3 joint reviews have been commissioned, of these, the Board led two reviews and 
the CSP led one.  

• The commissioning of joint reviews is not only cost effective, but also facilitates stronger partnership working and 
understanding.  

• Where a safeguarding adults review involves an individual who was known to children’s services, then the children’s 
partnerships (Kent or Medway) in addition to the respective agencies, will be invited to contribute to the review. This 
allows for a holistic, person centred review and for learning to be shared across the partnerships in a timely way.   

Legal basis for 
sharing 
information  

• To support agencies in delivering their statutory duties, and to address findings from safeguarding adults reviews, the 
KMSAB produced and promoted a short guide on “the legal basis for sharing information”. This was an extract of guidance 
developed by London ADASS.   

• To ensure that this information was embedded, the 2022 self-assessment framework included the following standard, 
“Staff are aware of the legal basis for sharing information and are confident in applying this to safeguarding adults.” 

Annual Agency 
reports 

• All KMSAB partner agencies are required to complete an annual agency report to provide examples of how they have 
delivered the Board’s three priorities over the previous 12 months. The report also provides the opportunity to highlight 
safeguarding priorities and any areas of challenge.   

P
age 161

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/kmsab_quick_guide_to_information_sharing.pdf


20 
 

• A total of 28 responses were submitted. These reports were peer reviewed by the quality assurance working group.  
Members reviewed the submissions, highlighting areas for clarification, good practice, and any areas of concern to be 
raised to the Board. Appendix 2 provides some examples of good practice from the responses received. 

Effective Board to 
Board/Partnership 
arrangements 
 

• Monthly meetings take place between the Managers of the following partnerships: 
o Community Safety Partnership 
o Kent Safeguarding Children Multi-Agency Partnership 
o Medway Safeguarding Children Partnership 
o Domestic Abuse Partnership 
o KMSAB 

• The meetings provide an opportunity for peer support and to share good practice, priorities, key learning, and intelligence. 
This information is then triangulated to identify areas for joint working. It allows for the sharing of resources and messages 
across the partnerships, to ensure consistency and reduce duplication. 

• Update reports from the Kent and Medway Health and Wellbeing Boards, Community Safety Partnerships and 
Safeguarding children’s partnerships are received by the Business Group.  The purpose of this is to share learning and 
identify areas for joint working and development. 

• The Joint Exploitation Working Group is a joint subgroup of the Medway Safeguarding Children Partnership (MSCP) and the 
Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board (KMSAB). Both Kent and Medway Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) and 
the Kent Safeguarding Children Multi Agency Partnership (KSCMP) are also part of the group. It is a well-attended meeting, 
the areas of work overseen by the group are set out in section 1 of this report.   

• In 2022, the JEG introduced a quarterly contextual safeguarding report, covering both Kent and Medway, which informs 
partners of any patterns and trends covering issues such as emotional well-being, domestic abuse, missing children, county 
lines and serious youth violence.  Members provide updates on how they use this information to keep practitioners 
informed on the changing picture of contextual risks and to understand how partners are mitigating these.  

Escalation policy • Members of the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board are clear that whenever a practitioner, agency or service has 
a concern about the action or inaction of another, this must be addressed, and any challenges conducted in a professional 
and respectful manner.  

• During 2022 the Board’s escalation policy was reviewed, updated, and shared with practitioners. The 2023 SAF will include 
a standard to measure how this has been embedded in practice.  

KMSAB Executive 
Meetings 

• The Board Executive Membership met on 4 occasions in 2022-2023. In addition to the standard business items, under their 
responsibility to ensure that safeguarding adults arrangements and governance across agencies are fit for purpose, and to 

P
age 162

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/appendix_two__kmsab_annual_report_2022-2023_-partner_highlights.pdf


21 
 

share good practice, the Board received presentations in relation to: 
o Tackling violence against women and girls strategy 
o Review of safeguarding processes – East Kent Hospitals University Foundation Trust 
o Section 42 referral process and adult social care restructure – KCC 
o NHS safe and wellbeing review programme 
o Impact of cost of living pressures and safeguarding 
o ICB strategic plan 
o Suicide thematic review 
o Roles and responsibilities 
o Serious violence duty 
o Care Quality Commission – Assessment framework for local authority assurance 

• In addition to the executive meetings, the statutory members of the Board met on 2 occasions to discuss resourcing and 
KMSAB priorities.  

New SAR policy • The Board’s safeguarding adults review (SAR) policy was completely re-drafted to incorporate different methodologies for 
undertaking reviews. The revised document followed the format of the Board’s main policy document, with sections for 
policy, protocols and guidance, it was also cross referenced against the national SAR quality markers. The updated policy 
has been well received by all agencies and adds greater consistency and rigor to all stages of the SAR process.  

• Supporting documents, such as the SAR referral form and summary of agency involvement forms were also revised to 
ensure that they provided the most relevant information to support decision making and to identify key learning.  

• The revised policy and supporting documents are available on the Board’s website.  
Prevent Duty • The KCC and Medway Prevent team deal with Prevent/Channel referrals and deliver extensive work to prevent 

radicalisation across Kent and Medway as part of the UK counter terrorism strategy CONTEST. Innovative work is being 
delivered in relation to the threat of online extremism, providing support to adults, parents, carers and individuals who 
have been identified as being vulnerable to radicalisation. This includes delivering Prevent training to KMSAB partners, 
ensuring that organisations understand new and emerging threats.  

• The Kent and Medway Prevent Duty Delivery Board provides the strategic oversight across our area. Work is focused on 
promoting person centred safeguarding, ensuring appropriate and timely support is provided to those at risk of 
radicalisation. In February 2023, a hybrid conference on tackling Hateful Extremism across Kent and Medway was held and 
over 250 in person or online delegates attended. A further conference will be held in February 2024. All KMSAB partners 
have a Prevent duty as outlined in the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015. 

P
age 163

https://kmsab.org.uk/p/about-kmsab-1/safeguarding-adult-reviews
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/service-specific-policies/community-safety-and-crime-policies/contest/prevent


22 
 

 
Embed Improvement and Shape Future Practice 

What we achieved: 

Delivered our 
Training Offer  

• The Board offers multi-agency training, predominantly for staff from the statutory sector. In response to feedback, learning 
from SARs and a course content review, all half-day courses were increased to full day courses with the modules focusing on 
the following priority areas: 

• Adult safeguarding legal literacy 
• Domestic abuse, including a focus on stalking and harassment, harmful practices, female genital mutilation (FGM) and 

honour-based crime 
• Collaborative working in multi-agency Section 42 Enquiries 
• Self neglect and hoarding workshop 
• Types of Adult Exploitation - including cuckooing, modern slavery, ‘mate’ crime and county lines 

• Between April 2022 – March 2023, 57 workshops were held, with 703 delegates participating.  
• The training providers, DCCi, increased the number of places available on each course from 15 to 22. This enabled the 

learning and development working group to extend the learning offer more widely, to GPs, local councils and charities. 
Evaluation of 
training  

• In line with the KMSAB Training Evaluation Framework, delegates were asked to provide immediate feedback on the day of 
the training, with an opportunity to provide more reflective comments six weeks later. 

• Analysis of feedback presented a positive picture in relation to people’s experiences of the course and the reported increase 
in their knowledge and skills.  

Kent and 
Medway 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board 
Policy and 
Procedures 

• Members of the Practice, Policies and Procedures Working Group reviewed and significantly updated the Board’s main 
policy document, “Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults Policy, Protocols and Practitioner Guidance for Kent and Medway” , 
which all Board members and relevant partners are required to work to. 

• The policy is supported by a number of additional policies, which are updated in accordance with a policy update schedule.  
• During 2022/23, Members completed their review and revision of the following documents: 

o Kent and Medway Multi-Agency Resolving Practitioner Differences; Escalation Policy for Referrals and Adult 
Safeguarding  

o Kent and Medway Multi Agency Policy and Procedures to Support People that Self-Neglect or Demonstrate Hoarding 
Behaviour 

P
age 164

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/multi-agency_safeguarding_adults_ppg_version_5.1_section_p14_updated_july_2020_final_approved_by_kmsab_-_accessibility_checked_12.11.2020.pdf
https://kmsab.org.uk/professionals/kmsab-policies


23 
 

o Managing Concerns around People in Positions of Trust (PiPoT) 
• As part of the policy update process, working group members are asked to consult with members of frontline staff. An item 

is also added to the KMSAB newsletter to ask for views and comments, so that these can be incorporated where 
appropriate. 

Monitoring of 
Safeguarding 
Adult Reviews 
(SAR) Action 
Plans 

• Following the completion of a Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR), agencies involved must detail the actions they will take to 
respond to any recommendations made for improvement.  SAR Working Group members quality assure these action plans, 
requesting remedial actions if required, and escalating concerns to the KMSAB Business Group.   

• The Board and its Working Groups do not wait until a SAR is completed to begin to make improvements identified as the 
review progresses.   

• To improve how the Board responds to learning from SARs, Board members agreed to work to a thematic approach for 
action plans. The actions to address each theme were determined by members of the SARWG, co-opting other practitioners 
with subject matter experience/expertise where required. This approach enabled reviews to build on already established 
learning and allowed time for previously identified actions to embed in practice. They key themes are shared with the 
Board’s working groups, so that these can be incorporated into their work programmes. 

Sharing of Good 
Practice 
 

• Safeguarding Adults Reviews are a critical tool to help identify areas for improvements.  It is helpful to balance the findings 
against examples of good practice, as these can also be a powerful way of learning.  Many of the quality assurance tools 
designed by the Board ask agencies to highlight good practice examples so that these can be shared.  

SAR Video and 
Reflective 
Learning 
Briefings 

• It is acknowledged that individuals have different learning styles and preferences. To accommodate this, the Board piloted a 
video approach to sharing learning from SARs. The author of the Elizabeth Eastly review created and presented a 10 minute 
summary of the review process and findings.  

• Members of the Communication and Engagement working group will undertake analysis to measure the effectiveness of this 
approach. If the findings are positive, more videos to accompany SAR reports will be produced.  

• In addition to the full overview report, Independent SAR Chairs produce a reflective summary briefing.  This briefing distils 
the key learning from the review and poses reflective questions for practitioners to consider themselves, or in team 
meetings/other training.  

KMSAB Open 
Sessions 

• The Board Business Unit continued to deliver quarterly ‘KMSAB open forum sessions’, providing an opportunity for anyone 
with an interest in adult safeguarding to hear from people with a lived experience of safeguarding, and other subject matter 
experts. The following sessions were held in 2022-2023: 

o Deaf awareness and adult safeguarding 
o Adult safeguarding where chronic alcohol dependency is a factor 

P
age 165

https://vimeo.com/829051457/1ae500fe01?share=copy


24 
 

o Advocacy and adult safeguarding  
o Preparation for safeguarding adults awareness week, briefing sessions 
o Predatory Marriage. 

KMSAB 
Newsletter 

• The Board Business Unit continued to produce and circulate a monthly newsletter sharing updates in relation to: Board 
activity; learning from safeguarding adults reviews; guidance and support; and relevant local and national safeguarding 
information.  

• Over 350 people/agencies subscribe to the KMSAB newsletter (a 20% increase from 2021/2022), with many cascading it 
further within their organisations. 

Regional and 
National Forums 

• The Independent SAR Chair attends the national SAR Independent Chair Network and Chairs the regional meeting of 
Independent SAR Chairs and Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) Managers. 

• The Board Manager attends the regional meeting and also attends the national SAB Manager’s network. 
• These network meetings are extremely beneficial and provide the opportunity to share information, best practice, learning 

and work on joint projects. They also provide the Boards with a stronger national voice, should they wish to escalate 
concerns to relevant government departments.  

Theft and Fraud 
within Families 
 

• Members of the quality assurance working group received a presentation on the “all parliamentary report on theft and fraud 
within families”, which aims to prompt discussion of financial abuse within families and the need to work more effectively 
together to prevent the abuse and harm that it causes.    

• The report was also shared in the newsletter, with a request to spread awareness amongst safeguarding partners, and 
others, about the issue and prompt greater collaboration.  

Safeguarding 
Adults Review 
Learning Events  

• The Board, in collaboration with the training provider DCCi, delivered the following workshops to share the learning from 
safeguarding adults reviews: 

o Improving partnership working – managing complexity and capacity – 180 delegates attended this session. 
o Understanding Self-Neglect and Supporting Good Practice. 2 sessions were delivered on this topic to coincide with 

the launch of the revised self-neglect and hoarding procedures. 181 delegates attended in total. 
o Overcoming Barriers to Engagement. 144 delegates attended this session. 

• The sessions encouraged attendees to work collaboratively, reflect on good practice and develop a solution focussed 
approach. 

• Through engagement in the sessions, members co-produced a guide to working with complexity, self-neglect, substance 
misuse and mental capacity. Which is available on the Board’s website.  

• Feedback received indicated that the sessions were valuable, both in terms of content and in providing multi-agency 

P
age 166

https://kmsab.org.uk/p/professionals/newsletters
https://80162760-26bc-4062-be5a-3322b8afa67b.filesusr.com/ugd/2c5374_1340b05c9a874b11adc0a3b24ed0aa69.pdf
https://80162760-26bc-4062-be5a-3322b8afa67b.filesusr.com/ugd/2c5374_1340b05c9a874b11adc0a3b24ed0aa69.pdf
https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/working_with_complexity_3_minute_briefing.pdf


25 
 

networking opportunities. 
Work with SAR 
Chairs 

• The Board Business Unit, and the Chair of the LDWG met with the Independent SAR Chairs to discuss emerging themes 
within SARs/SAR applications.  These themes included homelessness and the commissioning of specialist placements. 

• Independent SAR Chairs provided intelligence that the issues surrounding homelessness, including the lack of appropriate 
supported housing, social housing and the concerns around hospital discharges when someone is identified as homeless, are 
also common themes in other areas they are completing reviews for.  

• The Chairs found the joint meeting beneficial. To enable them to continue to provide peer support and share themes, a 
secure Microsoft Teams page was set up. To maintain confidentiality, case specific details are not shared or discussed.  

Multi-agency risk 
management 
framework 
(MARM) 
 

• In response to SAR findings and recommendations, a task and finish group was established to provide assurance that current 
practice and procedures are sufficient in relation to co-ordination of a multiagency response to adults as risk, or whether an 
additional tool/process, such as the MARM framework would be beneficial. 

P
age 167



26 
 

Section 4. Safeguarding Adults Reviews  

4.1.  Criteria for Conducting a Safeguarding Adults Review  
 
Mandatory SAR  
Provision 44 of the Care Act 2014 sets out the criteria for Safeguarding Adults Reviews as 
follows:  

An SAB must arrange for there to be a review of a case involving an adult in its area with 
needs for care and support (whether or not the local authority has been meeting any of 
those needs) if—  

(a) there is reasonable cause for concern about how the SAB, members of it or other 
persons with relevant functions worked together to safeguard the adult, and  

(b) condition 1 or 2 is met. 

Condition 1 is met if—  

(a) the adult has died, and  

(b) the SAB knows or suspects that the death resulted from abuse or neglect 
(whether or not it knew about or suspected the abuse or neglect before the adult 
died).  

Condition 2 is met if—  

(a) the adult is still alive, and  

(b) the SAB knows or suspects that the adult has experienced serious abuse or 
neglect 

Discretionary SAR 

An SAB may arrange for there to be a review of any other case involving an adult in its area 
with needs for care and support (whether or not the local authority has been meeting any of 
those needs)3 

More information on the SAR process is available here. 

4.2.  Purpose of a Safeguarding Adults Review 
 
A Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) is not an enquiry or investigation into how someone 
died or suffered injury and it does not allocate blame.  It stands separately to any internal 
organisational investigation, or that from Police or a Coroner.  The SAR scrutinises case and 
system findings and analyses whether lessons can be learned about how organisations 
worked together, or not, as the case may be, to support and protect the person. It also 
identifies and highlights good practice.  

 
3 Care Act 2014 (legislation.gov.uk) section 44.  

Page 168

https://www.kmsab.org.uk/p/about-kmsab-1/safeguarding-adult-reviews
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/section/44/enacted#:%7E:text=44Safeguarding%20adults%20reviews&text=(b)the%20SAB%20knows%20or%20suspects%20that%20the%20adult%20has,meeting%20any%20of%20those%20needs).


27 
 

 

As detailed in section 3 of this report, the Safeguarding Adults Review policy was completely 
redrafted and relaunched during 2022/3. The new policy was designed to ensure greater 
clarity, consistency, and a focus on establishing the lessons in a timely and rigorous way, 
without compromising on quality. In line with national findings and best practice, the 
intention is to build upon any previous learning in a systematic way and focus on the 
delivery of improvement outcomes and measuring the impact of changes.   As part of this, 
the document distinguishes between single agency practice learning and system learning.  

4.3.  Safeguarding Adults Review Activity 
 
To ensure a robust and consistent process for determining whether a referral/application 
for a Safeguarding Adults Review meets the criteria, a multi-agency decision-making panel, 
chaired by a member of the SAR Working Group, is convened. Prior to the meeting, agencies 
who worked with the adult, are asked to complete a summary of agency involvement form, 
detailing relevant and proportionate information to inform the discussion and decision on 
whether the criteria for a SAR is met.  The SAR decision making group consider the agency 
involvement returns and the initial referral and assess whether the referral meets the 
criteria for a SAR, or whether any other review or action is required.  The options for the 
panel are as follows: 

• Commission a mandatory SAR (as detailed in 3.1) 
• Commission a discretionary SAR (as detailed in 3.1) 
• Criteria not met- should the panel members agree that a situation does not meet the 

criteria, but consider there to be single agency learning, they can recommend that the 
relevant agency conduct an internal review. At the end of the review, the agency will be 
asked to share relevant findings with the Safeguarding Adults Review Working Group. 

 
The recommendation of the panel is sent to the Independent Chair of the KMSAB for a final 
decision.  

The number of SAR referrals received by the KMSAB continues to increase year on year. 

 

16

22

29 31
36

9

15
12

17 15

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023

N
um

be
r 

Financial Year

KMSAB SAR Activity

Referrals Considered by Decision Making Panel Commissioned SARs

Page 169



28 
 

The KMSAB received 36 new SAR referrals between April 2021 and March 2022, of these: 

• 15 SARs were commissioned. 
• 21 did not meet the criteria and no further action for the Board was required. 

 
The summary of agency involvement returns allow members to consider information that 
may not have been available to the person who made the SAR referral, and, in many cases, 
the additional information evidenced that agencies did work together, so the criteria was 
not met.  

Gender - SAR applications received between April 2021 and March 20234 

There continues to be more SAR referrals for males, including people who identified as 
male. Of the 36 SAR referrals received between April 2022 and March 2023, 72% were for 
males and 28% for females.  In 2021/2022 the proportion was 35% female to 65% male.  

The gender breakdown of SARs commissioned remains consistent, with approximately a 
third of commissioned reviews relating to females and two-thirds to males.  

2022/23 Referrals 
(Number) 

Referrals 
(Percentage) 

SARs 
commissioned 
(Number)  

SARs 
Commissioned 
(Percentage) 

Male  26 72% 10 67% 
Female 10 28% 5 33% 
2021/2022     
Male  20 65% 11 65% 
Female 11 35% 6 35% 

 

 

 
4 These figures reflect the individuals chosen gender identity.   

6

11

5

10

5

9

5

16

0

5

10

15

20

Female Male Female Male

2021/2022 2021/2022 2022/2023 2022/2023

N
um

be
r

Gender and Finacial Year

SAR Applications received between April 2021 
and March 2023

Met the Criteria Did not meet the criteria

Page 170



29 
 

In 2021 – 2022, the conversion rate of referrals to commissioned SARs was 55% for both 
males and females. In 2022-2023 the conversion rate was 50% for females and 38% for 
males.   

Ethnicity - applications received between April 2022 and March 2023 

The SAR referral form contains a field for ethnicity information. Under the revised SAR 
procedure, the SAR core panel is asked to validate this information when reviewing the 
summary of agency returns, to ensure that information is recorded and that it is accurate.   

Of the 36 referrals received, 80.5% of the individuals were ‘White British-English’, 5.5% ‘Any 
other white background’, 5.5% ‘Any other ethnic group’, 3% ‘Asian or Asian British – Indian’, 
3% Asian or Asian British / Any other Asian background, and 3% ‘unknown’. 93% of the SARs 
commissioned were in relation to individuals who were white British/English. 

Ethnicity Total 
Number of 
applications  

Number of 
referrals 
meeting the 
criteria  

Percentage 
of referrals 
meeting 
the criteria  

Any other ethnic group 2 1 50% 
Any other white background 2 0 0% 
Asian or Asian British-Indian 1 0 0% 
Asian or Asian British / Any 
other Asian background 1 0 0% 
Unknown 1 0 0% 
White British/English 29 14 48% 

 

 

Age – SAR applications received between April 2022 and March 2023 

Of the SAR referrals received, as with the previous year, the most frequent category was the 
50-59 age range.  Possibly due to the low numbers, there is little variation in age for the 
SARs commissioned during this reporting period. 

2
2 1

1
1

29

Total Number of applications by Ethinicity 
2022-3 

Any other ethnic group

Any other white Background

Asian or Asian British-Indian

Asian or Asian British / Any
other Asian background

Unknown

Page 171



30 
 

 

0
3

1 2 2 3 2 1 10

3
4 3

7
2

2

0 0
0

2

4

6

8

10

18-19 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 80-89 90-99

nu
m

be
r o

f r
ef

er
ra

ls

Age Range

SAR Applications April 2022- March 2023 
meeting the criteria by age range

Met Criteria Did not Meet the criteria

18-19 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 80-89 90-99
2021-22 1 5 5 2 8 3 2 4 1
2022-23 0 6 5 5 9 5 4 1 1

0
2
4
6
8

10

N
um

be
r o

f r
ef

er
ra

ls 

Age Range

Age Range of Individuals referred for a SAR 2021-
2023 

2021-22 2022-23

Page 172



31 
 

4.4.  Completed Safeguarding Adults Reviews 
 

Completed reviews are available on the KMSAB website.  Since the last annual report, the following SARs have been published: 

All names are pseudonyms to protect the identity of those concerned.  

Individual 
and 
Methodology 

Background  Findings/Recommendations  

Rosie and 
Emma 
Published: 19 
July 2023 
 
Traditional 
review  

Rosie, a white British female, was 24 when she died by suicide. 
Between 2011 and 2013 she had been looked after by the 
local authority on three occasions, following this, she was 
supported by the 18+ care leavers service.  Her personal 
advisor described her as always beautifully presented and like 
a “little Amy Winehouse”. Significantly, in January 2020, Rosie 
experienced the loss of her partner to suicide. A number of 
agencies reflect the impact of this loss on Rosie, and she was 
informally admitted to an inpatient unit for 4 days, having 
attempted to take her own life. In addition to the emotional 
trauma of this loss, Rosie also lost her home and went to live 
with a friend on discharge from hospital. Following her 
inpatient stay, Rosie was discharged to the Community Mental 
Health Team (CMHT) and met with a consultant psychiatrist 
who diagnosed her with Emotional Unstable Personality 
Disorder (EUPD), Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and 
social anxiety. Rosie attempted suicide on 24 May 2020 and 
died as a result of this on 25 May 2020. Rosie’s last recorded 
contact with services was on 21 May 2020. 
 
Emma, a white British female was 21 when she died by 

Learning related to: 
• Suicide prevention - KMSAB should work with public 

health teams in Kent and Medway to ensure that the Kent 
and Medway Suicide and Self-harm Prevention Strategy 
2021-2025 includes key findings from this Safeguarding 
Adults Review including understanding of suicide risk on a 
population-wide as well as an individual basis for people 
who:  

• have survived adverse childhood experiences  
• are using drugs and alcohol and have co-occurring 
mental health needs.  
• live nomadic lives with few fixed points and had 
little stability, economically, socially, or of 
accommodation  
• have experienced recent and ongoing trauma 
through loss of loved ones and friends, relationship 
breakups, homelessness and physical and sexual 
assaults. 
 

• Think family - Agencies involved in this review should 
introduce a “Think Family” approach and support 

P
age 173

https://kmsab.org.uk/p/about-kmsab-1/safeguarding-adult-reviews
https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/safeguarding_adults_review__rosie_and_emma_.pdf
https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/safeguarding_adults_review__rosie_and_emma_.pdf


32 
 

suicide. Emma first became known to KCC Specialist Children’s 
Services in 2004 when she was aged 5 years, having 
experienced abuse and neglect from her biological family. 
Emma and her siblings were made subject of a Child 
Protection Plan. They were placed in foster care together, 
where she remained until she was 18. Emma’s personal 
advisor described her as ‘very spiritual, creative, colourful, 
bubbly and independent”. In May 2019, aged 20, Emma 
abandoned her tenancy, the reason for this is not clear. 
Following her leaving her tenancy Emma experienced frequent 
housing instability. The day before Emma’s PA learned about 
the tenancy being abandoned, Emma was detained for her 
safety under section 136 of the Mental Health Act, having told 
her GP that she was actively suicidal. This followed an 
attendance at Accident and Emergency, eight days before 
having taken an overdose of paracetamol. Emma described 
herself to professionals as a ‘sex worker’. During the period 
covered by the review, Emma was known to services following 
overdoses, self-harm and suicide attempts. Emma died by 
suicide on 2 July 2020. Her last recorded contact with services 
was on 1 July 2020.  
 
The rationale for a joint review was that it allowed a focus on 
similarities and differences and the approaches taken by 
services to engage and support Rosie and Emma. In this way, 
themes, patterns, systemic factors and processes could be 
identified. Agencies who knew Rosie and Emma were required 
to write separate Independent Management Reports and 
chronologies for each, to ensure that the focus remained on 
them as individuals. 

practitioners to consider, for instance, how background 
information can be obtained from family members or 
friends that will help to identify risk and approaches to 
take to increase engagement; how to identify whether 
family or friends are protective factors or not, and how to 
work with family or friends in protection planning and 
providing ongoing support.  
 

• Multi-Agency working - KMSAB partners should examine 
the Camden Core Team model, the Plymouth and Bristol 
practice models and the work by Sandwell Metropolitan 
Borough Council, which provide examples of system 
change approaches for working with people like Rosie and 
Emma. P

age 174



33 
 

Pablo 
Published: 8 
June 2023 
Day review  

“Pablo was unique and passionate – he felt different to other 
people and wanted acceptance” (Pablo’s mother) 
Pablo, a white British male, was a musician and an artist. 
Growing up, Pablo and his mother were subjected to domestic 
abuse. Pablo’s mother reported that this affected him deeply. 
Records indicate that Pablo had a diagnosis of bipolar affective 
disorder, paranoid schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder 
– along with a history of drug and alcohol abuse. Mental 
health services were involved with Pablo from 2011 until his 
death. There are numerous reports of Pablo self-harming, 
which resulted in Emergency Department attendances. He 
was reported as being non-compliant with medication 
prescribed for his mental health and had poor concordance 
with his mental health needs.  
 
During periods of psychosis Pablo did not trust anyone, 
however he was never violent or confrontational – he 
preferred not to be around anyone due to the paranoia. His 
family also argued that he was not suicidal, but rather was 
experiencing delusions which led him to take actions which 
endangered his life.  
 
Pablo was in his early thirties when he went missing from a 
hospital in Town A, Kent.  On the day he went missing, Pablo 
had left the hospital’s Emergency Department whilst he was 
under supervision, due to being in an acute psychotic episode. 
Pablo’s body was recovered some months later having been 
found on the coastline of the English Channel. 

Learning related to: 
• Safeguarding and Managing Risk Tool (SMaRT plus) - The 

review has raised questions about the use of SMaRT tools, 
which require analysis. The need for learning around 
these tools is not unique to Hospital Trust 1.   Other Trusts 
in Kent and Medway have been developing processes to 
aid the use of SMaRT tools. It is recommended that 
Hospital Trust 1 link in with these Trusts to share learning. 
 

• Self-discharge/absconding from hospital - All 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews in Kent and Medway which 
involve patients self-discharging or absconding from 
hospital will be collated, along with data from each 
Hospital Trust – to be shared with the Kent and Medway 
Integrated Care Board, to highlight the issue across Kent 
and Medway Hospital Trusts. 

 

• Quality of Referrals - Staff must be reminded of the 
importance of including pertinent points and using 
suitable language when making interagency referrals – 
this was also identified in SAR Elizabeth Eastley. Referrers 
must state clearly what the issue is and what they require 
of the agency they are referring to.  

 

• Documenting defensible decision making - Staff from all 
agencies should be reminded that decisions and the 
rationale behind decisions must be recorded clearly.  

 
• Co-occurring conditions – The findings from this review are 

to be used to inform the work of the Board’s co-occurring 
conditions task and finish group.  

P
age 175

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/safeguarding_adults_review__pablo_.pdf


34 
 

Brian 
Published: 22 
May 2023 
 
Traditional 
review 

Brian was a 49 year old single white male who lived alone in a 
coastal resort town in Kent. He was a tenant in District Council 
accommodation at the time of his death. Brian lived with 
mental health issues, including anxiety and preoccupied 
thoughts. Brian had a history of self-neglect when he 
increased his intake of alcohol and/or non prescribed drugs.  
 
Brian was found dead in his flat on 22 September 2021 by the 
police. It was evident he had been dead for some time. A 
Coroners’ Inquest recorded an open verdict as it was not 
possible to determine the cause of death.  
 
 

Learning related to: 
• Practice/defensible decision making- Adult social care 

was asked to ensure that parameters be set in relation to 
what the expectation for delivering, or meeting, an action 
that is deemed “urgent” are. As a guide, responding to an 
“urgent” action should whenever possible be measured in 
days, rather than weeks. 
 

• Multi-Agency working /Information sharing - KMICB 
should clarify the procedure and protocol for “just to let 
you know” correspondence sent by Health and Social Care 
Organisations. Relevant and contextual information 
should be included. Specifically, where there is an 
expectation the GP will take some form of action, this 
should be made explicit. 

 
KMPT and KCC Adult Social Care should consider 
introducing a working protocol that before services are 
withdrawn because there is a belief the other 
organisation is now taking the lead; the relevant 
organisation should obtain this confirmation before the 
withdrawal of services is approved. 
 

All Health and Social Care agencies should view Housing 
Authorities as key safeguarding partners and should be 
encouraged to involve them when individuals are tenants 
of their properties. (Subject to the permission of the 
individual). 
 

• Safe-Discharge - The NHS Hospital Trust should continue 
to explore their current initiative to review hospital 

P
age 176

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/safeguarding_adults_review__brian_.pdf


35 
 

discharge procedures for vulnerable patients into 
potentially unsafe home environments, with social care 
partners and other relevant agencies. 
 

• Self-Neglect - All Safeguarding agencies should publicise 
and implement a training and awareness programme for 
their staff now the new multi-agency self-neglect protocol 
is approved. KMSAB have been proactive in this regard 
and have self-neglect as part of their multi-agency 
training offer. 

 
Brett 
Published: 18 
May 2023 
 
Traditional 
review 

Brett, a white British male was 49 years when he died. His 
bother said that, when he was well, Brett was a fun loving 
person who loved a laugh and was easy going.   Brett was a 
scout leader. His brother said that Brett loved being a leader in 
the scouts but when his mental illness started, he had to give 
it up. Brett’s brother stated that after this Brett’s depression 
got worse and he could see him shrinking as a person and that 
it was very sad to watch. 
 
Brett had a long history of psychotic illness, diabetes and self-
neglect when unwell. Brett was referred to the Kent and 
Medway NHS and Social Care Partnership Trust (KMPT), in 
September 2020 by his brother, due to concerns that Brett’s 
mental state was deteriorating, and as a result his ability to 
take care of himself was diminishing. Brett was also an insulin 
dependent diabetic and there were concerns that he was not 
managing this well.  
 
Brett was under the care of his local Community Healthcare 

Learning related to: 
• Self-Neglect - The Kent and Medway Safeguarding self-

neglect and escalation policy have both undergone a 
recent extensive and robust review. It is recommended 
that the KMSAB carries out a qualitative review with 
partner agencies to provide assurance that their staff are 
working towards the policy. This can be evidenced in the 
Board’s Self-Assessment framework. 
 

• Escalation - The Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults 
Board to consider carrying out an audit of practitioners in 
relation to their use of the self-neglect policy to identify if 
the escalation policy is being utilised when the self-
neglect policy isn’t working. 

 
• Multi-Agency working - Following the completion of this 

SAR a practice note guidance is to be produced 
highlighting the importance of recognising the complex 
needs of patients, both physical and mentally, and the 

P
age 177

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/safeguarding_adult_review__brett_.pdf


36 
 

Trust for his diabetes management. Brett was known to 
various services and issues of self-neglect were mentioned by 
services, however limited safeguarding referrals were made, 
and none in relation to possible self-neglect, until Brett was 
admitted into hospital for the last time. In October 2020, Brett 
was found unresponsive by his brother at his home address. 
An ambulance was called, and he was admitted to hospital. 
Sadly, Brett later died in hospital.  
 

need for a multi-agency response through pre-established 
Multi-disciplinary meetings. 

 
There has been an identified need to strengthen 
communication between services to reduce gaps with 
regards to ownership and the utilisation of the escalation 
process. Assurance is to be gained that the 
communication between primary care and secondary care 
services is clear with regards to ownership and 
responsibilities. 

 
Agencies to raise awareness around the understanding of 
when a person has serious health conditions that the 
practitioner knows where they can refer the individual to, 
ensuring that the right agency is involved with that 
individual, including making use of GP MDT meetings. 
 

• Diabetes management - The SAB to commission a leaflet 
for adults, families and carers of adults with diabetes to 
identify the significant impact of mismanagement of 
diabetes care and the linkage with mental ill-health. 
 
Agencies are to highlight the link between certain serious 
medical conditions, such as diabetes, and the associated 
mental health problems and also the impact of managing 
mental health conditions can have on an adult’s physical 
health. 

 
• Carers - A review is to take place regarding referrals for 

Carer’s assessments to identify gaps within the system. 

P
age 178



37 
 

 
• Person centred/strength based practice – Adult Social 

Care to roll out the new core skills framework/training 
(new practice framework) for staff which has been set up 
based on a strength-based approach, using families, 
friends and networks to support the person. 

 
• Domestic Abuse - A reminder learning bulletin/ 

information graphic is to be sent out to all agencies 
highlighting sibling on sibling domestic abuse and the 
appropriate referral and support mechanisms available. 

Peter 
Published: 2 
May 2023 
 
Practitioner 
Event 

Peter was a 74-year-old white British man. He was known to 
be living between his own home and that of his neighbour and 
friend, Susan. Professionals visiting him only saw him at 
Susan’s home. Little is known of Peter’s history. He appears to 
have been a private individual who developed a co-dependent 
relationship with Susan. During the review it was identified 
that their relationship was recorded as neighbours, friends, 
partners or as a married couple.  
 
In February 2021, Peter was admitted to hospital. On this 
occasion an ambulance attended Peter at Susan’s address 
following an NHS 111 call for chest pain. When the ambulance 
clinicians arrived, they found Peter barely conscious with an 
ongoing chest infection and likely sepsis and possible Covid-
19. He was noted to have numerous abrasions, swelling, 
infected wounds, cellulitis, and oedema to both legs. He was 
unable to speak properly with crew due to symptoms, was 
unkempt in old clothes, no personal hygiene maintained and 
unable to mobilise without help. Peter was conveyed to 

Learning related to: 
• Self-Neglect and Hoarding - There were early indicators 

of potential self-neglect identified by single agencies. This 
would have been strengthened had there been images 
shared to enable interagency assessment.  Therefore, it is 
recommended that the clutter image rating, with a full 
description of the room where the individual is mainly 
living, is shared with relevant agencies to underpin the 
assessment of risk for the individual.  
 

• There is evidence that Kent Fire and Rescue Service 
demonstrate good practice in this area, and it is 
recommended that they share their training across 
agencies.  

 
• Multi-Agency working - There was a multidisciplinary 

team meeting (MDT) to share concerns about Peter. This 
would have been improved by the inclusion of voluntary 
agencies and if it had been achieved earlier.  It is 

P
age 179

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/sar_overview_report__peter_.pdf


38 
 

hospital and an ambulance concern form was submitted to 
KCC Adult Social Care stating that it was unclear what the 
patient’s home state was, but due to his appearance it was 
clear he was unable to care for himself effectively and the 
crew were unsure if his home environment was safe for him to 
return to. He was admitted to hospital for three days. When 
he was discharged home, there was no social care support set 
up as Peter declined a care package. There was community 
health input established. However, G4S (patient transport) 
made a safeguarding referral as Peter’s house was found to be 
uninhabitable when they transported him home. He was 
noted to be unkempt and went to Susan's as he said he was 
waiting for his house to be cleaned. 
 
The community nursing team visited Peter weekly, at Susan’s 
home, to provide wound care to his leg. They also made a 
referral for a short-term community nursing team to provide 
personal care, and meals twice a day for Peter and Susan.  It is 
reported that they both declined personal care which led to a 
delay in support being delivered.  The safeguarding referrals 
made in February did not meet the threshold for statutory 
safeguarding involvement, however, a referral to KCC Kent 
Enablement at Home Service (KEAH) was made. Once this was 
in place, Peter was discharged from the short term community 
nursing team. The community nursing team continued to 
provide wound care. During this time the GP visited the home 
and saw Peter to be unkempt and made a referral to the 
Community Trust for assessment. Kent Fire and Rescue Service 
(KFRS) conducted a safe and well visit for Susan.  There were 
reports of declining KEAH support on occasions, saying he was 

recommended that there is a review of how the 
Integrated Care System Primary Care Network Multi-
Disciplinary Team Framework is monitored to ensure that 
primary care led MDTs include all relevant agencies. 

 
• Safe-Discharge - The discharge planning included the 

offer of a care package and the referral to community 
nurses. This would have been strengthened if the 
information about the concerns had been considered to 
enable a home visit to be undertaken to assess where 
Peter would be living.  

 
• Referral Forms - It is recommended that SECAmb review 

how their crews can make safeguarding referrals in line 
with the KMSAB policy procedures and practitioners 
guidance. There should be an audit of the outcomes for 
SECAmb concerns shared to identify further learning and 
this should be presented as a report to KMSAB.  

 
• Carers - It was known by some agencies that Peter was a 

carer, but often either he or Susan would refuse support.  
This would have been improved if there had been a 
consistent understanding of the needs of Peter both for 
himself and as a carer. It is recommended that the KMSAB 
review what guidance there is for all agencies to be able 
to identify those who are in a caring role but have specific 
needs of their own.  

P
age 180



39 
 

not happy with the service and that he had a friend who was 
able to shop for him. 
 
By April 2021, there were increasing concerns that Peter was 
not coping. Prior to his hospital admission in February, he had 
been independent and was able to provide care for Susan. A 
multidisciplinary meeting was held on 22 April 2021. On 23 
April 2021, SECAmb attended a 999 call for Peter and 
conveyed him to hospital, they contacted adult social care 
with concerns. Peter died in hospital on 2 May 2021 
 

Robin 
Published: 19 
April 2023 
 
Traditional 
review  

Robin, a white British male, was 27 years old when he died, in 
August 2020. Robin’s family reported that Robin was 
diagnosed, at the age of six years old, with Autistic Spectrum 
Disorder. When he was a teenager his family report that his 
self-care was poor, and he began to severely neglect himself. 
They reported that when Robin was 15 years old, he received 
a diagnosis of schizophrenia.  As a young adult, Robin was 
moved to an intensive supported residential adult setting 
following a period in Psychiatric hospital, which was arranged 
by Mental Health Services, and then was moved to supported 
living accommodation. Robin lived alone at the time of his 
death and had a wish to be independent, Robin’s mother tried 
to maintain contact with Robin, but he struggled to access 
help from his family or other agencies, most likely as a result 
of his mental ill health.     
 
In late August 2020, during an unrelated Police call to a 
property in the area, a large quantity of milk bottles was 
noticed on Robin’s kitchen table and there were a large 

Learning related to: 
• Section 117 Aftercare - legal literacy and information 

sharing - There is a need to ensure that section 117 
aftercare and support responsibilities are recorded 
accurately on ICB, KMPT and Local Authority computer 
recording systems, where individuals are transferred back 
to Kent following an out of county mental health hospital 
admission. System checks need to be in place to ensure 
that individuals are accurately registered so that legal 
responsibilities for aftercare services to the individual are 
clear. 

 
When an individual is discharged to the care of their GP 
the risk of not engaging with medication/treatment plans 
should be carefully noted and informed, along with the 
status of section 117 arrangements. Where the 
responsibility for section 117 is to be handed over to the 
GP, this should be pre-agreed within a Care Programme 
Approach (where a CPA is required and deemed to be 

P
age 181

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/safeguarding_adult_review__robin_.pdf


40 
 

number of flies noticed within the property.  Neighbours 
advised that Robin had not been seen for over a week. 
Enquiries through the Housing Association revealed that they 
had not been able to contact Robin for a matter of months.  
The next morning, entry was gained to the property by Kent 
Fire and Rescue Service (KFRS) and sadly Robin was found to 
have died, his body being in an advanced state of 
decomposition.  Milk cartons, drinking vessels and alcohol 
bottles were found in the property. Unopened mail was found 
dated June and August 2020. The Coroner’s inquest report 
states that ‘post mortem decomposition has inhibited any 
conclusions as to the medical cause of death’.  The conclusion 
remains an open one. 

appropriate). This should include the likely relapse 
indicators, as well as there being an agreed plan to ensure 
that any mental health deterioration is accurately 
assessed. 
 

• Not taking medicine - GP practices to review persons who 
are not engaging with their medication for any mental 
health conditions so that relapse indicators can be 
considered and assessed. This is to include careful 
consideration of any individuals entitled to section 117 
status.  
 

• Specific actions for housing provider/association - The 
Housing Association to ensure that staff are equipped, 
through training and support, to use their professional 
curiosity at all times in practice to safeguard their tenants.  
The housing provider needs to be aware and competent 
in their care and support responsibilities. Workers need 
ongoing support and training about how to be vigilant 
about adult safeguarding including self-neglect and 
hoarding behaviours when observed.  
 

• Self- neglect and hoarding – Good practice and 
awareness was demonstrated by the Central Referral Unit 
of KCC who would not initially authorise the safeguarding 
closure due to concerns for Robin’s welfare and wanting 
to ensure that the operational team followed the self-
neglect policy and arranged a multi-agency professionals 
meeting. 
There remained a recommendation for all agencies to 

P
age 182



41 
 

ensure that staff are competent in using the self-neglect 
protocols and when a multi-agency meeting should be 
convened. 
 

• Barriers to engagement - Agencies to robustly consider 
how to better engage with hard to reach individuals and 
evaluate themselves on how they communicate with such 
individuals, reflecting on a) How flexible is your service 
provision to individuals with autism, learning difficulties 
and mental health issues? b) How aware is your service/ 
agency of what other services do to support individuals 
with ASD, learning difficulties etc? 
 

• Multi – Agency working - The Safeguarding Adult Board 
to seek assurance that there is consistency in Kent and 
Medway about the role and functioning of Community 
Safety Partnership meetings, with clear terms of 
reference and governance arrangements understood by 
partner agencies regarding the discussion of vulnerable 
adults, and how this fits into Kent and Medway 
safeguarding procedures. 

Thomas 
Published: 12 
April 2023 
 
Traditional 
review 

Thomas, a white British male, was aged 27 when he died.  
Thomas experienced a difficult early life and was taken into 
care at the age of 5 years old, due to significant concerns 
within the family unit, including substance misuse and 
domestic abuse.  
Thomas had a diagnosis of borderline personality disorder, bi-
polar disorder, features of anxiety disorder and Emotionally 
Unstable Personality Disorder. His mental ill health was 
believed to be exacerbated by the use of drugs and other 

Learning related to: 
• Safe Discharge - The discharge of patients from mental 

health hospitals as well as acute hospitals needs to be 
carefully considered in each case, drawing on all the 
relevant and proportionate knowledge of historical risks 
known. Multi-agency working is essential in cases of 
complexity where an individual is known to a number of 
agencies. and the hospital needs to ensure that the 
appropriate agencies are invited to the discharge planning 

P
age 183

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/safeguarding_adult_review__thomas__-.pdf


42 
 

psychoactive substances. Thomas had been known to Mental 
Health services since 2012. His history documents a number of 
challenges including drug and alcohol misuse, suicidal 
ideation, mental health hospitalisation, self-discharge from 
hospital, self-neglect, housing crises and periods of non-
engagement with services. Thomas had been a victim of 
violence and also had offences for assault, burglary, public 
order, shoplifting, vehicle crime, dating back to 2011 which 
included serving a prison sentence for 2 years.  
 
Thomas also suffered with a leg injury which had been 
ongoing and unresolved for a number of years for which he 
was taking pain killers on an ongoing basis.  
When Thomas was found by the Police, drug paraphernalia 
was also found at the scene which, when examined later, 
revealed traces of cocaine, heroin, cannabis and spice 
(synthetic cannabinoid). There was some medication 
(Diazepam) on the bedside table, which still had some tablets 
in the foil wrapping. The Record of Inquest revealed the cause 
of death to be drug related; specifically Multiple Drug Toxicity.  

meeting. KCC adult social care need to be included at an 
early stage in discharge planning where it is likely that 
there will be an ongoing role for support going forward. 
 

• Information sharing - Greater information sharing is 
required as currently there continues to be complexities 
due to different recording databases being used across 
agencies as well as uncertainty around information 
sharing protocols between them, regarding vulnerable 
adults. 

 
The KMPT Independent Management Report has 
highlighted ongoing concerns around KMPT’s inability to 
promote the use of community safety partnership 
meetings due to requiring clarity on information sharing 
and governance agreements. The SAB need to clarify 
these information sharing arrangements for all agencies in 
order for community contextual safeguarding approaches 
to be enabled in a transparent way.  
 

• Homelessness and housing options - Housing options and 
needs for adults who are homeless or at risk of being 
homeless following discharge from mental health units 
requires more careful and critical evaluation in all cases in 
order to ensure that the right support is linked to the 
accommodation type. It is acknowledged that this is a 
national challenge. 

 
Where a vulnerable adult requires alternative housing in 
the community, this needs to be sought in a proactive, 

P
age 184



43 
 

timely way in order to avoid unnecessary stress and 
uncertainty to the individual concerned. Building strong 
links with community housing teams and support services 
is essential for professionals.  
 

• Multiagency working - Professionals need also to make 
the most of technology to enable remote meetings in a 
timely manner, as highlighted from the pandemic 
practices, in order to avoid meetings being unnecessarily 
cancelled as occurred in this case. Multi-agency meetings 
could be made easier in this way, which should assist in 
professionals coming together to discuss complex cases 
like Thomas also. 

• Transition - Transfer of services between areas e.g., 
Community Mental Health Teams, Adult Social Care, GP 
practices, based on residence needs to be carefully 
considered, and transitions to be planned to avoid 
unnecessarily destabilising of an individual’s mental 
health further. Clearly there are resource implications for 
agencies in considering possible delays in transfers and it 
would require flexibility amongst services to best meet an 
individual’s needs. 

Alice 
Published: 12 
April 2023 
 
Traditional 
Review 

Alice, a white British female, was aged 84 when she sadly took 
her own life by drowning in the river just outside her home.  
Alice had lived with her husband, Fred, in sheltered 
accommodation. The couple had some friends, and were well 
known in the housing complex, but there was no known wider 
family.  The housing manager was invited to contribute to the 
review, he advised that Alice and Fred were pleasant and 
friendly to others. He described Fred as having adored Alice, 

Learning related to: 
• Wellbeing Principle and impact of loss - All agencies to 

reinforce the importance of wellbeing, and the impact of 
wellbeing on mental and physical health. For Alice her 
husband’s dementia, her feelings of loss and concerns 
about her own health led her to take her own life. 
Listening and understanding the concerns of the 
individual to ensure that they are heard and understood 

P
age 185

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/safeguarding_adult_review__alice__-.pdf


44 
 

he would “wait on her hand and foot”. When he became ill 
with dementia, she apparently found it hard that their roles 
were, effectively, reversed. She became the carer and he the 
cared-for and she struggled with this.  They were popular in 
the building and other residents became increasingly 
concerned for Alice and tried to assist by inviting her to join in 
activities. For whatever reason, she rarely did and became 
increasingly isolated.  
 
In early 2019 Alice received a scam telephone call. This was 
the start of a number of such calls that led to Alice being 
defrauded of some £5000 over the following year. The scam 
knocked Alice’s confidence.  
Up until a few months before her death, she and Fred had 
managed to go out for drives and for coffee. They had a dog 
which Alice used to walk regularly around their home. Her 
isolation became more profound when the Covid pandemic 
began, in March 2020.  Several agencies were involved in 
supporting the couple, but over the period of Covid this was 
more difficult than usual. It is also notable that the situation 
for both Alice and Fred deteriorated very rapidly over the few 
weeks prior to her death.  

can be invaluable. 
 

• Impact of financial abuse - Agencies to promote 
awareness of the impact of financial Abuse and scamming 
with the emphasis on the effects on the mental health 
and confidence of the victim. 

 
• Carers - Those caring for others in their own homes 

should have their own care and support needs considered 
to ensure that they are given as much support as possible 
in their; sometimes, new, unfamiliar and developing roles.  
 

Folade and 
Bola 
 
Traditional 
review 

The SAR in respect of Folade and Bola was not published for 
reasons of anonymity.  

Learning related to: 
• Barriers to engagement 
• Referral Forms - KMSAB partners to review the various 

safeguarding referral forms used across Kent and 
Medway. The review is to consider the content, format 
and language of the forms with a view to moving forward 
towards a consistent approach. 

• Multi-agency working - That the Integrated Locality 

P
age 186



45 
 

Review role in relation to people with complex mental 
health is reviewed to ensure its effectiveness. 

Ken 
Published: 21 
March 2023 
 
Day review 

Ken, a white British male was aged 63 when he died. A SAR 
referral was submitted following the outcome of the inquest 
into Ken’s death. The Coroner concluded that Ken “died at 
[hospital] on 4 March 2019 of 1a pneumonia with abscesses 
1b cellulitis with ulceration 1c peripheral vascular disease. This 
could be natural causes, but it is rendered unnatural by issues 
in relation to omissions and failure of care. There were two 
admissions to hospital when he had hypernatremia and sepsis 
but on 10 February, he was discharged home alone with leg 
ulcers and no home assessment and no Community Nurse 
which, together with a lack of nutrition on his second 
admission, probably accelerated his death.” 
 
Ken had a father, brother, a daughter, and he had named an 
ex-partner as his next of kin when he was admitted to 
hospital. Ken had cared for his father from 2017 until June 
2018, when his father was placed in a care home.  
 
According to the GP records, there were intermittent issues 
between 2013 until August 2017. It was noted that Ken was 
unable to work, due to epileptic fits, poor compliance with 
medication and drinking alcohol. In 2017, Ken had his first 
presentation with the GP regarding the eventual diagnosis of 
Peripheral Vascular Disease (reduced circulation of blood to a 
body part other than the brain or heart, caused by a narrow or 
blocked blood vessel). In January 2018 Ken was seen by the 
vascular team, they undertook scans and tests and diagnosed 
extensive stenosis. In January 2019 Ken attended a minor 

Learning related to: 
• Self-Neglect - Review the self-neglect training package to 

reflect learning from SARs and the research in practice 
report (2020). This should include GP Practice Nurse 
training. 
Consider running a multi-agency update day, focusing on 
self-neglect to support practitioners to work together 
through the challenges. 
Build on the work done following other SARs in relation to 
how the self-neglect policy sets out who can lead a multi-
agency discussion to ensure that the responsibilities for 
self-neglect are accepted across the multi-agency 
network. 
KMSAB should seek assurance from system leaders about 
how they are ensuring there is the capacity within their 
services to address the growing demands in relation to 
self-neglect. 
 

• Person centred approach/barriers to engagement - The 
KMSAB should ask Healthwatch for support in gaining 
feedback from the community about the use of holistic 
assessments within short appointments/episodes of care 
and how services gain feedback from those who do not 
‘engage’ with services.  
 

• Specific Action for GP/Barriers to engagement - GP 
practice staff must be literate about access to funds or 
services for individuals in need of financial support, 

P
age 187

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/safeguarding_adult_review__ken_.pdf


46 
 

injuries unit and was found to have necrosis of wounds. He 
was referred and admitted to hospital with sepsis, 
hypernatremia and encephalopathy. He was discharged home 
on 10 February. The referral to the community nurses was not 
completed.  
 
It was noted in the hospital records that his friend would be 
supporting him. When he arrived home, there was no-one 
there. The family was contacted for a key. G4S (hospital 
transport) were concerned the home was not habitable, there 
was no bed. They reported to the hospital and were advised 
that Ken would need to go to A&E. G4S made a safeguarding 
referral and Ken was left at the property. 5 days later, Ken’s 
daughter found him on the floor of the property and called an 
ambulance. The ambulance crew attended the home, made a 
safeguarding referral due to the state of the environment and 
Ken’s condition. They conveyed him to hospital where he was 
diagnosed with sepsis, assessed as malnourished and unable 
to care for himself.  Ken died in hospital on 3 March 2019.  
 

including circumstances in which people can access free 
prescriptions. 
The CCG/ICS should ensure that Primary Care 
Networks/Integrated Care Partnerships have plans in 
place to demonstrate how they address the wider issues 
in their practice populations that impact on health. 
GP Practices should be able to explore why patients, 
known to have specific care and treatment needs, are not 
engaging with the service. 
 

• Information Sharing - Between services run by different 
organisations there must be an agreed approach to how 
clinical information can be shared effectively to benefit 
the care and treatment of the patient accessing the 
different services. 

• Safe – Discharge - KMSAB should receive reports about the 
impact of the Integrated Discharge System to ensure that 
there is evidence of improved outcomes for patients being 
discharged from hospital. This should include consideration 
of how poor transfer of care concerns can be raised by non-
health staff where they do not amount to a safeguarding 
concern.  

• Specific recommendation in relation to patient transport 
services - Patient transport services need to have 
safeguarding policies that enable their workers to make 
rapid decisions about risks identified when transporting 
patients. 

• Carers - How do staff access supervision in identifying, 
and providing support, to address the needs of carers? 
How does the KMSAB gain assurance about this? 

P
age 188



47 
 

Laurence 
Published: 15 
February 
2023 
 
Traditional 
review 

Laurence was a white male, born outside the United Kingdom 
(UK) but who had been a resident in the UK for approximately 
10 years. Laurence passed away at the age of 45 years old, in a 
Kent hospital.  
 
Laurence is described by his mother as having been a ‘wonderful 
guy’ who had a ‘heart of gold’ and would ‘do anything for 
anyone’. She described how Laurence was outgoing and had a 
strong work ethic. He was always in work or searching for work if 
he was not employed. At the age of 18 years old he was involved 
in a serious road accident in his birth country which resulted in 
him being in hospital for a 6-month period.  As a result of this 
accident, he lost the hearing in one of his ears and suffered a 
frontal lobe brain injury.  
 
 
The SAR referral raised concerns about physical as well as 
financial abuse, experienced by Laurence over a significant 
period of time, by a non-related resident living in the same 
property. The referral also raised concerns regarding self-
neglect, as a result, primarily, of chronic alcohol dependency. 
The referral highlighted Laurence as a vulnerable individual 
who had multi-faceted health complexities which included; a 
significant brain injury following an assault in 2011 where he 
suffered life changing issues; epilepsy, Type 2 diabetes and 
significant alcohol dependency.   
In the years prior to Laurence passing away he was, on 
occasions, living on the streets, due to being fearful to return 
to his own rental property.  
Laurence was admitted to hospital at the beginning of 
February 2020, in a very poor physical state. The hospital 

Learning related to: 
• Multi-agency working/Information sharing - There is a 

need for more robust proactive thinking and action in 
convening multi- agency meetings to avoid complex multi-
faceted cases falling through the net of adult safeguarding 
procedures. 

 
Housing providers have a key safeguarding role to play, 
alongside their colleagues in social care, health and the 
Police, in keeping people safe. They are well placed to 
identify people with care and support needs at risk of 
abuse, share information and work in partnership to 
coordinate responses. A more co-ordinated approach 
between housing and other agencies to share information 
would have been very useful in this case and would have 
brought to light previous historic concerns raised by 
neighbours over a period of time, which in turn would 
have influenced the action taken by agencies and led to 
better practice in safeguarding. 
 

• In cases where information is being shared across 
separate Police departments/teams, as well as cross-
agency, officers need to ensure that they are not overly 
reliant on limited recorded information of an incident to 
assess the risk of the situation. The Police to be mindful, 
where they were not individually present at an incident, 
that this may mean that details about a visit to a property 
are lost or not extensively recorded, resulting in the 
severity of the risk being potentially diluted in 
communications. Furthermore, historical information 

P
age 189

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/safeguarding_adult_review__laurence_.pdf


48 
 

raised concern regarding self-neglect and the ‘emaciated’ 
physical condition that Laurence was in at the time of 
admission. Laurence passed away in hospital one month later, 
on the 8 March 2020, having never recovered following his 
admission. The cause of his death is recorded as Aspiration 
Pneumonia, Liver Cirrhosis (alcohol related) and Type 2 
Diabetes as a contributory factor.  
 
 
 

used may mask the emergence of new issues and risk 
related to the individual, impacting the effectiveness of 
information sharing, and hampering efforts to establish a 
better understanding of the individual’s vulnerability. 
 

• Self-Neglect - KMSAB to monitor the application of the 
Kent and Medway Self-Neglect Policy and Procedures to 
ensure that this is being applied and utilised appropriately 
and consistently, as it was intended. 

 
• Person centred practice - Professional practice needs to 

be ‘effective’ with more consideration to the efficacy of 
signposting and referring individuals on to services. 
Agencies to avoid over-ambitious signposting when 
working with vulnerable persons and consider whether 
advocacy is required. Consideration needs to be more in 
line with ‘walking with people’ to a service (Preston- 
Shoot (ADASS report), 2020, p.16) and more follow–up 
put in place by agencies, compared to simply ‘referring 
on’ and ‘signposting’. 

 
• Legal Literacy - There is a need to ensure ongoing 

safeguarding literacy through training amongst all 
agencies. Professionals need to be competent in knowing 
when and how to raise a safeguarding alert, and a referral 
for a Care and Support needs assessment, as well as when 
to consider and instigate multi-agency self-neglect policy 
and procedures. 

 
Housing authorities and associations need to be clear and 

P
age 190



49 
 

competent with statutory guidance on how and when to 
seek advice regarding adults at risk and ensure that all 
staff have sufficient training on how to recognise 
vulnerability in tenants. 
 

• Contextual Safeguarding - the need to ensure a greater 
contextual safeguarding approach in working with adults 
who are vulnerable that can look to incorporate all 
community contacts who could contribute to 
safeguarding and supporting individuals in the 
community. This is to be inclusive of working with 
charities, drop-in services and such like, as well as family 
members and friends. Training for homeless drop-in 
centres to be made available and kept up to date, possibly 
through the local housing authority. 

 
• Documenting Defensible Decision Making - Record 

keeping and decision making needs to be defensible by all 
agencies. Recording needs to be in line with individual 
agency policies and procedures. Managerial supervision 
should also be documented, where sought. 

 
• Carers - multi-agency partners must review how 

assessments of carer needs are undertaken and raise 
wider awareness of the need to refer for formal carer 
assessments. 

 
• Alcohol/substance dependency - In cases where alcohol 

or substance related vulnerabilities are evident, the police 
should be alive to the fact that individuals who are 

P
age 191



50 
 

regularly intoxicated should not be considered less at risk 
purely because of the frequency of their intoxication. Any 
immediate risks associated with their intoxication, 
including when and how best they can be interviewed, 
should be factored into decisions made about their care 
and safety. 

 
• Kent Police to consider and be mindful to best practice 

guidance (e.g. College of Policing) which allows for the 
taking of initial accounts and statements from individuals, 
who allege being the subject of a crime but who are 
intoxicated at the point of contact. 

 
• Referral Forms - The KMSAB to consider the use of a 

more unified Safeguarding Referral multi-agency form to 
be used by all agencies, when raising adult safeguarding 
concerns. 

Elizabeth 
Eastley 
Published:  9 
January 2023 
 
Traditional 
Review 

Elizabeth Eastley was a 72-year-old, white British female. She 
was resident in self-contained sheltered accommodation. On 
17 June 2019, Elizabeth was found deceased in her flat by the 
accommodation’s Scheme Manager. It is believed she had 
been deceased for some days. She had lived in the 
accommodation for just over a year and had been allocated 
the property following an application from housing via the 
homelessness process.  
 
Very little was known about Elizabeth when she applied for 
housing, she was not registered with a GP. Her previous 
settled address had been in another county, decades before. 
She had been using a post office box address for post in a third 

Learning related to: 
• Legal Literacy - It is recommended that all agencies 

responding to people at risk are aware of the available 
legislation and are confident of their own decision-making 
protocols and procedures. Including how to escalate 
concerns when a partner agency’s response does not 
appear to be proportionate to the individual’s needs.  
 

• Specific action for housing provider (legal literacy and 
KMSAB policies and procedures)- Housing provider staff 
to receive training on Mental Capacity Act awareness and 
on Kent & Medway Safeguarding Adult Boards Self-
Neglect and Escalation policy and procedures. 

P
age 192

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/sar_in_respect_of__elizabeth_eastley__-_2023_date.pdf
https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/sar_in_respect_of__elizabeth_eastley__-_2023_date.pdf


51 
 

county for many years. Most of the questions about her past 
and how and why she came to be in Kent remain unknown.  
 
The review found that Elizabeth had lived in a hotel for over 
eight years, when this was sold, she was re-housed 
temporarily in another hotel by the local housing team, whilst 
her application for housing was progressed. She remained in 
this hotel for 18 months. The hotel manager, and the scheme 
manager where her postal address was, described Elizabeth to 
be well educated, well-spoken and very secretive. During the 
18 months that Elizabeth was resident at the hotel she wrote 
regularly to the homeless and housing options teams. The 
letters became increasingly confused in nature. She also wrote 
to the hotel manager, indicating that she thought she needed 
to pay for the accommodation and that she would be 
returning to the previous hotel once it had been renovated.  
When offered a place in sheltered accommodation, Elizabeth 
wrote to the homeless officer, stating that she would not be 
staying for long, so didn’t want to take up a property that 
someone else could have.  
 
No safeguarding concerns were raised about Elizabeth’s state 
of mind and wellbeing. Elizabeth was reluctant to move to a 
new placement which had been identified for her and 
allocated by home choice. After the placement had been 
made, Elizabeth wrote a letter of a very concerning nature. As 
she had already been accommodated, the letter was scanned 
and saved on file. It has been confirmed that had this been 
seen by an officer, a safeguarding concern would have been 
raised. Elizabeth wrote daily to the new scheme manager, she 

 
• Specific action for local council (person centred practice 

and embedding of policy and procedures) - Town A staff 
to follow their safeguarding policy and employ a person-
centred approach, particularly when responding to 
homeless applications. 

P
age 193



52 
 

wrote that she was expecting money from her solicitor and 
believed she was living in a hotel. Enquiries found that the 
solicitor did not represent Elizabeth, they had also received 
letters and were concerned. At the housing scheme Elizabeth 
slept in the communal living room, her belongings remained in 
boxes in her sparce room. She took food from the communal 
fridge and left notes for the cost to be added to her hotel bill. 
Elizabeth declined help and to register with a GP. The scheme 
manager made a referral to adult social care, which led to a 
referral to Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care Partnership 
Trust’s (KMPT) community mental health team. Elizabeth had 
been known to these teams for less than three months prior 
to her death.   

Leon 
Published: 12 
December 
2022 
 
Practitioner 
event 

Leon was a 31-year-old white British man. He had lived alone 
since 2016, following a period of four years when he lived with 
his mother as he had struggled to live alone due to his drug 
and alcohol misuse. He had a dependency to drugs since his 
early teenage years, when he had been subject to a child 
protection plan. In 2014, his GP records showed he had a 
diagnosis of mental and behavioural disorders due to multiple 
drug use and use of psychoactive substances. 
Leon also experienced physical illness, with a persistent 
abscess. He reported to professionals that he had an eating 
disorder. In 2018 Leon stopped taking his antipsychotic 
medication, without seeking clinical advice, due to weight 
increase and he reported feeling better not taking them.  In 
early 2019, Leon was in contact with addiction support 
services, his GP and other agencies. He was having 4 week 
reviews of his methadone prescription.  
By August 2019, there were increasing concerns about Leon’s 

Learning related to: 
• Self-neglect - It is recommended that all relevant agencies 

completing the KMSAB annual agency report, include how 
they have acted in relation to their initial response to self-
neglect situations.  

• Alcohol/substance dependency and legal literacy - It is 
recommended that agencies must have arrangements in  
place, e.g., guidance, to support frontline workers in 
supporting individuals, who have long term addictions, 
specifically in relation to MCA and Advanced Care 
Planning.  

• Multi-Agency working - It is recommended that 
additional guidance for the multi-agency safeguarding 
adult policy and procedures is developed in terms of the 
wider legal frameworks available to support early 
interagency intervention for those with care and support 
needs due to addiction or self-neglect. 

P
age 194

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/sar_report_in_respect_of__leon_.pdf


53 
 

wellbeing. The Pharmacy reported to the Addiction Support 
Service recovery worker that Leon appeared unwell. Leon also 
reported to his recovery worker that he was unwell and 
needed to be in hospital. He reported that he was not eating. 
The outcome was for a home visit planned for 3 September 
2019.  
On 3 September 2019, the Addiction Support Service worker 
found no answer at the flat. Leon later contacted the worker 
and reported that he had no food for 14 days and was asking 
for medical attention. Leon’s father visited and called 999 as 
Leon was not able to move, was jaundiced and very poorly. 
The ambulance crew, in consultation with the Single Point of 
Access assessed that Leon had the capacity to refuse to go 
into hospital. The plan was for a follow up within 72 hours and 
a safeguarding referral. The following day, Leon agreed to be 
admitted to hospital. He was assessed as self-neglecting, had 
not eaten for 20 days, had an abscess and pressure ulcers. His 
flat was deemed uninhabitable.  
 
Consideration was given to admission to hospital for a mental 
health act assessment. Subsequently it was deemed that he 
did not require an admission and had insight into his self-
neglect. Leon had returned to his flat by the latter part of 
September 2019. The local authority attempted a home visit 
to complete a care needs assessment, Leon was found 
unresponsive and was admitted to hospital. Whilst in hospital 
Leon expressed concern about being discharged, due to the 
state of his flat, managing stairs and shopping. His family 
reported that he could not cope. During this period there were 
several services involved in attempting to support Leon. In 

It is recommended that a multi-agency meeting is held to 
assess the risks for the individual themselves when they 
have been removed from a GP practice due to violence.  

 
 

P
age 195



54 
 

November 2019, Leon became more aggressive when in 
contact with his GP. This resulted in him being de-registered 
and placed, by NHS England Primary Care Support, to a new 
practice. At this time the Local District Council Housing Team 
followed up their safeguarding concern with KCC adult social 
care and were informed that the concern had been assessed 
as not meeting the Section 42 criteria. This led to the Local 
District Council Housing Team making a second safeguarding 
referral in relation to poor mobility, not eating and utilities 
turned off. The outcome was a plan for a joint assessment 
between mental health and KCC.  
 
In December 2019, Leon self-referred to the Emergency 
Department where he was seen as pale and limping. He had a 
wound to his heel which was cleaned, dressed and he was 
given antibiotics. However, Leon did not attend the follow up 
appointment at the Urgent Treatment Centre. This was not 
looked into as he was deemed to have capacity. Later that 
month, Leon was found to have missed 3 days of methadone. 
It was considered unusual for him not to attend the pharmacy. 
This resulted in communication between the pharmacist, 
recovery worker, GP, and Leon’s father. The recovery worker 
visited the home but there was no answer. They contacted 
Leon’s father who had a key but when he visited, he found the 
flat was locked from inside. He contacted the police who 
entered the flat and found Leon deceased. 

Phyllis  
 
Traditional 
Review 

The SAR in respect of Phyliss was not published for reasons of 
anonymity. 

Multiagency Working - To review the Multi-disciplinary team 
process and consider keeping cases open if the risk to an 
individual has not decreased as a result of the actions agreed 
in the MDT. 

P
age 196



55 
 

 
Alcohol dependency - Kent and Medway SAB to consider the roll 
out of training/awareness with regard to functional capacity and 
alcohol use.  
 
Self neglect - Remind agencies to use the Self-neglect policy 
and to ensure that there is awareness that this applies to 
people who can’t, or won’t, care for themselves. 
 
Fire Safety - Agencies should support Kent Fire and Rescue 
Service (KFRS) where a safe and well visit has taken place and 
equipment has been provided. There should be interagency 
communication to ensure that the equipment is being used. If 
circumstances change and/or the equipment needs to be re-
issued then agencies must contact KFRS to report this. Where 
equipment is refused, agencies should work together to 
determine best support arrangements.  

 

The Board is reliant on partner agencies to share the learning from reviews and incorporate these into practice. To measure the effectiveness 
of this, the Board’s 2022 Self-Assessment Framework included a requirement for agencies to evidence how learning from reviews is shared 
with staff and the mechanisms in place to measure the impact of this in practice/increase in knowledge.  

It is acknowledged that, due to the covid pandemic and other factors, some of the reviews published over this reporting period relate to more 
historic incidents. However, the KMSAB does not wait until a report is concluded to share and act upon themes and findings.  The inter-
relationships between the working groups and the role of the business group enables themes to be raised from SAR decision making stage 
onwards. These are then addressed in each working groups’ work programmes. Previous annual reports have identified the work that has 
taken place to address the recommendations made in the SARs listed above. 

The table below provides a summary of some of the actions taken by the Board to address the recommendations made in SAR reviews, or 
measure the impact of learning. These are in addition to activity that individual agencies undertake.  

P
age 197



56 
 

Recommendation/Theme Actions taken by the Board  
Multi-agency working and 
information sharing  
 
This theme was a feature in (11) 
79% of the SARs published during 
this period.  
 
In addition, it is acknowledged that 
this will be a theme in all reviews as 
for a mandatory Safeguarding Adults 
Review (SAR) to be commissioned, it 
must meet the criteria set out in the 
Care Act 2014, this includes the 
condition that “there is reasonable 
cause for concern about how the SAB, 
members of it or other persons with 
relevant functions worked together to 
safeguard the adult”. 

• KMSAB policy and protocols have been strengthened to provide clear guidance on multi-agency 
working and how to escalate concerns, including the self-neglect policy. The self-assessment 
framework seeks assurance from agencies that these policies are shared and understood by 
relevant staff.  

• Relevant agencies have commenced work to map multi-agency risk management forums/panels 
including governance, referral criteria and pathways, and how actions are progressed, so that gaps 
and areas for improvement can be identified and addressed.  

• The PPPWG produced a practitioner guide document, to outline the legal basis for sharing 
information. 

• A feature of effective multi-agency working is understanding each other’s roles and responsibilities, 
to assist with this the LGA document on Safeguarding Adults - Roles and Responsibilities has been 
shared widely.  

• The Board’s training offer included a specific module on collaborative working in multi-agency 
Section 42 Enquiries. The importance of effective multi-agency working is featured in all other 
courses. 

• Although outside of this reporting period, the KMSAB has agreed to develop a Multi-Agency Risk 
Management Framework, as these have been identified as good practice in other areas. 

P
age 198



57 
 

Identifying and responding to self-
neglect and hoarding  
 
This theme was a feature in (8) 57% 
of the SARs published during this 
period. 

• The 2022 SAF included the following standards: 
o The agency / organisation raises awareness of the Kent and Medway Multi Agency Policy and 

Procedures to Support People that Self Neglect or Demonstrate Hoarding Behaviour, to 
relevant staff 

o Employees/Staff /Volunteers within the agency/ organisation are implementing the Kent and 
Medway Multi Agency Policy and Procedures to Support People that Self Neglect or 
Demonstrate Hoarding Behaviour appropriately, effectively and in a timely manner 

o The organisation provides clear information to those at risk of self-neglect and/or hoarding 
regarding the support that can be provided. 

• The KMSAB Training Programme included a module on self-neglect and hoarding, the module was 
extended from half a day to a full day’s training. 

• The Kent and Medway Multi-agency policy and procedures to support people that self-neglect or 
demonstrate hoarding behaviour was reviewed in relation to the ‘lead agency’ procedure and was 
launched in September 2022. Although after the reporting period for this annual report, the 
accompanying quick guide was reviewed and updated, to reflect the changes made to the main 
document.  

• The Board hosted two safeguarding adult review learning events which focused on self-neglect and 
hoarding.  

• National safeguarding adult awareness week included a dedicated day for self-neglect – Tuesday 22 
November 2022.  

• The annual agency report included the following requirement: all agencies to include how they have 
acted in relation to their initial response to self-neglect situations.  

 
Safe-discharge from hospitals 
 
This theme was a feature in (5) 36% 
of the SARs published during this 
period 

Board members are aware of the national and local pressures in relation to hospital discharge and have 
sought updates through related meetings. In addition, safe discharge falls under priority 5 of the Kent 
and Medway Integrated Care Strategy. 
 
• In February 2021, representatives from 4 acute hospital trusts, 3 community trusts and the Director 

of Adult Social Services, for both Kent County Council and Medway Council attended an 
Extraordinary Meeting of the KMSAB to provide assurance and to detail any improvement activity in 

P
age 199

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fkmsab.org.uk%2Fp%2Fprofessionals%2Fkmsab-policies&data=05%7C01%7CNiamh.Sheridan%40kent.gov.uk%7Cd34f61dc9ba34ca7be0c08db1658d2e5%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C638128342974057452%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Vz05%2BgqF4YEaZEMYLRxKq1jd6aAyBUEwAA2pHB7REvI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fkmsab.org.uk%2Fp%2Fprofessionals%2Fkmsab-policies&data=05%7C01%7CNiamh.Sheridan%40kent.gov.uk%7Cd34f61dc9ba34ca7be0c08db1658d2e5%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C638128342974057452%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Vz05%2BgqF4YEaZEMYLRxKq1jd6aAyBUEwAA2pHB7REvI%3D&reserved=0
https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/kmsab_snh_practitioner_document.pdf


58 
 

relation to safe-discharge from hospital. 
• Following this meeting, relevant agencies have been required to provide updates on progress.   
• The ICB commissioned improvement activity through their System Quality Group. The Chief Nurse 

met with the Chair of the Board, to provide assurance. 
• Improvement activity was measured through the 2022 self-assessment framework, which included 

the following standard: 
o Discharge pathways (including discharge to assess) ensure the safe transition between 

inpatient hospital settings and community or care home settings for adults with social care 
needs. Due consideration is given to adult safeguarding within this. There are means of 
assessing whether the plan is being delivered or whether a review is required. 

• Healthwatch Kent and Medway conducted a thematic analysis of all feedback received by 
Healthwatch Kent and Healthwatch Medway concerning people’s experiences of NHS hospital 
discharge from 1 December 2021 to 30 November 2022. As this was mostly from people who 
contacted Healthwatch proactively, there was a bias towards the negative, accounting for 31 of the 
32 pieces of feedback received. 

• In addition, Healthwatch spoke to ten carers with recent experiences of their loved one being 
discharged from hospital and 15 professionals from the NHS, social care and the voluntary sector 
who work with carers or could influence changes in their support. They produced this report and 
accompanying actions. What happens when the person you care for is discharged from hospital? | 
Healthwatch Kent 

Carers, including raising awareness 
of a carers right to a formal carer’s 
assessment. 
 
This theme was a feature in (5) 36% 
of the SARs published during this 
period 

• Communication relating to carer’s assessment has been sent to agencies and promoted using 
different media.  

• The KMSAB Business Unit developed and promoted a specific webpage for carers, which can be 
found here. The page includes useful links and resources.  

• As a quality assurance measure, the 2021 SAF included the following question:  
o How does your agency assure that it meets its legal obligations under the Care Act so that 

carers are referred for a Carer’s Assessment, or the need for a Carer’s Assessments is 
highlighted to the Local Authority? This measure will also be included in the 2023 SAF. 

• As the theme of carers has also been a feature within Domestic Homicide Reviews, the Kent and 
Medway Safeguarding Adults Board and the Kent Community Safety Partnership hosted a joint 

P
age 200

https://www.healthwatchkent.co.uk/report/2022-03-22/what-happens-when-person-you-care-discharged-hospital
https://www.healthwatchkent.co.uk/report/2022-03-22/what-happens-when-person-you-care-discharged-hospital
https://www.kmsab.org.uk/p/information-for-carers/support-for-carers


59 
 

learning event. A further joint event is planned for November 2023, to coincide with National 
Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week. 

• Communication and Engagement Working Group has supported and raised awareness of ‘carers 
week’ June 2023 and produced a social media content plan for all agencies to utilise.   

Legal literacy 
 
This theme was a feature in (4) 29% 
of the SARs published during this 
period. 

• The KMSAB training offer includes a module on legal literacy. 
• Practice Policies and Procedures working group members updated the multi-agency policy 

document to include situational incapacity and inherent jurisdiction. 
• Practice, Policies and Procedures working group produced a practitioner guide to outline the legal 

basis for sharing information. 
• The Board reviewed and further updated the escalation policy and raised awareness. 
• The Board Business Unit hosted an open session on the application of the Mental Capacity Act 2005. 
• The Board Business Unit hosted a SAR Learning event on “Improving Partnership Working – 

Managing Complexity and Capacity”. 
• To measure how learning has been shared and embedded, the 2022 Self-assessment framework 

included the following standards: 
o The agency/organisation ensures that staff are aware of their legal responsibilities and 

powers to safeguard adults 
o Relevant staff working with adults at risk are aware of the legal powers of intervention (as 

referenced in the KMSAB self-neglect policy) and how and when to apply them. This includes 
Inherent Jurisdiction. 

o Consent is sought from the individual (where it is safe to do so) before a referral is made to 
adult safeguarding. Decisions on consent are well documented. 

o Relevant staff working with adults at risk are aware of the Mental Capacity Act and how and 
when to apply it. Decision making is recorded appropriately. 

o Decision making in relation to adult safeguarding is clearly recorded, justified and 
proportionate. 

o Staff are aware of the legal basis for sharing information and are confident in applying this to 
safeguarding adults. 

P
age 201



60 
 

Working with individuals who are 
dependent on alcohol or 
substances. Including co-occurring 
conditions 
This theme was a feature in (4) 29% 
of the SARs published during this 
period. 

• SAR findings were shared with Kent and Medway Public Health teams, to inform their work in this 
area. 

• Presentations on SAR findings have been delivered to relevant meetings, such as those concerning 
co-occurring conditions (mental ill health and substance dependency). 

• Alcohol Change’s research documents; “Learning from Tragedies – an analysis of alcohol related 
safeguarding adults reviews” ; “The Blue Light Approach: Identifying and addressing cognitive 
impairment in dependent drinkers”, and “How to use legal powers to safeguard highly vulnerable 
dependent drinkers”, were circulated to all KMSAB and working group members, and included in 
the newsletter and KMSAB webpages, to reach a wider audience.  

• In October 2022, Mike Ward from Alcohol Change delivered an open session on alcohol 
dependency, providing more information on the research listed above.  

• The Board has commissioned a thematic review of SARs where alcohol dependency is a factor.  
• The Practice Policies and Procedures Working Group has established a co-occurring conditions task 

and finish group.  
• The Communications and Engagement Working Group helped to promote alcohol awareness week 

2023. 
• The 2023 SAF will include the following measure: 

o The organisation promotes awareness of co-occurring conditions (mental health and 
substance/misuse) and demonstrates processes and person centred practice to overcome 
any potential barriers to engagement.  

Barriers to engagement - how to 
work with individuals at risk of 
harm who decline services 
 
This theme was a feature in (3) 21% 
of the SARs published during this 
period. 
 
Person Centred – Strength based 

• As part of the Board’s work to address the theme of barriers to engagement, working groups have 
also focused on ways to increase engagement, such as making safeguarding personal and making 
information accessible. For example, the Practice, Policies and Procedures Working Group members 
developed a dedicated page on the KMSAB website. The Board’s how to recognise and report abuse 
literature has been translated into 26 different languages, in addition to a British Sign Language 
version, as well as an easy read guide.  

• The Board hosted a safeguarding adult review learning event on barriers to engagement, as part of 
this event, delegates co-produced a good practice guide, which was shared with agencies. 

P
age 202

https://alcoholchange.org.uk/publication/the-blue-light-approach-identifying-and-addressing-cognitive-impairment-in-dependent-drinkers
https://alcoholchange.org.uk/publication/the-blue-light-approach-identifying-and-addressing-cognitive-impairment-in-dependent-drinkers
https://alcoholchange.org.uk/publication/how-to-use-legal-powers-to-safeguard-highly-vulnerable-dependent-drinkers
https://alcoholchange.org.uk/publication/how-to-use-legal-powers-to-safeguard-highly-vulnerable-dependent-drinkers


61 
 

practice. 
This theme was a feature in (4) 29% 
of the SARs published during this 
period 

• The quality assurance working group asked member agencies, through their self-assessment 
framework return, to evidence the following:  

o The communication needs of individuals are taken into account when engaging with them 
o Making safeguarding personal is understood and applied within safeguarding practice and 

that the individual and/or their advocate is involved throughout 
o The ‘think family’ approach is applied when working with individuals 
o Relevant staff working with adults at risk are aware of the legal powers of intervention (as 

referenced in the KMSAB self neglect policy) and how and when to apply them. This includes 
Inherent Jurisdiction 

• The KMSAB facilitated open sessions which included ‘deaf awareness and safeguarding’ and 
‘working with people with alcohol dependency’.  

• The new KMSAB strategic plan made “promoting person centred safeguarding” a priority area. 
• As part of the annual agency report 2022-2023, agencies were asked to describe what they have 

done to achieve priority 1, of the previous strategic plan, which includes to listen to the voice of the 
adult and make sure that safeguarding is personal wherever possible. Good practice examples are 
included in Appendix 2. 

 
Quality of referrals 
referral mechanisms - the different 
ways in which concerns are 
reported to the local authority and 
the consequences of this.  
 
This theme was a feature in (4) 29% 
of the SARs published during this 
period. 

• In February 2022, the Independent Chair of the Board convened a meeting with relevant partners to 
discuss this theme. He requested that the statutory agencies and South East Coast Ambulance 
Service work together to develop a consistent approach or an agreeable compromise which 
mitigated against the risks. 

• This theme has been raised nationally. 
• The Safeguarding Adult Review Working Group developed a one page guide on what makes a good 

referral and why the content of a referral is so important, this was promoted through 
communication and engagement activity Why the content of any Referral is so important 
(kmsab.org.uk) 
 

P
age 203

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/appendix_two__kmsab_annual_report_2022-2023_-partner_highlights.pdf
https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/why_the_content_of_any_referral_is_so_important.pdf
https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/why_the_content_of_any_referral_is_so_important.pdf


62 
 

Defensible decision making  
 
This theme was a feature in (3) 21% 
of the SARs published during this 
period. 

• All KMSAB training modules cover defensible decision making and the importance of accurate 
recording. 

• When reviewing and updating policies and procedures, the Practice, Policies and Procedures 
Working Group ensure that defensible decision making is included. 

• The 2022 Self-Assessment framework included the following standard: 
o Decision making in relation to adult safeguarding is clearly recorded, justified and 

proportionate. 

 
 

 

P
age 204



63 
 

Glossary of terms 
 

 
Autistic Spectrum 
Disorder 

Autism is a lifelong developmental disability which affects how 
people communicate and interact with the world.   
Autistic people may: 

• find it hard to communicate and interact with other people 
• find it hard to understand how other people think or feel 
• find things like bright lights or loud noises overwhelming, 

stressful or uncomfortable 
• get anxious or upset about unfamiliar situations and social 

events 
• take longer to understand information 
• do or think the same things over and over 

Autism is known as a “spectrum” disorder because there is wide 
variation in the type and severity of symptoms people experience. 
More information is available here.  

 
Aspiration 
Pneumonia  
 

Pneumonia is swelling (inflammation) of the tissue in one or both 
lungs. It's usually caused by a bacterial infection or a virus. As well 
as bacterial pneumonia, there are other types of pneumonia, 
including aspiration pneumonia– caused by breathing in vomit, a 
foreign object, such as a peanut, or a harmful substance, such as 
smoke or a chemical. More information is available here.  
 

 
Bipolar affective 
disorder 

www.nhs.uk “Bipolar disorder is a mental health condition that 
affects your moods, which can swing from one extreme to another. 
It used to be known as manic depression.” More information is 
available here.  

 
Care Programme 
Approach 

The term Care Programme Approach (CPA) describes the 
framework that supports and co-ordinates effective mental health 
care for people with severe mental health problems in secondary 
mental health services. In 2008 the Department of Health issued 
national guidance in the form of documentation entitled 
‘Refocusing the Care Programme Approach’ with the aim of 
providing a wider focus for all service users which ensures 
consistency and ensuring that the focus is centred upon a good 
quality of care. More information is available here. 
 

 
Care Quality 
Commission (CQC)  
  
 

The CQC is the independent regulator of health and social care in 
England. They monitor, inspect and regulate health care providers 
to make sure they meet fundamental standards of quality and 
safety, ensuring the best possible care for patients, service users 
and their family and friends. More information is available here 

 
Cirrhosis 

Cirrhosis is scarring (fibrosis) of the liver caused by long-term liver 
damage. The scar tissue prevents the liver working properly. More 
information is available here.  

Page 205

https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/what-is-autism
file://invicta.cantium.net/kccroot/Global/SHQ/KASS%20Safeguarding%20Vulnerable%20Adults/(K&amp;M%20SA)%20SAR%20Safeguarding%20Adult%20Review/Glossary%20of%20Terms%20for%20SARs.docx#_Glossary
file://invicta.cantium.net/kccroot/Global/SHQ/KASS%20Safeguarding%20Vulnerable%20Adults/(K&amp;M%20SA)%20SAR%20Safeguarding%20Adult%20Review/Glossary%20of%20Terms%20for%20SARs.docx#_Glossary
http://www.nhs.uk/
https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/conditions/bipolar-disorder/overview/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/social-care-and-support-guide/help-from-social-services-and-charities/care-for-people-with-mental-health-problems-care-programme-approach/
https://www.cqc.org.uk/


64 
 

 
Clutter Score/Clutter 
Image Rating  

the Clutter Image Rating has been developed to assist in identifying 
and sharing hording concerns. The images can be found here. More 
information on how to respond to self-neglect and hoarding 
concerns can be found here. 

 
CONTEST Counter-
terrorism strategy 

The aim of CONTEST is to reduce the risk from terrorism to the UK, 
its citizens and interests overseas, so people can live freely and with 
confidence. More information is available here.  

 
Emotionally Unstable 
Personality Disorder 

Emotionally unstable personality disorder (EUPD) is also known as 
borderline personality disorder. It is commonly characterised by 
pervasive instability of interpersonal relationships, self-image and 
mood and impulsive behaviour. More information is available here. 

 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

A statutory NHS organisation responsible for developing a plan for 
meeting the health needs of the population, managing the NHS 
budget and arranging for the provision of health services in the 
Integrated Care System area. 

 
Integrated Care 
System 

Integrated care systems (ICS) are partnerships of organisations that 
come together to plan and deliver joined up health and care 
services, and to improve the lives of people who live and work in 
their area. More information is available here. 

 
Kent Enablement at 
Home (KEAH) 

Kent Enablement at Home (KEAH) is managed by Kent County 
Council. It is for people who need support to regain their 
independence after a medical or social crisis. The service helps 
adults to do more for themselves at home, by learning or re-
learning skills that make them feel safe and happy in their own 
home. Enablement is a time limited service which is provided free 
of charge, for up to 6 weeks. 

 
Kent and Medway 
NHS and Social Care 
Partnership (KMPT) 

KMPT provide secondary mental health services across Kent and 
Medway, both in the community and within inpatient settings. 
More information is available here 

 
LeDeR 

Research has shown that on average, people with a learning 
disability and autistic people die earlier than the general public, and 
do not receive the same quality of care as people without a learning 
disability or who are not autistic. LeDeR reviews deaths to find 
areas of learning, opportunities to improve, and examples of 
excellent practice. This information is then used to improve services 
for people living with a learning disability and autistic people. More 
information is available here. 

 
Making Safeguarding 
Personal 

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) is about professionals working 
with adults at risk to ensure that they are making a difference to 
their lives. Considering, with them, what matters to them so that 
the interventions are personal and meaningful. It should empower, 
engage and inform individuals so that they can prevent and resolve 
abuse and neglect in their own lives and build their personal 
resilience. It must enhance their involvement, choice and control as 
well as improving quality of life, wellbeing and safety. 

Page 206

https://www.kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/clutter_image_ratings_-_combined.pdf
https://kmsab.org.uk/p/professionals/kmsab-policies
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/counter-terrorism-strategy-contest-2023
https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/conditions/borderline-personality-disorder/overview/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/what-is-integrated-care/
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kmpt.nhs.uk%2Fabout-us%2F&data=04%7C01%7CVictoria.Widden%40kent.gov.uk%7Ca2ad2ae67c314d6ec44208d9e00699a0%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637787141215648891%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=%2FRpRqk4NQMem%2B%2BSKLfVScTz6TTQzFt7ysJttRKqu87U%3D&reserved=0
https://leder.nhs.uk/


65 
 

 
Mental Capacity Act 
2005 (MCA) 

The Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005 applies to everyone involved 
in the care, treatment and support of people aged 16 and over 
living in England and Wales who are unable to make all or some 
decisions for themselves. The MCA is designed to protect and 
restore power to those vulnerable people who lack capacity. 
Capacity should also be assumed unless there is a reason to suggest 
otherwise, in which the MCA applies. 

 
Multi-Disciplinary 
Team (MDT) – 
Primary Care 

A multidisciplinary team (MDT) is a group of health and care staff 
who are members of different organisations and professions (e.g., 
GPs, social workers, nurses), that work together to discuss the care 
and treatment of individual patients. MDTs are used in both health 
and care settings. 

 
Necrosis of wounds 
 

This is where the wound tissue has died and is no longer viable so 
cannot heal, this tissue is normally cut away until viable tissue is 
exposed to allow healing. 

 
Personality disorder  

A person with a personality disorder thinks, feels, behaves or 
relates to others very differently from the average person. There 
are several different types of personality disorder and symptoms 
vary depending on the type of personality disorder. 
Mixed personality disorder refers to a type of personality disorder 
that does not fall into the ten recognised personality disorders. 
More information is available here.  

 
Peripheral Vascular 
Disease 

Peripheral Vascular Disease, also known as Peripheral Arterial 
Disease (PAD), refers to the development of narrowing and 
blockage of the arteries of the limbs and can lead to pain the legs 
when walking or foot sores. In severe cases it can lead to infection 
and ultimately amputation. 

 
Prevent  

The aim of the Prevent Strategy is to stop people becoming 
terrorists or supporting terrorism. Prevent tackles all forms of 
extremism – including both Islamist extremism and far right threats. 
Prevent has 3 key objectives: 

• respond to the ideological challenge of terrorism 
• support vulnerable people and prevent people from being 

drawn into terrorism 
• work with key sectors and institutions to address the risks of 

radicalisation. 
 
Psychosis  

www.nhs.uk “Psychosis is when people lose some contact with 
reality. This might involve seeing or hearing things that other 
people cannot see or hear (hallucinations) and believing things that 
are not actually true (delusions)”. More information is available 
here 

 
Schizophrenia 

Schizophrenia is a severe long-term mental health condition. It 
causes a range of different psychological symptoms. Doctors often 
describe schizophrenia as a type of psychosis. This means the 
person may not always be able to distinguish their own thoughts 
and ideas from reality. More information is available here. 

Page 207

https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/conditions/personality-disorder/
http://www.nhs.uk/
https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/conditions/psychosis/overview/
https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/conditions/schizophrenia/overview/


66 
 

 
Section 117 
“Aftercare” 

s117 of the Mental Health Act 1983 (Amended 2007) imposes a 
joint duty on the Local Social Services and the Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) to plan and provide after-care services, free of charge, 
to those who have been detained under applicable sections of 
Mental Health Act (MHA) The ultimate aim of s117 is to enable the 
individual to remain in the community, with as few restrictions as 
are necessary, wherever possible. More information is available here.  

 
Section 42 Enquiry 

An enquiry is any action taken (or instigated) by a local authority, 
under Section 42 of the Care Act 2014, in response to indications of 
abuse or neglect in relation to an adult with care and support needs 
who is at risk and is unable to protect themselves because of those 
needs. 

 
Section 136 

Section 136 gives the police the power to remove a person from a 
public place, when they appear to be suffering from a mental 
disorder, to a place of safety. The person will be deemed by the 
police to be in immediate need of care and control as their 
behaviour is of concern. 

 
Sepsis 

Sepsis is a life-threatening reaction to an infection. It happens when 
the immune system overreacts to an infection and starts to damage 
the body's own tissues and organs. More information is available here.  
 

 

South East Coast 
Ambulance Service 
NHS Foundation Trust 
(SECAmb) 

Respond to 999 calls from the public, urgent calls from healthcare 
professionals and provide NHS 111 services across the region.  
More information is available here. 

 
Spinal stenosis.  
 

Spinal stenosis is a term used to describe the narrowing of the 
spinal canal, which may progress to cause compression of the spinal 
nerves and can cause back pain and/or leg pain.  
 

 

Page 208

https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/legal-rights/leaving-hospital/section-117-aftercare/#:%7E:text=There%20are%20no%20clear%20rules,you%20no%20longer%20need%20it.
https://www.secamb.nhs.uk/


1 
 

Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2022-2023. Appendix One – 
Safeguarding Data 

Contents 
Medway Council Data .............................................................................................................................. 1 

1. Background to the data .................................................................................................................... 1 

2. New Safeguarding Concerns and Enquiries ........................................................................................ 2 

2.1 New Concerns .......................................................................................................................................2 

2.2 New Enquiries .......................................................................................................................................3 

2.3 Demographics of Adults at Risk ............................................................................................................4 

3. Closed Enquires ................................................................................................................................ 6 

3.1 Types and Location of Abuse ................................................................................................................6 

4. Outcomes of Closed Enquiries ........................................................................................................... 7 

4.1 Identification of Risk .............................................................................................................................8 

4.2 Outcome ...............................................................................................................................................8 

4.3 Making Safeguarding Personal .............................................................................................................9 

Kent County Council Data ....................................................................................................................... 10 

5. Background to the data .................................................................................................................. 10 

6. Safeguarding Concerns and Enquiries .............................................................................................. 10 

6.1 Safeguarding Concerns ...................................................................................................................... 10 

6.2 Conversions from Concerns to Enquiries .......................................................................................... 13 

6.3 Safeguarding Enquiries Commenced ................................................................................................. 13 

6.4 Safeguarding Enquiries Concluded .................................................................................................... 15 

 

Medway Council Data 
 

1. Background to the data 
The data in this report is extracted from Medway’s electronic monitoring system – MOSAIC.  

The data has been submitted to NHS Digital as part of the annual statutory return for safeguarding adults the 
SAC (Safeguarding Adults Collection).  

 

Page 209



2 
 

2. New Safeguarding Concerns and Enquiries 
2.1 New Concerns 
The following section looks at the number of new concerns and enquiries raised in 2022-23 and the 
demographics of individuals subject to a new safeguarding enquiry. The analysis covers annual trends and 
comparisons with other local authorities in Medway’s CIPFA (nearest neighbours model) comparator group. 

 

The number of new safeguarding concerns raised in Medway has seen a consistent increase since 2015-16 to 
2020-21. There was a more significant increase of 26% from 2020-21 to 2021-22 and a lower increase between 
2021-2022 and 2022-23 of 14%. However, the increase between 2020-21 and 2022-23 is 44% which may be 
reflective of a further feeling of relaxation from the Covid 19 pandemic, it is also worth considering educational 
channels promoting a wider awareness of abuse, what it can look like and how to report it.  

 

3167
2166
2153

1831
1806

1718
1594

1465
1407

1349
1313

1167
1160

1100
1086

964
604

272

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500 3000 3500

Havering
Bury

Wigan
South Gloucestershire

Warrington
Peterborough

Bolton
Southend-on-Sea

Comparator
North Northamptonshire

England
Swindon

Tameside
Stockton-On-Tees

Medway
Thurrock

Kirklees
Telford and Wrekin

Medway Concerns per 100,000 Population 2022-23

965 998
1281 1387 1564 1629

2053
2345

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022-23

Number of New Concerns in Medway

Page 210



3 
 

 

Medway ranks 4th out of the sixteen local authorities in the CIPFA comparator group for new concerns per 
100,000 population in 2022-23. This is 21% below the figure seen nationally, which is closer than in 21-22 
where Medway 27% below national. We continue to assess crime reports from the police or vulnerable adult 
alerts from SECAMB before they are raised as a Concern.   

2.2 New Enquiries 

 
There has been a 6% decrease in the number of new safeguarding enquiries raised from 2021-22, a 26% 
increase from 2020-21 but a slight decrease from the figure seen before the Covid 19 pandemic. Again, careful 
analysis will need to be conducted to ascertain the true impact the pandemic has had on raising and recording 
of enquiries. 

 
The number of non-statutory enquiries has seen a decrease of 25%, with the number of Section 42 enquiries 
only decreasing by 3% and therefore remaining consistent with 2019-20 and 2021-22.   

New Enquiries 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022-23 
Section 42 262 281 408 627 727 501 724 704 

Other 6 27 83 73 119 129 120 90 

Total 268 308 491 700 846 630 844 794 

% Section 42 97.8% 91.2% 83.1% 89.6% 85.8% 79.5% 85.8% 88.7% 

268 308
491

700
846

630
844 794

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900

1000

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022-23

Number of New Enquiries in Medway

Page 211



4 
 

 

The number 2022-23 of new enquiries per 100,000 sees Medway ranked 7th within the comparator group; 19% 
below the national figure which was at 4% in 2021-22.  

 

2.3 Demographics of Adults at Risk 
 

This section looks at the demographics of individuals subject to a new safeguarding enquiry in 2022-23. 

Gender 

In 2022-23 

Of individuals who were 
the subject of an enquiry were female and were male. 57% 40% 

There has been a consistent proportional split across genders in past reporting years. This year there 
were a number of unknown genders at 3% 

1055
711

588
584

543
537

511
420
415

389
387

326
304
303

285
184

90
55

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200

Wigan
Bury

Kirklees
Stockton-On-Tees

South Gloucestershire
Warrington

Southend-on-Sea
Thurrock

Comparator
Bolton

England
Medway
Havering
Swindon

North Northamptonshire
Tameside

Peterborough
Telford and Wrekin

Medway Enquiries per 100,000 Population 2022-23

Page 212



5 
 

 

 

 

Age Group 

 

Ethnicity 
 

Ethnicity 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

White 89.5% 86.4% 84.3% 83.8% 

Mixed / Multiple 0.5% 0.9% 1.0% 1.1% 

Asian / Asian British 2.5% 1.9% 1.7% 2.1% 

Black / African / Caribbean / Black British 1.1% 1.7% 1.5% 1.9% 

Other Ethnic Group 0.5% 0.9% 0.6% 1.0% 

Refused 0.1% 0.0% 0.3% 0.0% 

Undeclared / Not Known 5.7% 8.2% 10.5% 10.1% 

 

The proportional split across ethnic groups for individuals subject to a new enquiry has decreased over the 
years by 6% from 2019-20 to now, showing the shift of ethnic diversity within Medway. The percentage of 
clients where the ethnicity is unknown has increased by 44% from 2019-20 to now.  

 
Primary Support Reason 
 

Primary Support Reason 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 
Physical Support 42.6% 44.3% 45.3% 40.7% 
Sensory Support 0.3% 0.3% 1.0% 1.0% 
Support with Memory & Cognition 2.5% 2.9% 2.0% 1.7% 
Learning Disability Support 4.4% 8.2% 8.4% 7.5% 
Mental Health Support 1.4% 8.2% 7.2% 5.4% 

43%

12%

23%

20%

3%

18-64 65-74 75-84 85-94 95+

43% of individuals subject of a new safeguarding 
enquiry were aged between 18-64 years. The 
remaining 57% were 65+ with the larger proportions 
of individuals within the 75-84 and 85-94 age groups 
jointly accounting for 43% of the total number of 
individuals. 

Page 213



6 
 

Social Support 1.4% 1.7% 2.6% 3.3% 
No Support Reason 43.5% 35.0% 33.5% 40.9% 
Not Known 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

  

Historically the most prevalent Primary Support Reason (PSR) has been Physical Support. However, this 
reporting year we have seen those who are not currently receiving direct support from Medway adults social 
care services take a very slight lead on Physical Support.  The proportion of individuals subject to a 
safeguarding enquiry who have a support reason of Learning Disability and Mental Health has decreased by 
25% and 11% respectively, with Social Support seeing an increase of 27%. 

 

3. Closed Enquires 
 
3.1 Types and Location of Abuse 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

Sexual Abuse
Domestic

Modern Slavery
Discriminatory
Organisational

Sexual Exploitation
Financial or Material

Self-Neglect
Physical

Psychological
Neglect and Acts of Omission

Types of Abuse

S42 Other

Page 214



7 
 

The types of abuse for closed enquiries in 2022-23 reveals that neglect and acts of omission was the most 
prominent reason presenting in safeguarding enquires. Psychological, physical abuse, self-neglect and 
financial are the next most prevalent types of abuse reported.  

 

Assessing the proportions of enquires related to the five main types of abuse over the past five years shows 
that neglect and acts of ommision have always made up the the highest proportion for types of abuse.   

The average of enquiries over the time period remains at 31%.  Both physical and financial abuse have seen a 
decline in proportions since 2017-18,  whereas Phychological and self neglect have both increased. 
Phychological abuse has seen a gradual increase, 31% over 5 years, self negelct sees a much more distinct 
increase; 260% since 2018-19. 

 

The most prevalent location of abuse has been in the victims own home and is very much on an upward trend.  
The proportion of incidents within hosptial settings has seen a declince since 2018/19 reducing from 11% 
down to 7% in 2022-23.  There has been some fluctation in the proportions of safeguarding incidences in care 
homes.  2018-19 saw a peak of 32% but the average over the 5 years has been 26% with 24% of closed 
safeguarding enquiries having been recorded as happening within a care home.  

 

4. Outcomes of Closed Enquiries 
 

The following section looks at the outcomes for closed enquiries covering the identification of risk and actions 
taken.  For those where risk was identified whether the risk remained or was reduced or removed. There are 

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23
Physical Abuse Psychological Abuse Financial or Material Abuse

Neglect and Actts of Omission Self Neglect

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Own Home In the community Care Home Hospital (Acute,
Community & MH)

Other

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23

Page 215



8 
 

cases where risk will legitimately remain after a safeguarding enquiry has been completed e.g. an individual 
may want to maintain contact with a family member who was identified as a source of risk. 

4.1 Identification of Risk 
 

 

In 2022/23 53% of all closed Enquiries had a risk identified (substantiated) and 21% had no risk identified, this 
is in line with last year’s figures of 50% and 24%. 34% of non-statutory Enquiries were inconclusive compared 
to 17% of S42. 

68% of closed Enquiries had action taken in 2022/23 whether a risk was identified or not, compared to 72% in 
2021/22. 

 

4.2 Outcome  

 

Where a risk was identified in a closed enquiry, 30% saw the risk removed, a decrease from 2021-22’s 39%, 
and in 65% of cases the risk was reduced an increase on 2021-22’s 57%. In the remaining 4% of cases the risk 
remained. This still represents a significant reduction in the proportion of cases where risk remained from 
2018-19 to 2019-20 where the risk remained in 10%-17% of cases. 

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Outcome where risk identified

Risk removed Risk reduced Risk remains

43%

30%

45%

10%

14%

9%

11%

13%

11%

9%

23%

6%

14%

11%

14%

7%

7%

7%

6%

1%

7%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Total

Other

S42

Risk identified and action taken Risk identified and no action taken

Risk - Assessment inconclusive and action taken Risk - Assessment inconclusive and no action taken

No risk identified and action taken No risk identified and no action taken

Enquiry ceased at individual's request and no action taken

Page 216



9 
 

 

4.3 Making Safeguarding Personal 
 
Making Safeguarding Personal aims to put the person and their desired outcomes at the centre of safeguarding 
enquiries so safeguarding becomes a process completed with the alleged victim as opposed to something done 
to them.  

For any safeguarding enquiry, an individual or their representative is asked what their desired outcome of the 
investigation would be. Over the past 3 years an average of 81% of individuals (or their representative) were 
asked and expressed outcomes. An average of 18% were not asked and the remaining 1.6% were not recorded. 

In 2022-23 for those who did express outcomes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Over the past five years there has been a consistent decline in the proportion of those asked for their outcomes 
where those outcomes were not achieved and higher proportions of cases where the outcomes were fully 
achieved. In 2022-23 71.2% of individuals had their outcomes fully achieved, which is in line with the 2022-22 
national figure of 67.1%. 

  

71% 

Fully Achieved  

20% 

Partially Achieved 

9% 

Not Achieved 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23

Fully Achieved Partially Achieved Not Achieved

Page 217



10 
 

 
Kent County Council Data 

5. Background to the data 
 
The data in this report is extracted from Kent’s electronic monitoring system – MOSAIC.  

The data has been submitted to NHS Digital as part of the annual statutory return for safeguarding adults, the 
SAC (Safeguarding Adults Collection).  

6. Safeguarding Concerns and Enquiries 
6.1 Safeguarding Concerns 
In 2022/23, KCC received 15,945 safeguarding concerns, this was an increase of 43% on the previous year.  

Figure 1:  The number of safeguarding concerns received in Kent 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

At a national level, the number of safeguarding concerns increased by 9% compared to 2021/22.  

Adult Social Care (ASC) offered a safeguarding consultation service until December 2021.  There was an 
increase in concerns being raised via the KASAF forms once this service stopped.  In addition, in March 2022, 
ASC introduced an online safeguarding referral form for members of the public and professionals to use and 
ceased the use of the Kent Adult Safeguarding Alert Forms (KASAF) forms.  There is a significant upturn in 
safeguarding concerns received via the online form. It has been noted that not all safeguarding concerns 
submitted require a safeguarding response and that the online form could be used incorrectly for a Care Needs 
Assessment or other contact from ASC. This has been noted when a person is waiting for a care needs 
assessment. 

Physical Support remains the most prominent primary support reason, for 38% of individuals, followed by 33% 
with no support need.  

10,450
9,169

11,052

15,945 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Page 218



11 
 

Figure 2:  Primary support reasons for safeguarding concerns 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Primary Support Reason 2022/23 figures 2022/23 
Proportion % change from 2021/22 

Physical Support 4,321 38% 4% 
Sensory Support 259 2% -1% 
Support with Memory & Cognition 329 3% 2% 
Learning Disability Support 865 8% - 
Mental Health Support 1,547 14% - 
Social Support 209 2% - 
No Support Reason 3,708 33% -5% 

 

 

Breakdown of Females and Males with a Safeguarding 
concern in 2022/23. There has been no significant change 
when compared to last year’s figures. 

Age Band Kent (Census 
2021) 

2022/23 Concerns 
Proportion % change from 2021/22 

18-64 74.2% 47% -1% 

65-74 13.7% 11% 2% 

75-84 8.7% 19% 1% 

85-94 3.1% 19% - 

95+ 0.3% 4% -1% 
 

The majority were female, mainly aged over 65 years old, and on ethnicity, white, however there was a large 
proportion where ethnicity was unknown or refused. 

 

 

59% 
41% 

38%

2%
3%

8%

14%2%

33%
Physical Support

Sensory Support

Support with Memory & Cognition

Learning Disability Support

Mental Health Support

Social Support

No Support Reason

Page 219



12 
 

Ethnicity Kent (Census 
2021) 

2022/23 Concerns 
Proportion % change from 2021/22 

Asian / Asian British 3.8% 2% -1% 

Black / African / Caribbean / Black 
British  2% 2% - 

Mixed / Multiple 1.1% 1% - 

Other Ethnic Group 0.7% 1% - 

White 90.9% 78% 2% 

Not known / Refused 1.5% 16% -1% 
 

The levels of unknown ethnicity across Safeguarding and other areas of Adult Social Care have been raised and 
discussed with the Directorate Management Team. 

When looking at the published figures from the national Safeguarding Adults Collection (SAC), Kent has 
consistently been below the National rate, which has been increasing since 2020/21.  However, the 
accelerated increase seen in 2022/23 could put Kent above the National rate. 

Figure 3:  the rate per 100,000 of safeguarding concerns recevied by Kent and Nationally (source: NHS Digital) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

801 848 787 844
738

904

1,283
839

902 943
1,074 1,121

1,218

1,313

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/2020 2020/21 2021/2022 2022/23
Kent England

Page 220



13 
 

Figure 4:  the rate per 100,000 of safeguarding concerns recevied by Kent and South East Regions (source: NHS Digital)

 
6.2 Conversions from Concerns to Enquiries 
 
In 2022/23 the rate of conversion from concern to enquiry was 36%, which is a decrease from 52% the previous 
year, and 60% the year before that.  As highlighted previously, not all safeguarding concerns received require 
a safeguarding response and this could account for why the conversion rate from concern to enquiry has 
decreased. Nationally, the amount of concerns that later became enquiries was 29% in 2022/23, which was a 
slight decrease of 1% compared to 2021/22.  

6.3 Safeguarding Enquiries Commenced  
 
A total of 5,697 enquiries were commenced in 2022/23 which was a 1% decrease on the previous year. 
However, at a national level, the amount of section 42 enquiries increased by 7% compared to 2021/22 and 
the number of other safeguarding enquiries decreased by 21%. For the total amount of enquiries nationally, 
the amount increased by 4%.  

Figure 5 :  The number of safeguarding Section 42 and Other enquiries received in Kent 

 

1,313 1,283

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

5,145 5,087
5,263 5169

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

No. of Section 42 Safeguarding enquiries No. of Other Safeguarding Enquiries

Page 221



14 
 

Looking at S42 enquiries only, there was no gender or age difference in those going onto a S42 Enquiry, there 
were proportionally more with a Physical Support reason and less with No Support reason.  

 

 

 

Breakdown of Females and Males with a safeguarding enquiry in 2022/23. 

The split between males and females remains largely the same with a 
small increase of 2% for females and a decrease of 1% for males. 

 

 

 

45% of individuals subject of a safeguarding enquiry were aged between 18-64 years. The remaining 55% were 
aged 65+.  

Age Band Kent (Census 
2021) 

2022/23 Enquiries 
Proportion % change from 2021/22 

18-64 74.2% 45% -2% 

65-74 13.7% 11% 2% 

75-84 8.7% 21% - 

85-94 3.1% 20% - 

95+ 0.3% 4% -1% 
 

Most people were White (81%) with a 2% increase compared to last year. 13% of people did not have a 
recorded ethnicity.  

Ethnicity Kent (Census 
2021) 

2022/23 Enquiries 
Proportion % change from 2021/22 

Asian / Asian British 3.8% 2% -1% 

Black / African / Caribbean / Black 
British  2% 2% - 

Mixed / Multiple 1.1% 1% - 

Other Ethnic Group 0.7% 1% - 

White 90.9% 81% 2% 

Not known / Refused 1.5% 13% - 
 

Nationally, most people who had a safeguarding enquiry were females, aged 85 or over and were White. Also, 
as with the Kent data, there was also a large percentage (13%) of people who did not have their ethnicity 
recorded. 

The most common Primary Support Reason this year was Physical Support with 42%. This is followed by people 
who had no support reason, which accounted for 25% of people. This is also seen at a national level with 38% 
of people receiving physical support followed by 17% of people not receiving support.  

The proportion of people with a safeguarding enquiry who have a support reason of either Physical Support 
or Memory and Cognition have seen the highest increases of 3% compared to last year.  

60% 

40% 

Page 222



15 
 

Figure 6 :  Primary support reasons for safeguarding enquiries 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Primary Support Reason 2022/23 figures 2022/23 Proportion % change from 2021/22 

Physical Support 1,830 42% 3% 

Sensory Support 114 3% -2% 

Support with Memory & Cognition 152 3% 3% 

Learning Disability Support 424 10% -3% 

Mental Health Support 663 15% 1% 

Social Support 77 2% -1% 

No Support Reason 1,099 25% -2% 
 

6.4 Safeguarding Enquiries Concluded 
In total 5,815 enquiries were concluded in 2022/23, 5,394 were S42 and 421 were other Enquiries. 

Figure 7:  the rate per 100,000 of safeguarding enquiries concluded by Kent and Nationally (source: NHS Digital) 
 

 

 

 

 

42%

3%

3%10%

15%

2%

25%
Physical Support

Sensory Support

Support with Memory & Cognition

Learning Disability Support

Mental Health Support

Social Support

No Support Reason

Page 223



16 
 

Figure 8:  the rate per 100,000 of safeguarding enquiries concluded by Kent and  South East Regions (source: NHS Digital) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This section looks at both S42 and Other concluded enquiries together.  Physical abuse continues to account 
for the main risk, although this has decreased by 8% on the previous year.  KCC has seen an increase in the 
number and proportion of Neglect and Acts of Omission, which is now at a similar level to Physical Abuse. 
There was another increase in Domestic Abuse, with a decrease in psychological abuse.  

It is not known why there is a decrease in the number of physical abuse enquiries for the year 2022/23. Further 
analysis would need to be undertaken to see if there is a reason behind this change if it is also noted for 
2023/24. The increase in neglect and acts of omission could be as a result of better reporting following 
awareness raising of safeguarding. Targeted work has also been undertaken on clearer recording and raising 
awareness of Domestic Abuse, which could account for the increase shown in the table below. 

Nationally, Neglect and Acts of Omission is the main source of risk, followed by Physical Abuse. This is the 
same position as last year. There was a, 11% increase for Neglect and Acts of Omission and a 7% increase for 
Physical Abuse. The source of risk with the highest increase is Discriminatory Abuse, which has risen by 42%. 
There were no sources of risk which saw a decrease in 2022/23 for England.  

Figure 8: Type of risk for enquiries from 2020/21 to 2022/23 

Page 224



17 
 

 

As with previous years, Own Home (39%) was the most prevalent location of abuse, followed by Care Homes 
(26%).  The decrease in Other is following targeted work in 2021/22 by the mental health safeguarding teams 
concluding safeguarding enquiries in a Mental Health Hospital setting.  

At a national level, as with the Kent, the most common location of abuse was Own Home (47%), followed by 
Care Homes (33%). No decreases in any locations of abuse were seen at a national level.  

Figure 9: Location of risk for enquiries from 2020/21 to 2022/23

 
 

Risk Assessment Outcomes:  where a risk was identified action was taken, and even if no risk was identified 
action was still taken.  

Following identification of a risk, 35% the risk was removed (a 1% increase), for 58% the risk was reduced (no 
change) and only 7% the risk remained (a 1% decrease). 

39%

31%

26%

19%

31%

6%

24%

19%

1%
3%

30%

22%

1%
3%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

41%

9%

25%

10%

15%

35%

10%

22%

14%

18%

39%

11%

26%

12% 12%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

Own Home Community Care home Hospital Other

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Page 225



18 
 

At a national level, 24% saw the risk removed (4% increase) after it had been identified. 66% saw the risk 
reduced (7% increase) and 9% had the risk remain (15% increase).  

Figure 10: Outcomes where the risk was identified 2020/21 to 2022/23 

 

38% 34% 35%

52% 58% 58%

11% 8% 7%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Risk Removed Risk Reduced Risk Remained

Page 226



1 
 

Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2022-2023 

Appendix Two – Partner Highlights 

Contents 

 

1. Promoting Person Centred Safeguarding ............................................................................... 1 

2. Strengthen System Assurance ............................................................................................. 21 

3. Embed Improvement and Shape Future Practice .................................................................. 35 

 

As part of the quality assurance framework, agencies are required to report on how they are 

meeting the Board’s three strategic priorities.  This report provides some examples of good practice 

from the responses received.   

Note: Some of the good practice examples may not be unique to the agency but will only have 

been listed once, to avoid repetition of good practice examples and allow for the inclusion of 

other highlights. 

1. Promoting Person Centred Safeguarding 

Agency Example 

Ashford Borough 
Council (ABC) 

Ashford Borough Council Website: Has a dedicated page in respect of 

safeguarding which has a link signposting people to the KMSAB “Concerned 

About an Adult” information leaflet and it highlights that it is available in a 

number of languages; these leaflets in all languages available were placed in 

the Council’s Customer Contact Centre for Adults Safeguarding Awareness 

week, as part of the display.  The leaflets remain available to the public. 

Concerned About an Adult Literature:  In addition to the above, we requested 

translated leaflets for additional languages spoken by our refugees (which 

were not available at the time); these have now been provided and form part 

of the “welcome” pack that is given on their arrival.  These will also be 

provided at the training centre our refugees attend. 

Ashford Borough 
Council (ABC) 

Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week 2022:  Awareness was raised in a 

number of ways to both the public and internally, with staff.  This included: 

• Three face-to-face events in the town centre; this was a joint event with 

the Police on the Monday (Exploitation), Tuesday (Vulnerable Adults) and 

Friday (Domestic Abuse). 

• A display within the Civic Centre Customer Contact Centre, with various 

literature and posters provided by KMSAB as well as some leaflets specific 

to cuckooing and domestic abuse.  

• Display in the window of the One You public health shop in Park Mall, 

Ashford Town Centre; this facility is a joint partnership between ABC, Kent 

Community Health Foundation Trust and KCC Public Health. 

Page 227



2 
 

• Daily information blogs on the staff Smart Hub (internal intranet) on that 

particular day’s topic. 

• Sharing of information on social media.  Not only were there posts on the 

main ABC site, there were also some on our sister Ashford Port Health site. 

• Leaflets for distribution were shared with the Council’s Welfare 

Intervention Officers and Domestic Abuse Co-ordinator to share at clinics 

they held or attended.   Leaflets were also shared with our Refugee 

Resettlement Team to make available at their learning facility. 

There is no known feedback from members of the public in respect of making 

referrals following this awareness week, however, the events were well 

received on the day by those that came to speak to us.  Feedback from 

colleagues in respect of internal communication included: “Thanks for this 

series, it has been really informative and will help me personally in recognising 

issues and possibly supporting others in the future” 

Ashford Borough 
Council  

Ensuring the Voice of the Adult is Heard:   We interact with all of our 

customers by listening and talking to them about any concerns they may have. 

This is done by various officers and teams across the organisation. Some 

examples include: 

• Community Safety Officer and Environmental Protection Officers: when 

carrying out visits or joint initiatives with other agencies, such as the 

Police. 

• Welfare Reform Intervention Officers:  Work either independently or carry 

out joint visits with Social Services giving them an awareness of those most 

vulnerable. 

• Ashford Monitoring Centre (AMC) Lifeline:  This service is mainly utilised 

by older, vulnerable adults, but can also be installed at a property where 

someone is experiencing a safeguarding issue (e.g. a domestic abuse case).  

All AMC operators receive ABC’s level 2 Safeguarding Training and are 

therefore able to identify and raise any concerns they have for referral.  A 

yearly questionnaire specific to the Lifeline service is sent to clients who 

are then able to return it either confidentially or with their personal 

details.  It can also be an opportunity for them to disclose information 

separate to the Lifeline services, such as a safeguarding concern. 

• Engagement with residents in Independent Living Schemes: These include 

various events that residents and others from the local community can 

attend and enjoy, such as coffee mornings, all with the aim to tackle social 

isolation and loneliness.  These also give residents the opportunity to raise 

any items of concern. 

Staff involved in all of the above will either signpost individuals to relevant 

support and services as appropriate, or make a referral via the Council’s 

prescribed process. 

Safeguarding Concerns have also been raised by ABC Councillors which they 

have either reported directly (where there is an immediate concern of risk) or 

Page 228



3 
 

called in to the Council’s Designated Safeguarding Officer or relevant officer 

to report their concerns. 

Canterbury City 
Council 

The Council’s Newsletter: “Tenants News and Views” has been used to 
promote keeping safe messages to over 5000 tenants in the district. During 
2022/23 the newsletter contained items on how to spots the signs of 
cuckooing, fire safety, and how to identify scams. 

Canterbury City 
Council 

Rough Sleepers Initiative - We just stopped by…” cards: The Council’s Rough 
Sleepers Initiative has produced “we just stopped by…” cards. These are left 
on tents and sleeping bags, where we are not able to make contact with the 
person sleeping rough, to give them a list of useful contact details including 
where to get medical help, access to free lunches, mental health outreach 
services, beddings etc.  
 

Dartford & 
Gravesham NHS 
Trust 

National Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week: Dartford & Gravesham NHS 
Trust (DGT) participated in safeguarding adults Awareness week 2022, the 
safeguarding team ran a number of workshops during the week which 
included self-neglect and hoarding, domestic abuse in a tech-society, 
exploitation and county lines. During safeguarding adults awareness week, the 
trust promoted the work of the KMSAB and the resources available by taking 
the ‘talking tea trolley’ to the wards and departments. This gave staff the 
opportunity to discuss the safeguarding adults agenda whilst having a biscuit 
and a cup of tea. KMSAB leaflets, posters and information were given to the 
staff at these sessions. 
The trust intranet shares the link to the KMSAB as well as the ‘stop adult abuse’ 
information leaflets in a variety of languages allowing engagement from all.  
Each workshop generated good discussions especially regarding self-neglect 
and hoarding.   

Dartford & 
Gravesham NHS 
Trust 

#heretohelp- Safeguarding Guardian Badge: As part of safeguarding adults 
week, the trust launched the #heretohelp- Safeguarding Guardian badge for 
use in all areas across the trust, promoting the message that safeguarding is 
everyone’s business to other staff members, patients and visitors.  
 

Dartford & 
Gravesham NHS 
Trust 

Involvement of the Individual and/or their Family and Friends in 
Safeguarding: Family and friends are involved where appropriate in the 
safeguarding agenda, supporting their relatives through the process. The trust 
values the views of the patient, families and carers following safeguarding 
concerns raised in order to improve practice, this has included using examples 
of concerns raised in teaching sessions. The Trust has also supported a patient 
making a short film regarding their experience as a patient, this is available on 
the training platform for all staff to access. The trust has a patient experience 
lead who welcomes patient’s views and experiences in order to support 
patient led change and feedback.  

Dartford & 
Gravesham NHS 
Trust 

Safeguarding Training: Safeguarding training is held as a ‘Family Focused’ face 
to face session encompassing the whole family approach.  During the training 
the work of the KMSAB is explained. The session also covers professional 
curiosity and the importance of being professionally curious.  The training 
looks and demonstrates how to make a safeguarding referral and the type of 
information that is required as well as definitions of abuse. On the whole, 

Page 229



4 
 

information provided in the safeguarding referrals has improved. Staff 
attending the training are aware how to access safeguarding information on 
the trust intranet as well as the KMSAB, the criteria for making a referral and 
who to contact.  

Dartford Borough 
Council (DBC) 

Safeguarding and Mental Capacity Act Training: Dartford Borough Council 
places a strong emphasis on ensuring staff are well-informed about Mental 
Capacity and its practical application, which has been integrated into the Level 
2 training. Compliance levels are monitored and reported to the DBC 
Safeguarding Steering Group to ensure high adherence rates. To gauge the 
effectiveness of training, staff are provided with evaluation templates to 
reflect on the usefulness of their training and track knowledge progression 
from before to after the training. Regular intranet messages are posted to 
prompt and remind staff about supporting guidance documents and where to 
turn if they have safeguarding concerns or seek further information. 
 
The Safeguarding Steering Group staff recently underwent a retraining session 
for their Level 3 certification, while all Category B staff completed Level 2 
training. Both courses were organised by an external provider.  
 
To ensure accurate records of completion rates, monthly monitoring of 
safeguarding level 1 training is conducted in collaboration with HR, allowing 
for the addition or removal of staff members as needed. Safeguarding training 
is an integral part of all new staff inductions and our ongoing staff review and 
appraisal process. Training adherence rates are consistently above 90%. 

Dartford Borough 
Council 

Elders’ Forum: Dartford hosts an Elders’ Forum, which is a means of two-way 
communication with the elder community and provides information 
specifically relevant to this higher risk group. 

Dover District 
Council (DDC) 

National Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week: During KMSAB safeguarding 
adults week, the community services team worked in collaboration with other 
departments and support agencies to deliver small events across the Dover 
District. We used these engagement events to promote the work of the Board 
and for all residents to voice their opinions on the work of the Board. Owing 
to the diversity within our communities, we are able to use the translated 
materials from the Board to remain inclusive in our engagement. 
 

Dover District 
Council (DDC) 

Wellbeing Roadshow: We held a number of events during our wellbeing 
roadshow – 2022. The wellbeing roadshow was set up to help address mental 
health, social isolation and the impact of Covid-19 on individuals. There were 
3 locations identified across the district, where residents were most likely to 
have experienced these issues. The main objective of the roadshow was to 
signpost individuals to support services, offer guidance around safeguarding 
matters using KMSAB literature, whilst raising awareness of charities and 
community groups in their area. 

Page 230



5 
 

Dover District 
Council (DDC) 

Safeguarding and Engagement Toolkit: The safeguarding and engagement 
toolkit has been used on a number of occasions, by sharing the toolkit 
internally and with external partners, we have been able to communicate with 
residents whom we may never have interacted with face to face. DDC has an 
engagement platform called “Keep Me Posted” which is used to communicate 
safeguarding advice, notices and updates, this is complemented by our 
Instagram, Facebook and Twitter platforms. 
 

East Kent 
Hospitals 
University 
Foundation Trust 
(EKHUFT) 

Independent Safeguarding Consultant Review and All Age Safeguarding 
Deliverables Action Plan: The key focus for 2022-2023 for the Trust was to 
address the recommendations as outlined in the Independent Safeguarding 
Consultant review which was undertaken in February 2022. This was achieved 
through the development and implementation of an All Age Safeguarding 
Deliverables (AASD) action plan.  One of the main outputs from the AASD 
action plan was the development of the ‘all age safeguarding strategy’. The 
strategy outlined 5 key priorities for the Trust which were aligned to the 
Trust’s core values and were used to address and maintain compliance for the 
Care Act, Domestic abuse, Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (MCA/DoLS) and Prevent.  

East Kent 
Hospitals 
University 
Foundation Trust 
(EKHUFT) 

Governance - Safeguarding Operational Group: The Trust has strengthened 
its governance at operational level through the development of a 
Safeguarding Operational Group that was aligned to the Care Groups 
Governance, Patient Safety, Patient Experience and Complaints and this 
commenced in September 2022. All key aspects relating to patient experience 
are mitigated at this group and there is now a system in place where any 
complaints that have evidence of safeguarding concerns are overseen by the 
safeguarding team. The safeguarding team also attends the Patient 
Participation Group to update the group on any key developments relating to 
safeguarding.  

East Kent 
Hospitals 
University 
Foundation Trust 
(EKHUFT) 

New and Updated Safeguarding Policies and Information for Patients:  
The Trust was able to utilise existing safeguarding policies which were 
updated, and new policies were developed to reflect how and what staff are 
required to do to support patients. The safeguarding adults policy now 
includes details relating to section 9 of the Care Act, and carer assessments 
that patients can be referred to, a section on making safeguarding personal, 
as well as how patients and staff can be empowered to speak out about 
safeguarding. The new Mental Capacity Act (MCA) Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS) policy, clinical restraint policy, missing persons policy, 
Prevent policy and the new domestic abuse policy all include key areas that 
will enable staff to strengthen professional curiosity. For example, the 
MCA/DoLS policy now has a section on the differences between functional and 
executive capacity and what staff are required to do in the event that a patient 
demonstrates functional capacity, however, how they may need to consider if 
they lack executive capacity. All policies now reflect the need to involve 
families and carers in safeguarding activities.  
 
A safeguarding leaflet to be provided to patients on admission is being 
developed and a new bedside leaflet that is given to patient on admission 

Page 231



6 
 

contains a section on safeguarding and how patients can contact the 
safeguarding team to raise concerns if they have any.  
 
There are now posters on advocacy and safeguarding and MCA and Mental 
Health Act, which all departments now have in place and staff can refer to this 
to support patients.   

East Kent 
Hospitals 
University 
Foundation Trust 
(EKHUFT) 

Governance and Joint Working: 
Safeguarding now attends the Patient Participation Group and reviews all 
patient experience surveys. A Patient Experience representative attends the 
Safeguarding Operational Group and provides updates on patient experience 
activities and agree how any gaps will be mitigated and areas for targeted 
work. For example, deaf patients and safeguarding, as a result of patients and 
relatives raising concerns for this to be addressed.  
 
There is now a new process to capture information relating to Think Family 
coordinated jointly with the Safeguarding Children team and an increase in 
capturing details where there is potential parental mental health and or 
domestic abuse.  

Folkestone and 
Hythe District 
Council (FHDC) 

Training/eLearning, including mandatory adult safeguarding eLearning: 
The new eLearning platform combining adult and child safeguarding went live 
in January 2023, and 376 members of staff have completed this so far. New 
Designated Safeguarding Officers (DOs) receive more detailed safeguarding 
training, and shadow an experienced DO to ensure full understanding of the 
role including how to refer adults to KCC.  

Folkestone and 
Hythe District 
Council (FHDC) 

External Awareness Raising Activity: Externally our Community Safety Unit 
team attended several events at which they raised awareness of safeguarding 
and related issues and how to get advice and support on these – these 
included Folkestone Pride, the Air Show, Turnerstone Community Hub Launch, 
engagements with the Cadets, etc. as well as seasonal campaigns including 
Christmas and Halloween. 
 

Folkestone and 
Hythe District 
Council (FHDC) 

Proactive advertising about the safe spaces: these are refuges for members 
of the public to access for any reason such as fleeing domestic abuse or crime, 
experiencing anxiety or other mental health issues, etc. The first of these 
spaces launched early 2023, with more to come over the coming year across 
the district. https://www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/community-safety/safe-
space  

Folkestone and 
Hythe District 
Council (FHDC) 

Economic and Financial Abuse Training - Welfare, Revenue and Benefits and 
Customer Service teams have recently received training on Economic and 
Financial Abuse, allowing them to recognise warning signs of this type of abuse 
and to reflect on the ways in which they should handle cases where there is 
potential abuse, and adjust practice accordingly (e.g. where an individual in 
financial difficulty indicates that they do not have access to the household 
bank account, not simply asking to speak to the partner who controls the 
finances). 

Page 232

https://www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/community-safety/safe-space
https://www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/community-safety/safe-space


7 
 

Gravesham 
Borough Council 
(GBC) 

Safeguarding Training: All staff and members are required to undertake 
Safeguarding Training. In addition to the Adult Safeguarding Level 1, Child 
Safeguarding Level 1, and Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking online 
training, the Lead Safeguarding Officer has developed a GBC-specific briefing 
and delivered face-to-face training to review the council’s safeguarding policy 
and procedures,  
 

Gravesham 
Borough Council 

Safeguarding Briefings:  There is a rolling programme of live (online) Teams 
Safeguarding Briefings for all staff to book into, which highlights the key areas 
from the Council’s safeguarding policy and key KMSAB messages, such as Carers, 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews, Self-neglect process, etc. This session also goes through 
referral forms and talks through the importance of consent.  
 

Gravesham 
Borough Council 

Gravesham Vulnerability Panel:  Gravesham Vulnerability Panel brings 
together a wide range of statutory and voluntary sector agency 
representatives each month. Agencies may each come into contact with a 
vulnerable adult whose complex needs or support requirements cannot be 
dealt with by that agency alone but requires specialist support from other 
service providers. The lead agency may refer the individual to the Panel, 
whereby information is shared on dealings partners may have had with the 
individual to provide clarity on the level of support already in place or gaps in 
support that is needed. Many cases have been very successfully resolved over 
several years and have included tailored support packages for individuals who 
have been homeless, have had drug and/or alcohol dependency issues, mental 
health conditions or that have been suspected of being victims of exploitation.  

Gravesham 
Borough Council 

Awareness Raising: The council has been involved in a lot of awareness raising 
and led on events around Modern Slavery and Domestic Abuse. The council 
chairs the multi-agency Gravesham Modern Slavery Working Group, and for 
Modern Slavery Awareness Day on 18th October 2022, our Communications 
Team produced a range of posters with helpline contact details to display in 
the Gateway at the civic centre, around the town and in flyers for partners to 
share.  

HCRG Care Group 
(formerly Virgin 
Healthcare) 

Safeguarding Champions: There are designated safeguarding champions 
trained at level 3, with a defined clear role description, within all our teams. 
Colleagues can contact a Safeguarding Champion both in and out of hours. 
Looking forward, we intend to extend this role further to include other 
colleague groups as such as non-clinical team colleagues to become a 
safeguarding link person, supporting the Safeguarding Champion role. This we 
feel, will encourage more colleagues to have a safeguarding awareness and be 
involved with safeguarding concepts and updates.  

HCRG Care Group 
(formerly Virgin 
Healthcare) 

Safeguarding Supervision: All colleagues are encouraged to reflect and 
participate in regular supervision sessions. Teams receive specific 
safeguarding supervision during their team meetings, and this is usually based 
upon a case that the team have had to deal with or a more complex patient 
where we feel that the learning is appropriate. The business unit continues to 
undertake monthly learning events chaired by the Director of North Kent. We 
also hold monthly complex care case reviews to improve our understanding of 
our patients needs and how we can improve support to them. This is a multi-
disciplinary approach to our vulnerable and complex cases with various 

Page 233



8 
 

professionals attending to ensure referrals and processes are being followed 
and that the most vulnerable people are being cared for by the correct 
services.  
 

HCRG Care Group 
(formerly Virgin 
Healthcare) 

Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week: During our Safeguarding Awareness 
Week in November 2022, our theme was responding to contemporary 
safeguarding challenges such as county lines, domestic abuse, cyberbullying, 
and self-neglect. Leading up to the awareness week, we held a national 
workshop to discuss the importance of holding professional boundaries when 
working directly with service users.  This included working through some 
practical scenarios regarding the challenges of social media and everyone’s 
responsibilities and ensuring compliance with social media policies. 

HCRG Care Group 
(formerly Virgin 
Healthcare) 

Safeguarding Information: Across all our community bases and inpatient 
wards, there are visible safeguarding information boards to aid colleagues in 
their knowledge of who the leads are and how to escalate safeguarding 
concerns.  There are also prompts for colleagues on categories of abuse and 
relevant contact numbers. These information boards also display the regular 
KMSAB newsletters, translated leaflets, alongside our own posters and 
leaflets. 

HCRG Care Group 
(formerly Virgin 
Healthcare) 

Community Support: Recognising the impact of the rising costs of living, 
including energy supply during winter, as an organisation, we invested in 
thermal fleece blankets for distribution to identified vulnerable housebound 
persons during our home visits. This was in addition to donations of a large 
number of new toys for a cross section of age groups as Christmas presents to 
local charities. In the height of summer, there were two major water supply 
burst pipes on the Isle of Sheppey, cutting the water supply off completely, 
and we ensured our vulnerable community patients within that locality 
received bottled water regularly and welfare checks.  
 

HCRG Care Group 
(formerly Virgin 
Healthcare)) 

Safeguarding Training: We have a robust statutory and mandatory training 
matrix in place which includes safeguarding training. Service compliance is 
discussed at our Quality & Governance meeting each month and overseen by 
our Head of Operations. All colleagues must undertake safeguarding 
mandatory training as part of their induction process.  Both the Safeguarding 
Lead and the Head of Quality & Patient Safety present key messages at the 
new colleague induction programme to ensure that all colleagues, regardless 
of position appointed, receive the same initial safeguarding awareness 
training.  
 

Healthwatch Healthwatch Kent and Medway websites: During the 2022-2023 period we 
have implemented a new section on our Healthwatch Kent and Healthwatch 
Medway websites under the safeguarding heading. The link leads to a page 
titled ‘how to recognise abuse and neglect’ which has made it much easier for 
members of the public to find and access safeguarding information. The page 
includes links to the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adult Board site. 

Page 234



9 
 

HM Prison 
Service 

Safeguarding within prisons: All staff are trained during their initial training to 
identify self-neglect and abuse by others.  These fall within the categories of 
self-harm, Mental healthcare, and victim support.  Help to care for this cohort 
of men within the custodial setting is plentiful. We have monthly safeguarding 
meetings which cover those with acute Neurodiversity needs, learning 
disabilities/difficulties (LDD) and physical care needs.  We track identification 
through to assessment and care package is put in place.  Those then receiving 
care packages are discussed monthly. People vulnerable to exploitation and 
physical abuse by others are discussed at our monthly Safer Custody meeting, 
with victim support follow ups after every incident of violence. All our Prison 
Offender Managers are trained in safeguarding and identifying signs and 
offences which will make our adult prisoners more vulnerable to abuse by 
others.   
 
We have employed a neurodiversity lead to focus on the care given and to 
enhance the support in place for people with the most severe learning 
difficulty/disability (LDD) needs.  We also have a LDD lead who is employed 
through our partner agency OXLEAS who will spend time listening to the voices 
of those who require extra care and bridge the gap between the prisoner and 
the staff by creating bespoke management plans. 
 

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

National Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week: The KMSAB social media 
content plan was shared on NHS Kent and Medway social media channels 
during the national safeguarding adults awareness week. This saw a reach of 
584 contacts on Facebook and 680 impressions on Twitter.  The collaborative 
activity undertaken by board members to promote the week saw an increase 
in contacts to the KMSAB website. Information about safeguarding adults 
week was further shared on the NHS Kent and Medway website and was 
promoted internally to NHS Kent and Medway staff  via blogs on the internal 
staff system. Leaflets and promotional materials were made available at each 
of the NHS Kent and Medway work-based sites and made available to all 
primary care practices via the sharing of the KMSAB toolkit via the Primary 
care bulletin and safeguarding lead forums. The new primary care practitioner 
commenced a data capture of safeguarding support contacts requested from 
primary care in December 2022. 27 contacts were received in the first quarter 
following safeguarding adults awareness week, evidencing support for safer 
outcomes for the population of Kent and Medway  
 

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

Dartford Elders Forum: The NHS Kent and Medway safeguarding team also 
undertook a presentation at the Dartford Elders forum during Safeguarding 
adults’ awareness week and used this as an opportunity to promote the tricky 
friends video created by the Board. This resource was used to inform 
attendees about “spotting the signs”.  Resources from the board were shared 
including 75 bags, 75 leaflets, 100 trolley tokens and 80 folded cards. Feedback 
from individuals was very positive, with people noting that they were not 
aware of safeguarding before the presentation and asking for additional 
resources that they could take to other groups and employers they attended. 
Representatives were able to link individuals with the boards toolkit where 
information can be accessed.  The NHS Kent and Medway safeguarding team 

Page 235



10 
 

also supported other health commissioned services in their promotion activity 
during the week. 

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

Healthwatch Awards: At the Healthwatch 2023 awards NHS Kent and 
Medway were awarded in the category of involving people in the 
commissioning and delivery of services category as well as in the category for 
listening to people’s views   

Kent and 
Medway NHS and 
Social Care 
Partnership Trust 
(KMPT) 

Safeguarding Training: Training compliments policy content for a systemic 
approach to education and awareness raising. KMPT safeguarding training is 
reflective of both the Adults and Children’s Intercollegiate Documents. These 
statutory frameworks are followed with the inclusion of local learning from 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SAR), Child Serious Case and Rapid Reviews, and 
Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHR) to enable continued reflective learning and 
development to stimulate professional curiosity. Supplementary Domestic 
Abuse, Stalking and Harassment (DASH RIC) training, and Bite Size topical 
safeguarding session have been delivered to compliment the statutory 
training. Making Safeguarding Personal is embedded into policy and training, 
essentially as part of the promotion of openness, transparency and person-
centred care.  
 
KMPT’s safeguarding training compliance has been a significant achievement 
in the delivery of volume and quality to ensure KMPT staff are given the 
support and tools in identifying and responding to safeguarding concerns. 
Training is delivered in a variety of styles to stimulate discussion, and 
encourage professional curiosity. Training compliance has been achieved due 
to the commitment from the safeguarding team, support from leaders, 
monitoring and promotion from the learning and development team, and 
support from the IT team in providing the technology and equipment for 
virtual and face to face learning. Safeguarding training data is collected and 
monitored by the learning and development team for external team scrutiny 
and transparency in reporting. 

Kent and 
Medway NHS and 
Social Care 
Partnership Trust 
(KMPT) 

Professional Curiosity: KMPT front line staff continually demonstrate their 
commitment to safeguarding by providing patients with time and the forum 
to have the difficult discussions to identify abuse. This level of professional 
curiosity has supported patients to discuss abuse and ask for help. KMPT 
referral data is positive evidence of both this activity. 
 

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP): MSP is essential to ensure that the 

person we are supporting remains at the centre of the safeguarding process, 

and able to express their wishes and have their voices heard throughout. To 

further strengthen the feedback received from the adult at risk, starting in 

March 2023, Strategic Adult Safeguarding, working alongside operational 

colleagues initially in the Ashford Canterbury and Coastal area; are contacting 

selected individuals who have been through the safeguarding process and 

have previously provided consent to be contacted.  These experiences, 

described by the person will provide valuable learning and will be shared with 

colleagues to contribute toward ongoing practice improvement. This work 

aims to continue into 2023/24 and will help to shape associated literature and 

Page 236

https://www.rcn.org.uk/Professional-Development/publications/adult-safeguarding-roles-and-competencies-for-health-care-staff-uk-pub-007-069
https://www.rcn.org.uk/Professional-Development/publications/pub-007366


11 
 

guidance in relation to the safeguarding process and how this will impact the 

person at the centre of the support provided.  

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Safeguarding Older People from Domestic Abuse: as Domestic Abuse has 
increased over the last few years, accelerated previously by Covid, concerns 
have been especially highlighted by support services, around a lack of 
recognition of the impact of domestic abuse for older people, and the issues 
faced when trying to access suitable services. As part of Safeguarding 
Awareness Week in November 2022, KCC Strategic Safeguarding organised a 
workshop, in collaboration with Clarion, for frontline practitioners to highlight 
this disparity and to help colleagues to potentially challenge any unconscious 
bias they may have.  This event was attended by over 140 multi-agency 
operational colleagues from Adult Social Care, Health (including GPs), Police, 
and Voluntary Organisations.  Feedback was received from over 70 colleagues 
who attended the event, highlighting the positive impact the training will have 
on their future practice, “really helping to identify potential domestic abuse 
where previously they may not have” - again re-enforcing the importance of 
professional curiosity and recognition of the subtleties of coercive control. 

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

The Kent and Medway Suicide Prevention Programme: The suicide 
prevention programme is in place and delivers outcomes in two ways; By 
funding services and projects which reduce the risk of suicide and self-harm 
and by providing system leadership, research and quality improvement 
projects.  These services include Amparo, who provide suicide bereavement 
support, Release the Pressure, a free resource, offering support for anyone 
who needs it, 24hrs a day, 7 days a week. 
 
Amparo worked with 129 bereaved families and individuals in 2022/23, and 
the feedback showed what a difference this service is making to people’s lives: 
“I will forever be grateful for Amparo, and the incredible tireless work that they 
do”. 
“With the emotional support, I am learning to live alongside and around my 
grief day to day”. 
 

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Research project: The Kent and Medway Suicide Prevention team worked 
with Kent Police to identify that 30% of all suicides in Kent and Medway 
between 2019 & 2021 were impacted by domestic abuse (either as victim, 
perpetrator or child growing up in an abusive family unit). This research 
influenced Government policy as it was cited by Sajid Javid, the previous 
Secretary of State for Health, in June 2022, when he announced that domestic 
abuse will be included in the National Suicide Prevention Plan for the first 
time. (Javid,S. (2022) ‘Health and Social Care Secretary of State speech on 
suicide prevention.’  
The Kent and Medway Suicide Prevention team produced a Domestic abuse 
and suicide briefing paper.  Their research has already led to many of the 
national organisations (including the Home Office and Dept of Health) to 
prioritise this issue for the first time. This paper highlights their research to 
provide frontline practitioners with the skills and knowledge to reduce the risk 
of suicide amongst people impacted by domestic abuse. 

Page 237

https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/domestic_abuse_and_suicide_briefing_paper.pdf
https://kmsab.org.uk/assets/1/domestic_abuse_and_suicide_briefing_paper.pdf


12 
 

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

The Kent and Medway Suicide and Self-Harm Prevention Annual Conference: 
took place in December 2022, attended by 130 in person delegates plus an 
additional 100 delegates who joined virtually.  This event was a great 
opportunity to raise awareness and share best practice in relation to suicide 
prevention.  We can see from Safeguarding Adult Reviews and Domestic 
Homicide Reviews, sadly suicide remains a recognised concern and therefore 
this event and the overall work of the team provides an essential source of 
information. In 2022,  

Kent Community 
Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 
(KCHFT) 

Specialist Safeguarding Service: The Trust has a dedicated specialist 
safeguarding service to support the organisation with meeting its safeguarding 
duties in line with national and local legislation and guidance, and to promote 
the key safeguarding principles. KCHFT staff can access a dedicated 
safeguarding consultation duty line for specialist support, advice and 
guidance, safeguarding supervision and training. The safeguarding team 
further supports staff with complex safeguarding cases, professional 
escalation and referrals into social care. 

Kent Community 
Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 
(KCHFT) 

National Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week: As part of safeguarding 
adults awareness week, the safeguarding team joined up with the Integrated 
Care Board to set up a safeguarding stall at the ONE YOU shop in Ashford town 
centre. It was really heart-warming to see how the One You staff connect with 
the community, it was clear the support they provide is invaluable. It was such 
a warm and welcoming environment. The One You staff had created a window 
display so anyone walking by could see key contacts and signposting with ease. 
Many conversations were had with the One You staff and the members of 
public who dropped in. One person noted they had a shop board they could 
display some of the posters, another took some items to share with their 
church, and someone took away some domestic abuse sign posting for a peer 
they were worried about. It was really positive how the public were embracing 
safeguarding, thinking about themselves, others and what safeguarding 
meant to them.  

Kent Community 
Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 
(KCHFT) 

Safeguarding and Mental Capacity Link Workers: The Trust has safeguarding 
and mental capacity link workers, whose role is to work at team/service level 
to make sure key safeguarding messages and person-centred safeguarding is 
embedded in practice. The link workers meeting provides opportunities to 
share examples of good practice and challenges, and surveys are used to 
determine the impact of the link workers in practice. 
 

Kent Community 
Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 
(KCHFT) 

Safeguarding Audit: To seek assurance on how person-centred approach is 
embedded in the Trust, the safeguarding team conducted a short audit of all 
safeguarding adult referrals made by KCHFT staff between July and August 
2022. The aim was to review if Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) is 
evidenced within safeguarding referrals made, including consent to referral 
and the service users’ views and wishes. There was a total of 56 records 
reviewed for this audit. The audit evidenced that the consent for referral was 
sought in 87.5% and rationale was provided if staff were unable to gain 
consent, 75% of referrals included MSP.  Following the audit further 
awareness was raised about MSP, and that all questions are answered, via 
monthly safeguarding ‘news brief’ and processes and procedure safeguarding 
workshops.    

Page 238



13 
 

Kent Community 
Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Family and Carer Involvement: The Trust’s work to ensure improved family 
carer involvement has continued in 2022/23. The Trust is a member of the 
Triangle of Care which is a national initiative; the KCHFT community hospital 
matrons, carer champions and participation managers presented the 
continuing work to identify, support and improved involvement for carers to 
the Carers Trust who oversee the Triangle of Care nationally. As a result, 
KCHFT were successful in achieving our first-year accreditation as members of 
the Triangle of Care scheme and still remain the first non-mental health 
service to join as members. The Trust embarked on our second year working 
with our community services to develop their development plans to improve 
family carer involvement. The Trust is in the process of recruiting community 
carer champions to support the implementation. In June 2022, KCHFT 
delivered a joint carers conference in partnership with Kent and Medway 
Partnership Trust (KMPT). The conference, held in Ashford, was attended by 
more than 80 family carers and representatives from our partner carers 
organisations across Kent, including IMAGO, Carers Support East Kent, Involve 
Kent, Crossroads Kent, with representation from Healthwatch, One You and 
Kent County Council. The event helped to raise awareness of carers and the 
challenges they face in their caring role and gave them the opportunity to talk 
first hand to carers organisations about their experiences. 

Kent Fire and 
Rescue Service 
(KFRS) 

Safeguarding Training: In March 2022, we started our in-house face to face 
training delivery. Both the Level 3 and 4 and enhanced Level 2 courses have 
been created internally following National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) Train the 
Trainer course. 
 
Last financial year we trained 98% of those identified as requiring Level 3 / 4 
safeguarding training. This Level 3 and 4 safeguarding training was delivered 
to all Corporate Management Board (CMB) and senior roles with strategic 
overview of safeguarding including our Chief Officer and Directors, Assistant 
Directors, heads of teams and all Designated Safeguarding Officers (currently 
23 DSOs across the service). Last year, we trained 93% of those identified as 
requiring enhanced Level 2 training. Enhanced Level 2 training is aimed at 
front facing colleagues who, as part of their role, will case manage and may 
need to make onward referrals, record justification and decision making. For 
example, Building Safety Inspectors and Safe and Well Officers. We are now 
embarking on Level 2 training for firefighters which will run from May 2023-
May 2024. This is in addition to the Level 1 training that they have all already 
completed. To date, 18 Station Leaders have been trained, with the remaining 
27 booked to complete by summer 2023.  

Kent Fire and 
Rescue Service 
(KFRS) 

Raising awareness through recording and change of process: We have 
updated our process of recording a safeguarding concern (which is through 
our control room). There is now a safeguarding referral form to be completed 
after a call is made to control.  
This form provides an account from the person spotting the concerns, reminds 
about consent and to record whether consent was given. It also captures the 
voice of the person. This not only provides better information for the 
Designated Safeguarding Officers (DSO) who will case manage and make 
onward referrals, it is also consistent with adult social care referrals and puts 
the customer in the centre. This ensures that making safeguarding personal 

Page 239



14 
 

(MSP) is acted on each time a colleague is required to make a referral to our 
safeguarding team. Taking on board the learning from SARs highlighting the 
need for better MSP approach. It is possible to raise referrals 24/7 and we 
have increased the number of Designated Safeguarding Officers available out 
of hours to provide advice. 

Kent Police AWARE Risk Assessment: Kent Police launched a new risk assessment process 
for highlighting concerns about adults at risk and children. This new risk 
assessment is based on the AWARE principles.  Aware stands for Appearance, 
Words, Actions, Relationships and Environment.  This new process encourages 
professional curiosity and ensures the right information is provided to 
partners for ongoing safeguarding and support for vulnerable people through 
the Central Referral Unit (CRU). It will also enable prioritisation of reviews for 
onward referrals to partners. In 2022 Kent Police referred over 2233 concerns 
around adults at risk of abuse or neglect to partner agencies.   
 

Kent Police VAWG Walk and Talk Events: Kent Police has held a number of Violence 
Against Women and Girls (VAWG) “Walk and Talk” events across Kent and 
Medway.  The purpose of a VAWG Walk and Talk is to identify locations of 
vulnerability and engage with the community in those locations to better 
understand how Kent Police and our partners can reduce highlighted risks. 
This is a multi-agency approach to understand how communities feel and what 
action can be taken to tackle local safety issues and alleviate those concerns.  
This is important to understand wider public perception of safety and what it 
means to them to tackle the issue of VAWG, reduce vulnerability and build 
resilience.  The objective of this event is to both reassure the wider public and 
businesses operating in the area and to raise awareness on this subject.  Kent 
Police carried out 14 Walk and Talk events across the year and 2 larger online 
events open to the public. 

Kent Police Hourglass IDVA Service: The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
launched a new older person independent domestic violence advisor (IDVA) 
scheme in Kent and Medway in association with Hourglass.  Hourglass are a 
charity specialising in working with adults who are at risk of harm or abuse.  
They have a confidential 24/7 helpline which offers:  

• Support for any older person experiencing or at risk of abuse or 
exploitation.   

• Support if someone is unsure if abuse or exploitation is happening to 
them or someone else.   

• Support for anyone with concerns about an older person, e.g. family, 
friends, neighbours, paid carers or professionals, etc  

• Information and advice relating to safer ageing and prevention of 
abuse. 

More information can be found at Hourglass (wearehourglass.org) 
 

Page 240

https://www.wearehourglass.org/


15 
 

Kent Police  TrueCall Nuisance Call Blockers: Kent Police made available 100 TrueCall 
nuisance call blocking devices to nominated members of the public.  TrueCall 
devices screen numbers and block nuisance calls automatically, thus helping 
to protect people who are vulnerable to fraud.  Partner agencies and police 
officers and staff can nominate members of the public most vulnerable to 
fraud.  Those who meet the eligibility criteria will receive one of the TrueCall 
devices.  The TrueCall devices are fully funded and provided by the Kent and 
Medway Fraud Panel working in Partnership with Trading Standards. 
 

Kent Police My Community Voice: After its launch in 2022, the My Community Voice 
(MCV) messaging service has continued to grow.  MCV is a two-way 
engagement tool set up by Kent Police for residents, businesses and 
community groups in Kent and Medway. MCV enables Kent Police to update 
users with news, alerts, appeals, engagement events and general policing 
activities. Members of the public can choose what information they receive 
from Police and how they receive it – whether that’s by email, text or voice 
mail. They can also share or reply to the messages they receive, enabling 
improved two-way communication, information sharing and problem-solving 
opportunities for the force. There are currently over 11000 users registered 
for alerts and messages.  Messaging around anti-social behaviour, local crimes 
and fraud is regularly circulated. 
 

Maidstone and 
Tunbridge Wells 
NHS Trust (MTW) 

National Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week: During safeguarding adults 
awareness week, the Trust sent out daily bulletins using the Ann Craft Trust 
resources and links to the KMSAB especially in relation to self-neglect and 
hoarding. The Trust’s Discharge Liaison Teams are keen to ensure that issues 
in relation to self-neglect and hoarding are recognised and dealt with for 
patients. These cases very often become complex discharges, with colleagues 
from the multi-agency setting involved to safeguard patients in these 
situations. 

Maidstone and 
Tunbridge Wells 
NHS Trust (MTW) 

Adult Safeguarding in Practice: Trust staff demonstrate a good awareness of 
their duties in relation to safeguarding adults and will seek clarity on matters 
in relation to safeguarding adults from the Safeguarding Team. There is 
evidence that staff will pursue information and take action on behalf of adults 
who are at risk, in order to promote the safety and well-being of patients, 
family members, visitors and staff. Trust staff have also shown professional 
curiosity and concern for people who are not their patients, for example 
raising safeguarding concerns for family members who are at risk due to the 
patient being admitted. 

Maidstone and 
Tunbridge Wells 
NHS Trust (MTW) 

Safeguarding Adults at Risk Policy and Procedure: The Safeguarding Adults at 
Risk Policy and procedure has been updated, emphasising the link to the 
KMSAB website and associated resources. It also includes ‘How to Guides’, 
giving links to the KMSAB associated documents in relation to the guides. The 
Guides include:- 

• How to make a safeguarding referral – hospital setting or MTW 
provider resource 

• How to make a safeguarding referral - community setting 

• How to guide: Self-neglect and hoarding 

Page 241



16 
 

• How to refer for carers’ support 

• How to refer adults who are requiring an assessment for care and 
support needs 

• How to signpost adults with an addiction (suspected or known) to 
alcohol or drugs to services 

• How to refer a case for Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) 

• How to manage concerns raised about persons in a position of trust 
(PiPoT) processes 

• How to recognise and raise safeguarding concerns in relation to 
pressure ulcers 

• How to recognise and raise safeguarding concerns about domestic 
abuse pertaining to adults at risk 

It is hoped that this gives greater clarity to Trust staff about how to follow the 
KMSAB processes appropriately and also emphasises the fact that work in 
relation to safeguarding adults is completed in collaboration within the multi-
agency setting. 

Maidstone 
Borough Council 
(MBC) 

Safeguarding Champions: Maidstone Borough Council has a number of 
safeguarding champions across each department to be the first port of call for 
initial safeguarding concerns, before escalating to the Designated 
Safeguarding Officers for the Council. All safeguarding concerns are logged 
securely, and changes have been made to ensure we have a person-centred 
approach. Our internal form now asks ‘Is the individual aware a safeguarding 
has been raised?’.  
 

Maidstone 
Borough Council 
(MBC) 

Housing Journey Map: Following feedback from residents, MBC has driven 
forward a journey map for those experiencing trauma, to help navigate the 
housing process and to be able to receive more support via the embedded 
links for a holistic approach. The journey mapping has been developed directly 
from feedback, through conversation with service users and victims to help 
understand what they needed at a particular moment in their life.  
 

Medway 
Community 
Healthcare (MCH) 

Audit of Safeguarding Referrals: We undertook an audit of the quality of 
safeguarding referrals, which included questions around making safeguarding 
personal. Findings indicated that MCH staff are aware of the types of abuse 
associated with adults and are able to articulate this in safeguarding referrals. 
They are aware of the impact of care and support needs on an individual and 
how these can increase the risks to our patients, particularly if an individual is 
self-neglecting in a particular area of their life.  Work remains in embedding 
the use of the pressure ulcer decision making tool when concerns relate to 
pressure damage and in evidencing that capacity has been assessed prior to 
making referrals in the best interest of our patients. Clinicians also need to feel 
more confident in having those, sometimes difficult, conversations around 
why they feel a referral is required and in discussing what the patient would 
like to happen in relation to a safeguarding referral being made (making 
safeguarding personal) 
 

Page 242



17 
 

Medway 
Community 
Healthcare (MCH) 

Safeguarding Training and Information. We developed workshops compliant 
with the Intercollegiate Document at Level 3, targeting Mental Capacity Act 
practice and ‘difficult conversations in safeguarding’. 
 
We updated our intranet/ internet pages to facilitate easier access, access to 
KMSAB information and Easy Read documents. 
 

Medway Council  Making Safeguarding Personal: Adults who have been involved in the 
safeguarding system are offered the opportunity to provide feedback on their 
experience of this. At completion of the section 42 enquiry, the subject of the 
enquiry or their representative is asked to take part in feedback. Uptake for 
this remains low, so a ‘dip (random) sample’ audit was completed, this 
identified that no one had agreed to complete this. A learning session was held 
with the safeguarding staff to ensure they understood what this is and the 
importance of it. The plan is to dip sample this again next year.  
We have received feedback from those who use our services that evidences 
positive interactions with individuals, families, and partners.  
“having individuals make contact and listen has made a big difference”  
“I just wanted to say a big thank you for all of your efforts in the beginning of 
our nightmare! It is finally coming to an end and we have managed to get the 
issue resolved with the council. You were compassionate and understanding 
to our situation, that empathy really made a difference to us.”  
 
At the bi-annual divisional meeting those with lived experience have attended 
and told their story. Those with lived experience attend the bimonthly 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Network.  

Medway Council Safeguarding Training: To support practice, considering findings from 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews, training has been delivered on ‘strengths based 
practice’ and ‘developing / use of professional curiosity.  

Medway 
Foundation Trust 

National Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week: During national safeguarding 
adults awareness week we undertook “trolley dashes” to the clinical areas 
promoting the work of the safeguarding team and the wider KMSAB. A 
promotional stand was also in place engaging with patients and family, 
promotion of KMSAB, discussion about safeguarding concerns, processes, 
promotion of carer’s assessments as well as guidance and signposting for care 
and support needs assessments. 

Medway 
Foundation Trust 

Safeguarding Information: Patient ‘what to do if you have a concern’ leaflets 
are available indifferent languages on the intranet pages and the virtual 
noticeboard “Padlet”, for staff as required. 
 

Medway 
Foundation Trust 

Patient First Programme: The Trust is currently working on a number of 
initiatives and during the past year has focussed on rolling out the Patient First 
programme. This is the Trust’s new strategy and is about developing a 
structure to enable staff to identify, develop and deliver necessary 
improvements to keep patients safe. True North describes what we should be 
continually striving towards, the things that we know will create high quality 
care and a better experience for our patients. Under our five strategic themes 

Page 243



18 
 

will sit our True North objectives. Safeguarding is a part of the new strategy 
alongside patient safety and patient experience. 

National 
Probation 
Services 

Awareness Raising: Topics of relevance/interest are disseminated to staff via 
regional and local bulletins.  For example, self-neglect and hoarding was part 
of the adult safeguarding week bulletin and guidance issued to staff in Autumn 
2022. Other examples include the promotion of national safeguarding adults 
awareness week. Messaging included “the aim of the week is to create a time 
where we can all focus on safeguarding adults and raising awareness on how 
to spot the signs and report concerns. Everyone should be aware of the role 
they can play in helping to prevent abuse and this week is a chance to start a 
nationwide conversation about safeguarding, so that we can be better 
together.” 

Sevenoaks 
District Council 
(SDC)  

Internal Steering Group of Designated Officers: An Internal Steering Group of 
Designated Officers meet bi-monthly to support the safeguarding function for 
the organisation and disseminate learning.  Each Council department is 
represented on the Group and raises safeguarding referrals and outcomes, 
alongside sharing good practice. 

Sevenoaks 
District Council 
(SDC) 

Self-Neglect and Hoarding: Understanding and responding to self-neglect 
remains an ongoing priority and there is recognition of the risk of self-neglect 
increasing. Our Hoarding Co-ordinator works in partnership with Peabody, 
funded through the Better Care Fund.  They provide a holistic approach and 
refer onto other services if needed. 
 

Sevenoaks 
District Council 
(SDC) 

Domestic Abuse and Violence Against Women & Girls (VAWG) Domestic 
Abuse and VAWG remains a continuing priority. Our Safeguarding Group 
works closely with the Community Safety Partnership in terms of learning and 
early prevention, to increase an understanding of adults who have care and 
support needs and are experiencing domestic abuse or coercion and control.  
Five training sessions for SDC staff and partner agencies took place in Nov/Dec 
2022 on various aspects of Domestic Abuse and Violence Against Women & 
Girls. 
 

Sevenoaks 
District Council 
(SDC) 

Homelessness: A Homeless Risk Management group responds to concerns 
relating to a group of individuals who are homeless and have additional 
vulnerabilities relating to mental health and/or substance misuse.  As part of 
this, a course was provided, tailored for Homelessness teams, regarding 
adverse childhood experiences. 

Swale Borough 
Council 

Domestic Abuse Support Board: 85% of our local Domestic Abuse (DA) 
Support Board is made up of survivors of DA, giving a voice to those who have 
the lived experience.  

Swale Borough 
Council 

Professional Curiosity: Within internal training “professional curiosity” is 
encouraged in all work areas, and the promotion of “ask one more question” 
reinforced. This has proved fruitful with a recent case. The worker suspected, 
from limited information, that the client was suffering controlling and coercive 
behaviours. With using their professional curiosity and engagement with the 
client it became very apparent that this was in fact happening. The client had 
not identified herself at the time as being subject to this.  Given the time and 

Page 244



19 
 

ability to discuss the behaviours she realised that it was not appropriate. This 
resulted in support being put in place to take back control and for her to 
engage with appropriate support. 

Swale Borough 
Council 

National Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week: Swale BC, along with our 
partners, delivered a public event. This involved KCC wardens, Swale BC staff 
and Police Community Support Officers. Literature provided by KMSAB was 
used on the stand, along with other items around promoting safety. The event 
was conducted on a Friday at a local supermarket. During the event a lady 
approached staff with concerns for a neighbour. She was advised where she 
could report issues and get support, for which she was very thankful.  
Daily briefings of topic area were given and circulated via staff intranet. The 
KMSAB communication plan was provided to the communication team to 
utilise for Twitter, Facebook pages, member briefing along with staff 
briefings.. 

Thanet District 
Council 

National Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week: TDC led a week-long event 
around the Thanet District, to support professionals to share their knowledge 
and expertise with the community, as well as their professional networks, by 
delivering presentations on various safeguarding topics linked to their own 
organisations, related to the topics of the week. Followed by afternoon open 
drop in sessions for the public to come along and speak to agencies present 
about anything of concern. Safeguarding materials were given out to both 
professionals and the public which offered support and knowledge to 
members of the community and professionals. Delivered across Thanet and 
the Thanet surrounding villages. Objectives achieved: 

● Shared knowledge and expertise amongst professionals 
● Shared knowledge and expertise to offer support to local residents 

of Thanet 
● Made positive links with local residents and listened to their needs/ 

concerns and issues  
● Established, and encouraged, networking amongst professionals 
● Gave local residents the information to make informed choices and 

to raise esteem and confidence 
● Gave professionals information to encourage communities to be 

resilient- improve self esteem - make better choices  and manage 
their mental health better. 

Thanet District 
Council 

Walk and Talk events (4 events): Walk and Talk event across the district, 
taking place during the evening.  Speaking to residents and visitors of Thanet 
about safety at night as well as giving information on professional services, 
including KMSAB, and support numbers.  Surveys were taken on the events 
relating to how safe individuals feel.  These were multi-agency events and 
included translators for our eastern European community.  Staff were also 
available should any disclosure or concerns be made. 

Thanet District 
Council 

Community shield: Thanet has over 50 safe spaces, as well as all buses 
(Stagecoach).  Southeastern stations in Thanet are also in the process of being 
‘signed up’ to our safe spaces scheme (Community Shield). Each organisation 
- shops, petrol garages, hairdressers, cafes, buses and trains are all given 
information on safe spaces, how to deal with vulnerable people in their 

Page 245



20 
 

premises, as well as having information on safeguarding for both children and 
adults. More information on the community shield scheme is available here.  

Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough 
Council (TMBC) 

Rough Sleepers Task and Finish Group: A Rough Sleepers Task and Finish 
Group has been established to identify rough sleeping in the borough and look 
at what actions/support can be offered to help individuals into 
accommodation and off the streets. 

Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough 
Council 

Sharing Learning: Published safeguarding adults reviews and information/ 
newsletters are circulated to Safeguarding Designated Officers.  
Recommendations from SARs are discussed at the Safeguarding Officer Study 
Group. 
 

Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough 
Council 

Awareness Raising: Safeguarding information stands have been organised in 

Tonbridge during Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week. Safeguarding leaflets 

and information were available on the Community Safety stand at various 

community engagement events (Tonbridge and Malling Seniors Forum 

information and advice day) and events held in priority communities (Trench 

and East Malling). The KMSAB leaflet with information regarding adult abuse 

(in Ukrainian) is handed out to all new arrivals in the borough under the 

Housing for Ukrainians scheme. 

 

Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough 
Council 

One You Health Team: Action plans are in place to support vulnerable people 

and assist them engage with services. The ‘One You’ health team provide one 

to one support and group sessions for people struggling with physical and/or 

mental health issues.  Appropriate referrals are made when safeguarding 

concerns are raised by individuals. 

 

Tunbridge Wells 
Borough Council 

Safeguarding Training: All new staff to TWBC continue to receive Safeguarding 
training as part of the mandatory induction training. From January 2023 this 
training was moved from online to classroom training and the training pack 
updated. 
 

Tunbridge Wells 
Borough Council 

Modern Slavery Awareness Training: Modern slavery awareness training was 
provided by Porchlight’s modern slavery and human trafficking champion to 
the Housing Options Team in January 2023, to increase their understanding 
and raise awareness of the signs to look out for and to help them understand 
the National Referral Mechanism process. 
 

Tunbridge Wells 
Borough Council 

Social Media: The Council used its official Twitter account (@TWellsCouncil) 
to tweet to its 11,000 followers during Safeguarding adults awareness week, 
providing details of the KMSAB, how to make a referral if concerned about an 
adult at risk and video showing the signs to look out for with modern day 
slavery and how to report these concerns.  
 

Page 246

https://www.thanet.gov.uk/info-pages/community-shield/


21 
 

2. Strengthen System Assurance  

 

Agency Example 

Ashford Borough 
Council 

Our organisation’s internal monitoring of quality of practice and resourcing:  
There are a number of ways monitoring is achieved; this includes: 

• Six-monthly safeguarding update reports to senior Management Team, 
which include details of the number of referrals in the period since the 
previous report and type of referral (to highlight any trends); details on 
training that has taken place; anonymised summary of complex and high-
risk cases; update on the number of Safeguarding Adults Reviews and 
Domestic Homicide Reviews; updates on thematic reviews and self-
assessments; events, such as the Safeguarding Adults Awareness week; 
any update to the Safeguarding Policy. 

• Yearly Report to the Council’s Overview & Scrutiny Committee: includes 
similar information to the above and is set out to cover the yearly update 
of the Council’s Safeguarding Policy; accountability & governance 
arrangements; various actions taken (work of the Safeguarding Lead 
Officers, updates to other related policies, self-assessments, events such 
as National Safeguarding Week, multi-agency meetings); referral update; 
training update. 

• Safeguarding Lead Officers meeting:  These are an opportunity for lead 
officers to share concerns and experiences in dealing with complex cases, 
and are also an opportunity to apply professional curiosity at a strategic 
level. 

• Multi-agency meetings: These include District Safeguarding meetings, Best 
Interest meetings, Vulnerabilities Panel, MARAC, Ashford Community 
Safety Partnership and Community Safety Unit.  Not only are these an 
opportunity to discuss topics of concern they are also an opportunity to 
look at joint partnership initiatives and events. 

• Feedback from internal training, in particular the level 2 interactive 
training where feedback is sought from those in attendance. 

Canterbury City 
Council 

Designated Safeguarding Officers: The council’s team of Designated 
Safeguarding Officers meet every month to review all records of concern 
submitted by staff to provide oversight and ensure responses are timely and 
appropriate. In some cases, additional safeguarding actions may be requested. 
Any themes or trends are fed into the Council’s wider safeguarding group. For 
instance; the high incidence of calls taken from people disclosing suicidal 
idealisation led to the council producing procedural notes for call centre staff 
to ensure they were consistent in taking safeguarding and supportive actions. 
 

Canterbury City 
Council 

Rough Sleeping Initiative – Street Diagnostic Tool: The council’s rough 
sleeping initiative team use the Street Diagnostic Tool. This helps provide 
insight into where people have come from prior to homelessness and what 
agencies they were involved with, this has helped develop the interagency 
relationships needed to support them. 

Canterbury City 
Council 

Safeguarding Audits: The council carries out safeguarding audits with its 
commissioned and third party agencies, who deliver services to adults at risk 

Page 247



22 
 

or children. As a result, the council is assured that these agencies are 
compliant with their safeguarding duties. 

Dartford & 
Gravesham NHS 
Trust 

Monthly Safeguarding Committee: The Trust holds a monthly safeguarding 
committee meeting, which is attended by external agencies, in order to give 
assurances that the safeguarding agenda is being met. We report on referrals 
themes and outcomes, good practice and areas of improvement. This allows 
the safeguarding team to support areas and departments to share learning 
outcomes and to promote areas of good practice along with improvement to 
practice.  
 

Dartford & 
Gravesham NHS 
Trust 

Making Safeguarding Personal: Following safeguarding concerns raised, the 
patient, family and/ carers are encouraged to be involved with the process. It 
is the Trust’s aim to be transparent in safeguarding processes and involvement 
is key. This allows for changes to processes and systems, allows for patients to 
tell ‘their story’ which is always impactful and instrumental in driving change. 
Patients’ stories are used during the safeguarding training. The complaints 
department and patient advice and liaison service also support feedback and 
patient input following concerns raised.  

Dartford & 
Gravesham NHS 
Trust 

Training and Awareness Raising: Safeguarding processes are discussed during 
training, staff are made aware of the journey of the referral and accountability 
of the Trust, the local authority and partner agencies. They are also reminded 
of the Trust intranet safeguarding page and the links to the KMSAB website, 
where staff are directed to find further information regarding the 
safeguarding agenda, processes and useful links.  

Dartford Borough 
Council (DBC) 

Multi-Agency Forums: Dartford Borough Council demonstrates its 
commitment to partnership working through its multi-agency groups, 
comprised of professionals from various fields across its services. This 
approach facilitates information sharing and the identification of areas for 
improvement. Dartford has also adopted a Care Leavers policy as part of its 
initiatives. 

Dartford Borough 
Council (DBC) 

Safeguarding Steering Group: As part of its routine, the Safeguarding Steering 
Group dedicates a standard agenda item to discuss the quarterly referrals 
received, categorised by nature (e.g., adult, child, domestic abuse). This 
agenda item also includes a comparative analysis, presenting figures from 
previous quarters, facilitating the identification of significant increases in 
referrals or concerning trends. Dartford Council maintains a centralised 
recording system for all referral records, subject to review by the policy lead 
to ensure that referral outcomes have been pursued and are actively 
monitored. Additionally, the agenda consistently addresses staff training 
statistics. 

Dartford Borough 
Council (DBC) 

Safeguarding Guidelines for External Providers: DBC’s ‘safeguarding 
guidelines for external providers’ builds due regard around safeguarding into 
contracts using a tiered approach, based on the level of contact the external 
provider will have with children and adults at risk, and the type of service being 
procured. Contract monitoring arrangements are in place where DBC reserves 
the right to check external providers’ safeguarding arrangements at any time, 
on reasonable notice. External providers are also expected to regularly review 
and update their safeguarding policies to ensure they capture the most recent 
legislative and compliance requirements and up-to date guidance. 

Page 248



23 
 

The council also has a “contractor concern” process built into its main 
customer facing contract, as a first point of contact if safeguarding issues are 
encountered when the contractor is undertaking its operations in the 
community. 
 

Dover District 
Council (DDC)  

Multi-Agency Meetings: We attend: Bi-Weekly multi-agency risk assessment 
conference meetings, Bi-Weekly safeguarding meetings, Bi-Weekly 
Vulnerability panel meetings and any ad-hoc safeguarding meetings. At these 
meetings partners come together to discuss vulnerable individuals, each 
partner undertaking their own responsibilities to safeguard them.  
 

Folkestone and 
Hythe District 
Council (FHDC) 

The Homes for Ukraine scheme: The Homes for Ukraine scheme was set up in 
March 2022, following the outbreak of war in February 2022. It was recognised 
that additional resource would be needed to ensure that those entering the 
district from Ukraine were safeguarded, and a new role of Refugee 
Resettlement Coordinator was created to meet this need. This has ensured 
that information and messages on a range of subjects, from the KMSAB leaflet 
on how to protect yourself from abuse, to support with housing and benefits, 
could be shared with this group, so that they know where to go for help should 
they need it. The weekly newsletter providing a range of information to 
guests, hosts, and others is shared with over 750 individuals across the district.  

Folkestone and 
Hythe District 
Council (FHDC) 

Residents at Napier Barracks and Adult Asylum hotels: Residents at Napier 
Barracks and Adult Asylum hotels, as well as adults arriving from hotels 
outside of the district, require particular safeguarding support to ensure their 
welfare needs are met. FHDC work with other agencies (including Home 
Office) to safeguard asylum seekers through a multi-agency forum process. 

Folkestone and 
Hythe District 
Council (FHDC)  

National Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week - Domestic Abuse in Tech 
Society took place during National Safeguarding Adults week in November 
2022.  The virtual event focussed on how digital technologies are being used 
by perpetrators. The aims were to: think about the impact of gender 
stereotyping and misogyny; build an understanding of the ‘manosphere’ and 
incel ideology and culture; identify what incel extremism looks like; consider 
who may be vulnerable to indoctrination to incel extremism; share straight 
forward strategies and ideas that can counter and build resilience to 
misogynistic attitudes and beliefs.  

Folkestone and 
Hythe District 
Council (FHDC) 

Asylum Webinar: In January 2023 an Asylum webinar was held in order for 
the public to understand how temporary asylum accommodation in the 
district was being managed. This was to reassure the public in the F&H district 
area that all partner agencies were working together to address key concerns. 
The webinar enabled a fuller understanding of the roles and responsibilities of 
each partner agency in addressing this issue (including the Home Office, 
Migrant Help, Health agencies, Police, etc). This work is considered best 
practice both county wide and nationally. More information is available on this 
link:https://www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/community/asylum-
accommodation-responses  

 

Folkestone and 
Hythe District 
Council (FHDC) 

Designated Safeguarding Officers: To ensure that the organisation can 
effectively deal with safeguarding concerns, a larger number of trained 
designated officers for safeguarding have been recruited across the 

Page 249

https://www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/community/asylum-accommodation-responses
https://www.folkestone-hythe.gov.uk/community/asylum-accommodation-responses


24 
 

organisation, to ensure that a duty rota can be operated effectively to give 
daily coverage to deal with any safeguarding concerns that arise. The rota is 
updated on a fortnightly basis. This system also allows a greater knowledge of 
safeguarding across different teams within the council.  

Gravesham 
Borough Council 

The LIFT (Low Income Family Tracker) project: The LIFT (Low Income Family 
Tracker) project is a partnership between Policy in Practice (PiP) and 
Gravesham Borough Council. This project has helped to deliver a reduction in 
the number of households in relative poverty from 2814 (44%) to 2,744 
(42.7%). The project commenced in February 2021 with the then driver being 
to support vulnerable households within the borough proactively and 
financially through the COVID-19 pandemic. However, a further driver has 
since emerged in the shape of a cost of living crisis. Between March 2022 and 
July 2022 the number of households in Gravesham who were in fuel poverty 
increased by 16%; 205 households had fallen into food poverty and 
households in a cash shortfall had risen by 127%. The purpose of the project 
is to collate data held by the council and Universal Credit data to identify 
households in the borough that may have low affordability and/or high 
vulnerability to tailor council services to meet the needs of the residents. It is 
to ensure that those eligible for Housing Benefit and local Council Tax 
Reduction scheme are paid/credited with the correct sum in a timely manner. 
It also assists in the council proactively identifying and being able to financially 
support vulnerable households through interventions, without the need for 
them to make an application i.e., removing a barrier.  

HCRG Care Group 
(formerly Virgin 
Healthcare) 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) Assessment: We continue to evidence our 
responsiveness in supporting the changing needs of our local health 
population. Our contributions were acknowledged within our July 2022 CQC 
inspection reports for our four registered sites, rating us ‘good’ as an adult 
community health provider across North Kent and Swale.  
 

HCRG Care Group 
(formerly Virgin 
Care) 

Safeguarding Governance and Audit Processes: Safeguarding quarterly 
assurance reports are shared within the internal Quality & Governance 
meeting, which in turn feeds into the HCRG Care Group National Safeguarding 
Subcommittee and National Clinical Governance Committee which informs 
the Executive Board. These assurance reports are provided to the Integrated 
Care Board, in line with reporting requirements set out by the NHS standard 
contract. HCRG Care Group also have a monthly Safeguarding subcommittee 
that discuss regional and local issues within the organisation, this in turn is fed 
back to the teams via our Quality & Governance meeting.  
An annual safeguarding audit takes place within each team to ensure that our 
required standards are being maintained, action plans are used and monitored 
to address any identified gaps from these audits. This is monitored and 
supervised by the Safeguarding Lead with set remedial actions taken if 
required, to ensure completeness. The Quality & Governance meeting ensures 
that the organisation examines all incidents related to safeguarding, 
promoting the welfare of the adult at risk, whilst also promoting learning 
opportunities.  

Page 250



25 
 

Healthwatch Review of feedback: We undertake a monthly review of feedback received 
about partner organisations and share this with providers to inform and 
highlight issues within the health and social care system.  

HM Prison 
Service 

Safeguarding and Safer Custody Meetings: Our safeguarding meeting is our 
primary mechanism for identifying system issues and escalating risks.  Our 
safeguarding meeting and safer custody meetings are well attended by our 
partners.  This includes, psychology support, KSS ‘Blossoms’ support for 
personal care, psychiatric support, primary healthcare representatives and 
prison staff.   

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

Safeguarding Training and Support for ‘Public Facing’ Staff: Whilst the KMSAB 
Self-Assessment (SAF) feedback acknowledged that largely the role of the new 
ICB did not include operational services, the panel did offer key feedback for 
the ICB to consider strengthening support, training, and assurance for the 
small number of staff that do have front facing public roles, to enable the 
underpinning of knowledge from safeguarding learning.  Evidence of 
improvements were provided in the final action plan in December 2022 
including:  

• Bespoke training detailing responsibilities in line with KMSAB self-
neglect policy and procedures including legal powers of intervention 
were provided for Continuing Health Care staff working with adults at 
risk. Further to this, ICB training was reviewed and updated for all ICB 
staff. 

• Safeguarding support and supervision provided for Continuing Health 
Care staff by attending complex case meetings.  

• Assurance that database systems used by specialist placement teams 
include prompts to document safeguarding concerns. 

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

Independent Audit: During 2022- 2023 NHS Kent and Medway commissioned 
an independent audit from a specialist business assurance provider (TIAA) to 
review the controls and monitoring arrangements in place within the ICB to 
ensure that commissioning of safe services includes adequate provisions for 
safeguarding. The review commenced in January 2023 and feedback will be 
received for quarter 1 in 2023-2024. 

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

Safeguarding Benchmarking Toolkit for Primary Care: The ICB ensures that 
NHS Kent and Medway retain responsibility for supporting and monitoring the 
quality of safeguarding practice for Primary Care services across Kent and 
Medway. During 2022-2023 a safeguarding benchmarking toolkit was 
launched to support practices in undertaking self-assessment with 
safeguarding standards. This has enabled us to target support to practices 
where safeguarding is identified as an improvement action with CQC 
inspections, and therefore support improvement to safeguarding governance 
and performance in these practices.  
 
New internal monthly safeguarding operational meetings detail how the ICB 
is undertaking compliance and improvement work to inform onward 
reporting. The ICB also provides external assurance in the form of reporting 
quarterly on safeguarding standards to NHS England. Submissions have been 
made for each quarter during 2022 – 2023. 
 

Page 251



26 
 

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

Participation in Steering Group Meetings: NHS Kent and Medway has 
established and participated in specific groups such as the co-occurring 
conditions group and the Liberty Protection Safeguarding steering group to 
ensure experience and feedback for larger projects and national changes are 
listened to, and support for commissioned services is planned. For example, 
the work undertaken by NHS Kent and Medway as part of the co-occurring 
conditions subgroup has led to the upskilling of refuge staff, with a view to 
increasing access to safe accommodation for individuals living with co-
occurring conditions. 

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

Escalation of Concerns Leading to Positive Change: A case escalation 
example, supported by the NHS Kent and Medway safeguarding team, 
resulted in multi-agency conversations around availability of care needs 
assessments for adults at risk who are experiencing homelessness on release 
from prison. Linked learning from the escalation, including action around the 
Homelessness Reduction Act, was shared to services responsible for 
commissioning care within secured estates.  

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

Safeguarding Training for Primary Care Staff: Further system wide annual 
safeguarding training for Primary Care staff was provided during June and July 
2022 and saw over 1400 individuals attend. Feedback was received and this 
was very positive with one individual noting “Excellent Safeguarding Training 
session, the best in my 33 years of being a GP!”. 

Kent and 
Medway NHS and 
Social Care 
Partnership Trust 
(KMPT) 

Safeguarding Activity: All safeguarding activity is captured on the DATIX 
system which reports activity to care group managers, service managers, the 
safeguarding team and directors, to ensure a measurable, transparent and 
responsive approach to safeguarding. This enables the identification of 
themes and trends and potential areas that need increased awareness for 
assurance and responsiveness. Safeguarding activity is reported via the 
Quality Digest ICB report, Patient Safety and Mortality Review Group and 
Trust-wide Safeguarding Group, which includes the Integrated Care Board, 
CQC, Police, Local Authority, and internal leads, for a shared and transparent 
safeguarding approach. Any areas of concerns are considered and resources 
and support, via bite-size team meetings, training and supervision, have been 
delivered. The learning and development team support with capturing staff 
training and resource feedback to enable learning, adaption, or continuation 
for a continuous learning approach. 

Kent and 
Medway NHS and 
Social Care 
Partnership Trust 
(KMPT) 

Roles and Responsibilities:  KMPT has Safeguarding Champions represented 
in each care group. Safeguarding Champions have access to bi-monthly 
Champion meetings in which themes and learning are discussed. In addition, 
other agencies are invited to share what they do and the latest developments.  
KMPT additionally hold a quarterly Trust-wide safeguarding meeting in which 
the ICB, Local Authority, CQC, Kent Police, and partner agencies are invited to 
listen, promote, share, and contribute to widening and improving 
communication, understanding of agencies, whilst supporting KMPT’s 
safeguarding agenda. 

Page 252



27 
 

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Carers Month - May 2022: Activity during carers month included a series of 
‘practice postcards’ and an interactive event for carers, led by the KCC Adult 
Practice Development Team, within Strategic Safeguarding and Quality 
Assurance.   The event focussed on “carers perspectives on caring in the social 
care environment”, linking closely to the release of the Kent adults carers 
strategy 2022 to 2027, a panel discussion was broadcast live on MS Teams to 
practitioners across the adult social care and health directorate. Four people 
who had undertaken (or were undertaking) a caring role came together with 
a Service Manager, Involve Carers and a Practice Development Officer, to talk 
about how it felt to be a carer, and how they interacted with the social care 
landscape. The discussion was followed by a question and answer session with 
members of the audience. 

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Registered Managers Conferences:  These events are for Providers from a 
wide range of settings, including care homes, supported living and domiciliary, 
with guest speakers. KCC Strategic Safeguarding attended a conference in 
September 2022, and held an information stall, enabling us to meet providers, 
signpost to relevant services, and provide guidance in relation to raising 
safeguarding concerns.  We also raised awareness of the work of the Kent and 
Medway Safeguarding Adults Board, by using their promotional materials on 
the stall to initiate many conversations.  One conversation focused on a 
concern about self-neglect, and we were able to promote the clutter rating as 
a useful tool to gauge the severity of a hoarding situation, and how to 
progress, depending on the outcome.   
 
In addition, Strategic Safeguarding held an information session at the event, 
giving a presentation on the findings from Safeguarding Adults Reviews and 
Domestic Homicide Reviews, looking at the published DHR in relation to Sylvie.  
The interaction with the providers and feedback received from the event was 
very positive, and identified a real understanding of the issues faced in relation 
to the impact on carers and the importance of understanding the legal 
framework around areas such as Lasting Power of Attorney (LPOA) etc.   

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) Lessons Identified Webinars. The Kent 
Community Safety Partnership held five ‘Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) 
Lessons Identified Webinars’ over the last year. The webinars provided the 
opportunity to share the findings from the completed DHRs with frontline 
practitioners and professionals across the county, as well as highlighting 
where practices have changed, areas that could be improved and changes to 
government guidance. 
 
In 2022, due to the large number of DHRs that had recently been published, 
the move to virtual delivery during the pandemic, and the ability to record 
events meant the same content did not need to be delivered repeatedly across 
the county.  Instead, five events covering four different themes (Children and 
Domestic Abuse, Suicide and Domestic Abuse, Carers and Cultural 
Competency) and seven DHRs (and two SARs) were delivered.  Break out 
rooms and online polling tools were used to encourage interactivity, and guest 
speakers from elsewhere in the country could easily present during the event.   
 

Page 253

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/12687/Kent-adult-carers-strategy.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/12687/Kent-adult-carers-strategy.pdf


28 
 

An event involving bereaved family members was also held this year, which 
had an overwhelmingly positive response.  The two Children and Domestic 
Abuse themed webinars were delivered jointly with the Kent Safeguarding 
Children Multi-Agency Partnership (KMSCP) and the Carers themed webinar 
was delivered with the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board (KMSAB) 
and included two SARs. 
 
The five webinars were delivered with over 600 people attending in total. 
Feedback was sought to help evaluate the effectiveness of the webinars and 
to shape future events.  Overall, feedback was received from over 180 
attendees who indicated the events were very well received, a selection of 
comments are below; 

• ‘I will reflect more on relationships of carers and the cared for. I will 
have more professional curiosity and consider language used during 
assessments. ‘   

• ‘Reinforces the need to listen to what is being said to you by a client. 
Sometimes it is the unsaid that speaks the most volume and can 
highlight the need for them needing more support.’ ‘I found the 
seminar completely engaging and well put together. The information 
provided and the space to reflect was suitable within the time 
allocated. Very well done!’ 

 

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Kent Community Warden Service: The Kent Community Warden Service 
continues to see our wardens trained as ESTHER Improvement Coaches, who 
support the development of other staff across organisational and professional 
boundaries and create a culture of continuous improvement and sustainable 
development.  Under the Esther model professionals ask “what is best for 
Esther?” to ensure person-centred care and builds on the strengths of our 
Community Wardens, highlighting their ability to adapt to community and the 
individual residents’ need(s).  
 
The work undertaken by the Community Wardens covers a wide range of 
situations and circumstances including many examples of social isolation, self-
neglect and hoarding, substance dependency, dementia cafés and one case 
also included support for depression and improving mental health and 
wellbeing. Adult Social Care colleagues work closely with the Community 
Warden Service, who are a recognised trusted member of the communities 
they support.  
 
Example: 
A Community Warden set up ‘Let’s Eat’ over a year ago for one of the 
communities they support, by gathering support from local businesses and the 
Parish Council who helped finance the project and the local college providing 
the services of their catering students. The project tackles social isolation and 
food poverty. The Christmas dinner event in 2022 saw around 40 residents 
attend to share food and conversation in the warmth. This event has fostered 
several new friendships during the time the project has been running, which 
is helping to alleviate social isolation and loneliness. At the Let’s Eat events, 
the Community Warden provides the opportunity for residents to talk with 

Page 254

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9djk_MD18Pc&t=1s


29 
 

them on an individual basis – a surgery to raise concerns and issues. This has 
helped residents to find solutions to address multiple issues which may have 
otherwise continued. Due to its success this is now a monthly event which now 
runs alongside a ‘Let’s Chat’ coffee morning 

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Financial Abuse Toolkit: In October 2022, KCC Financial Services team, in 
collaboration with Adult Strategic Safeguarding, reviewed and updated the 
Financial Abuse Toolkit and shared this resource with the Kent and Medway 
Safeguarding Adults Board for multi-agency partners to use as appropriate. 
The toolkit aims to provide practitioners, and those working and supporting 
adults in social care and health, with the information they need to recognise, 
and report suspected cases of financial abuse. The toolkit highlights how 
effective partnership working between departments, such as Adult Social Care 
and Health, Internal Audit & Counter Fraud, Trading Standards, Client Financial 
Services & Safeguarding as well as external partners e.g. Kent Police, Care 
Quality Commission and NHS Counter Fraud Service, may create better 
outcomes for adults and offer more robust investigatory actions.  Providing 
case examples that demonstrate how financial abuse safeguarding enquiries 
(Section 42 of the Care Act 2014) can be conducted effectively and links to 
additional useful resources. 

Kent Community 
Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 

KCHFT Learning Disability Team: In 2022/23 the KCHFT Learning Disability 
Team has provided support to various residential/ care settings to improve the 
care being provided to clients with learning disabilities and to reduce the risk 
of poor care provision leading to potential safeguarding. Where safeguarding 
concerns have been raised in care settings for people with learning disabilities 
and CQC are involved or where care settings have struggled to maintain CQC 
standards, the KCHFT learning disability staff increased their presence within 
these settings, supported the training of staff who work in the settings, helping 
to improve quality of care and ensured the needs and voices of the clients are 
heard and met. 

Kent Community 
Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 

KCHFT Frequent Service User Service (FSU). The KCHFT Frequent Service User 
Service (FSU) works with frequent users of the urgent care system, those 
attending accident and emergency departments in West Kent.  The team 
works closely with safeguarding, and all the agencies involved in a patient’s 
care, to support and ensure safety and wellbeing.  In 2022/23 the FSU team 
continued to provide a holistic and patient led model of care and support. The 
outcomes demonstrated that the support, provided by the FSU team, 
improved measures for anxiety, loneliness and isolation, perceived health and 
continued to demonstrate a reduction in urgent care use on average by 70-
85%.  

Kent Community 
Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 

KCHFT Rough Sleepers Service: In 2022/23 the work of the KCHFT Rough 
Sleepers Service continued, the service received 252 referrals from local 
authorities across Kent and Medway and provided a total of 790 treatment 
interventions. The primary function of the service is to provide easy access to 
health care to people who are homeless or rough sleeping across the county, 
with the aim of promoting self-management and support to re-engage with 
mainstream services. The service runs regular clinics held at dedicated venues 
across the districts, where clients can drop in to see the complex care nurse 

Page 255

https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms2/media/16931/financial-abuse-toolkit.pdf


30 
 

and can receive treatment, advice, support, and an onward referral if 
necessary. The team will also go to the client’s temporary address or to where 
they are rough sleeping. The focus is to support people managing long term 
conditions and referrals to Dentaid who provide a mobile dental service to 
homeless and rough sleeper service users identified by the KCHFT rough 
sleeper service in agreed localities. Multi agency working is key to the service 
delivery, offering holistic support alongside relevant agencies (substance 
misuse, housing, voluntary sector, police etc). The service users were asked ‘If 
you had not been seen today (by the KCHFT nurse) would you have gone 
elsewhere for health advice?’ out of 21 people who were asked, 18 responded 
to say they would not have sought help, 1 would have gone to the hospital, 1 
to the chemist and 1 would have used the GP. 

Kent Fire and 
Rescue Service 
(KFRS) 

Roles and Responsibilities: Over the past year we have invited different 
agencies to attend our Designated Safeguarding Officer team meetings to 
improve our understanding of their role and responsibilities. For example: 
Area Referral Management Team for KCC, Kent Police Modern Slavery Input 
and KCC Gypsy and Traveller Site Managers. It has been really worthwhile for 
us to understand more about other teams and by building good networks we 
have been able to work more collaboratively together.  
 

Kent Fire and 
Rescue Service 
(KFRS) 

Inspections and Audits:  
HMICFRS: His Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire Rescue Services 
(HIMCFRS) carried out their inspection of KFRS from June-July 2022. The 
report was published in January 2023 and HMICFRS graded the service: 

• ‘good’ at effectively keeping people safe and secure from fire and other 
risks; 

• ‘outstanding’ at efficiently keeping people safe and secure from fire and 
other risks; and 

• ‘good’ at looking after its people. 
Safeguarding comments were as follows: The service responds well to 
safeguarding concerns. Staff we interviewed told us about occasions when 
they had identified safeguarding problems and gave us specific examples. 
They told us they feel confident and trained to act appropriately and promptly. 
There is a safeguarding competency framework in place for all staff, who 
complete mandatory training. The service’s e-learning package has also been 
adopted by two other services. The service continues to learn from events, 
such as domestic homicide reviews, safeguarding adults reviews and serious 
case reviews. These are actioned and monitored through the service’s 
operational learning processes. Since our last inspection the service has also 
introduced a dedicated safeguarding team. 
 
KCC Audit. In February 2023 Kent County Council carried out an internal audit 
of safeguarding at KFRS. Their report was published in March 2023, and they 
awarded the service as HIGH assurance, which is the highest mark achievable. 
This is a fantastic result and shows the progression of safeguarding within the 
service since the last audit in 2019. 

Page 256

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/news/news-feed/kent-frs-congratulated-for-strong-performance/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/frs-assessment/frs-2021/kent/effectiveness/


31 
 

Kent Police Data: In 2022 Kent Police investigated 4832 crimes involving adults at risk.  
Furthermore, Kent Police notified the Local Authority of 2233 safeguarding 
concerns involving adults at risk.  

Kent Police Kent & Medway Fraud Panel: Working closely with partners, Kent Police has 
established and chairs the Kent and Medway Fraud Panel.   The Fraud Panel 
has been formed to work collaboratively in investigating allegations of fraud, 
prosecution of offenders, recovery of criminal assets and the safeguarding of 
residents and victims.   

Kent Police Domestic Abuse Hub: The Domestic Abuse (DA) Hub went live in May 2022 
and provides the public with a ‘Rapid Video Response (RVR)’ option for those 
reporting high risk non-immediate DA calls.  By using technology to interact 
with victims at the earliest opportunity, the DA Hub identifies risks quicker, 
tasks fast time actions, coordinates the swift arrest of high harm perpetrators 
and makes immediate referrals to partners. During the first six months officers 
and staff within the DA Hub have spoken on video for over 1,510 hours and 
provided first response to 1,903 victims. 

Kent Police Special Measures Advisor: Recognising the need to support those vulnerable 
to harm and abuse to navigate the criminal justice process, Kent Police has 
introduced a new role for 12 months called the Special Measures Advisor. The 
main responsibility within the role is working across the force to improve the 
identification and update of special measures, to support vulnerable victims 
and witnesses when providing evidence. 

Maidstone and 
Tunbridge Wells 
NHS Trust (MTW) 

Quality Assurance of Safeguarding Concern Referrals: All Trust staff are able 
to raise safeguarding concerns both in relation to hospital related incidents 
and for community related incidents. All safeguarding concern forms are 
copied into the MTW safeguarding team and are reviewed. These reviews 
highlighted that a small percentage of safeguarding concern forms are not 
appropriate referrals for safeguarding and as a result direct feedback was given 
individually to staff. It became apparent that the safeguarding concern form 
was being used by Trust staff to refer for a care needs assessment under the 
Care Act (2014) or for a carers assessment under the same Act. As a direct 
response to this confusion the Safeguarding Team developed an ‘Infographic’ 
to inform staff about the different referral routes for their patients. This has 
also been sent out Trust wide via our Communications Team and can be used 
as a poster for staff to refer to. 

Maidstone and 
Tunbridge Wells 
NHS Trust (MTW) 

The Mental Capacity Assessment re-audit: The Mental Capacity Assessment 
re-audit in 2023 demonstrated an improvement in staff documenting their 
mental capacity assessments for our patients, however the Trust is keen to 
ensure that the compliance of documenting assessments of mental capacity is 
increased. As such, the Trust has developed an Action Plan to work to, to 
enable staff to improve their practice and increase their confidence and 
competency in relation to MCA. The Trust’s MCA Clinical Nurse Specialist is 
working to ensure that this Action Plan is completed. Also, this specialist is 
delivering Level 3 MCA training and bespoke MCA/DOLS training where 
indicated and requested. It is hoped that this will enable staff to grow their 
confidence in applying the Mental Capacity Act (2005) into their practice. 

Page 257



32 
 

Maidstone and 
Tunbridge Wells 
NHS Trust (MTW) 

Trusts Safeguarding Team: The Trust’s Safeguarding Team has grown in the 
past year; in that we now have a senior nurse covering the Mental Capacity 
agenda. This nurse also deputises for the Named Nurse for Safeguarding 
Adults in an absence, and this has proven to be a positive course of action. 
However, of note, the Matron cohort have a strong attitude towards getting 
safeguarding right and are very much of the view that safeguarding is 
everyone’s business. They are able to spread this attitude out within the Trust 
and are good allies to the safeguarding agenda. 

Maidstone and 
Tunbridge Wells 
NHS Trust (MTW) 

Safeguarding Learning and Improvement Panel: The Trust’s Safeguarding 
Learning and Improvement Panel is a sub panel to the Trust’s main Serious 
Investigations (SI) Panel. This panel is chaired by the Deputy Chief Nurse for 
Quality & Experience, with the Named Nurse for Safeguarding Adults, and 
Designated Nurse representation from the ICB. The purpose of this panel is to 
review Safeguarding Investigation Reports and the ensuing learning and action 
plans emanating from these investigations. As part of that review, we check 
with the presenters of the investigation their understanding of the nature of 
adult safeguarding and check that the investigation has answered all of the 
concerns that have been raised. The panel then decides whether or not the 
allegation of abuse is upheld, partially upheld, insufficient evidence, no further 
action under safeguarding, or not upheld.  
 

Maidstone 
Borough Council 
(MBC) 

Multi-Agency Meetings: We hold or attend a large number of multi-agency 
meetings to ensure individuals/families are safeguarded and have the relevant 
support. Some of these meetings include:  

• Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDTs) led by NHS  

• Community Safety and Vulnerable Person’s Group  

• Domestic Abuse Forum  

• multi-agency risk assessment conference (domestic abuse)  

• Multi-agency public protection arrangements (MAPPA) 

• Homeless Prevention Forum  
 

Maidstone 
Borough Council 
(MBC) 

Trauma informed Practice: In 2022 we hosted the first trauma-informed event 
titled ‘Reframe for Resilience’, alongside colleagues at KCC, which saw 48 
attendees from a wide-range of organisations across Kent. The event is being 
repeated in July 2023, following its success.  
 

Medway Council Multi-disciplinary Team Meeting (MDT): A monthly joint multi-disciplinary 
team meeting (MDT) has been developed between adult social care and drug 
and alcohol services. During the meeting, safeguarding cases are identified by 
both Turning Point and Adult Social Care. Case discussions are held in the MDT 
and joint care plans for individuals are discussed and agreed. This has enabled 
robust joint visits, when necessary, identification of those individuals where 
there are barriers to engagement and benefit from face to face interactions, 
it has prevented delay and duplication and provided a forum in which all 
discussions are recorded and monitored. The Principal Social Worker, in the 
weekly adult social care update has shared a reflection on multiagency 
working and shared this link.  

Page 258



33 
 

https://www.scie.org.uk/integrated-care/research-
practice/activities/multidisciplinary-teams 

Medway Council  Performance Data: Team Managers and Senior Social Workers use Power BI 
(data system) to monitor activity performance. This feeds into a safeguarding 
dashboard which is scrutinised by senior managers. Further oversight is 
provided through our Quality Assurance & Improvement Board, chaired by the 
Director. If any issues are identified, action plans are agreed to address these, 
for example, audit activity, learning sessions. This forms part of our internal 
assurance process.  
Safeguarding case audits have been completed quarterly in the last year. The 
audit cycle is month 1 audit, month 2 analysis, month 3 learning.  
The principal Social Worker and Operational Safeguarding Lead have been 
working on a new Quality Assurance Framework, that is due to be finalised in 
2023.  

Medway Council  High-Risk Panel: The internal High-Risk Panel continues to support 
practitioners working with individuals we find difficult to engage, make what 
appear to be unwise decisions and live with a high level of risk. This supports 
practitioners and ensures senior management are aware of these individuals.  
 
Work continues on the operational guidance for staff where individuals do not 
engage and how MOSAIC (internal computer system) can be used to ensure 
that there is management oversight where interventions are closed due to 
non-engagement.  

Medway Council Multi-agency Collaboration: Collaborative partnership working has 
continued. From an exercise previously completed, to identify the different 
multi agency panels across Medway, Adult Social Care now has a presence on 
every panel, including, Multi-agency risk assessment conference (for high risk 
domestic abuse), Blue Light (for individuals with drug and/or alcohol 
dependency), Integrated Locality Review and Vulnerability panels. These also 
serve as a mechanism to share the role and remit of adult social care with 
partner agencies and those who use services.  

Medway 
Foundation Trust 

Governance Arrangements: The Trust has strengthened its internal 
governance and assurance processes over the past year. There is visibility of 
safeguarding from ‘Ward to Board’. We have provided Board level training to 
the executive and non-executive members of the Board. Highlighting the key 
themes and issues for safeguarding our patients. 

Medway 
Foundation Trust 

Multi-agency Collaboration: In the past year we have re-established 
safeguarding management meetings, with the ICB designate and social care 
representatives, for 6 weekly reviews of open safeguarding cases. It is an 
opportunity to discuss and challenge outcomes. This allows for more effective 
and timely outcomes and learning to be identified.   

The Trust works in conjunction with Oasis domestic abuse charity, IMCA Libra 
service, DoLS office, IMAGO, Forward Trust, Integrated Discharge Team and 
social care to provide safe discharge for patients. 

Page 259

https://www.scie.org.uk/integrated-care/research-practice/activities/multidisciplinary-teams
https://www.scie.org.uk/integrated-care/research-practice/activities/multidisciplinary-teams


34 
 

National 
Probation Service 

Common Assessment Tool: The Probation Service uses a common assessment 
tool to assess risk and need. This is called OASys and an assessment is expected 
to be completed in all probation managed cases.  Included in the OASys is an 
assessment of vulnerability of a person on probation.  There is also a 
mechanism to flag such cases on our national case management system. 

National 
Probation Service 

Multi-agency Collaboration: The Probation Service is not an accommodation 
provider but works in partnership with Local Housing Authorities and Social 
Services Departments to try and meet accommodation needs.   

Sevenoaks 
District Council 
(SDC) 

Safeguarding Reporting System: A new Safeguarding Reporting System is in 
place and came into effect from Dec 2022.  The QES systems means that all 
referrals are in one place and staff manage them directly. 

 

Swale Borough 
Council 

KMSAB Resolving Professional Differences, Escalation Policy: The newly 
revised Resolving Professional Differences Policy has been embedded within 
local practice and this is included in the safeguarding policy. This has been 
used in several cases to progress actions where necessary. 

Swale Borough 
Council 

Swale Vulnerability Panel: This panel continues to run smoothly and continue 
to have good partnership buy in.  
 

Thanet District 
Council 

Multi Agency Hub: Thanet District Council has a multi-agency hub, which 
includes: Thanet District Council, Kent Police, multi-agency task force, 
Department of Work and Pensions, Kent Fire and Rescue Service, Social Care, 
and more agencies which hot desk from the environment.  This group of 
people sit within the main council offices. Information is shared to allow an 
immediate action to take place and/or a plan to be put in place for 
safeguarding concerns raised. 
 

Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough 
Council 

Certificated Courses for Taxi Drivers:  Certificated courses for taxi drivers take 
place - this includes the completion of a safeguarding test. 
 

Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough 
Council 

Weekly Community Safety Meetings.  Weekly Community Safety meetings 
take place, with Police and partner agencies, to share concerns.  Safeguarding, 
hoarding, exploitation and vulnerable adults are standing items on the 
agenda. 
 

Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough 
Council 

Vulnerable Persons Board: A monthly Vulnerable Persons Board (which is 
linked to the Community Safety Partnership with Borough Council reps 
attending), ensures that we’re sharing information in relation to vulnerable 
people. 

Tunbridge Wells 
Borough Council  

Quality Assurance: Work commenced in 2022-23, led by the Strategic and 
Operational Safeguarding Leads, to help identify system issues and increase 
assurance that the Council has effective safeguarding arrangements in place.  
A review is being undertaken in relation to posts within the organisation and 
ensuring posts have a safeguarding level clearly defined and that appropriate 
training is targeted to staff at these levels. Work is also ongoing to review the 
Council’s standard contracts templates and procurement process, to ensure 

Page 260



35 
 

that there is greater reference to safeguarding responsibilities of persons 
contracted by the Council to deliver services.  This work commenced in 2022-
23 but is ongoing and will be concluded in 2023-24. 
 

Tunbridge Wells 
Borough Council 

Multi-Agency Working: There are several examples of the Council leading on, 
and being a key stakeholder in, multi-agency work to effectively support the 
safeguarding of vulnerable adults, which are also examples of how agencies 
increase their understanding or the roles and responsibilities of partner 
organisations. 

• Rough Sleeper meetings – the Housing Options Team leads 3-weekly 
rough sleeper meetings, focusing on multi-agency partnership work to 
support individuals identified as rough sleeping. Individual rough 
sleepers are discussed, and appropriate actions taken by partners to 
safeguard the welfare of individuals and supporting them away from 
the street. Agencies in attendance include Change Grow Live, Kent 
Police, Porchlight, Lookahead, NHS, Bridge Trust, Probation, Mosaic 
Centre. 

• Domestic Abuse Forum – The Community Protection teams across 
West Kent hold Quarterly Domestic Abuse Forums with representation 
from the West Kent district councils, Kent Police, KCC, Lookahead, Dad 
United, Domestic Abuse Volunteer Support Services, Family Matters, 
NHS, Protection Action Stalking, Clarion, Sanctuary Housing, West Kent 
YMCA, West Kent Housing Association, Victim Support. The forum 
focuses on multi-agency partnership working in the area of domestic 
abuse and achievements against the West Kent Action Plan, which has 
been updated for 2023-24 to have 4 key priorities:  

o Provide support for survivors of domestic abuse 
o Support for children and young people 
o Support and sanction for perpetrators 
o Education, promotion and prevention 

• Tunbridge Wells Vulnerability Board - The Vulnerability Board is a 
multi-agency practitioners’ group that enables and encourages 
partnership working to protect vulnerable people from crime and anti-
social behaviour in the borough of Tunbridge Wells. The purpose of this 
forum is to provide a framework for partners from a variety of agencies 
and organisations to ensure that services are offered that are aimed at 
prevention and intervention towards victims and, where necessary, 
perpetrators. Membership incudes, TWBC, Kent Police, KCC, 
Lookahead, NHS, Change Grow Live, Community Mental Health team, 
Domestic Abuse Volunteer Support Services and local housing 
providers. 

 

3. Embed Improvement and Shape Future Practice 

 

Agency Example 

Page 261



36 
 

Ashford Borough 
Council 

Professional Curiosity and Supervision:  Ashford Borough Council’s generic 
1:1 (supervision) form has been adapted to enable staff involved with 
safeguarding to discuss how they have dealt with specific complex cases/cases 
of concern with their line manager.  There is also an information sheet on the 
staff SmartHub (Intranet) on supervision specific to safeguarding which 
suggests areas for discussion.  In addition to this some staff, for example the 
Welfare Intervention Officers, have received specific external supervision 
sessions.  The Council’s safeguarding section of the SmartHub includes an 
information sheet “Professional Curiosity and Disguised Compliance”.  There 
are a number of forums where professional curiosity can be applied and where 
practice can be reflected upon; these include the Safeguarding Lead Officers’ 
meetings and the multi-agency vulnerabilities panel. 

Ashford Borough 
Council 

Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs):  Each published SAR is shared with 
Safeguarding Lead Officers and are discussed as a standing agenda item at this 
group’s meetings.  Discussions include lessons learned, especially those that 
relate to the work carried out by our authority, for dissemination to team 
members as applicable.  The Level 2 Safeguarding Training may also be 
updated if relevant.  A copy of each SAR report is held on a shared MS Teams 
Group for Safeguarding Lead Officers.  There is also an information sheet on 
SARs, which has a link to the specific KMSAB webpage, on the Council’s 
Safeguarding section of the SmartHub (intranet) that is available to all staff. 

Ashford Borough 
Council 

Promoting good practice:  This includes: 

• A regular weekly safeguarding update email to the Safeguarding Lead 
Officers’ Group to disseminate as appropriate.  These include information 
from the KMSAB, external training and seminars, procedures such as that 
for SARs, links to external newsletters and bulletins, updates to external 
policies & procedures (e.g. KMSAB’s). 

• Events such as Adults Safeguarding Awareness Week. 

• Sharing relevant safeguarding information received from the Kent 
Community Safety Team, KMSAB and others with partner agencies, as 
appropriate (for example the Ashford Community Safety Partnership). 

• Staff Smart Hub:  This has a specific safeguarding section which includes 
information such as a link to the Council’s Safeguarding Policy; reporting 
and recording procedures; details of the DSO, lead officers and support; 
referral forms; information on a number of safeguarding related elements 
such as The Care Act, Mental Capacity Act, DHRs, Adolescent to Parent 
Violence & Abuse, the Council’s Modern Slavery & Human Trafficking 
Statement, mate crime and much more. 

• Close partnership working:  Ashford is very good at working in partnership 
with other agencies whether it be in respect of day-to-day specific issues 
or larger joint initiatives, as well as through a number of multi-agency 
meetings.  Two examples of this are: 
▪ Farrow Court Independent Living Scheme: Ashford Borough Council is 

trialling an initiative at Farrow Court in conjunction with the NHS to 
provide a community health hub and to prevent people attending the 
hospital when community services could meet their needs.  This is also 

Page 262



37 
 

an opportunity to pick up any safeguarding concerns prior to them 
escalating. 

▪ The Safer Streets Project:  This is in partnership with the Police and part 
of which forms work in respect of the Violence Against Women & Girls 
agenda.  The project has included various environmental 
improvements in the town centre; educational sessions in schools 
around healthy relationships; delivery of Active Bystander training to a 
large number of frontline staff operating within the town centre; 
defining a number of safe spaces; various equipment and merchandise 
(such as personal alarms and devices to prevent drink spiking); 
additional CCTV; a Safer Streets App, specifically in relation to Ashford 
Town Centre and the Night-time Economy, with information to allow 
people to make an informed decision about their route across the town 
centre and which includes a SOS button. 

 

Ashford Borough 
Council (ABC)  

Safeguarding Training:  All staff are required to complete a ‘level 1’ e-learning 
module on safeguarding as part of their induction and then on a rolling 
programme.  This is also now mandatory to elected members (Councillors).   

Relevant customer facing staff (including housing officers and welfare officers) 
as well as managers have to complete the level 2 training. 

Although covered in the main safeguarding training, there is also specific e-
learning training in respect of Prevent and Modern Slavery & Human 
Trafficking on the Council’s training portal.  

Safeguarding Lead Officers and key staff also have access to, and attend, 
external training, webinars and seminars.   
 
Level 2, Safeguarding Training Feedback:  Overall feedback on this course, 
delivered by ABC’s training officer, Designated Safeguarding Officer and/or 
Safeguarding Lead Officers (Adults and Children) has been really positive.  
Comments on this specific training have included: 
 

• “It was helpful for this to be set in an ABC/local government type context 
and to hear about and learn from the experience of colleagues.” 

• “Always valuable to have a safeguarding update and you always pick up 
something new.”  

• “Really informative and really helpful.  Able to ask questions as they came 
up and really great course. Hard subject matter but delivered really well, 
all speakers were really knowledgeable and course was well delivered.”  

Canterbury City 
Council 

Learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews (Self Neglect): Recent SARs have 
highlighted the lack of awareness and use of the KMSAB procedures for those 
who self-neglect and demonstrate hoarding behaviours.  As a result the 
council’s safeguarding lead has attended a number of front line staff team 
meetings to give a briefing on self-neglect, using the newly revised 
procedures. As a result, awareness has been raised and teams are more 
confident in carrying out risk assessments and taking a multi-agency 
approach.  

Page 263



38 
 

Canterbury City 
Council 

Learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews (Safe-discharge): Canterbury City 
Council has been a lead agency reviewing hospital discharge protocols to 
ensure that housing is included as a key partner in after care plans.  
To meet the needs of rough sleepers being discharged from hospital the 
council has worked with the Integrated Care Board to successfully secure 
ongoing funding for a multi-disciplinary team who can provide an enhanced 
level of care to those clients, following a successful pilot. Combining both 
housing & clinical expertise will continue to improve outcomes for the most 
vulnerable people sleeping rough. 

 

Canterbury City 
Council 

Safeguarding Adults Training: The council has commissioned the Ann Craft 
Trust to carry out Level 2 and Level 3 adult safeguarding training which was 
delivered to 56 front line staff. In addition, we also included key agencies 
whom we commission, in the council’s core safeguarding training offer. The 
following organisations have attended safeguarding training with us in the last 
year:  Kent Refugee Action Network, Espressions Art, Canterbury Housing 
Advice Centre, Rising Sun Domestic Abuse Service, Canterbury Welcomes 
Refugees. 
Opportunities to increase learning in addition to core adult safeguarding 
training have been maximised this year, including: 
• Attendance at KMSAB Open session on Alcohol Dependency & Adult 

Safeguarding 
• Attendance at KMSAB training Self Neglect & Hoarding Awareness 
• KMSAB SAR Learning Event 
• Promotion of the SCIE Mental Capacity Act online course 
Key learning points and resources are shared throughout the Council via the 
Safeguarding Key Contacts Group. 

Dartford & 
Gravesham NHS 
Trust 

Safeguarding Adults Training: All staff have a level of safeguarding training 
depending on role and responsibility in line with the Intercollegiate Document. 
Levels one, two and three are delivered via e-learning, the Family Focused 
training is delivered as a whole day face to face training. Compliance with 
training is monitored via the training platform with staff being made aware of 
the training requirements and when their compliancy is due to expire. Training 
compliance is also monitored as part of the appraisal process. 
Training compliance for level 1 at the time of writing stands at 96%, Level 2 
95%   

Dartford & 
Gravesham NHS 
Trust 

Sharing Learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews: Learning from SARs is 
shared via internal meetings.  All published SARs are made available to read 
on the trust intranet and are shared during the safeguarding training 

Dartford Borough 
Council 

Learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews (Carers): Recent SARs have 
highlighted the need for carers to be signposted to carers’ assessments and 
support where appropriate. As a result, we actively encourage our staff to use 
the “Think Family approach” and our safeguarding policy has recently been 
updated to include this information.  
 

Dover District 
Council 

Sharing Learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews: The Lead Safeguarding 
Officer reviews all SAR and DHR cases published, looking at best practices and 
looking at ways to implement within the day to day safeguarding function. 

Page 264



39 
 

These cases are distributed to the Dedicated Safeguarding Officers and 
Community Safety partners to help improve their own safeguarding practices. 
 
It is hard to obtain quantifiable data in regards to safeguarding, but we work 
closely with partners to recognise trends or emerging themes. Safeguarding 
(including: Children, Young People and Adults) is one of the key priorities the 
Dover District Community Safety Partnership Executive has identified in its 
four year plan, this is supported by an action plan to support the coordinated 
approach being undertaken as a collective, with the sharing of good practices. 

Dover District 
Council  

Multi-agency working: Safeguarding cases are always discussed with a 
designated safeguarding officer before escalation to a safeguarding 
referral.  This ensures that cases are managed and perhaps dealt with via 
different agencies.  Talking about situations often reduces the risk and allows 
further opportunity for support to be referred to.  If in doubt social services 
are always contacted, even if it is for information purposes only.  
 
DDC work with other partners, if it is felt necessary, before making a 
safeguarding referral.  For example, Kent Police and mental health teams.  This 
is often via email, or via the District Vulnerability Panel, chaired by Kent Police. 

East Kent 
Hospitals 
University 
Foundation Trust 
(EKHUFT) 

Safeguarding Adults Training:  The safeguarding adult workforce 
development programme, from August 2022-March 2023, focused on 
enabling the staff to develop further skills and knowledge and competencies 
in safeguarding leadership. This was achieved through undertaking a skills 
analysis using the domains from the Intercollegiate Document (ICD) to identify 
gaps in competencies to ensure that roles and responsibilities were aligned to 
this and that the team could demonstrate progression in this.  
 
The Trust also developed safeguarding competencies for all staff which will be 
rolled out in 2023 and have updated safeguarding training to reflect learning 
from the safeguarding reviews and section 42s.  
 

East Kent 
Hospitals 
University 
Foundation Trust 
(EKHUFT) 

East Kent Homelessness Pathway Pilot: The Trust was involved in a pilot 
relating to people who were homeless, and the outcome of this was 
completed which indicated that there was much need to continue this project, 
as such it was extended by the ICB. The safeguarding team worked closely on 
this project with the Homelessness Adult Safeguarding Practitioner, providing 
support on the interface between homelessness and safeguarding. A short 
video about the homeless pathway project is available here.  
 

Folkestone and 
Hythe District 
Council (FHDC) 

Ensuring the voice of the person (or their representative) who has been 
involved in our safeguarding system is heard in respect of their safeguarding 
experience: 

• Following KMSAB feedback on how to make safeguarding personal, 
FHDC have looked into their practice in order to embed this approach 
further into safeguarding activity, including putting additional 
information on the intranet. 

• Internal safeguarding procedures have been updated to ensure 
questions about Making Safeguarding Personal are now included in the 
safeguarding form staff use, and the Designated Officer group have 

Page 265

https://www.rcn.org.uk/Professional-Development/publications/adult-safeguarding-roles-and-competencies-for-health-care-staff-uk-pub-007-069
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hVNKLg46ZQk


40 
 

been made aware that staff referring a concern to them need to have 
completed this section. Additionally, the new online safeguarding 
system also includes questions about the individual’s wishes.  

• In handling safeguarding concerns - allowing opportunity for 
individuals to properly express feelings and views around how they 
have been treated/ what has occurred. 

Gravesham 
Borough Council 

Improvement activity following SAF – Focus on consent: It was highlighted in 
last year’s KMSAB self-assessment framework audit (SAF) that we needed to 
be more thorough in establishing consent within safeguarding referrals. This 
has been built into the internal safeguarding alert form, officers are required 
to confirm if the individual has confirmed they consent to a referral being 
made or not. If not, the Safeguarding Lead or Community Safety Manager 
contacts the individual to talk through support options and ensure they are 
happy to consent. The need to gain consent is also highlighted in the 
safeguarding briefing delivered to officers. 

Gravesham 
Borough Council 

‘Safeguarding Pledge’: The council’s Safeguarding Policy details the council’s 
‘Safeguarding Pledge’ ensuring all staff are aware that the safeguarding of 
children and vulnerable adults is everyone’s responsibility. The policy details 
clear instruction of the reporting of concerns and key points of contact within 
the council.  

Gravesham 
Borough Council 

A Multi-Disciplinary Approach to Homelessness: A number of SARs have 
highlighted the issues of homelessness and self-neglect. Over the past 18 
months, the council has proactively been working with a number of partners 
across the borough to provide an all year-round Homelessness Shelter service 
to the homeless in the borough. This has not just been about providing shelter 
but has also included the provision of advice and support from professionals. 
Gravesham is working in partnership with North Kent Mind, Change Grow Live, 
Gravesham Sanctuary, Methodist Church, HM Prisons, Probation, Community 
police, Look Ahead, Eastgate counselling services and Serveco to manage and 
deliver a multi-disciplinary approach to homelessness within the Borough. 
 
Provision of services to the homeless is a priority for GBC. In the past year a 
number of changes have been made to the team to ensure it is providing the 
best support it can to those who need it. A Rough Sleeping Partnership 
Manager has been appointed to coordinate the work of the council and its 
partners; a Housing Resettlement Officer works with those in temporary 
accommodation to help them find a route to a permanent home, and a Prison 
Navigator to ensure a release from prison does not result in homelessness.  
The Rough Sleeping Partnership has enabled rough sleepers to have a voice 
and has built trust within this community.  

HCRG Care Group 
(formerly Virgin 
Healthcare)) 

Safeguarding Serious Incidents:  All Serious Incidents are monitored by the 
Senior Leadership Team via the Quality & Governance meeting. Common 
themes and trends are discussed each month for wider learning to occur and 
improve practice. 

HCRG Care Group 
(formerly Virgin 
Healthcare) 

NHS Friends and Family Test: Like all NHS providers, we ask people who use 
our services to feed back to us on their experience using the NHS Friends and 
Family Test. In 2022-23, 1462 people rated our services in North Kent and 
97.13% said they had a positive experience of our service. 

Page 266



41 
 

Healthwatch Analysing feedback: General feedback heard by Healthwatch is analysed and 
any relevant themes arising are shared with KMSAB. 

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

Safeguarding Spotlight Survey: In April 2022, the NHS Kent and Medway 
Safeguarding team undertook a staff safeguarding spotlight survey. This 
provided us with feedback from staff on their experiences and areas for 
progress.  Over 90 % of respondents stated that they were confident on how 
to contact our safeguarding team.   As a team we were able to utilise the 
opportunity of the newly formed organisation to re-launch our team and 
ensure our contact details were available on the new KAM (internal) system 
and then promote our team further as part of the activity we undertook during 
safeguarding adults’ awareness week.   
 

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

Safeguarding Adults Training: Kent and Medway CCG had, in 2020 – 2021, 
revised its availability of adult safeguarding training due to the Covid 19 
pandemic. During 2022 -23 it was recognised that the NHS Kent and Medway 
safeguarding team needed to prioritise a review of training delivery to ensure 
that, as a newly established ICB, NHS Kent and Medway could be assured that 
its workforce is knowledgeable and confident in the application of their 
safeguarding adult roles and responsibilities. Following the establishment of 
the new organisation, a training needs analysis was undertaken to ensure that 
all employees were mapped according to the Adult Safeguarding: Roles and 
Competencies for Health Care Staff. New face to face modules for level 1 and 
2 training were designed.   

• All staff working in the ICB can access safeguarding adults training 
according to the mapped training need. 

• At end of year 2022/23 82.81% of staff had received the new version 
of level 1 safeguarding adults training. 100 % of ICB staff were trained 
at level 2, 84.75% of staff had received prevent training.  

• The new level 2 training is due for delivery in July 2023.  

 

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

Sharing Learning from SARs: The team support the culture of learning as it 
embeds in the new ICB; the team have worked to ensure that there is a clear 
process in place to share learning from SARs to primary care services across 
Kent and Medway. This is undertaken by ensuring that learning from reviews 
is shared via: 

• Regular GP bulletins 

• Reflective synopsis of case learning at monthly safeguarding lead 
forums 

• Reflective presentations for involved practices.  

NHS Kent and Medway has further shared learning from SARs / reviews via: 

• NHSE regional safeguarding meetings to enable wider regional and 
national themes to be reflected upon and learning shared beyond, and 
by, Kent and Medway.  

• To commissioning and contract teams to influence changes in 
processes and pathways.  (An example of this has been project plans 
such as youth worker projects, Hospital Independent Domestic 
Violence Advisors and Homelessness pilots as well as ensuring that 

Page 267



42 
 

linked worked around strategy and policy improvement is shared with 
relevant ICB teams, for example learning from review around Section 
117 responsibilities being effectively shared with Mental health 
commissioners to influence programmes of work.  

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

Primary Care Quality Matrix: NHS Kent and Medway also introduced a new 
Kent and Medway Primary care quality matrix during 2022-23 which included 
the safeguarding bench marking toolkit. The quality matrix provides guidance 
for primary care to measure compliance against national standards and 
supports system wide improvement. 

Kent and 
Medway 
Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

Care Home Standards Document: During 2022-23 NHS Kent and Medway has 
continued to work on a care home standard document with NHS safeguarding 
colleagues across Surrey and Sussex. This work aims to explore good practice 
across the region and use this to develop a tool that can support equitable and 
measurable assurance for good safeguarding standards across the region. This 
work is being supported by the NHSE regional team to ensure that the good 
practice identified can be shared.  
 

Kent and 
Medway NHS and 
Social Care 
Partnership Trust 
(KMPT) 

Making Safeguarding Personal: KMPT utilise the KMPT ‘Make Safeguarding 
Personal’ leaflet to enable safeguarding discussions both proactively and in 
response to abuse. This leaflet is accessible as hard copies or via a download. 
These leaflets explain what safeguarding is and what making safeguarding 
personal looks like.  KMSAB’s posters ‘noticing is not nosiness’’ are distributed 
and visible in public and staff areas to stimulate awareness and enable 
discussion.  Making Safeguarding Personal is embedded into safeguarding 
adults training and policy. The voice of the adult is discussed during 
consultations and training to ensure a person centred approach and 
consideration of risks and next steps. Care plans developed by practitioners 
with patients is a core function of KMPT care, this ensures a partnership 
approach in the recovery of mental ill health. The KMPT safeguarding team 
‘spot check’ referral activity to ensure the voice of the patient is evident, and 
where necessary target intervention to ensure this is consistently applied as 
appropriate.  
 

Kent and 
Medway NHS and 
Social Care 
Partnership Trust 
(KMPT) 

Health Independent Domestic Violence and Abuse Advocate/Advisor 
(HIDVA): In 2021, the KMPT safeguarding team successfully secured funding 
from the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) to fund a 
dedicated Health Independent Domestic Violence and Abuse 
Advocate/Advisor (HIDVA) role within the Trust. The PCC funding is until 
March 2025. Patients accessing KMPT services require specialist mental health 
intervention that cannot be supported in primary care. This means that the 
people exposed to domestic violence and abuse have combined vulnerabilities 
which increase both the risks and challenges in accessing the right support. 
Thanks to the support from the PCC fund and the appointment of the HIDVA 
role, we have been able to support people to reduce some of those challenges, 
by listening, responding and advocating. Some of the patients supported by 
the KMPT HIDVA have identified as having a disability, being from ethnic 
minority groups, being from the LBGTQ+ community, being non-binary, male 

Page 268



43 
 

and female. Importantly the KMPT HIDVA has enabled accessibility of support 
to people in our communities.  
 

Kent and 
Medway NHS and 
Social Care 
Partnership Trust 
(KMPT) 

Safeguarding as Everyone’s Responsibility: KMPT adhere to one of the most 
important principles of safeguarding, that it is everyone’s responsibility. 
Health care staff frequently work with people in their moments of greatest 
need and can witness health and social inequalities which have a direct impact 
on the lives of people they care for. The Adult Safeguarding: Roles and 
Competencies for Health Care Staff intercollegiate document (2018) has been 
designed to guide professionals and the teams they work with to identify the 
competencies they need in order to support individuals to receive 
personalised and culturally sensitive safeguarding. It sets out minimum 
training requirements along with education and training principles. KMPT are 
held to account by the ICB, the Safeguarding Children Partnerships, NHS 
England, Care Quality Commission and KMSAB via reporting mechanisms, such 
as KPI (key performance Indicators), inspections, and Section 11 and self-
assessment framework returns. The KMPT executive board also ensures KMPT 
are compliant with safeguarding statutory functions and has a workforce 
committed and confident to prevent harm and responds to abuse.  
 

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Strategic Safeguarding Team Talks: Strategic Safeguarding met with over 50 
teams, within KCC, during 2022/23. The team talks were given to various 
operational teams within Adult Social Care and the wider authority, such as 
Adult Safeguarding teams, Childrens Social Work services, Kent Registrars, 
Customer Care and Complaints and the Kent Enablement and Recovery 
Service, among many others. These talks were to provide an oversight of the 
work undertaken within Strategic Safeguarding and the Kent and Medway 
Safeguarding Adults Board. They raised awareness of the Safeguarding Adult 
Review (SAR) and Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) processes, and the 
themes highlighted within published reviews and provided useful resources to 
use within practice. A feedback form was produced by Strategic Safeguarding 
to measure the impact the Team Talks had on practitioners’ and their practice. 
The feedback received so far highlighted that staff now had a much greater 
awareness of the work of the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board, 
creating links with the Board and understanding the importance of reflection 
within team meetings to sharing the lessons learnt from SARs and DHRs; by 
using tools such as the reflective briefings produced for operational learning 
by Strategic Safeguarding, to help continually improve practice. 

 

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Reflective Briefings: in 2022/23, learning from a selection of reviews 
published by the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board (KMSAB) and 
the Kent Community Safety Partnership (KCSP), have been shared with 
operational colleagues in the form of reflective briefings, produced by KCC 
Adult Strategic Safeguarding. Themes identified within the reviews, are 
highlighted and additional useful guidance, research and relevant policies are 
also included. These briefings provide essential learning in an accessible and 
meaningful way for colleagues within Adult Social Care, and form part of the 
continual improvement in practice, focusing on key areas such as self-neglect, 

Page 269



44 
 

impact on carers, professional curiosity, the necessity of person-centred care 
and support, and the importance of cultural competence. 

In order to continually measure the impact these briefings have on frontline 
practice, Strategic Safeguarding created feedback forms for all briefings, 
providing a voice for practitioners, to highlight what difference the 
information shared has made in their day-to-day work and suggestions to help 
us to shape future briefings.   

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Quality Assurance Framework: To further quality assure the practice 
undertaken in Kent, KCC launched their own Quality Assurance Framework in 
December 2022, to ensure that we are consistent in the standard of practice 
we’re delivering, and it complements and coordinates with our Practice 
Framework (launched In June 2022).  Together, these frameworks form the 
basis of our journey to become the best we can be in Adult Social Care 
practice. 
  
Our quality assurance activities will help us to have a much better 
understanding of how things are going in practice and what support is needed, 
which will be especially important following the move to our future ways of 
working. The quality assurance measures include undertaking quarterly 
Practice Audits within Adult Social Care.  These audits began in January 2023 
and will evolve going forward, in-line with feedback from colleagues.   The 
Practice Audits are approached in a supportive manner and viewed as an 
enabler to develop the learning culture that we want to achieve within Adult 
Social Care. The audit findings across the county will be analysed by managers, 
and reports will subsequently be written for the Quality Assurance 
Governance Board. 
 
The recently created Quality Assurance Governance Board will be held every 
3 months. It met for the first time in January 2023.  The purpose of the Board 
is to analyse and evaluate the effectiveness of performance and quality 
assurance mechanisms in place across Adult Social Care, which will 
subsequently inform service delivery, strategic planning and commissioning. 
The Corporate Director for Adult Social Care will act as Chair and a person with 
lived experience will be co-chair. Other members of the group will include the 
Director of Operations, the Senior Responsible Officer for Self-Directed 
Support, the Senior Responsible Officer for Social Care Reform, the Assistant 
Director for Strategic Safeguarding, Practice, Policy and Quality Assurance, the 
Principal Social Worker and People with lived experiences. 

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Your guide to adult social care in Kent 2022: The annual “Your guide to adult 
social care in Kent 2022” for the public, and people that draw on care and 
support, includes a section regarding safeguarding but this is a key message 
throughout. It is a practical guide to getting support and there is signposting 
to support organisations.  
 

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Engagement Roadshow: In 2022, the team delivered a public in-person 
engagement roadshow, held in community locations across the county such 
as libraries, community hubs, hospitals and public buildings etc. This enabled 
face to face conversations and awareness raising amongst people that would 

Page 270

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kent.gov.uk%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fpdf_file%2F0003%2F17616%2FYour-guide-to-adult-social-care-in-Kent.pdf&data=05%7C01%7CPaula.Mitchell%40kent.gov.uk%7Cb564181d05984c7d32b008db6ca6c99a%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C638223235832029451%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=SlVougiV5ObTjAL0v3qSO7%2BxAtFIty9vJkm60hnLR44%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kent.gov.uk%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fpdf_file%2F0003%2F17616%2FYour-guide-to-adult-social-care-in-Kent.pdf&data=05%7C01%7CPaula.Mitchell%40kent.gov.uk%7Cb564181d05984c7d32b008db6ca6c99a%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C638223235832029451%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=SlVougiV5ObTjAL0v3qSO7%2BxAtFIty9vJkm60hnLR44%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kent.gov.uk%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fpdf_file%2F0003%2F17616%2FYour-guide-to-adult-social-care-in-Kent.pdf&data=05%7C01%7CPaula.Mitchell%40kent.gov.uk%7Cb564181d05984c7d32b008db6ca6c99a%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C638223235832029451%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=SlVougiV5ObTjAL0v3qSO7%2BxAtFIty9vJkm60hnLR44%3D&reserved=0


45 
 

not normally have the opportunity to hear about social care and understand 
where they can find the information they may need. 
 
Kent Care Summit: At the 2022 Kent Care Summit around 300 delegates came 
together from a number of key stakeholder groups including providers and the 
public to discuss and explore key topics and challenges facing the care sector. 
The Social Care Futures principles were used as a basis for discussion and the 
commissioning intentions were co-produced from April 2022 as a result. These 
focused on person-centred commissioning and refer to the Making a 
Difference Every Day vision which highlights living a full and safe life (Kent 
Commissioning Intentions). 
 

Kent County 
Council (KCC) 

Self-Neglect Workflow: New KCC internal system changes are also being 
implemented, with the creation of a “self-neglect workflow” in January 2023.  
This workflow has been built into the adult social care electronic database 
(Mosaic) and can be used at any point during adult social care intervention 
with the person, providing a dedicated space to clearly record all information 
and actions taken in relation to self-neglect.  This will provide much greater 
oversight of anyone who may be self-neglecting, the support provided to 
them. A briefing and guidance for this new workflow was sent to operational 
colleagues in February 2023, and highlighted further within internal 
communications in March 2023. Feedback will be sought from operational 
colleagues, on the use of the new workflow at the end of the first quarter for 
2023/24.  
 

Kent Community 
Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 
(KCHFT) 

Safeguarding Adults Training: KCHFT continue to deliver a safeguarding 
training programme in line with the adult, children and looked after children 
(LAC) safeguarding intercollegiate documents for all staff groups in level 
1,2,3,4 and Board level target audience. The training is delivered using a 
blended approach of both e-learning and instructor led topic specific 
workshops for level 2 and 3 staff groups using virtual platforms. The 
workshops include safeguarding processes and procedures, domestic abuse, 
self-neglect, learning from safeguarding adult reviews (SARs), domestic 
homicide reviews (DHRs) and local safeguarding children practice reviews 
(LSCPRs), exploitation and mental capacity act practical application, all 
highlighting the importance of person- centred care. Staff receive mandatory 
safeguarding training updates every 3 years and have access to webinars using 
national network platforms, KMSAB multiagency training and KMSAB learning 
from SARs sessions. All training is evaluated, the feedback received is used to 
update the training and training facilitators are peer-reviewed. The impact of 
training is evident through reviewing the safeguarding referrals, calls into 
KCHFT safeguarding consultation line, annual safeguarding audit, patient 
safety incidents and clinical practice. The activity comparison shows staff 
recognition of key safeguarding concerns and action taken.  

Page 271

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fletstalk.kent.gov.uk%2F14627%2Fwidgets%2F47201%2Fdocuments%2F40691&data=05%7C01%7CPaula.Mitchell%40kent.gov.uk%7Cb564181d05984c7d32b008db6ca6c99a%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C638223235832029451%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=wKxEwYr2uoB0XH9IfrbgsLZjILpFRGkhkM2jmex3fxo%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fletstalk.kent.gov.uk%2F14627%2Fwidgets%2F47201%2Fdocuments%2F40691&data=05%7C01%7CPaula.Mitchell%40kent.gov.uk%7Cb564181d05984c7d32b008db6ca6c99a%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C638223235832029451%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=wKxEwYr2uoB0XH9IfrbgsLZjILpFRGkhkM2jmex3fxo%3D&reserved=0


46 
 

Kent Community 
Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 
(KCHFT) 

Quality Assurance of Referrals: To drive the importance of good quality 
safeguarding referrals to the local authority, the safeguarding team has 
introduced a process to monitor the quality of safeguarding referrals. All 
safeguarding referrals raised by KCHFT staff are scored against 5 set criteria 
for good referrals; a point is given for each met criteria resulting in 5 points 
being marked against a good quality referral or 1 for poor referral. Short 
feedback is then provided to the referrer, including positive aspects and areas 
on how to improve future referrals. 

Kent Community 
Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 
(KCHFT) 

Safeguarding Data: In 2022/23 KCHFT staff sought support for 1043 concerns, 
showing recognition to support people at risk and indicating the complexity of 
the need for people at risk in the community. This is 12.5% higher compared 
to 2021/22 and 70% higher than 2020/21. The increase has been further seen 
in concerns about neglect (increase by 28%), people with care and support 
needs (increase by 29%), domestic abuse (increase by 38%) and mental health 
(increase by 16%).   

Kent Community 
Health NHS 
Foundation Trust 
(KCHFT) 

Mental Capacity Act Awareness Week: The Trust continued to strengthen the 
application of mental capacity act (MCA) in practice and held an MCA 
Awareness week 24 – 28 October 2022, which included sharing of key MCA 
messages with staff and patients to highlight lasting power of attorney, what 
capacity is, and awareness of deprivation of liberty safeguards (DoLS). A 
resource pack was created and shared with safeguarding and MCA link 
workers in practice areas and the trust community hospitals and further 
support tools were created;  such as an MCA crib sheet to support completion 
of MCA assessment and DoLS care plan.  

Kent Fire and 
Rescue Service 
(KFRS) 

Safeguarding Adults Training: At a national and regional level, KFRS has 
created e-learning modules for both child and adult safeguarding. These have 
now been adapted by 3 other fire services. We have also written level 3 and 4 
training and shared this with 5 other services around the UK for their 
safeguarding leads to adapt and deliver the training to their colleagues. We 
trained another safeguarding manager from Bedfordshire in November 2022 
and are proud to be supporting others in creating bespoke safeguarding 
training for fire services.  
 

Kent Police Victim Needs Assessment: To ensure Kent Police meets its requirements 
under the Victim’s code 2021, and in order to better support victims of crime 
and to ensure their wishes and needs are considered, Kent Police has 
introduced a Victims Needs Assessment.  This assessment takes place for 
every victim engaged with.  It records issues such as safeguarding and any 
support needs such as use of an intermediary or communication 
requirements. 

Page 272



47 
 

Kent Police Making Kent Safer Plan: In 2022 the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner launched the 2022 – 2025 “Making Kent Safer” Plan.  The plan 
can be found here (kent-pcc.gov.uk).  The plan clearly states that the Police 
and Crime Commissioner will set priorities for the Chief Constable, these 
include working with residents, communities, and businesses to prevent crime 
and anti-social behaviour, tackle violence against women and girls and protect 
people from exploitation and abuse.  The Police and Crime Commissioner also 
states that he will hold all agencies to account for the delivery of an effective 
and efficient criminal justice system, will work in partnership with the police 
and others to prevent crime and anti-social behaviour and commission 
services for victims that are needs-led. 

Kent Police Statutory Reviews Lessons Learned Newsletter: Kent Police continues to play 
a key role in carrying out Safeguarding Adults Reviews and to ensure 
multiagency learning is in place. SARs are shared and stored centrally on the 
Crime Academy SharePoint Pages.  The Protecting Vulnerable People 
Governance and Scrutiny team track the resulting recommendations from 
both the independent report and the internal independent management 
report (IMR). However, to assist in learning, the Serious Case Review Team 
produce a newsletter looking at themes from SARs and include key learning 
from the IMR writers.  This then complements the completed SAR learning 
when it is circulated. 

Maidstone and 
Tunbridge Wells 
NHS Trust (MTW) 

Learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews: Safeguarding Adults Reviews are 
shared at the Safeguarding Adults Committee in report format with all of the 
actions from each SAR noted. Even when an action is not specifically for MTW 
to complete the Trust will consider the impact of each recommendation in 
relation to MTW’s practice, so that Senior Teams and individuals are sighted 
on this. Leaders within the Discharge Liaison Team have attended SAR 
workshops and are keen to promote the use of the KMSAB Self Neglect policy 
and procedure. Where concerns arise in relation to safeguarding issues for 
patients who are being discharged, they will liaise within the multi-agency to 
seek out remedies for patients and will escalate to the Safeguarding Team 
where support is needed. 
 

Maidstone and 
Tunbridge Wells 
NHS Trust (MTW) 

Safeguarding Adults Training: All staff who work for the Trust receive 
safeguarding adults training in line with the updated Adult Safeguarding: Roles 
and Competencies for Health Care Staff (Intercollegiate Document) published 
by the Royal College of Nursing, first edition 2018 and updated June 2022. 
 
March 2023 compliance for: -  
Level 1 Safeguarding Adults Training is at 95.5%  
Level 2 Safeguarding Adults Training is at 92.2% 
Level 3 Safeguarding Adults Training is at 78.4% 
 
Level 2 Mental Capacity Act (MCA) Training is at 70.0% - This was put back to 
zero compliance in March 2022 after a redesign of training. 
Level 3 MCA Training is at 73.2% - This was put back to zero compliance in 
March 2022 after a redesign of training. 
 

Page 273

https://www.kent-pcc.gov.uk/what-we-do/making-kent-safer-2022-25/#:~:text=The%20Police%20and%20Crime%20Commissioner,and%20runs%20from%202022%2D2025.


48 
 

The Trust decided in March 2022 to re-start the Level 3 Training Offer after the 
training was reviewed and compliance target audiences were reset. This 
meant that we ‘zeroed’ both Safeguarding Adults Level 3 and MCA Level 3 
training from that date. We advertised out that ALL registered practitioners 
who are patient facing needed to receive both Level 3 Safeguarding Adults and 
Level 3 MCA Training.  The Trust compliance target is set at 85% and within the 
last 13 months the compliance has risen from 0% to Safeguarding Adults Level 
3 78.4% and MCA Level 3 73.2%, this remains on an upward trajectory. 

Maidstone 
Borough Council 

Safeguarding Champions and Supervision: We have specialist staff members 
who are expert in safeguarding and support, who work alongside our wider 
staffing teams and Safeguarding Champions to ensure a robust response 
across the organisation. We have regular safeguarding champions meetings. 
Also, through the dissemination of safeguarding we look to review our own 
processes and support mechanisms to make sure they are adequate. We have 
recently implemented as a standard safeguarding item on all one to one’s 
meetings for those staff in front facing support roles within Housing. This 
ensures any concerns or worries, are escalated, and reported through the best 
channels and the staff have the opportunity to seek support, give opinions and 
advice in difficult and challenging cases. We also seek to review trends and the 
biggest concerns within MBC via the Power BI dashboard (data dashboard). 
 

Maidstone 
Borough Council 

Clinical Supervision: Often through this front facing work, we work with very 
complex individuals and wider households – we ensure our staff team are well 
trained and have emotional resilience to deal with these complex cases. The 
team all have access to clinical supervision which was introduced in late 2022 
and helps them work through challenges and difficulties. Any concerns which 
are discussed in the meetings – are raised via normal management processes.  

Maidstone 
Borough Council 

Self-Neglect and Hoarding: Through our hospital discharge programme, we 
have contracts in place to support those who are hoarding/self-neglect to 
prevent a hospital admission.  We work alongside Mid Kent Mind to provide 
weekly counselling support (between 6-18 weeks dependant on the 
circumstances) with support to provide some cleaning and/or clearance 
works. This is provided free of charge to residents. This helps reduce 
unnecessary pressures on the NHS by repeat admissions or GP appointments. 
Cases are subject to an initial home assessment and acceptance from clients. 
It can also lead to other avenues of support by statutory and/or voluntary 
agencies. Mid Kent Mind have a good success rate for engagement.  
 

Medway 
Community 
Healthcare (MCH) 

Safeguarding Adults Training: All MCH staff are required to attend 
Safeguarding Training commensurate with their role, overall compliance is 
currently at 92% 

Medway Council Safeguarding Peer Review: A safeguarding peer review was undertaken in 
February 2022, and the report was published in June 2022. The peer review 
considered the following areas:  
• Leadership  
• Quality of Practice  
• Structure and Resources  

Page 274



49 
 

• Performance  
• Partnerships  
The findings were welcomed, with many positives alongside challenges to 
consider. As a result, an action plan was written to support improvement. One 
of the significant recommendations was to consider the structure of our 
safeguarding teams. Work has begun to create one safeguarding hub to 
ensure consistency of practice throughout the customer journey.  

Medway Council Safeguarding Adults Training: We continued to offer bespoke training on the 
role of the Enquiry Officer and the role of Designated Senior Officer in 
2022/23. Feedback from the training has been positive.  
 

Medway Council Learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs): Learning from SARs has 
been shared with staff in the safeguarding hubs and with managers at the 
monthly safeguarding hub meeting. To increase the reach to the whole adult 
social care (ASC) workforce, a monthly Principal Social Worker (PSW) and 
safeguarding bulletin has been developed. Specific actions from SARs are 
monitored at the monthly SAR/Domestic Homicide Review action meeting, 
this is chaired by the Assistant Director for ASC and attended by the Head of 
Service, Operations Managers, PSW and Safeguarding Lead. The Operations 
Managers manage the locality and specialist teams and can share relevant 
information with those teams.  

Medway 
Foundation Trust 

Safeguarding Adults Training: We have resumed face to face training for level 
2 and 3 during the past year to put a specific emphasis on local learning and 
awareness, roles and responsibilities of staff in the Trust and ensuring that 
Making Safeguarding Personal is emphasised. 
 

Medway 
Foundation Trust 

Making Safeguarding Personal and Audit Activity: The safeguarding 
recommendation form information is added to the patient electronic records; 
this specifically includes the patient’s wishes. A safeguarding audit of the 
quality and compliance with all fields of a safeguarding referral is undertaken 
including patient consent. 

National 
Probation Service 

Feedback from Persons on Probation: Through the review period, the 
Probation Service has been developing ways of ensuring service users’ voices 
are heard.  Latterly this has led to the development of an initiative to better 
engage and collaborate with People on Probation. Although not specifically a 
forum for adult safeguarding issues, feedback around lived experiences of 
Persons on Probation including prison leavers is gathered via this route. 

Sevenoaks 
District Council 
(SDC) 

Safeguarding Policy: The Safeguarding Policy was updated in January 2022 
and added in extra policies following guidance from the KMSAB. This was 
formally approved through our committee process and has a review process 
in place. 

Sevenoaks 
District Council 
(SDC) 

Warm Spaces Initiative: SDC launched our Warm Spaces initiative as part of 
the cost of living response, enabling a number of community spaces, where 
people can find warmth and access to services.  We are now considering 
evolving these as Safe Spaces. 

Page 275



50 
 

Swale Borough 
Council 

Learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs): Safeguarding Adults 
Review outcomes and relevant recommended practice change are reported in 
the Senior Management Team Quarterly report. Recommendations for 
localised practice are included within annual reviews of safeguarding policy 
and procedures. The recommendations are tracked and managed to ensure 
that SARs are not just a paper exercise. 
 

Swale Borough 
Council 

 Self-Neglect: We have devised and launched an internal self-neglect 
procedure which is linked in with our safeguarding policy. 

Thanet District 
Council (TDC) 

Community Services Manager: The Community Services Manager attends 
county and national conferences, organised by KCC, KMSAB and the Local 
Government Association.  Learning from these are then disseminated to the 
rest of the organisation for organisational improvement.  The dissemination 
happens via TDC safeguarding forum and then down to the teams via the 
safeguarding champions. 

Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough 
Council 

Learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs): Safeguarding Adults 
Reviews and Domestic Homicide Reviews are standing items at the quarterly 
internal safeguarding meeting, to raise awareness and understanding of the 
issues with staff.  

 

 

Page 276


	Agenda
	7 Minutes of the Meeting held on 6 December 2023
	9 Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy/Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy
	Appendix A - Integrated Care Strategy
	Structure Bookmarks
	FOREWORD 
	PLEDGE 
	AND CONTEXT 
	WHY WE NEED AN INTEGRATED CARE STRATEGY NOW 
	CARE SYSTEM 
	HOW WE LISTENED 
	WHAT WE HEARD 
	INTEGRATED CARE 
	IN LIFE 
	Together, we will… 
	ILL HEALTH 
	Together, we will… 
	LIVING 
	Together, we will… 
	Indicators for this outcome include: 
	CONDITIONS 
	Together, we will… 
	Indicators for this outcome 
	SERVICES 
	Together, we will… 
	WORKFORCE 
	Together, we will… 
	Indicators for this outcome 
	ENABLERS AND APPROACH TO 
	Enablers 
	Delivering the strategy 
	Monitoring delivery of the strategy 


	Appendix B - Equality Impact Assessment

	10 Draft Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy /Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy Delivery Plan
	Appendix 1 - Draft Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy Log-frame Matrix
	Appendix 2  - Draft Kent and Medway Integrated Care Strategy Shared Delivery Plan

	11 Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report April 2022 - March 2023
	Appendix A - KMSAB 2022 - 2023 Annual Report
	Section 1.  Role of the Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Board (KMSAB)
	About us
	Our three core duties
	Our responsibilities
	Board membership
	Board structure
	Section 2 – 2022 -2025 Strategic Plan
	Development of the strategic plan
	Public Consultation
	The Final KMSAB Strategic Plan 2022 – 2025

	Section 3. Priorities and Achievements

	Section 4. Safeguarding Adults Reviews
	4.1.  Criteria for Conducting a Safeguarding Adults Review
	4.2.  Purpose of a Safeguarding Adults Review
	4.3.  Safeguarding Adults Review Activity
	4.4.  Completed Safeguarding Adults Reviews

	Glossary of terms
	Autistic Spectrum Disorder
	Aspiration Pneumonia 
	Bipolar affective disorder
	Care Programme Approach
	Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
	Cirrhosis
	Clutter Score/Clutter Image Rating 
	CONTEST Counter-terrorism strategy
	Emotionally Unstable Personality Disorder
	Integrated Care Board (ICB)
	Integrated Care System
	Kent Enablement at Home (KEAH)
	Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care Partnership (KMPT)
	LeDeR
	Making Safeguarding Personal
	Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA)
	Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) – Primary Care
	Necrosis of wounds
	Personality disorder 
	Peripheral Vascular Disease
	Prevent 
	Psychosis 
	Schizophrenia
	Section 117 “Aftercare”
	Section 42 Enquiry
	Section 136
	Sepsis
	South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SECAmb)
	Spinal stenosis. 

	Appendix 1 - KMSAB Annual Report 2022-2023 Safeguarding Data
	Kent and Medway Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2022-2023. Appendix One – Safeguarding Data
	Medway Council Data
	1. Background to the data
	2. New Safeguarding Concerns and Enquiries
	2.1 New Concerns
	2.2 New Enquiries
	2.3 Demographics of Adults at Risk
	Gender
	Ethnicity
	Primary Support Reason


	3. Closed Enquires
	3.1 Types and Location of Abuse

	4. Outcomes of Closed Enquiries
	4.1 Identification of Risk
	4.2 Outcome
	4.3 Making Safeguarding Personal

	Kent County Council Data
	5. Background to the data
	6. Safeguarding Concerns and Enquiries
	6.1 Safeguarding Concerns
	6.2 Conversions from Concerns to Enquiries
	6.3 Safeguarding Enquiries Commenced
	6.4 Safeguarding Enquiries Concluded


	Appendix 2 -  KMSAB Annual Report 2022-2023 -Partner Highlights
	Structure Bookmarks
	Appendix Two – Partner Highlights 
	1. Promoting Person Centred Safeguarding 
	2. Strengthen System Assurance  
	3. Embed Improvement and Shape Future Practice 

	 






Accessibility Report



		Filename: 

		CS56370 Care Strategy v5.pdf






		Report created by: 

		


		Organization: 

		





[Enter personal and organization information through the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found problems which may prevent the document from being fully accessible.



		Needs manual check: 2


		Passed manually: 0


		Failed manually: 0


		Skipped: 1


		Passed: 12


		Failed: 17





Detailed Report



		Document




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set


		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF


		Tagged PDF		Failed		Document is tagged PDF


		Logical Reading Order		Needs manual check		Document structure provides a logical reading order


		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified


		Title		Failed		Document title is showing in title bar


		Bookmarks		Failed		Bookmarks are present in large documents


		Color contrast		Needs manual check		Document has appropriate color contrast


		Page Content




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged content		Failed		All page content is tagged


		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged


		Tab order		Failed		Tab order is consistent with structure order


		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided


		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged


		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker


		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts


		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses


		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive


		Forms




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged


		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description


		Alternate Text




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Figures alternate text		Failed		Figures require alternate text


		Nested alternate text		Failed		Alternate text that will never be read


		Associated with content		Failed		Alternate text must be associated with some content


		Hides annotation		Failed		Alternate text should not hide annotation


		Other elements alternate text		Failed		Other elements that require alternate text


		Tables




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Rows		Failed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot


		TH and TD		Failed		TH and TD must be children of TR


		Headers		Failed		Tables should have headers


		Regularity		Failed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column


		Summary		Skipped		Tables must have a summary


		Lists




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		List items		Failed		LI must be a child of L


		Lbl and LBody		Failed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI


		Headings




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Appropriate nesting		Failed		Appropriate nesting







Back to Top


